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Note About Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws. Statements that are not historical
facts, including statements about FLEETCOR'’s beliefs, expectations and future performance, are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements
can be identified by the use of words such as “anticipate,” “intend,” “believe,” “estimate,” “plan,” “seek,” “project” or “expect,” “may,” “will,” “would,”

“could” or “should,” the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology.

These forward-looking statements are not a guarantee of performance, and you should not place undue reliance on such statements. We have based these
forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections about future events. Forward-looking statements are subject to many
uncertainties and other variable circumstances, including those discussed in this report in Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” and Item 7, “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” many of which are outside of our control, that could cause our actual results and
experience to differ materially from any forward-looking statement.

These forward-looking statements may not be realized due to a variety of factors, including, without limitation:

» regulatory measures, voluntary actions, or changes in consumer preferences, that impact our transaction volume, including social distancing, shelter-in-
place, shutdowns of nonessential businesses and similar measures imposed or undertaken in an effort to contain and mitigate the spread of the
coronavirus (COVID-19), including the potential impact of vaccination mandates in certain jurisdictions;

»  the impact of macroeconomic conditions and whether expected trends, including retail fuel prices, fuel price spreads, fuel transaction patterns, electric
vehicle, and retail lodging price trends develop as anticipated and we are able to develop successful strategies in light of these trends;

» our ability to successfully execute our strategic plan, manage our growth and achieve our performance targets;

»  our ability to attract new and retain existing partners, fuel merchants, and lodging providers, their promotion and support of our products, and their
financial performance;

» the failure of management assumptions and estimates, as well as differences in, and changes to, economic, market, interest rate, interchange fees,
foreign exchange rates, and credit conditions, including changes in borrowers’ credit risks and payment behaviors;

» the risk of higher borrowing costs and adverse financial market conditions impacting our funding and liquidity, and any reduction in our credit ratings;

»  our ability to successfully manage our credit risks and the sufficiency of our allowance for expected credit losses;

»  our ability to securitize our trade receivables;

» the occurrence of fraudulent activity, data breaches or failures of our information security controls or cybersecurity-related incidents that may
compromise our systems or customers’ information;

* any disruptions in the operations of our computer systems and data centers;

» the international operational and political risks and compliance and regulatory risks and costs associated with international operations;

*  our ability to develop and implement new technology, products, and services;

» any alleged infringement of intellectual property rights of others and our ability to protect our intellectual property;

» the regulation, supervision, and examination of our business by foreign and domestic governmental authorities, as well as litigation and regulatory
actions, including the lawsuit filed by the Federal Trade Commission (FTC);

»  the impact of regulations relating to privacy, information security and data protection; use of third-party vendors and ongoing third-party business
relationships; and failure to comply with anti-money laundering (AML) and anti-terrorism financing laws;

« changes in our senior management team and our ability to attract, motivate and retain qualified personnel consistent with our strategic plan;

» tax legislation initiatives or challenges to our tax positions and/or interpretations, and state sales tax rules and regulations;

» the risks of mergers, acquisitions and divestitures, including, without limitation, the related time and costs of implementing such transactions,
integrating operations as part of these transactions and possible failures to achieve expected gains, revenue growth and/or expense savings from such
transactions; and

» the other factors and information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and other filings that we make with the SEC under the Exchange Act and
Securities Act. See “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Given these risks and uncertainties, you are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements
included in this report are made only as of the date hereof. We do not undertake, and specifically disclaim, any obligation to update any such statements or
to publicly announce the results of any revisions to any of such statements to reflect future events or developments.
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PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Introduction

FLEETCOR is a leading global provider of digital payment solutions that enables businesses to control purchases and make payments more effectively and
efficiently. Since its incorporation in 2000, FLEETCOR has continued to deliver on its mission: to provide businesses with “a better way to pay”.
FLEETCOR has been a member of the S&P 500 since 2018 and trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker FLT.

Businesses spend an estimated $125 trillion each year with other businesses. In many instances, they lack the proper tools to monitor what is being
purchased, and employ manual, paper-based, disparate processes and methods to both approve and make payments for their purchases. This often results in
wasted time and money due to unnecessary or unauthorized spending, fraud, receipt collection, data input and consolidation, report generation,
reimbursement processing, account reconciliations, employee disciplinary actions, and more.

Digital payments are faster and more secure than paper-based methods such as checks, and provide timely and detailed data which can be utilized to
effectively reduce unauthorized purchases and fraud, automate data entry and reporting, and eliminate reimbursement processes. Combining this payment
data with analytical tools delivers powerful insights, which managers can use to better run their businesses.

FLEETCOR’s vision is that every payment is digital, every purchase is controlled, and every related decision is informed. Our wide range of modern,
digitized solutions generally provides control, reporting, and automation benefits superior to many of the payment methods businesses often used such as
cash, paper checks, general purpose credit cards, as well as employee pay and reclaim processes. In addition to delivering meaningful value to our
customers, our solutions also share several important and attractive business model characteristics such as:

+  the majority of revenue is derived primarily from businesses that are customers, which tend to have relatively predictable, consistent volumes;
* recurring revenue models driven by recurring volume, resulting in predictable revenue;

+ similar business-to-business (B2B) selling systems with common sales approaches, management and reporting;

» specialized technology platforms and proprietary payment acceptance networks, which create competitive advantages and barriers to entry; and

» high EBITDA margins and cash flow translation given limited infrastructure investment requirements.

We are executing on a strategy of optimizing assets, leveraging similar selling methods, and bundling and cross-selling value-added solutions. We continue
to enhance our solutions to displace disjointed payment methods, improve customers’ mobile and digital experiences, and extend utility. We actively
market and sell to current and prospective customers leveraging a multi-channel, go-to-market approach, which includes comprehensive digital channels,
direct sales forces and strategic partner relationships. We supplement our organic growth strategy and sales efforts by pursuing attractive acquisition
opportunities, which serve to strengthen and extend our market positions and create value even faster. With a long, proven operating history, FLEETCOR
now serves hundreds of thousands of business customers with millions of cardholders making payments to millions of vendors around the world.

FLEETCOR has three reportable segments, North America, International, and Brazil. We report these three segments as they reflect how we organize and
manage our global employee base, manage operating performance, contemplate the differing regulatory environments across geographies, and help us
isolate the impact of foreign exchange fluctuations on our financial results. However, to help facilitate an understanding of our expansive range of solutions
around the world, we describe them in two categories: Expense Management solutions, which help control and monitor employee spending, and Corporate
Payments solutions, which simplify and automate vendor payments.

Expense Management

Our Expense Management solutions are purpose-built to provide customers with greater control and visibility of employee spending when compared with
less specialized payment methods, such as cash or general-purpose credit cards. Our proprietary processing and card management solutions provide
customers with significant capabilities including: customizable user-level controls, detailed transaction reporting, programmable alerts, configurable
networks, contract price validation and audit, and tax management and reporting. Our customers can use these data, controls and tools to combat fraud and
employee misuse, streamline expense administration and potentially lower their operating costs.

We utilize both proprietary and third-party payment acceptance networks to deliver our Expense Management solutions. In our proprietary networks, which
tend to be geographically distinct, transactions are processed on applications and operating systems owned and operated by us, and only at select
participating merchants with whom we have contracted directly for acceptance. These proprietary networks generally provide us with better economics, as
we control more of the transaction, and richer data
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because of how the networks and point of sale software are configured. Third-party networks are operated by independent parties, and tend to be more
broadly accepted, which is the primary benefit compared with our proprietary networks. Mastercard and VISA are our primary third-party network partners
in North America and Europe, respectively.

Fuel

We offer Fuel solutions to businesses and government entities who operate vehicle fleets. At the most basic level, we provide the measurement of fuel used
and facilitate the payment for that fuel to the merchant, whether that fuel be diesel, gasoline, compressed natural gas, or electricity.

The measurement and payment needs of our customers operating electric vehicles (EV) are similar to those operating traditional, internal combustion
vehicles, just centered around electricity usage instead of gas or diesel usage. As we help our customers manage through the transition to EVs, we expect
many of them to operate mixed fleets, and will need access to networks of fuel stations, electric charging stations both on the road and at the office, in
addition to at-home charging options. Considering the increased complexity of managing a mixed fleet or an all EV fleet, we believe the value of our
solutions will endure, regardless of the propulsion method.

We utilize both proprietary and third-party networks to deliver our Fuel solutions. Our proprietary fuel networks are geographically distinct, and may also
be unique to specific markets we serve, such as highway-based truck stops with high speed diesel pumps that can quickly refuel long-haul diesel trucks. We
are actively expanding our proprietary networks in EV, including investing in EV partner companies, to accommodate EV charging in the U.S., U.K. and
Europe. Many of our Fuel solutions also have additional purchasing capabilities as part of our "beyond fuel" program. We can enable the fuel card to allow
customers to purchase non-fuel items such as oil, vehicle maintenance supplies and services, and building supplies, but with more control than a general-
purpose credit card.

We also provide program management services to major oil companies, leasing companies and fuel marketers, which allow these partners to outsource the
sales, marketing, credit, service, and system operations of their branded fuel card portfolios. Our fuel partners include British Petroleum (BP), Arco,
Speedway, and Casey's and over 650 fuel marketers of all sizes.

Lodging

We offer Lodging solutions to businesses in North America that have employees who travel overnight for work purposes, to airlines and cruise lines
globally to accommodate both their traveling crews and stranded passengers and to policyholders displaced from their homes due to damage or catastrophe
on behalf of property insurance carriers. We provide access to deeply discounted hotel networks and may include customer-specific rate negotiation, the
ability to customize the network to fit the customers’ specific travel needs and policies, enhanced controls and reporting, and audit and tax management
services. The size, scale, and nature of our Lodging customer base enables us to negotiate lodging nightly rates lower than the rates most companies could
negotiate directly and far below the rates available to the general public. Our Lodging solutions operate on our proprietary lodging networks, which
includes a worldwide network of hotels across 136 countries. We also can secure hotel rooms outside our proprietary networks in our workforce and airline
verticals, or private homes, in our insurance vertical, if required by our customers.

We use proprietary data management and payment processing systems to manage customer billings and reports, which combined with our discounted hotel
network, provide customers with potential savings and increased visibility into their lodging costs. The integration of our processing systems with airline
logistics and crew management systems enables us to deliver enhanced services to the travel industry vertical.

Tolls

Operated only in Brazil, we are the leading electronic toll payments provider to businesses and consumers in the form of radio frequency identification
(RFID) tags affixed to vehicles’ windshields. Our Toll solution operates on our proprietary Sem Parar™ network, which processes transactions for more
than 6 million tagholders on 100% of the toll roads that accept RFID across Brazil. We provide convenience and faster travel for customers, while also
reducing manual labor and cash handling at merchants’ toll booths. Our Toll solution also provides commercial customers with driver routing controls and
fare auditing, mostly in the form of vehicle type and axle count configuration.

Our tags may also be used at over 4,100 participating merchant locations to purchase goods and services, other than tolls, such as parking, fuel, car washes,
and meals at drive-through restaurants, while in a vehicle. At merchant locations, payment via electronic tags is faster, safer and more secure for customers,
which in turn increases loyalty and throughput for merchants and eliminates the handling of cash.

Corporate Payments
Our Corporate Payments solutions are designed to help businesses streamline the back-office operations associated with making outgoing payments.

Companies can save time, cut costs, and manage B2B payment processing more efficiently with our suite of Corporate Payment solutions, including
accounts payable (AP) automation, virtual cards, cross-border, and purchasing and T&E cards.
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AP Automation — We offer AP automation solutions with options that are purpose-built for the simplest, small business, to the most complex, large
enterprise. We initiate, manage and guarantee payment of all company-approved bills to all domestic and international vendors through whichever payment
modalities the vendors allow, such as automated clearing house (ACH), wire, check or payment card. For small/medium sized businesses (SMB), our
offering is simple, modern bill pay with invoice scanning and automated workflows, which also integrates with popular accounting systems like
QuickBooks™. Our mid-market/enterprise option meets the needs of the most complex global enterprises with multiple organizational hierarchies,
approval workflows, locations, bank accounts, robust on-demand reporting and seamless integration with Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) systems. We
also provide rich data on the remittance to the vendor, regardless of payment modality, which facilitates invoice reconciliations and payment posting. By
automating the process of paying vendors, businesses of all sizes can reduce the time, costs and fraud risks associated with their payment processes, and
focus more on operating their businesses.

Virtual Card — Our Virtual Card solution provides a single-use card number for a specific amount, usable within a defined timeframe. Virtual Cards
provide enhanced security relative to checks while reducing total payment costs for our customers. Full remittance data accompanies each Virtual Card
payment, providing significant reconciliation advantages to ACH payments. We have integrated our Virtual Card offering into most leading ERP systems,
providing a seamless experience for AP personnel.

We have built a proprietary merchant acceptance network, which we believe is largest in the industry, that accepts our Virtual Card payments. Our merchant
acceptance network is unique from all others, due to the nature of commercial Virtual Card acceptance. Each issuer negotiates directly with the merchant
for acceptance, so other issuers’ virtual cards are not interchangeable. This network is managed with proprietary technology that allows us to continuously
expand Virtual Card acceptance and optimize the amount of spend we can capture. The scale of this network, coupled with an in-house vendor enrollment
service, is a competitive advantage. Our ERP integrations, application programming interface (API) capabilities, strategic vendor enrollment, and
transaction management tools enable us to optimize our customers’ electronic payables programs.

Our Virtual Card operates solely on the Mastercard network. Our customers’ ERP systems are directly integrated with our issuing system, and merchants
must be enrolled in our proprietary vendor network to accept our Virtual Card solution. This two-sided transaction, where both payor and receiver are both
in our network, provides substantial payment security relative to paper checks or ACH.

Cross-Border — Our Cross-Border solution is used by our customers to pay international vendors, foreign office and personnel expenses, capital
expenditures, and profit repatriation and dividends. We also offer hedging and risk management services to customers, which helps them manage the
impact of volatile exchange rates in the course of doing business internationally.

Trade settlement and payment delivery is facilitated through a global network of correspondent banks, in-country payment gateways and technology
providers, enabling us to send payments to recipients in over 200 countries and 145 currencies. Our customers rely on us to deliver personalized service
and customer solutions, with a heavy focus on technology. We offer a proprietary trading and payments platform that we can "white label" for financial
institutions looking to expand their cross-border payment capability, as well as a suite of API products that enables us to embed our full capability directly
within the technology of both customers and partners. By utilizing transaction monitoring and watch list screening systems, we ensure payments are safe,
secure, and meet all applicable regulatory requirements.

Purchasing and T&E Cards — We also offer purchasing cards and travel & entertainment (T&E) solutions to our customers. These solutions are generally
sold in conjunction with our Virtual Card or AP Automation offerings. Additionally, we provide technology, which combines and leverages transaction data
captured from our virtual, purchasing, and T&E card products, to help our customers analyze and manage their corporate spending.

Additional Products

FLEETCOR provides several other payments solutions that, due to their nature or size, are not considered with our Expense Management and Corporate
Payments solutions.

Gift

We provide fully integrated gift card program management and processing services to retailers in 60 countries, in both plastic and digital form. The gift
cards are issued specifically for each customer under their specific brands and are generally accepted exclusively within their retail network, digitally or in-
person.

Our Gift solutions include card design, production and packaging, delivery and fulfillment, card and account management, transaction processing,
promotion development and management, website design and hosting, program analytics, and card distribution channel management. Our turnkey solution
benefits our customers in the form of brand promotion, cardholder loyalty, increased sales, interest on prepaid balances, and breakage on abandoned card
balances.
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Other

Payroll Card — We offer a payroll card solution in North America in the form of a reloadable stored value card, that can be used instead of a paper payroll
check. Our solution operates on the Mastercard payment network and the Allpoint ATM network, and the payroll cards are issued to our customers’
employees, and funded by the employees’ earned wages. As cardholders, the employees may present the payroll card as a form of payment for personal
purchases, transfer funds to their bank account or withdraw funds from participating ATMs.

Fleet Maintenance — We provide a vehicle maintenance service solution that helps fleet customers to manage their vehicle maintenance, service, and repair
needs in the U.K. This solution is provided through our proprietary maintenance and repair network, which processes transactions for fleet customers at
over 8,900 service centers across the U.K. We also offer compliance service to the U.K.’s heavy goods (truck) operators, workshops and drivers.

Long-Haul Transportation Services — In addition to, and often in conjunction with, our Fuel solutions, we provide trucking companies in North America
with various solutions and services specifically relevant to their industry including: road tax compliance analysis and reporting, permit procurement and
cash movement and disbursement.

Benefits — In Mexico and Brazil, we offer prepaid food vouchers or cards that may be used as a form of payment in restaurants and grocery stores.
Additionally, in Brazil, we offer prepaid transportation cards and vouchers that may be used by commuting employees as a form of payment on public
transportation.

Sales and Distribution

We actively market and sell our solutions to current and prospective customers leveraging a multi-channel approach. This go-to-market strategy includes
comprehensive digital channels, direct sales forces and strategic partner relationships. We have a robust, digital sales platform that enables our sales people
to be more efficient by improving their prospecting efforts through web sourced leads. With the shift of customer behavior to the web for much of their
consumer purchases, we have built and continue to expand online, end-to-end capability where the customers can buy, onboard and manage their accounts
on their own. In our direct sales force channel, we acquire and manage the customer relationship, which has historically been either in-person or via
telesales. Our capabilities are also offered through indirect sales channels (e.g., major oil companies and fuel marketers for Fuel, and retail establishments
for Tolls) and on a branded or “white label” basis, indirectly through a broad range of resellers and partners across Fuel, Lodging, and Corporate Payments.
In doing so, we leverage their sales networks to expand our reach into new customer segments, new industry verticals, and new geographies faster and at a
significantly lower cost.

With respect to our Tolls solution, we also place proprietary manned kiosks and unmanned vending machines in areas with high consumer foot traffic, such
as shopping malls, to reach consumers. With respect to our Gift solutions, third-party distribution is generally provided by other companies, who are reliant
on access to our systems to meet their distribution obligations.

We capitalize on our products’ specialization by deploying product-dedicated sales forces to target specific customer segments. As our solution set has
expanded, we are also facilitating cross-selling and bundled product offerings to fully leverage our distribution capabilities, capture more spend and
revenue from our existing customer base, and deliver more value to customers which should improve customer loyalty and retention.

Credit Underwriting and Collections

We follow detailed application credit review, account management, and collections procedures for all customers of our payment solutions. The credit
review includes a combination of quantitative, third-party credit scoring models, and judgmental underwriting based on customer financials. We employ a
variety of tools to manage risk in our portfolio, including: billing frequency, payment terms, spending limits, payment methods, delinquency suspension,
and security. We use fraud detection programs, including proprietary and third-party solutions, to monitor transactions and prevent misuse. We monitor the
credit quality of our portfolio periodically utilizing external credit scores and internal behavior data to identify high risk or deteriorating credit quality
accounts. We conduct targeted strategies to minimize exposure to high-risk accounts, including reducing spending limits and payment terms or requiring
additional security.

Competition

Our primary competition is from financial institutions offering general payment methods, like cash, checks, and general-purpose credit cards. We also
compete with specialized competitive offerings from other companies that vary by product category.

*  Our Corporate Payments solutions compete with similar offerings from financial institutions, American Express, Coupa, AvidXchange, Bill.com
and Western Union Business Solutions.

*  Our Fuel solutions compete with similar offerings from WEX, U.S. Bank Voyager Fleet Systems, Edenred, Sodexo, Alelo, Radius Payment
Solutions and DKV.

*  Our Lodging solutions compete with similar offerings from Egencia (American Express GBT), Hotel Engine, and in-house travel departments of
large corporations and airlines.
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*  Our Toll solutions compete with similar offerings from ConectCar (Banco Itai and Ipiranga), Veloe (Alelo), and Repom (Edenred).

*  Our Gift and Payroll Card solutions compete with similar offerings from First Data (Fiserv), other special-purpose card issuers, and payroll
companies.

Competitive Advantage

In executing on our strategy, we are advantaged by leveraging our competitive strengths:

*  Global Scale — We have strong market positions across four continents. This enables us to provide new offerings with better cost economics; sell
complementary products; acquire attractive assets that can leverage existing infrastructure and cost synergies; and introduce successful products
and practices from other markets.

»  Focused Growth Strategy — As a result of strong revenue retention, we can focus on driving organic growth from new customer acquisitions in
addition to selling more value-added products to current customers. Also, we effectively identify and acquire new attractive assets.

*  Proprietary Networks — Our specialized proprietary networks allow for unique data capture at the point of sale, providing an incremental value
proposition to our customers. These proprietary networks also provide us with advantageous economics.

*  Scalable Technology — Our easy-to-use platforms provide control and functionality for our customers and we can on-board incremental customer
volume with very limited need for additional infrastructure.

» Diversification — Our solutions and geographic diversification are designed to provide stability through the “portfolio effect” when one geography
or business is underperforming relative to the others. This allows FLEETCOR to deliver strong financial performance relative to competitors;
continue to invest throughout business cycles; and reallocate resources to higher performing businesses.

Technology

Our technology provides continuous authorization of transactions, processing of critical account and customer information, and settlement between
merchants, issuing companies, and individual commercial entities. We recognize the importance of state-of-the-art, secure, efficient, and reliable
technology in our business and have made significant investments in our applications and infrastructure. In 2021, we spent approximately $250 million in
capital and operating expenses to operate, protect, and enhance our technology.

We operate several proprietary processing systems that provide features and functionality to run our card programs and solutions, including our card
issuing, processing, and information services. Our processing systems also integrate with our proprietary networks, which provide brand awareness and
connectivity to our acceptance locations that enables the “end-to-end” card acceptance, data capture, and transaction authorization capabilities of our card
programs. Our proprietary processing systems and aggregation software are tailored to meet the unique needs of the individual markets they serve and
enable us to create and deliver solutions that serve each of our industry verticals and geographies. Our technology platforms are comprised of four key
components, which were primarily developed and are maintained in-house: (1) a core processing platform; (2) specialized software; (3) integrated network
capabilities; and (4) a cloud-based architecture with proprietary APIs.

Our technology function is based in the U.S., Europe, and Brazil and has expertise in the management of applications, transaction networks, and
infrastructure. We operate application development centers in the U.S., U.K., Netherlands, Russia, Czech Republic, Brazil, and New Zealand. Our
distributed application architecture allows us to maintain, administer, and innovate our solutions in a cost-effective and flexible manner. Our purpose-built
solutions contain significant intellectual property that differentiates us from our competition.

We continually seek to modernize and evolve our technology solutions through our core IT transformation initiatives. Our IT transformation initiatives are
focused on three main pillars: (1) digital strategy; (2) core systems modernization; and (3) data. Our digital strategy is focused on streamlining a digital
customer experience across all of our solutions, providing a seamless experience. Additionally, we are investing in modernizing our core transactional
systems to make them more resilient, secure, and scalable. Our technology infrastructure is supported by highly-secure data centers, with redundant
locations. We operate our primary data centers, located in Atlanta, Georgia; Prague, Czech Republic; Las Vegas, Nevada; Lexington and Louisville,
Kentucky; Sao Paulo, Brazil; Toronto, Canada; and Moscow, Russia.

Additionally, as we develop new solutions and modernize legacy assets, we increasingly leverage cloud services. Through the use of cloud technology and
microservices, we are able to modernize our platforms with no disruption to our customers. Finally, data is becoming an ever-increasing part of how the
Company and its customers do business. We are focused on investing in our data assets to deliver value for our customers through improved insights to
them to better control expenses and mitigate fraud. The use of cloud services provides us with increased flexibility and agility. We use only proven
technology and expect no foreseeable capacity limitations.
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We maintain disaster recovery and business continuity plans, which benefited and continue to benefit us during the COVID-19 pandemic. Our
telecommunications and internet systems have multiple levels of redundancy to ensure the reliability of network service. In 2021, we achieved over 99.9%
up-time for authorizations globally.

Safeguarding Our Business

To provide our services, we collect, use and store sensitive business information and personal information, which may include credit and debit card
numbers, bank account numbers, social security numbers, driver’s license numbers, names and addresses, and other types of personal information or
sensitive business information. Some of this information is also processed and stored by financial institutions, merchants, and other entities, as well as
third-party service providers to whom we outsource certain functions and other agents, which we refer to collectively as, our associated third parties. We
may have responsibility to the card networks, financial institutions, and in some instances, our customers, and/or individuals, for our failure or the failure of
our associated third parties (as applicable) to protect this information.

We are subject to cybersecurity and information theft risks in our operations, which we seek to manage through cyber and information security programs,
training, and insurance coverage. To strengthen our security and cyber defenses, we maintain a defensive in-depth approach to cyber and information
security to defend our systems against misuse, intrusions, and cyberattacks and to protect the data we collect. Further, we work with information security
and forensics firms and employ advanced technologies to help prevent, investigate and address issues relating to processing system security and
availability. We also collaborate with third parties, regulators, and law enforcement, when appropriate, to resolve security incidents and assist in efforts to
prevent unauthorized access to our processing systems.

Our systems align with industry standards for security, with multiple industry certifications. Our network is configured with multiple layers of security to
isolate our databases from unauthorized access. We use security protocols for communication among applications, and our employees access critical
components on a need-only basis. We may not be able to adequately protect our systems or the data we collect from continually evolving cybersecurity
risks or other technological risks, which could subject us to liability and damage our reputation. See also, "Risks related to information technology and
security” under Item 1A for further discussion of the risks we face in connection with our technology systems and potential data breach and cybersecurity
risks facing the Company.

Regulatory

A substantial number of laws and regulations, both in the U.S. and in other jurisdictions, apply to businesses offering payment products to customers,
processing payments and servicing related accounts, or operating payment networks. These laws and regulations are often evolving and sometimes
ambiguous or inconsistent, and the extent to which they apply to us is at times unclear. Failure to comply with regulations may result in the suspension or
revocation of licenses or registrations, the limitation, suspension, or termination of services or relationships with our bank partners and sponsors and
business and sales partners, and/or the imposition of civil and criminal penalties, including fines. Certain of our solutions are also subject to rules set by
various payment networks, such as Mastercard, as more fully described below.

The following, while not exhaustive, is a description of several federal and state laws and regulations in the U.S., as well as foreign laws and regulations,
that are applicable to our business, and therefore can materially affect our capital expenditures, earnings, and competitive position. In addition, the legal
and regulatory framework governing our business is subject to ongoing revision, and changes in that framework could have a significant effect on us.

Money Transmission and Payment Instrument Licensing Regulations

We are subject to various U.S. laws and regulations governing money transmission and the issuance and sale of payment instruments relating to certain
aspects of our business. In the U.S., most states license money transmitters and issuers of payment instruments. Through our subsidiaries, we are licensed
in all states where required for business. Many states exercise authority over the operations related to money transmission and payment instruments and, as
part of this authority, subject us to periodic examinations, which may include a review of our compliance practices, policies and procedures, financial
position and related records, privacy and data security policies and procedures, and other matters related to our business. As a result of these periodic
examinations, state agencies sometimes issue us findings and recommendations, prompting us to make changes to our operations, and procedures.

As a licensee, we are subject to certain restrictions and requirements, including net worth and surety bond requirements, record keeping and reporting
requirements, requirements for regulatory approval of controlling stockholders or direct and indirect changes of control of the licensee and certain other
corporate events, and requirements to maintain certain levels of permissible investments in an amount equal to our outstanding payment obligations. Many
states also require money transmitters and issuers of payment instruments to comply with federal and state anti-money laundering laws (AML) and
regulations. See “Anti-Money Laundering. Counter Terrorist, and Sanctions Regulations.”

Government agencies may impose new or additional requirements on money transmission and sales of payment instruments, and we expect that
compliance costs will increase in the future for our regulated subsidiaries.
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Privacy and Information Security Regulations

We provide services that may be subject to various state, federal, and foreign privacy and information security laws and regulations, including, among
others, the Gramm-Leach Bliley Act, the EU’s General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and its Network and Information Security directive, Canada’s
Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act, Brazil’s General Data Protection Law, California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 (CCPA)
and California Privacy Rights Act (CPRA), which will become operative on January 1, 2023, China's Personal Information Protection Law and pending
laws in certain U.S. states including in Colorado and Virginia.

These and similar laws and their implementing regulations restrict certain collection, processing, storage, use, and disclosure of personal information,
require notice to individuals of privacy practices, and provide individuals with certain rights to prevent use and disclosure of protected information. Some
also impose requirements for the safeguarding and proper destruction of personal information through the issuance of data security standards or guidelines.
In many cases they impose obligations to notify affected individuals, state officers or other governmental authorities, the media, and consumer reporting
agencies, as well as businesses and governmental agencies, of security breaches affecting personal information. In addition, some restrict the ability to
collect and utilize certain types of information such as Social Security and driver’s license numbers.

Certain of our products that access payment networks require compliance with Payment Card Industry (PCI) data security standards. See “Payment Card
Industry Rules.”

Email and Text Marketing Laws

We use direct email marketing and text-messaging to reach out to current or potential customers and therefore are subject to various statutes, regulations,
and rulings, including the Telephone Consumer Protection Act (TCPA), the Controlling the Assault of Non-Solicited Pornography and Marketing Act
(CAN-SPAM Act) and related Federal Communication Commission (FCC) orders. Several states have enacted additional, more restrictive and punitive
laws regulating commercial email. Foreign legislation exists as well, including Canada’s Anti-Spam Legislation and the European laws that have been
enacted pursuant to European Union Directive 2002/58/EC and its amendments. Although we believe that our email practices comply with the relevant
regulatory requirements, violations could result in enforcement actions, statutory fines and penalties, and class action litigation.

Unfair or Deceptive Business Practices

All persons engaged in commerce, including, but not limited to, us and our bank sponsors and customers, are subject to regulatory enforcement by the FTC,
under Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, and state attorneys general, under various consumer-protection statutes, prohibiting unfair or
deceptive acts or practices, and certain products also are subject to the jurisdiction of the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) regarding the
prohibition of unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts and practices. As a service provider to certain of our bank sponsors, we may further be subject to direct
supervision and examination by federal banking regulators in connection with certain of our products and services, which may increase our compliance
costs. If we are accused of violating any of these laws, rules and regulations, we may be subject to enforcement actions and as a result, may incur losses and
liabilities that may impact our business.

Lending Regulations

We are subject to several laws and related regulations governing the provision and administration of credit. The Truth in Lending Act (TTLA) was enacted
as a consumer protection measure to increase consumer awareness of the cost of credit and to protect consumers from unauthorized charges or billing
errors, and is implemented by the CFPB’s Regulation Z. Most provisions of TILA and Regulation Z apply only to the extension of consumer credit, but a
limited number of provisions apply to commercial cards as well. One example where TILA and Regulation Z are generally applicable is a limitation on
liability for unauthorized use, although a business that acquires 10 or more credit cards for its personnel can agree to more expansive liability. Our
cardholder agreements generally provide that these business customers waive, to the fullest extent possible, all limitations on liability for unauthorized card
use. The Equal Credit Opportunity Act (ECOA) together with Regulation B prohibit creditors from discriminating on certain prohibited bases, such as an
applicant’s sex, race, nationality, age and marital status, and further requires that creditors disclose the reasons for taking any adverse action against an
applicant or a customer seeking credit. The Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA) regulates consumer reporting agencies and the disclosure and use of
consumer reports. We obtain consumer reports with respect to an individual who guarantees or otherwise is obligated on a commercial card. The Fair and
Accurate Credit Transactions Act of 2003 amended FCRA and requires creditors to adopt identity theft prevention programs to detect, prevent and mitigate
identity theft in connection with covered accounts, which can include business accounts for which there is a reasonably foreseeable risk of identity theft.

Anti-Money Laundering, Counter Terrorist, and Sanctions Regulations

The Currency and Foreign Transactions Reporting Act, which is also known as the Bank Secrecy Act (BSA) and which has been amended by the USA
PATRIOT Act of 2001, contains a variety of provisions aimed at fighting terrorism and money laundering. Among other things, the BSA and implementing
regulations issued by the U.S. Treasury Department require financial-services providers to establish AML programs, to not engage in terrorist financing, to
report suspicious activity, and to maintain a number of related records. We are also subject to certain economic and trade sanctions programs that are
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administered by the U.S. Department of Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC) that prohibit or restrict transactions to or from or dealings
with specified countries, their governments and, in certain circumstances, their nationals, narcotics traffickers, and terrorists or terrorist organizations. In
addition to economic sanctions programs, we are also subject to a number of international laws and regulations focused on fighting terrorism and money
laundering, including primarily:

+ in Canada, Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act (PCMLTFA);

* in Australia, as a registered remittance dealer with AUSTRAC, the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorism Financing Act 2006
(AML/CTF Act);

+ inthe UK, as a registered Electronic Money Institution with the Financial Conduct Authority, the Proceeds of Crime Act, 2002, and the
Terrorism Act 2000;

* in Ireland, the Criminal Justice (Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing) Act 2010, as amended by Part 2 of the Criminal Justice Act 2013 and
by the Criminal Justice (Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing) (Amendment) Act 2018; and

+ in the EU, AML requirements promulgated under the 4th, 5th and 6th EU Anti-Money Laundering Directives.
Numerous other countries have also enacted or proposed new or enhanced AML legislation and regulations applicable to us.

Non-banks that provide certain financial services are required to register with the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network of the U.S. Department of the
Treasury (FinCEN) as “money services businesses” (MSB). Through certain subsidiaries, we are registered as MSBs.

In addition, provisions of the BSA known as the Prepaid Access Rule issued by FinCEN impose certain obligations, such as registration and collection of
consumer information, on “providers” of certain prepaid access programs, including the stored value products issued by our sponsor banks for which we
serve as program manager. FInCEN has taken the position that, where the issuing bank has principal oversight and control of such prepaid access programs,
no other participant in the distribution chain would be required to register as a provider under the Prepaid Access Rule. Despite this position, we have opted
to register as a provider of prepaid access through our subsidiary, Comdata Inc.

Interchange Fees

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (Dodd-Frank Act) effected comprehensive revisions to a wide array of federal
laws governing financial institutions, financial services, and financial markets. The Durbin Amendment to the Dodd-Frank Act provided that interchange
fees that a card issuer or payment network receives or charges for debit transactions must be “reasonable and proportional” to the cost incurred by the card
issuer in authorizing, clearing and settling the transaction. Payment network fees may not be used directly or indirectly to compensate card issuers in
circumvention of the interchange transaction fee restrictions. The Federal Reserve has capped debit interchange fees, however the cap has not had a
material direct impact on our results of operations because we operate under an exemption to the cap for the majority of our debit transactions.

Anti-Bribery Regulations

The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA) prohibits the payment of bribes to foreign government officials and political figures and includes anti-bribery
provisions enforced by the Department of Justice and accounting provisions enforced by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). The statute has a
broad reach, covering all U.S. companies and citizens doing business abroad, among others, and defining a foreign official to include not only those
holding public office but also local citizens affiliated with foreign government-run or -owned organizations. The statute also requires maintenance of
appropriate books and records and maintenance of adequate internal controls to prevent and detect possible FCPA violations. We are subject to similar
statutes in certain foreign jurisdictions in which we operate, such as the U.K. Bribery Act.

Payment Card Industry Rules

In connection with certain services we provide for payment cards bearing the Mastercard brand, and to those acting as merchants accepting those cards, we
must comply with the bylaws, regulations and requirements that are promulgated by Mastercard and other applicable payment-card organizations, including
the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI DSS), the Mastercard Site Data Protection Program (SDP) and other applicable data-security
program requirements. A breach of such payment card network rules could subject us to a variety of fines or penalties that may be levied by the payment
networks for certain acts or omissions. The payment networks routinely update and modify their requirements. Our failure to comply with the networks’
requirements or to pay the fines they impose could cause the termination of our registration and require us to stop processing transactions on their
networks. Our subsidiary, Comdata Inc., is PCI DSS 3.2 compliant.

We are also subject to network operating rules promulgated by the National ACH Association relating to payment transactions processed by us using the
ACH Network.
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Escheat Regulations

‘We may be subject to unclaimed or abandoned property (escheat) laws in the U.S. that require us to turn over to certain government authorities the property
of others that we hold that has been unclaimed for a specified period of time, such as payment instruments that have not been presented for payment and
account balances that are due to a customer following discontinuation of our relationship. We may be subject to audit by individual U.S. states with regard
to our escheatment practices.

Prepaid Card Regulations

Prepaid card programs that we manage may be subject to various federal and state laws and regulations, such as the Credit Card Accountability,
Responsibility, and Disclosure Act of 2009 (CARD Act) and the CFPB’s Regulation E, which impose requirements on general-use prepaid cards, store gift
cards and electronic gift certificates.

State Usury Laws

Extensions of credit under many of our card products may be treated as commercial loans. In some states, usury laws limit the interest rates that can be
charged not only on consumer loans but on commercial loans as well. To the extent that these usury laws apply, we are limited in the amount of interest that
we can charge and collect from our customers. Because we have substantial operations in multiple jurisdictions, we utilize choice of law provisions in our
cardholder agreements as to the laws of which jurisdiction to apply. With respect to card products where we work with a partner or issuing bank, the partner
bank may utilize the law of the jurisdiction applicable to the bank and “export” the usury limit of that state in connection with cards issued to residents of
other states or we may use our choice of law provisions.

Derivatives Regulations

Rules adopted under the Dodd-Frank Act by the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (CFTC), provisions of the European Market Infrastructure
Regulation and its technical standards, as well as derivative reporting in Canada and the U.S., have subjected certain of the foreign exchange derivative
contracts we offer to our customers as part of our cross-border payments business to reporting, recordkeeping, and other requirements. Additionally, certain
foreign exchange derivatives transactions we may enter into in the future may be subject to centralized clearing requirements, or may be subject to margin
requirements in the U.S., U.K., and European Union. Other jurisdictions outside the U.S., U.K., and the European Union are considering, have
implemented, or are implementing regulations similar to those described above.

Other

We must contractually comply with certain regulations to which our sponsor banks are subject, as applicable. We may be examined by our sponsor banks’
regulators and be subject to audits by certain sponsor banks relative to such regulations.

The Housing Assistance Tax Act of 2008 requires information returns to be made for each calendar year by merchants, acquiring entities, and third-party
settlement organizations with respect to payments made in settlement of electronic payment transactions and third-party payment network transactions
occurring in that calendar year. Reportable transactions are also subject to backup withholding requirements. We are required to comply with these
requirements for the merchants in our Comdata network. We could be liable for penalties if our information return is not in compliance with these
regulations.

Human Capital

As of December 31, 2021, FLEETCOR employed approximately 9,700 associates located in more than 15 countries around the world, with approximately
3,900 of those associates based in the U.S. At FLEETCOR, we strongly believe that talent is a strong determinant of the Company’s performance and
success. Our values-driven people programs, practices and policies have been developed to ensure we are able to attract, retain and develop the quality of
talent necessary to advance our key initiatives and achieve our strategic objectives. We are firmly committed to delivering a strong employee value
proposition and unique employment experience to our associates which, in turn, should lead to better customer experiences and business outcomes.

Culture

Our culture has evolved through time, as the Company has grown considerably both organically and through acquisitions. Despite FLEETCOR’s expansive
size and geographic scope, we seek to retain a strong entrepreneurial spirit, and share a common vision, mission and set of values, which together serve as
cornerstones to our “One FLEETCOR?” culture. Our values, listed below, are infused in all aspects of FLEETCOR, and guide our employee selection,
behavior and interactions with both internal and external stakeholders:

+ Innovation — figure out a better way
*  Execution — get it done quickly
* Integrity — do the right thing

»  People — we make the difference
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*  Collaboration — accomplish more together
Diversity, Inclusion and Belonging

Our focus on diversity, inclusion and belonging (DIB) is part of our successful “One FLEETCOR?” culture. As of December 31, 2021, females represented
approximately 53% of our global workforce and approximately 22% of our senior leadership team, while minorities comprised approximately 42% of our
domestic workforce and approximately 14% of our senior leadership team.

Fostering a culturally diverse and inclusive environment and creating a true sense of belonging are among our top priorities. Our global diversity council,
three regional councils and nine employee resource groups (ERGs) are dedicated to building diversity, inclusion and belonging into all aspects of our global
operations. Sponsored by the Chairman of the Board and CEO, the councils and ERGs are vital to creating an environment where all employees are able to
prosper. Our ERGs allow a safe space for traditionally underrepresented employees to connect and discuss experiences. The ERGs also provide
FLEETCOR with perspectives on the unique needs and lived experiences of those who are traditionally underrepresented.

Employee Wellness

FLEETCOR’s benefits programs are designed to meet the evolving needs of a diverse workforce across the globe. Because we want our employees and
their families to thrive, in additional to our regular benefit offerings, we focused on physical and mental well-being in 2021. During the year, we offered
free, online fitness classes, sponsored the FLEETCOR Wellbeing Challenge, provided access to employee assistance programs in all regions, and
celebrated Mental Health Awareness programs globally.

Talent Development

FLEETCOR offers a variety of high-quality learning opportunities, designed to support employee development and organizational effectiveness. Learning
opportunities are available in all geographies at all levels, and incorporate personal, business and leadership skills development with the goal of
empowering our organization, creating avenues for closing skill gaps, and enhancing the capabilities of our workforce. Leadership, teamwork,
communication, and many other soft skills are vital to our success. We offer a wide variety of career opportunities and paths to advancement through on-
the-job coaching, training, and education. We are proud to be a company where an associate can start as an intern and turn it into a successful career.

The Voice of the Employee

We continue to develop and refine our people programs based on feedback we receive directly from our workforce, which we gather through an annual
survey of all employees globally. The participation rate for our 2021 annual survey was approximately 75%. Our employee engagement score in 2021
remained consistent (1 point lower) than our 2020 results. We are proud of these results during the continued COVID-19 pandemic and amid the great
resignation. We believe our employee proposition remains strong and we continue to attract and retain top talent. We continue to share the detailed
engagement scores across the organization, and analyze the results to understand differences by geography, demographics, job level, and leader, and to
identify opportunities for further improvement. Throughout 2021, we conducted several additional pulse surveys to assess the ongoing engagement of our
workforce.

In October 2020, FLEETCOR published its inaugural Corporate Responsibility & Sustainability Report (CRS Report), in which we provided detailed
information about the Company’s views and approaches regarding environmental, social and governance issues. We published a 2021 CRS Report in
January 2022, which contains information incremental to our inaugural report and is therefore intended to be read in conjunction with that report. Our 2021
CRS Report includes further details related to our global talent strategy, DIB metrics, employee wellness and talent development. We are currently
preparing our third annual CRS Report for publication later this year. Our CRS Reports may be accessed electronically at https://investor.fleetcor.com, in
the governance section.

Additional Information

The Company maintains a website at www.fleetcor.com. The information on the Company’s website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. We make available on or through our website certain reports and amendments to those reports that we file with or furnish the SEC in
accordance with the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act). These include our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, our Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q, and our Current Reports on Form 8-K. We make this information available on our website free of charge as soon as reasonably
practicable after we electronically file the information with, or furnish it to, the SEC.

In addition, the SEC maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file
electronically at https://www.sec.gov.
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ITEM X. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following table sets forth certain information regarding our executive officers, with their respective ages as of December 31, 2021. Our officers serve
at the discretion of our board of directors. There are no family relationships between any of our directors or executive officers.

Name Age Position(s),

Ronald F. Clarke 66 Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors
Charles R. Freund 49  Chief Financial Officer

Alexey Gavrilenya 45  Group President—North America Fuel

Alan King 45  Group President—Europe, Australia and New Zealand Fuel
Armando L. Netto 53 Group President—DBrazil

Alissa B. Vickery 44  Chief Accounting Officer

Ronald F. Clarke has been our Chief Executive Officer since August 2000 and was appointed Chairman of our Board of Directors in March 2003. From
1999 to 2000, Mr. Clarke served as President and Chief Operating Officer of AHL Services, Inc., a staffing firm. From 1990 to 1998, Mr. Clarke served as
Chief Marketing Officer and later as a Division President with Automatic Data Processing, Inc., a computer services company. From 1987 to 1990, Mr.
Clarke was a Principal with Booz Allen Hamilton, a global management consulting firm. Earlier in his career, Mr. Clarke was a marketing manager for
General Electric Company, a diversified technology, media, and financial services corporation.

Charles R. Freund was appointed our Chief Financial Officer in September 2020, and has been with us since 2000. During his tenure with FLEETCOR,
Mr. Freund has held numerous roles, including Executive Vice President of Corporate Strategy, Executive Vice President of Global Sales, President of
Emerging Markets, Senior Vice President of Corporate Strategy, Vice President of U.K. Card Issuing, and Vice President of Business Development. Prior to
joining us, Mr. Freund was a Consultant at Sibson Consulting.

Alexey Gavrilenya has been our Group President — North America Fuel since September 2019. Mr. Gavrilenya joined FLEETCOR in March 2009 and
served as our Executive Vice President Strategy and Finance, Eastern Europe until April 2011. From May 2011 to January 2016, Mr. Gavrilenya was
President — Eastern Europe. He then added to his responsibilities as President — Continental Europe in February 2016. Prior to joining us, Mr. Gavrilenya
was CFO of Matarex, Ltd.

Alan King has served as our Group President of Europe, Australia, and New Zealand Fuel since July 2019. Mr. King joined FLEETCOR in August 2016 as
President - U.K., Australia, and New Zealand, based in London. Prior to joining us, Mr. King worked at Mastercard where he was most recently Managing
Director, MasterCard Prepaid Management Services. During his 11 year career at MasterCard, Mr. King held the roles of Group Head, Global Prepaid
Solutions, Group General Manager for Market and Business Development in the U.K. & Ireland, and General Manager, Global Accounts. Prior to
MasterCard, Mr. King held leadership positions at VISA in the CEMEA region from 2003 to 2005 and at Citibank from 1998 to 2003, largely across
commercial payments in international markets. Mr. King spent the early part of his career in the telecom and automotive industries, in various sales and
marketing roles covering Europe.

Armando L. Netto has served as Group President — Brazil since June 2014. Prior to joining us, Mr. Netto led IT Services for TIVIT, an IT and BPO services
company, from 2006 to 2014, where he led the integration of functional areas into the business unit, focused on onboarding new clients and ensuring
service quality. Prior to TIVIT, Mr. Netto held various leadership roles with Unisys and McKinsey, where he gained international experience in Europe
supporting clients in the U.K., France, Austria, Portugal, and the Netherlands.

Alissa B. Vickery is a Certified Public Accountant and was appointed our Chief Accounting Officer in September 2020. Mrs. Vickery joined FLEETCOR in
2011 and also serves as Senior Vice President of Accounting and Controls, with oversight of external reporting, technical accounting and internal audit.
Prior to joining us, Mrs. Vickery held a Senior Director position at Worldpay and spent more than nine years in public accounting at Deloitte LLP and
Arthur Andersen LLP, as a senior manager in the audit and assurance practice.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the following risks applicable to us. If any of the following risks actually occur, our business, operating results, financial
condition and the trading price of our common stock could be materially adversely affected. The risks discussed below also include forward-looking
statements, and our actual results may differ substantially from those discussed in these forward-looking statements. See “Note Regarding Forward-
Looking Statements” in this report.

Risks related to information technology and security

We are dependent on the efficient and uninterrupted operation of interconnected computer systems, telecommunications, data centers and call centers,
including technology and network systems managed by multiple third parties, which could result in our inability to prevent disruptions in our services.

Our ability to provide reliable service to customers, cardholders and other network participants depends upon uninterrupted operation of our data centers
and call centers as well as third-party labor and services providers. Our business involves processing large numbers of transactions, the movement of large
sums of money and the management of large amounts of data. We rely on the ability of our employees, contractors, suppliers, systems and processes to
complete these transactions in a secure, uninterrupted and error-free manner.

Our subsidiaries operate in various countries and country specific factors, such as power availability, telecommunications carrier redundancy, embargoes
and regulation can adversely impact our information processing by or for our local subsidiaries.

We engage backup facilities for each of our processing centers for key systems and data. However, there could be material delays in fully activating backup
facilities depending on the nature of the breakdown, security breach or catastrophic event (such as fire, explosion, flood, pandemic, natural disaster, power
loss, telecommunications failure or physical break-in). We have controls and documented measures to mitigate these risks but these mitigating controls
might not reduce the duration, scope or severity of an outage in time to avoid adverse effects.

We may experience software defects, system errors, computer viruses and development delays, which could damage customer relationships, decrease
our profitability and expose us to liability.

Our business depends heavily on the reliability of proprietary and third-party processing systems. A system outage could adversely affect our business,
financial condition or results of operations, including by damaging our reputation or exposing us to third-party liability. To successfully operate our
business, we must be able to protect our processing and other systems from interruption, including from events that may be beyond our control. Events that
could cause system interruptions include fire, natural disaster, unauthorized entry, power loss, telecommunications failure, computer viruses, terrorist acts
and war. Although we have taken steps to protect against data loss and system failures, there is still risk that we may lose critical data or experience system
failures.

Our solutions are based on sophisticated software and computing systems that are constantly evolving. We often encounter delays and cost overruns in
developing changes implemented to our systems. In addition, the underlying software may contain undetected errors, viruses or defects. Defects in our
software products and errors or delays in our processing of electronic transactions could result in additional development costs, diversion of technical and
other resources from our other development efforts, loss of credibility with current or potential customers, harm to our reputation or exposure to liability
claims. In addition, we rely on technologies supplied to us by third parties that may also contain undetected errors, viruses or defects that could adversely
affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. Although we attempt to limit our potential liability for warranty claims through disclaimers
in our software documentation and limitation of liability provisions in our licenses and other agreements with our customers, we cannot assure that these
measures will be successful in limiting our liability.

We may not be able to adequately protect our systems or the data we collect from continually evolving cybersecurity risks or other technological risks,
which could subject us to liability and damage our reputation.

We electronically receive, process, store and transmit data and sensitive information about our customers and merchants, including bank account
information, social security numbers, expense data, and credit card, debit card and checking account numbers. We endeavor to keep this information
confidential; however, our websites, networks, information systems, services and technologies may be targeted for sabotage, disruption or
misappropriation. The uninterrupted operation of our information systems and our ability to maintain the confidentiality of the customer and consumer
information that resides on our systems are critical to the successful operation of our business. Unauthorized access to our networks and computer systems
could result in the theft or publication of confidential information or the deletion or modification of records or could otherwise cause interruptions in our
service and operations.

Other than a previously disclosed unauthorized access incident during the second quarter of 2018, we are not aware of any material breach of our or our
associated third parties’ computer systems, although we and others in our industry are regularly the subject of attempts by bad actors to gain unauthorized
access to these computer systems and data or to obtain, change or destroy confidential data (including personal consumer information of individuals)
through a variety of means.

15



Table of Contents

Because techniques used to sabotage or obtain unauthorized access to our systems and the data we collect change frequently and may not be recognized
until launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate preventative measures. Threats to our systems
and our associated third parties’ systems can derive from human error, fraud or malice on the part of employees or third parties, or may result from
accidental technological failure. Computer viruses can be distributed and could infiltrate our systems or those of our associated third parties. In addition,
denial of service or other attacks could be launched against us for a variety of purposes, including to interfere with our services or create a diversion for
other malicious activities. Although we believe we have sufficient controls in place to prevent disruption and misappropriation and to respond to such
attacks, any inability to prevent security breaches could have a negative impact on our reputation, expose us to liability, decrease market acceptance of
electronic transactions and cause our present and potential clients to choose another service provider.

We could also be subject to liability for claims relating to misuse of personal information, such as unauthorized marketing purposes and violation of data
privacy laws. For example, we are subject to a variety of U.S. and international statutes, regulations, and rulings relevant to the direct email marketing and
text-messaging industries. While we believe we are in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations, if we were ever found to be in violation, our
business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows could be materially adversely affected. We cannot provide assurance that the contractual
requirements related to security and privacy that we impose on our service providers who have access to customer and consumer data will be followed or
will be adequate to prevent the unauthorized use or disclosure of data. In addition, we have agreed in certain agreements to take certain protective measures
to ensure the confidentiality of customer data. The costs of systems and procedures associated with such protective measures, as well as the cost of
deploying additional personnel, training our employees and hiring outside experts, may increase and could adversely affect our ability to compete
effectively. Any failure to adequately enforce or provide these protective measures could result in liability, protracted and costly litigation, governmental
and card network intervention and fines, remediation costs, and with respect to misuse of personal information of our customers, lost revenue and
reputational harm. While we maintain insurance covering certain security and privacy damages and claim expenses we may not carry insurance or maintain
coverage sufficient to compensate for all liability and such insurance may not be available for renewal on acceptable terms or at all, and in any event,
insurance coverage would not address the reputational damage that could result from a security incident.

In addition, under payment network rules, regulatory requirements, and related obligations, we may be responsible for the acts or failures to act of certain
third parties, such as third-party service providers, vendors, partners and others, which we refer to collectively as associated participants. The failure of our
associated participants to safeguard cardholder data and other information in accordance with such rules, requirements and obligations could result in
significant fines and sanctions and could harm our reputation and deter existing and prospective customers from using our services. We cannot assure you
that there are written agreements in place with every associated participant or that such written agreements will ensure the adequate safeguarding of such
data or information or allow us to seek reimbursement from associated participants. Any such unauthorized use or disclosure of data or information also
could result in litigation that could result in a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we fail to develop and implement new technology, products and services, adapt our products and services to changes in technology, the marketplace
requirements, or if our ongoing efforts to upgrade our technology, products and services are not successful, we could lose customers and partners.

The markets for our solutions are highly competitive and characterized by technological change, frequent introduction of new products and services and
evolving industry standards. We must respond to the technological advances offered by our competitors and the requirements of regulators and our
customers and partners, in order to maintain and improve upon our competitive position and fulfill contractual obligations. We may be unsuccessful in
expanding our technological capabilities and developing, marketing, selling or encouraging adoption of new products and services that meet these changing
demands, which could jeopardize our competitive position. Similarly, if new technologies are developed that displace our traditional payment card as
payment mechanisms for purchase transactions by businesses, we may be unsuccessful in adequately responding to customer practices and our transaction
volume may decline. In addition, we regularly engage in significant efforts to upgrade our products, services and underlying technology, which may or may
not be successful in achieving broad acceptance or their intended purposes.

The solutions we deliver are designed to process complex transactions and provide reports and other information on those transactions, all at high volumes
and processing speeds. Any failure to deliver an effective and secure product or service or any performance issue that arises with a new product or service
could result in significant processing or reporting errors or other losses. We may rely on third parties to develop or co-develop our solutions or to
incorporate our solutions into broader platforms for the commercial payments industry. We may not be able to enter into such relationships on attractive
terms, or at all, and these relationships may not be successful. In addition, partners, some of whom may be our competitors or potential competitors, may
choose to develop competing solutions on their own or with third parties.
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Risks related to our business and operations

The extent to which the outbreak of the novel strain of the coronavirus (COVID-19), the continuing spread of its variants and measures taken in
response thereto impact our business, results of operations and financial condition will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and
are difficult to predict.

The novel strain of the coronavirus (COVID-19) and its variants have spread throughout the globe and have negatively impacted the macroeconomic
environment, significantly increasing economic uncertainty. The outbreak has resulted in regulatory and other authorities periodically implementing
numerous measures to try to contain the virus, such as travel bans and restrictions, quarantines, shelter in place orders, and business shutdowns, as well as
uncertainty regarding the scope or enforceability of vaccine mandates in certain jurisdictions. These measures have negatively impacted consumer and
business spending and could continue to do so. In addition, these measures have adversely impacted and may further impact our ability, or the cost and
expense incurred by us, to attract, retain, and develop our workforce, or otherwise impact our operations and the operations or workforces of our customers,
suppliers and business partners. These measures may remain in place or return, as applicable, for significant periods of time and they are likely to continue
to adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

The spread of the coronavirus previously caused us to modify our business practices (including employee travel, employee work locations, and cancellation
of physical participation in meetings, events and conferences), and subject to variations in infection levels in various jurisdictions, we may take renewed or
further actions as may be required by government authorities or that we determine are in the best interests of our employees, customers and business
partners. While vaccines are currently being administered around the world, vaccine availability, the distribution of vaccines, efficacy to new strains of the
virus and the public's willingness to get vaccinated or receive booster doses could limit their impact and extend the duration of the pandemic. We continue
to manage the business as appropriate in order to preserve our financial flexibility during this challenging time. There is no certainty that such measures
will be sufficient to mitigate the risks posed by the virus or otherwise be satisfactory to government authorities.

In addition, any ongoing impact of COVID-19 on macroeconomic conditions may impact the proper functioning of financial and capital markets, foreign
currency exchange rates, inflation and increasing commodity prices, including fuel prices, interest rates and the ongoing impact of the pandemic on the
global supply chain. Even after the COVID-19 global pandemic has subsided, we may continue to experience adverse impacts to our business as a result of
any economic recession or depression that has occurred or may occur in the future. The continued disruption of global financial markets as a result of the
COVID-19 global pandemic could have a negative impact on our ability to access capital in the future.

The extent to which the COVID-19 outbreak impacts our business, results of operations and financial condition will depend on future developments, which
are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including, but not limited to, the duration and spread of the outbreak, its severity, the actions to contain the
virus or treat its impact through vaccines or otherwise, and how quickly and to what extent normal economic and operating conditions can resume. Even
after the coronavirus outbreak has subsided, we may continue to experience materially adverse impacts to our business as a result of its global economic
impact, including any recession that has occurred or may occur in the future.

There are no comparable recent events which may provide guidance as to the effect of the spread of the coronavirus and a global pandemic, and, as a result,
the ultimate impact of the COVID-19 outbreak or a similar health epidemic is highly uncertain and subject to change. We do not yet know the full extent of
the impacts on our business, our operations or the global economy as a whole. However, the effects could have a material impact on our results of
operations.

Adverse effects on payment card transaction volume, including from unfavorable macroeconomic conditions, weather conditions, natural catastrophes
or public health crises or from changes to business purchasing practices, could adversely affect our revenues and operating results.

A substantial portion of our revenue is based on the volume of payment card transactions by our customers Accordingly, our operating results could be
adversely impacted by events or trends that negatively impact the demand for fuel, business-related products and services, or payment card services in
general.

For example, our transaction volume is generally correlated with general economic conditions and levels of spending, particularly in the U.S., Europe,
Russia, Latin America, Australia and New Zealand, and the related amount of business activity in economies in which we operate. Downturns in these
economies are generally characterized by reduced commercial activity and, consequently, reduced purchasing of fuel and other business-related products
and services by our customers. Similarly, prolonged adverse weather events, travel bans due to medical quarantine (such as the recent responses to the
COVID-19 pandemic) or in response to natural catastrophes, especially those that impact regions in which we process a large number and amount of
payment transactions, could adversely affect our transaction volumes. Likewise, recent political, investor and industry focus on greenhouse gas emissions
and climate change issues may adversely affect the volume of transactions or business operations of the oil companies, merchants and truck stop owners
with whom we maintain strategic relationships, which could adversely impact our business. In such event, we may not be able to successfully execute our
EV strategy, which could further adversely impact our business.
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In addition, our transaction volumes could be adversely affected if businesses do not continue to use, or fail to increase their use of, credit, debit or stored
value cards as a payment mechanism for their transactions. Similarly, our transaction volumes could be impacted by adverse developments in the payments
industry, such as new legislation or regulation that makes it more difficult for customers to do business, or a well-publicized data security breach that
undermines the confidence of the public in electronic payment systems.

If we fail to adequately assess and monitor credit risks of our customers, we could experience an increase in credit loss.

We are subject to the credit risk of our customers which range in size from small sole proprietorships to large publicly traded companies. We use various
methods to screen potential customers and establish appropriate credit limits, but these methods cannot eliminate all potential credit risks and may not
always prevent us from approving customer applications that are not credit-worthy or are fraudulently completed. Changes in our industry, customer
demand, and, in relation to our Fuel customers, movement in fuel prices may result in periodic increases to customer credit limits and spending and, as a
result, could lead to increased credit losses. We may also fail to detect changes to the credit risk of customers over time. Further, during a declining
economic environment (including economic weakness caused by large-scale crises like the COVID-19 pandemic), we may experience increased customer
defaults and preference claims by bankrupt customers. Additionally, the counterparties to the derivative financial instruments that we use in our
international payments provider business to reduce our exposure to various market risks, including changes in foreign exchange rates, may fail to honor
their obligations, which could expose us to risks we had sought to mitigate. This risk includes the exposure generated when we write derivative contracts to
our customers as part of our cross-currency payments business, and we typically hedge the net exposure through offsetting contracts with established
financial institution counterparties. If a customer becomes insolvent, files for bankruptcy, commits fraud or otherwise fails to pay us, we may be exposed to
the value of an offsetting position with such counterparties for the derivatives or may bear financial risk for those receivables where we have offered trade
credit. If we fail to adequately manage our credit risks, our bad debt expense could be significantly higher than historic levels and adversely affect our
business, operating results and financial condition. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, our bad debt expense was $37.9 million and $158.5
million, or 3 bps and 15 bps of total billings, respectively.

Any decrease in our receipt of fees and charges, or limitations on our fees and charges, could adversely affect our business, results of operations and
financial condition.

Our card solutions include a variety of fees and charges associated with transactions, cards, reports, optional services and late payments. Revenues for late
fees and finance charges represent 4% of our consolidated revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021. If the users of our cards decrease their
transaction activity, or the extent to which they use optional services or pay invoices late, our revenue could be materially adversely affected. In addition,
several market factors can affect the amount of our fees and charges, including the market for similar charges for competitive card products and the
availability of alternative payment methods such as cash or house accounts. Furthermore, regulators and Congress have scrutinized the electronic payments
industry’s pricing, charges and other practices related to its customers. Any restrictions on our ability to price our products and services could materially
and adversely affect our revenue.

We operate in a competitive business environment, and if we are unable to compete effectively, our business, operating results and financial condition
would be adversely affected.

The market for our solutions is highly competitive, and competition could intensify in the future. Our competitors vary in size and in the scope and breadth
of the products and services they offer. Our primary competitors in the North American Fuel solutions are small regional and large independent fleet card
providers, major oil companies and petroleum marketers that issue their own fleet cards, and major financial services companies that provide card services
to major oil companies and petroleum marketers. Corporate Payments solutions faces a variety of competitors, some of which have greater financial
resources, name recognition and scope and breadth of products and services. Competitors in the Lodging solution include travel agencies, online lodging
discounters, internal corporate procurement and travel resources, and independent services companies. Our primary competitors in Europe, Australia and
New Zealand are independent fleet card providers, major oil companies and petroleum marketers that issue branded fleet cards, and providers of card
outsourcing services to major oil companies and petroleum marketers. Our primary competitors in Latin America are independent providers of fleet cards
and vouchers for food, fuel, tolls, and transportation and major oil companies and providers of card outsourcing services to major oil companies and
petroleum marketers who offer commercial fleet cards.

The most significant competitive factors in our business are the breadth of product and service features, network acceptance size, customer service,
payment terms, account management, and price. We may experience competitive disadvantages with respect to any of these factors from time to time as
potential customers prioritize or value these competitive factors differently. As a result, a specific offering of our features, networks and pricing may serve
as a competitive advantage with respect to one customer and a disadvantage for another based on the customers’ preferences.

Some of our existing and potential competitors have longer operating histories, greater brand name recognition, larger customer bases, more extensive
customer relationships or greater financial and technical resources than we do. In addition, our larger competitors may also have greater resources than we
do to devote to the promotion and sale of their products and services and to pursue acquisitions. Many of our competitors provide additional and unrelated
products and services to customers, such as treasury management, commercial lending and credit card processing, which allow them to bundle their
products and services together and present them to existing customers with whom they have established relationships, sometimes at a discount. If
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price competition continues to intensify, we may have to increase the incentives that we offer to our customers, decrease the prices of our solutions or lose
customers, each of which could adversely affect our operating results. In Fuel solutions, major oil companies, petroleum marketers and large financial
institutions may choose to integrate fuel card services as a complement to their existing or complementary card products and services to adapt more quickly
to new or emerging technologies, such as electric vehicles, and changing opportunities, standards or customer requirements. To the extent that our
competitors are regarded as leaders in specific categories, they may have an advantage over us as we attempt to further penetrate these categories.

Future mergers or consolidations among competitors, or acquisitions of our competitors by large companies may present competitive challenges to our
business if their fuel card products and services are effectively integrated and bundled into lower cost sales packages with other widely utilized non-fuel
card related products and services.

Overall, increased competition in our markets could result in intensified pricing pressure, reduced profit margins, increased sales and marketing expenses
and a failure to increase, or a loss of, market share. We may not be able to maintain or improve our competitive position against our current or future
competitors, which could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

In order to remain competitive and to continue to increase our revenues and earnings, we must continually and quickly update our services, a process
that could result in higher costs and the loss of revenues, earnings and customers if the new services do not perform as intended or are not accepted in
the marketplace.

The payments technology industry in which we compete is characterized by rapid technological change, new product introductions, evolving industry
standards and changing customer needs. In order to remain competitive, we are continually involved in a number of projects, including the development of
new platforms, mobile payment applications, e-commerce services and other new offerings emerging in the payments technology industry, including
particularly with respect to electric vehicles. These projects carry the risks associated with any development effort, including cost overruns, delays in
delivery and performance problems. In the payments technology markets, these risks are even more acute. Any delay in the delivery of new services or the
failure to differentiate our services could render our services less desirable to customers, or possibly even obsolete.

A decline in retail fuel prices or contraction in fuel price spreads could adversely affect our revenue and operating results.

We believe during the year ended December 31, 2021, approximately 12% of our consolidated revenue was directly influenced by the absolute price of
fuel. Approximately 5% of our consolidated revenue during the year ended December 31, 2021 was derived from transactions where our revenue is tied to
fuel price spreads. When our fleet customers purchase fuel, certain arrangements in our Fuel solutions generate revenue as a percentage of the fuel
transaction purchase amount and other arrangements generate revenue based on fuel price spreads. The fuel price that we charge to any Fuel customer is
dependent on several factors including, among others, the fuel price paid to the fuel merchant, posted retail fuel prices and competitive fuel prices. The
significant volatility in fuel prices can impact these revenues by lowering total fuel transaction purchase amounts and tightening fuel price spreads. We
experience fuel price spread contraction when the merchant’s wholesale cost of fuel increases at a faster rate than the fuel price we charge to our Fuel
customers, or the fuel price we charge to our Fuel customers decreases at a faster rate than the merchant’s wholesale cost of fuel. The volatility is due to
many factors outside our control, including new oil production or production slowdowns, supply and demand for oil and gas and market expectations of
future supply and demand, political conditions, actions by OPEC and other major oil producing countries, speculative trading, government regulation,
weather and general economic conditions. When such volatility leads to a decline in retail fuel prices or a contraction of fuel price spreads, our revenue and
operating results could be adversely affected.

The value of certain of our solutions depend, in part, on relationships with oil companies, fuel and lodging merchants, truck stop operators, airlines
and sales channels to grow our business. The failure to maintain and grow existing relationships, or establish new relationships, could adversely affect
our revenues and operating results.

The success and growth of our solutions depend on the wide acceptability of such cards when our customers need to use them. As a result, the success of
these solutions is in part dependent on our ability to maintain relationships with major oil companies, petroleum marketers, closed-loop fuel and lodging
merchants, truck stop operators, airlines and sales channels (each of whom we refer to as our “partners”) and to enter into additional relationships or expand
existing arrangements to increase the acceptability of our payment cards. These relationships vary in length from one to eight years for oil companies to
one to two years for merchants and may be renegotiated at the end of their respective terms. Due to the highly competitive, and at times exclusive, nature of
these relationships, we often must participate in a competitive bidding process to establish or continue the relationships. Such bidding processes may focus
on a limited number of factors, including pricing, which may affect our ability to effectively compete for these relationships.

If the various partners with whom we maintain relationships experience bankruptcy, financial distress, or otherwise are forced to contract their operations,
our solutions could be adversely impacted. Similarly, because some of our solutions are marketed under the brands of major oil companies, certain other
adverse events outside our control, like those companies’ failure to maintain their brands or a decrease in the size of their branded networks may adversely
affect our ability to grow our revenue.
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The loss of, failure to continue or failure to establish new relationships, or the weakness or decrease in size of companies with whom we maintain
relationships, could adversely affect our ability to serve our customers and adversely affect our solutions and operating results.

We must comply with various rules and requirements, including the payment of fees, of Mastercard and our sponsor banks in order to remain
registered to participate in the Mastercard networks.

A significant source of our revenue comes from processing transactions through the Mastercard networks. In order to offer Mastercard programs to our
customers, one of our subsidiaries is registered as a member service provider with Mastercard through sponsorship by Mastercard member banks in both
the U.S. and Canada. Registration as a service provider is dependent upon our being sponsored by member banks. If our sponsor banks should stop
providing sponsorship for us or determine to provide sponsorship on materially less favorable terms, we would need to find other financial institutions to
provide those services or we would need to become a Mastercard member, either of which could prove to be difficult and expensive. Even if we pursue
sponsorship by alternative member banks, similar requirements and dependencies would likely still exist. In addition, Mastercard routinely updates and
modifies its membership requirements. Changes in such requirements may make it significantly more expensive for us to provide these services. If we do
not comply with Mastercard requirements, it could seek to fine us, suspend us or terminate our registration, which allows us to process transactions on its
networks. The termination of our registration, or any changes in the payment network rules that would impair our registration, could require us to stop
providing Mastercard payment processing services. If we are unable to find a replacement financial institution to provide sponsorship or become a member,
we may no longer be able to provide such services to the affected customers.

Changes in Mastercard interchange fees could decrease our revenue.

A portion of our revenue is generated by network processing fees charged to merchants, known as interchange fees, associated with transactions processed
using our Mastercard-branded cards. Interchange fee amounts associated with our Mastercard network cards are affected by a number of factors, including
regulatory limits in the U.S. and Europe and fee changes imposed by Mastercard. In addition, interchange fees are the subject of intense legal and
regulatory scrutiny and competitive pressures in the electronic payments industry, which could result in lower interchange fees generally in the future.

Our Cross-Border solution depends on our relationships with banks and other financial institutions around the world, which may impose fees,
restrictions and compliance burdens on us that make our operations more difficult or expensive.

In our Cross-Border solution, we facilitate payment and foreign exchange solutions, primarily cross-border, cross-currency transactions, for small and
medium size enterprises and other organizations. Increased regulation and compliance requirements are impacting these businesses by making it more
costly for us to provide our solutions or by making it more cumbersome for businesses to do business with us. Any factors that increase the cost of cross-
border trade for us or our customers or that restrict, delay, or make cross-border trade more difficult or impractical, such as trade policy (including
restrictions arising out of the Russian and Ukrainian conflict) or higher tariffs, could negatively impact our revenues and harm our business. We may also
have difficulty establishing or maintaining banking relationships needed to conduct our services due to banks’ policies.

Increasing scrutiny and changing expectations from investors, customers and our employees with respect to our environmental, social and governance
(ESG) practices may impose additional costs on us or expose us to new or additional risks.

There is increased focus, including from governmental organizations, investors, employees and clients, on ESG issues such as environmental stewardship,
climate change, diversity and inclusion, racial justice and workplace conduct. Negative public perception, adverse publicity or negative comments in social
media could damage our reputation if we do not, or are not perceived to, adequately address these issues. Any harm to our reputation could impact
employee engagement and retention and the willingness of customers and our partners to do business with us. In addition, organizations that provide
information to investors on corporate governance and related matters have developed ratings processes for evaluating companies on their approach to ESG
matters, and unfavorable ratings of our company or our industries may lead to negative investor sentiment and the diversion of investment to other
companies or industries.

Maintaining and enhancing our brands is critical to our business relationships and operating results.

We believe that maintaining and enhancing our brands is critical to our customer relationships, and our ability to obtain partners and retain employees. The
successful promotion of our brands will depend upon our marketing and public relations efforts, our ability to continue to offer high-quality products and
services and our ability to successfully differentiate our solutions from those of our competitors. In addition, future extension of our brands to add new
products or services different from our current offerings may dilute our brands, particularly if we fail to maintain our quality standards in these new areas.
The promotion of our brands will require us to make substantial expenditures, and we anticipate that the expenditures will increase as our markets become
more competitive and we expand into new markets. Even if these activities increase our revenues, this revenue may not offset the expenses we incur. There
can be no assurance that our brand promotion activities will be successful.
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We are subject to risks related to volatility in foreign currency exchange rates, and restrictions on our ability to utilize revenue generated in foreign
currencies.

As aresult of our foreign operations, we are subject to risks related to changes in currency rates for revenue generated in currencies other than the U.S.
dollar. For the year ended December 31, 2021, approximately 37% of our revenue was denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar (primarily,
British pound, Brazilian real, Canadian dollar, Russian ruble, Mexican peso, Czech koruna, Euro, Australian dollar and New Zealand dollar). Revenue and
profit generated by international operations may increase or decrease compared to prior periods as a result of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
Resulting exchange gains and losses are included in our net income. In addition, a majority of the revenue from our international payments provider
business is from exchanges of currency at spot rates, which enable customers to make cross-currency payments. This solution also writes foreign currency
forward and option contracts for our customers. The duration of these derivative contracts at inception is generally less than one year. The credit risk
associated with our derivative contracts increases when foreign currency exchange rates move against our customers, possibly impacting their ability to
honor their obligations to deliver currency to us or to maintain appropriate collateral with us.

Furthermore, we are subject to exchange control regulations that restrict or prohibit the conversion of more than a specified amount of our foreign
currencies into U.S. dollars, and, as we continue to expand, we may become subject to further exchange control regulations that limit our ability to freely
utilize and transfer currency in and out of particular jurisdictions. These restrictions may make it more difficult to effectively utilize the cash generated by
our operations and may adversely affect our financial condition.

Our expansion through acquisitions may divert our management’s attention and result in unexpected operating or integration difficulties or increased
costs and dilution to our stockholders, and we may never realize the anticipated benefits.

We have been an active acquirer in the U.S. and internationally, and, as part of our growth strategy, we expect to seek to acquire businesses, commercial
account portfolios, technologies, services and products in the future. We have substantially expanded our overall portfolio of solutions, customer base,
headcount and operations through acquisitions. The acquisition and integration of each business involves a number of risks and may result in unforeseen
operating difficulties, delays and expenditures in assimilating or integrating the businesses, technologies, products, personnel or operations of the acquired
business, all of which may divert resources and management attention otherwise available to grow our existing portfolio. In addition, acquisitions may
expose us to geographic or business markets in which we have little or no prior experience, present difficulties in retaining the customers of the acquired
business and present difficulties and expenses associated with new regulatory requirements, competition controls or investigations.

In addition, international acquisitions often involve additional or increased risks including difficulty managing geographically separated organizations,
systems and facilities, difficulty integrating personnel with diverse business backgrounds, languages and organizational cultures, difficulty and expense
introducing our corporate policies or controls and increased expense to comply with foreign regulatory requirements applicable to acquisitions.

Integration of acquisitions could also result in the distraction of our management, the disruption of our ongoing operations or inconsistencies on our
services, standards, controls, procedures and policies, any of which could affect our ability to achieve the anticipated benefits of an acquisition or otherwise
adversely affect our operations and financial results.

To complete future acquisitions, we may determine that it is necessary to use a substantial amount of our cash or engage in equity or debt financing. If we
raise additional funds through further issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could suffer significant dilution, and any
new equity securities we issue could have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of holders of our common stock. In addition, we may not be
able to obtain additional financing on terms favorable to us, if at all, which could limit our ability to engage in acquisitions. Moreover, we can make no
assurances that the anticipated benefits of any acquisition, such as operating improvements or anticipated cost savings, would be realized. Further, an
acquisition may negatively affect our operating results because it may require us to incur charges and substantial debt or other liabilities, may cause adverse
tax consequences, substantial depreciation and amortization or deferred compensation charges, may require the amortization, write-down or impairment of
amounts related to deferred compensation, goodwill and other intangible assets, may include substantial contingent consideration payments or other
compensation that reduce our earnings during the quarter in which incurred, or may not generate sufficient financial return to offset acquisition costs.

Our business in foreign countries may be adversely affected by operational and political risks that are greater than in the U.S.

We have foreign operations in, or provide services for customers in more than 150 countries throughout North America, South America, Europe, Africa,
Oceania and Asia. We also expect to seek to expand our operations into various additional countries in Asia, Europe and Latin America as part of our
growth strategy.

Some of the countries where we operate, and other countries where we will seek to operate, such as Russia, Brazil and Mexico, have undergone significant
political, economic and social change in recent years, and the risk of unforeseen changes in these countries may be greater than in the U.S. In addition,
changes in laws or regulations, including with respect to payment service providers, taxation, information technology, data transmission and the Internet,
revenues from non-U.S. operations or in the
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interpretation of existing laws or regulations, whether caused by a change in government or otherwise, could materially adversely affect our portfolio,
operating results and financial condition.

Specifically, the current conflict between Russia and Ukraine is creating substantial uncertainty about the role Russia will play in the global economy in the
future. Countries across the globe are instituting sanctions and other penalties against Russia — and those sanctions and penalties are evolving almost daily.
We are unable to predict the impact sanctions will have on the global economy. Also, the recent exit of the U.K. from the European Union (often referred to
as Brexit) may create significant administrative burdens and additional compliance costs for our European operations by interrupting or effectively
terminating U.K.-based licenses that we hold to conduct financial transactions within the European Union. The uncertainty surrounding these events could
adversely impact consumer and investor confidence, and the level of consumer purchases of discretionary items and retail products globally.

In addition, conducting and expanding our international operations subjects us to other political, economic, technological, operational and regulatory risks
and difficulties that we do not generally face in the U.S. These risks and difficulties could negatively affect our international operations and, consequently,
our operating results. Further, operating in international markets requires significant management attention and financial resources. We cannot be certain
that the investment and additional resources required to establish, acquire or integrate operations in other countries will produce desired levels of revenue
or profitability.

We may incur substantial losses due to fraudulent use of our payment solutions.

Under certain circumstances, when we fund customer transactions, we may bear the risk of substantial losses due to fraudulent use of our payment
solutions. We do not maintain insurance to protect us against such losses. We bear similar risk relating to fraudulent acts of employees or contractors, for
which we maintain insurance. However, the conditions or limits of coverage may be insufficient to protect us against such losses.

Criminals are using increasingly sophisticated methods to engage in illegal activities involving financial products, such as skimming and counterfeiting
payment cards and identity theft. A single significant incident of fraud, or increases in the overall level of fraud, involving our cards and other products and
services, could result in reputational damage to us, which could reduce the use and acceptance of our cards and other payment solutions and services or
lead to greater regulation that would increase our compliance costs. Fraudulent activity could also result in the imposition of regulatory sanctions, including
significant monetary fines, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our payment solutions' results are subject to seasonality, which could result in fluctuations in our quarterly net income.

Our Fuel and Payroll Card solutions are typically subject to seasonal fluctuations in revenues and profit, which are impacted during the first and fourth
quarter each year by the weather, holidays in the U.S., Christmas being celebrated in Russia in January, and lower business levels in Brazil due to summer
break and the Carnival celebration. Our Gift solutions are typically subject to seasonal fluctuations in revenues as a result of consumer spending patterns.
Historically, Gift revenues have been strongest in the third and fourth quarters and weakest in the first and second quarters, as the retail industry has its
highest level of activity during and leading up to the Christmas holiday season.

Risks related to our intellectual property

If we are unable to protect our intellectual property rights and confidential information, our competitive position could be harmed and we could be
required to incur significant expenses in order to enforce our rights.

To protect our proprietary technology, we rely on copyright, trade secret, patent and other intellectual property laws and confidentiality agreements with
employees and third parties, all of which offer only limited protection. Despite our precautions, it may be possible for third parties to obtain and use
without our consent confidential information or infringe on our intellectual property rights, and our ability to police that misappropriation or infringement
is uncertain, particularly in countries outside of the U.S. In addition, our confidentiality agreements with employees, vendors, customers and other third
parties may not effectively prevent disclosure or use of proprietary technology or confidential information and may not provide an adequate remedy in the
event of such unauthorized use or disclosure.

Protecting against the unauthorized use of our intellectual property and confidential information is expensive, difficult and not always possible. Litigation
may be necessary in the future to enforce or defend our intellectual property rights, to protect our confidential information, including trade secrets, or to
determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others. This litigation could be costly and divert management resources, either of which could
harm our business, operating results and financial condition. Accordingly, despite our efforts, we may not be able to prevent third parties from infringing
upon or misappropriating our intellectual property and proprietary information.

We cannot be certain that the steps we have taken will prevent the unauthorized use or the reverse engineering of our proprietary technology. Moreover,
others may independently develop technologies that are competitive to ours or infringe our intellectual property. The enforcement of our intellectual
property rights also depends on our legal actions against these infringers being successful, and we cannot be sure these actions will be successful, even
when our rights have been infringed.
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Furthermore, effective patent, trademark, service mark, copyright and trade secret protection may not be available in every country in which we may offer
our products and services.

Claims by others that we or our customers infringe their intellectual property rights could harm our business.

Third parties have in the past, and could in the future claim that our technologies and processes underlying our products and services infringe their
intellectual property. In addition, to the extent that we gain greater visibility, market exposure, and add new products and services, we may face a higher
risk of being the target of intellectual property infringement claims asserted by third parties. We may, in the future, receive notices alleging that we have
misappropriated or infringed a third party’s intellectual property rights. There may be third-party intellectual property rights, including patents and pending
patent applications that cover significant aspects of our technologies, processes or business methods. Any claims of infringement or misappropriation by a
third party, even those without merit, could cause us to incur substantial defense costs and could distract our management from our business, and there can
be no assurance that we will be able to prevail against such claims. Some of our competitors may have the capability to dedicate substantially greater
resources to enforcing their intellectual property rights and to defending claims that may be brought against them than we do. Furthermore, a party making
such a claim, if successful, could secure a judgment that requires us to pay substantial damages, potentially including treble damages if we are found to
have willfully infringed a patent. A judgment could also include an injunction or other court order that could prevent us from offering our products and
services. In addition, we might be required to seek a license for the use of a third party’s intellectual property, which may not be available on commercially
reasonable terms or at all. Alternatively, we might be required to develop non-infringing technology, which could require significant effort and expense and
might ultimately not be successful.

Third parties may also assert infringement claims against our customers relating to their use of our technologies or processes. Any of these claims might
require us to defend potentially protracted and costly litigation on their behalf, regardless of the merits of these claims, because under certain conditions we
may agree to indemnify our customers from third-party claims of intellectual property infringement. If any of these claims succeed, we might be forced to
pay damages on behalf of our customers, which could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

Finally, we use open source software in connection with our technology and services. Companies that incorporate open source software into their products,
from time to time, face claims challenging the ownership of open source software. As a result, we could be subject to suits by parties claiming ownership of
what we believe to be open source software. Open source software is also provided without warranty, and may therefore include bugs, security
vulnerabilities or other defects for which we have no recourse or recovery. Some open source software licenses require users of such software to publicly
disclose all or part of the source code to their software and/or make available any derivative works of the open source code on unfavorable terms or at no
cost. While we monitor the use of open source software in our technology and services and try to ensure that none is used in a manner that would require us
to disclose the source code to the related technology or service, such use could inadvertently occur and any requirement to disclose our proprietary source
code could be harmful to our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our success is dependent, in part, upon our executive officers and other key personnel, and the loss of key personnel could materially adversely affect
our business.

Our success depends, in part, on our executive officers and other key personnel. Our senior management team has significant industry experience and
would be difficult to replace. The market for qualified individuals is competitive, especially in certain fields, including information technology, and we may
not be able to attract and retain qualified personnel or candidates to replace or succeed members of our senior management team or other key personnel.
The loss of key personnel could materially adversely affect our business.

Risks related to regulatory matters and litigation
Changes in laws, regulations and enforcement activities may adversely affect our products and services and the markets in which we operate.

The electronic payments industry is subject to increasing regulation in the U.S. and internationally. Domestic and foreign government regulations impose
compliance obligations on us and restrictions on our operating activities, which can be difficult to administer because of their scope, mandates and varied
requirements. We are subject to government regulations covering a number of different areas, including, among others: interest rate and fee restrictions;
credit access and disclosure requirements; licensing and registration requirements; collection and pricing regulations; compliance obligations; security,
privacy and data breach requirements; identity theft protection programs; and AML compliance programs. While a large portion of these regulations
focuses on individual consumer protection, legislatures and regulators continue to consider whether to include business customers, especially smaller
business customers, within the scope of these regulations. As a result, new or expanded regulation focusing on business customers or changes in
interpretation or enforcement of regulations may have an adverse effect on our business and operating results, due to increased compliance costs and new
restrictions affecting the terms under which we offer our products and services.

In addition, certain of our subsidiaries are subject to regulation under the BSA by the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network (FinCEN) and must comply

with applicable AML requirements, including implementation of an effective AML program. Our business in Canada is also subject to the PCMLTFA,
which is a corollary to the BSA. Changes in this regulatory environment,
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including changing interpretations and the implementation of new or varying regulatory requirements by the government, may significantly affect or
change the manner in which we currently conduct some aspects of our business.

As a service provider to certain of our bank sponsors, we are subject to direct supervision and examination by the CFPB, in connection with certain of our
products and services. CFPB rules, examinations and enforcement actions may require us to adjust our activities and may increase our compliance costs. In
addition, our bank partners are subject to regulation by federal and state banking authorities and, as a result, could pass through some of those compliance
obligations to us or alter the extent or the terms of their dealings with us in ways that may have adverse consequences for our business.

Many of these laws and regulations are evolving, unclear and inconsistent across various jurisdictions, and ensuring compliance with them is difficult and
costly. With increasing frequency, federal and state regulators are holding businesses like ours to higher standards of training, monitoring and compliance,
including monitoring for possible violations of laws by our customers and people who do business with our customers while using our products. If we fail
or are unable to comply with existing or changed government regulations in a timely and appropriate manner, we may be subject to injunctions, other
sanctions or the payment of fines and penalties, and our reputation may be harmed, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

For more information about laws, regulations and enforcement activities that may adversely affect our products and services and the markets in which we
operate, see “Business- Regulatory.”

Derivatives requlations have added costs to our business and any additional requirements, such as future registration requirements and increased
regulation of derivative contracts, may result in additional costs or impact the way we conduct our hedging activities, as well as impact how we conduct
our business within our international payments provider operations.

Rules adopted under the Dodd-Frank Act by the CFTC, provisions of the European Market Infrastructure Regulation and its technical standards, as well as
derivative reporting in Canada and the U.S., have subjected certain of the foreign exchange derivative contracts we offer to our customers as part of our
Cross-Border solutions to reporting, record keeping, and other requirements. Additionally, certain foreign exchange derivatives transactions we may enter
into in the future may be subject to centralized clearing requirements, or may be subject to margin requirements in the U.S., U.K., and European Union or
other jurisdictions.

Our compliance with these requirements has resulted, and may continue to result, in additional costs to our business and may impact our international
payments provider business operations. Furthermore, our failure to comply with these requirements could result in fines and other sanctions, as well as
necessitate a temporary or permanent cessation to some or all of our derivative related activities. Any such fines, sanctions or limitations on our business
could adversely affect our operations and financial results. Additionally, the regulatory regimes for derivatives in the U.S., U.K., and European Union, such
as under the Dodd-Frank Act and the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (MiFID II) are continuing to evolve and changes to such regimes, our
designation under such regimes, or the implementation of new rules under such regimes, such as future registration requirements and increased regulation
of derivative contracts, may result in additional costs to our business. Other jurisdictions outside the U.S., U.K., and the European Union are considering,
have implemented, or are implementing regulations similar to those described above and these may result in greater costs to us as well.

Governmental regulations and contractual obligations designed to protect or limit access to personal information could adversely affect our ability to
effectively provide our services.

Governmental bodies in the U.S. and abroad have adopted, or are considering the adoption of, laws and regulations restricting the transfer of, and requiring
safeguarding of, non-public personal information. For example, in the U.S., all financial institutions must undertake certain steps to help protect the privacy
and security of consumer financial information. In connection with providing services to our clients, we are required by regulations and arrangements with
payment networks, our sponsor banks and certain clients to provide assurances regarding the confidentiality and security of non-public consumer
information. These arrangements require periodic audits by independent companies regarding our compliance with industry standards such as PCI
standards and also allow for similar audits regarding best practices established by regulatory guidelines. The compliance standards relate to our
infrastructure, components, and operational procedures designed to safeguard the confidentiality and security of non-public consumer personal information
received from our customers. Our ability to maintain compliance with these standards and satisfy these audits will affect our ability to attract and maintain
business in the future. If we fail to comply with these regulations, we could be exposed to suits for breach of contract or to governmental proceedings. In
addition, our client relationships and reputation could be harmed, and we could be inhibited in our ability to obtain new clients. If more restrictive privacy
laws or rules are adopted by authorities in the future on the federal or state level or internationally, our compliance costs may increase, our opportunities for
growth may be curtailed by our compliance capabilities or reputational harm and our potential liability for security breaches may increase, all of which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Legislation and regulation of greenhouse gases (“GHG”) and related divestment and other efforts could adversely affect our business.

We are aware of the increasing focus of local, state, regional, national and international regulatory bodies on GHG emissions and climate change issues.
Legislation to regulate GHG emissions has periodically been introduced in the U.S. Congress, and there has been a wide-ranging policy debate, both in the
U.S. and internationally, regarding the impact of these gases and possible means for their regulation. Several states and geographic regions in the U.S. have
adopted legislation and regulations to reduce emissions of GHGs. Additional legislation or regulation by these states and regions, the EPA, and/or any
international agreements to which the U.S. may become a party, that control or limit GHG emissions or otherwise seek to address climate change could
adversely affect our partners’ and merchants’ operations, and therefore ours. See “Our fleet card business is dependent on several key strategic
relationships, the loss of which could adversely affect our operating results.” and “If we are unable to maintain and expand our merchant relationships, our
closed loop fleet card and lodging card businesses may be adversely affected.” Because our business depends on the level of activity in the oil industry,
existing or future laws or regulations related to GHGs and climate change, including incentives to conserve energy or use alternative energy sources, could
have a negative impact on our business if such laws or regulations reduce demand for fuel. In such event, we may not be able to successfully execute our
electric vehicle strategy, which could further adversely affect our business.

In addition to the regulatory efforts described above, there have also been efforts in recent years aimed at the investment community, including investment
advisors, sovereign wealth funds, public pension funds, universities and other groups, promoting the divestment of fossil fuel equities as well as to pressure
lenders and other financial services companies to limit or curtail activities with companies engaged in the extraction of fossil fuel reserves. If these efforts
are successful, our ability to access capital markets may be limited and our stock price may be negatively impacted.

Members of the investment community have recently increased their focus on sustainability practices with regard to the oil and gas industry, including
practices related to GHGs and climate change. An increasing percentage of the investment community considers sustainability factors in making
investment decisions, and an increasing number of our partners and merchants consider sustainability factors in awarding work. If we are unable to
successfully address sustainability enhancement, we may lose partners or merchants, our stock price may be negatively impacted, our reputation may be
negatively affected, and it may be more difficult for us to effectively compete.

We contract with government entities and are subject to risks related to our governmental contracts.

In the course of our business we contract with domestic and foreign government entities, including state and local government customers, as well as federal
government agencies. As a result, we are subject to various laws and regulations that apply to companies doing business with federal, state and local
governments. The laws relating to government contracts differ from other commercial contracting laws and our government contracts may contain pricing
terms and conditions that are not common among commercial contracts. In addition, we may be subject to investigation from time to time concerning our
compliance with the laws and regulations relating to our government contracts. Our failure to comply with these laws and regulations may result in
suspension of these contracts or administrative or other penalties.

Litigation and regulatory actions could subject us to significant fines, penalties or requirements resulting in significantly increased expenses, damage
to our reputation and/or material adverse effects on our business.

We are subject to claims and a number of judicial and administrative proceedings in the ordinary course of our operations, including employment-related
disputes, contract disputes, intellectual property disputes, government inquiries, investigations, audits and regulatory proceedings, customer disputes and
tort claims. Responding to proceedings may be difficult and expensive, and we may not prevail. In some proceedings, the claimant seeks damages as well
as other relief, which, if granted, would require expenditures on our part or changes in how we conduct business. There can be no certainty that we will not
ultimately incur charges in excess of presently established or future financial accruals or insurance coverage, or that we will prevail with respect to such
proceedings. Regardless of whether we prevail or not, such proceedings could have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation, financial
condition and results of operations. Further, these types of matters could divert our management’s attention and other resources away from our business.In
addition, from time to time, we have had, and expect to continue to receive, inquiries from regulatory bodies and administrative agencies relating to the
operation of our business. Any potential claims or any such inquiries or potential claims have resulted in, and may continue to result in, various audits,
reviews and investigations, which can be time consuming and expensive. These types of inquiries, audits, reviews, and investigations could result in the
institution of administrative or civil proceedings, sanctions and the payment of fines and penalties, various forms of injunctive relief and redress, changes in
personnel, and increased review and scrutiny by customers, regulatory authorities, the media and others, which could be significant and could have a
material adverse effect on our business, reputation, financial condition and results of operations.

Failure to comply with the FCPA, AML requlations, economic and trade sanctions regulations and similar laws and regulations applicable to our
international activities, could subject us to penalties and other adverse consequences.

As we continue to expand our business internationally, we may continue to expand into certain foreign countries, particularly those with developing
economies, where companies often engage in business practices that are prohibited by U.S., U.K. and other foreign regulations, including the FCPA, the
U.K. Bribery Act, Canada’s PCMLTFA, and Australia’s AML/CTF Act. These laws and regulations generally prohibit and our employees, consultants and
agents from bribing, being bribed or making
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other prohibited payments to government officials or other persons to obtain or retain business or gain some other business advantage. We have
implemented policies to discourage such practices; however, there can be no assurances that all of our employees, consultants and agents, including those
that may be based in or from countries where practices that violate these laws may be customary, will not take actions in violation of our policies for which
we may be ultimately responsible.

In addition, we are subject to AML laws and regulations, including the BSA. Among other things, the BSA requires money services businesses (such as
money transmitters and providers of prepaid access) to develop and implement risk-based AML programs, verify the identity of our customers, report large
cash transactions and suspicious activity, and maintain transaction records.

We are also subject to certain economic and trade sanctions programs that are administered by OFAC, which prohibit or restrict transactions to or from or
dealings with specified countries, their governments, and in certain circumstances, their nationals, and with individuals and entities that are specially
designated nationals of those countries, narcotics traffickers, and terrorists or terrorist organizations. Other group entities may be subject to additional
foreign or local sanctions requirements in other relevant jurisdictions.

Similar AML and counter-terrorist financing and proceeds of crime laws apply to movements of currency and payments through electronic transactions and
to dealings with persons specified in lists maintained by the country equivalent to OFAC lists in several other countries and require specific data retention
obligations to be observed by intermediaries in the payment process. Our businesses in those jurisdictions are subject to those data retention obligations.

Violations of these laws and regulations may result in severe criminal or civil sanctions and, in the U.S., suspension or debarment from U.S. government
contracting. Likewise, any investigation of any potential violations of these laws and regulations by U.S. or foreign authorities could also have an adverse
impact on our reputation and operating results. In addition, we cannot predict the nature, scope or effect of future regulatory requirements to which our
international operations might be subject or the manner in which existing laws and regulations might be administered or interpreted.

Risks related to our debt

Our debt obligations, or our incurrence of additional debt obligations, could limit our flexibility in managing our business and could materially and
adversely dffect our financial performance.

At December 31, 2021, we had approximately $6.0 billion of debt outstanding under our Credit Facility and Securitization Facility. In addition, we are
permitted under our credit agreement to incur additional indebtedness, subject to specified limitations. Our indebtedness currently outstanding, or as may
be outstanding if we incur additional indebtedness, could have important consequences, including the following:

*  we may have difficulty satisfying our obligations under our debt facilities and, if we fail to satisfy these obligations, an event of default could
result;

e we may be required to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to required payments on our indebtedness, thereby reducing
the availability of cash flow for acquisitions, working capital, capital expenditures and other general corporate activities. See “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations-Material Cash Requirements and Uses of Cash;”

+  covenants relating to our debt may limit our ability to enter into certain contracts, pay dividends or to obtain additional financing for acquisitions,
working capital, capital expenditures and other general corporate activities, including to react to changes in our business or the industry in which
we operate;

» events outside our control, including volatility in the credit markets or a significant rise in fuel prices, may make it difficult to renew our
Securitization Facility on terms acceptable to us and limit our ability to timely fund our working capital needs;

*  we may be more vulnerable than our less leveraged competitors to the impact of economic downturns and adverse developments in the industry in
which we operate; and

» we are exposed to the risk of increased interest rates because certain of our borrowings are subject to variable or floating rates of interest.

In addition, we and our subsidiaries may incur substantial additional indebtedness in the future, including through our Securitization Facility. Although our
credit agreements contain restrictions on the incurrence of additional indebtedness, these restrictions are subject to a number of significant qualifications
and exceptions, and under certain circumstances, the amount of additional indebtedness that could be incurred in compliance with these restrictions could
be substantial. If new debt is added to our existing debt levels, the related risks that we will face would increase.
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The transition away from the London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") benchmark interest rate and the adoption of alternative benchmark
reference rates could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

The majority of our indebtedness bears interest at a variable rate based on LIBOR. We have entered into hedging instruments to manage a portion of our
exposure to fluctuations in the LIBOR benchmark interest rate, the last of which expires in December 2023. Effective January 1, 2022, the publication of
LIBOR on a representative basis ceased for the one-week and two-month USD LIBOR settings and all sterling, yen, euros, and Swiss franc LIBOR
settings. All other remaining USD LIBOR settings will cease July 1, 2023. In connection with the sunset of certain LIBOR reference rates occurring at the
end of 2021, we have amended the Credit Agreement to provide for a transition from LIBOR to the Sterling Overnight Index Average Reference Rate
(“SONIA”) plus a SONIA adjustment of 0.0326% for sterling borrowings, the Euro Interbank Offered Rate (“EURIBOR?”) for euro borrowings, and the
Tokyo Interbank Offer Rate (“TIBOR”) for yen borrowings. We continue to monitor developments related to the upcoming transition from USD LIBOR to
an alternative benchmark reference rate after June 30, 2023. The Alternative Reference Rates Committee has proposed the Secured Overnight Financing
Rate ("SOFR") as its recommended alternative to USD LIBOR, and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York began publishing SOFR rates in April 2018. At
this time, the effects of the phase out of USD LIBOR and the adoption of alternative benchmark rates have not been fully determined. A failure to properly
transition away from USD LIBOR could adversely affect the Company’s borrowing costs or expose the Company to various financial, operational and
regulatory risks, which could affect the Company’s results of operations and cash flows.

Our balance sheet includes significant amounts of goodwill and intangible assets. The impairment of a significant portion of these assets would
negatively affect our financial results.

Our balance sheet includes goodwill and intangible assets that represent approximately 55% of our total assets at December 31, 2021. These assets consist
primarily of goodwill and identified intangible assets associated with our acquisitions, which may increase in the future in connection with new
acquisitions. Under current accounting standards, we are required to amortize certain intangible assets over the useful life of the asset, while goodwill and
indefinite lived intangible assets are not amortized. On at least an annual basis, we assess whether there have been impairments in the carrying value of
goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets. If the carrying value of the asset is determined to be impaired, it is written down to fair value by a charge to
operating earnings, which could materially negatively affect our operating results and financial condition.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
We have no unresolved written comments regarding our periodic or current reports from the staff of the SEC.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters are located in Atlanta, Georgia where we lease approximately 46,500 square feet of office space. In addition to our
headquarters, we have major operations located in Brentwood, Tennessee; Louisville, Kentucky; Lexington, Kentucky; and Peachtree Corners, Georgia.
Our largest offices internationally are located in Sdo Paulo, Brazil; Prague, Czech Republic; and Mexico City, Mexico. We lease all of the real property
used in our business, except for our headquarters in Mexico City, which we own.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In the ordinary course of business, the Company is involved in various pending or threatened legal actions, arbitration proceedings, claims, subpoenas, and
matters relating to compliance with laws and regulations (collectively, "legal proceedings"). Based on our current knowledge, management presently does
not believe that the liabilities arising from these legal proceedings will have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows. However, it is possible that the ultimate resolution of these legal proceedings could have a material adverse effect on our results
of operations and financial condition for any particular period.

Derivative Lawsuits

On July 10, 2017, a shareholder derivative complaint was filed against the Company and certain of the Company’s directors and officers in the United
States District Court for the Northern District of Georgia (“Federal Derivative Action”) seeking recovery on behalf of the Company. The Federal Derivative
Action alleges that the defendants issued a false and misleading proxy statement in violation of the federal securities laws; that defendants breached their
fiduciary duties by causing or permitting the Company to make allegedly false and misleading public statements concerning the Company’s fee charges and
financial and business prospects; and that certain defendants breached their fiduciary duties through allegedly improper sales of stock. The complaint seeks
unspecified monetary damages on behalf of the Company, corporate governance reforms, disgorgement of profits, benefits, and compensation by the
defendants, restitution, costs, and attorneys’ and experts’ fees. On September 20, 2018, the court entered an order deferring the Federal Derivative Action
pending a ruling on motions for summary judgment in the then-pending shareholder class action, notice a settlement has been reached in the shareholder
class action, or until otherwise agreed to by the parties. After preliminary approval of the proposed settlement of the shareholder class action was granted,
the stay on the Federal Derivative Action was lifted. Plaintiffs amended their complaint on February 22, 2020. FLEETCOR filed a motion to dismiss the
amended complaint in the Federal Derivative Action on April 17, 2020, which the court granted without leave to amend on October 21, 2020. Plaintiffs
filed a notice of appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit on November 18, 2020. The appeal is pending, and the court held oral
argument on February 10, 2022.

On January 9, 2019, a similar shareholder derivative complaint was filed in the Superior Court of Gwinnett County, Georgia (“State Derivative Action”),
which was stayed pending a ruling on motions for summary judgment in the shareholder class action, notice a settlement has been reached in the
shareholder class action, or until otherwise agreed by the parties. On the parties’ joint motion, the court has continued the stay of the State Derivative
Action “pending further developments in the first-filed Federal Derivative Action.” The defendants dispute the allegations in the derivative complaints and
intend to vigorously defend against the claims.

FTC Investigation

In October 2017, the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) issued a Notice of Civil Investigative Demand to the Company for the production of
documentation and a request for responses to written interrogatories. After discussions with the Company, the FTC proposed in October 2019 to resolve
potential claims relating to the Company’s advertising and marketing practices, principally in its U.S. direct fuel card business within its North American
Fuel Card business. The parties reached impasse primarily related to what the Company believes are unreasonable demands for redress made by the FTC.

On December 20, 2019, the FTC filed a lawsuit in the Northern District of Georgia against the Company and Ron Clarke. See FTC v. FLEETCOR and
Ronald F. Clarke, No. 19-cv-05727 (N.D. Ga.). The complaint alleges the Company and Clarke violated the FTC Act’s prohibitions on unfair and deceptive
acts and practices. The complaint seeks among other things injunctive relief, consumer redress, and costs of suit. The Company continues to believe that
the FTC’s claims are without merit and these matters are not and will not be material to the Company’s financial performance. On April 17, 2021, the FTC
filed a motion for summary judgment. On April 22, 2021, the United States Supreme Court held unanimously in AMG Capital Management v. FTC that the
FTC does not have authority under current law to seek monetary redress by means of Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, which is the means by which the FTC
has sought such redress in this case. FLEETCOR cross-moved for summary judgment regarding the FTC’s ability to seek monetary or injunctive relief on
May 17, 2021; the briefing on both parties’ summary judgment motions was completed on July 12, 2021. On August 13, 2021, the FTC filed a motion to
stay or to voluntarily dismiss without prejudice the case pending in the Northern District of Georgia in favor of a parallel administrative action under
Section 5 of the FTC Act that it filed on August 11, 2021 in the FTC’s administrative process. Apart from the jurisdiction and statutory change, the FTC’s
administrative complaint makes the same factual allegations as the FTC’s original complaint filed in December 2019. The Company opposed the FTC’s
motion for a stay or to voluntarily dismiss, and the court denied the FTC’s motion on February 7, 2022. The court also set a tentative trial date of June 7,
2022. In the meantime, the FTC’s administrative action is stayed. The Company has incurred and continues to incur legal and other fees related to this
complaint. Any settlement of this matter, or defense against the lawsuit, could involve costs to the Company, including legal fees, redress, penalties, and
remediation expenses. At this time, the Company believes the possible range of outcomes includes continuing litigation or discussions leading to a
settlement, or the closure of these matters without further action.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS, AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the ticker FLT. As of December 31, 2021, there were 218 holders of record
of our common stock.

DIVIDENDS AND SHARE REPURCHASES

We currently expect to retain all future earnings, if any, for use in the operation and expansion of our business. We have never declared or paid any
dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate paying cash dividends to holders of our common stock in the foreseeable future. In addition, our
credit agreements restrict our ability to pay dividends. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our board of directors
and will depend upon, among other factors, our results of operations, financial condition, capital requirements and covenants in our existing financing
arrangements and any future financing arrangements.

The Company's Board of Directors (the "Board") has approved a stock repurchase program (as updated from time to time, the "Program") authorizing the
Company to repurchase its common stock from time to time until February 1, 2023. On July 27, 2021, the Board increased the aggregate size of the
Program by $1.0 billion, to $5.1 billion. Since the beginning of the Program through December 31, 2021, 20,068,498 shares have been repurchased for an
aggregate purchase price of $4.4 billion, leaving the Company up to $0.7 billion available under the Program for future repurchases in shares of its
common stock. There were 5,451,556 common shares totaling $1.4 billion in 2021; 3,497,285 common shares totaling $940.8 million in 2020 and
2,211,866 common shares totaling $636.8 million in 2019; repurchased under the Program.

On January 25, 2022, the Board increased the aggregate size of the Program by $1.0 billion, to $6.1 billion. In January and February 2022, 1,510,027
shares were repurchased for an aggregate purchase price of $360.8 million, of which 1,066,015 shares with an aggregate purchase price of $256.5 million
were repurchased pursuant to a 10b5-1 plan. As of March 1, 2022, the Company has up to $1.3 billion available under the Program for future repurchases
of its common stock.

Any stock repurchases may be made at times and in such amounts as deemed appropriate. The timing and amount of stock repurchases, if any, will depend
on a variety of factors including the stock price, market conditions, corporate and regulatory requirements, and any additional constraints related to material
inside information the Company may possess. Any repurchases have been and are expected to be funded by a combination of available cash flow from the
business, working capital and debt.

The following table presents information with respect to purchase of common stock of the Company made during the three months ended December 31,
2021 by the Company as defined in Rule 10b-18(a)(3) under the Exchange Act:

Total Number of Shares = Maximum Value that May
Purchased as Part of the Yet be Purchased Under

Total Number of Shares Average Price Paid Publicly Announced the Publicly Announced
Period Purchased Per Share Plan Plan (in thousands)
October 1, 2021 through October 31, 2021 39 §$ 273.27 17,742,616 $ 1,184,348
November 1, 2021 through November 30, 2021 — % — 17,742,616 $ 1,184,348
December 1, 2021 through December 31, 2021 2,325,882 $ 229.35 20,068,498 $ 650,914
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PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following graph assumes $100 invested on December 30, 2016, at the closing price ($141.52) of our common stock on that day, and compares (a) the
percentage change of our cumulative total stockholder return on the common stock (as measured by dividing (i) the difference between our share price at
the end and the beginning of the period presented by (ii) the share price at the beginning of the periods presented) with (b) (i) the Russell 2000 Index,

(ii) the S&P 500® Data Processing & Outsourced Services and (iii) S&P 500.
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RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
Not Applicable.

ITEM 6. (RESERVED)
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this report. In addition to historical information, this discussion contains forward-looking statements
that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions that could cause actual results to differ materially from management’s expectations. Factors that could
cause such differences include, but are not limited to, those identified below and those described in Item 1A “Risk Factors” appearing elsewhere in this
report. All foreign currency amounts that have been converted into U.S. dollars in this discussion are based on the exchange rate as reported by Oanda for
the applicable periods.

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations generally discusses 2021 and 2020 items and year-over-year
comparisons between 2021 and 2020. A detailed discussion of 2020 items and year-over-year comparisons between 2020 and 2019 that are not included in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K can be found in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Part II,
Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Executive Overview

FLEETCOR is a leading global provider of digital payment solutions that enables businesses to control purchases and make payments more effectively and
efficiently. Since its incorporation in 2000, FLEETCOR has continued to deliver on its mission: to provide businesses with “a better way to pay”.
FLEETCOR has been a member of the S&P 500 since 2018 and trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker FLT.

Businesses spend an estimated $125 trillion each year with other businesses. In many instances, they lack the proper tools to monitor what is being
purchased, and employ manual, paper-based, disparate processes and methods to both approve and make payments for their purchases. This often results in
wasted time and money due to unnecessary or unauthorized spending, fraud, receipt collection, data input and consolidation, report generation,
reimbursement processing, account reconciliations, employee disciplinary actions, and more.

FLEETCOR’s vision is that every payment is digital, every purchase is controlled, and every related decision is informed. Digital payments are faster and
more secure than paper-based methods such as checks, and provide timely and detailed data which can be utilized to effectively reduce unauthorized
purchases and fraud, automate data entry and reporting, and eliminate reimbursement processes. Combining this payment data with analytical tools delivers
powerful insights, which managers can use to better run their businesses. Our wide range of modern, digitized solutions generally provides control,
reporting, and automation benefits superior to many of the payment methods businesses often used, such as cash, paper checks, general purpose credit
cards, as well as employee pay and reclaim processes.

Our revenue is generally reported net of the cost for underlying products and services purchased through our payment products. In this report, we refer to
this net revenue as “revenue"”. See “Results of Operations” for additional segment information.

Impact of COVID-19 on Our Business

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the novel strain of coronavirus (including variants thereof, "COVID-19") a global pandemic
and recommended containment and mitigation measures worldwide. The COVID-19 pandemic has had, and could continue to have, an adverse impact on
our results of operations and liquidity; the operations of our suppliers, vendors and customers; and on our employees as a result of quarantines, vaccine
mandates, facility closures, travel and logistics restrictions and general decreases in the level of consumer confidence and business activity. In 2020, our
operations were negatively impacted by a significant decrease in the level of business activity across industries worldwide, which reduced the volume of

payment services provided to our customers and revenue generated beginning during the second half of March 2020 and continuing through early 2021. In
2021, as described in more detail under “Results of Operations” below, we experienced a rebound in transaction volumes as the business recovered from
the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and the impact of incremental new sales, particularly as a result of the favorable impact of fuel prices and foreign
exchange rates.

The COVID-19 pandemic continues to impact various aspects of the world economy and our customers. The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic
continues to impact our business operations, financial results, and liquidity into 2022 will depend on numerous evolving factors that we may not be able to
accurately predict or assess, including the duration and scope of the pandemic and the geographies most affected; vaccine availability globally, the
distribution of the vaccines, efficacy to new strains of the virus and the public's willingness to get vaccinated or receive booster doses, including potential
disruptions impacting our suppliers and vendors resulting, directly or indirectly, from vaccine mandates and/or vaccine hesitancy; our response to the
continued impact of the pandemic; the negative impact it has on global and regional economies and general economic activity, including the duration and
magnitude of its impact on unemployment rates and business spending levels; its impact on our ability, or the cost and expense incurred by us, to
successfully attract, retain and develop our workforce, its short- and longer-term impact on the levels of consumer confidence; the ability of our suppliers,
vendors and customers to successfully address the continued impacts of the pandemic; and actions governments, businesses and individuals take in
response to the pandemic; and how quickly economies recover after the pandemic subsides.
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Performance

Revenues, net, Net Income and Net Income Per Diluted Share. Set forth below are revenues, net, net income and net income per diluted share for the
years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (in millions, except per share amounts).

Year ended December 31,

2021 2020
Revenues, net $ 2,834 $ 2,389
Net income $ 839 $ 704
Net income per diluted share $ 9.99 $ 8.12

Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted Net Income Per Diluted Share. Set forth below are adjusted net income and adjusted net income per diluted share for
the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (in millions, except per share amounts).

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020
Adjusted net income $ 1,110 $ 962
Adjusted net income per diluted share $ 13.21  $ 11.09

Adjusted net income and adjusted net income per diluted share are supplemental non-GAAP financial measures of operating performance. See the heading
entitled “Management’s Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for more information and a reconciliation of the non-GAAP financial measure to the most
directly comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with GAAP. We use adjusted net income and adjusted net income per diluted share to
eliminate the effect of items that we do not consider indicative of our core operating performance on a consistent basis.

Sources of Revenue

FLEETCOR offers a variety of business payment solutions that help to simplify, automate, secure, digitize and effectively control the way businesses
manage and pay their expenses. We provide our payment solutions to our business, merchant, consumer and payment network customers in more than 150
countries around the world today, although we operate primarily in 3 geographies, with approximately 87% of our business in the U.S., Brazil, and the U.K.
Our customers may include commercial businesses (obtained through direct and indirect channels), partners for whom we manage payment programs, as
well as individual consumers.

FLEETCOR has three reportable segments, North America, International, and Brazil. We report these three segments as they reflect how we organize and
manage our global employee base, manage operating performance, contemplate the differing regulatory environments across geographies, and help us
isolate the impact of foreign exchange fluctuations on our financial results. However, to help facilitate an understanding of our expansive range of solutions
around the world, we describe them in two categories: Expense Management solutions, which help control and monitor employee spending, and Corporate
Payments solutions, which simplify and automate vendor payments.

Our Expense Management solutions (Fuel, Tolls, and Lodging) are purpose-built to provide customers with greater control and visibility of employee
spending when compared with less specialized payment methods, such as cash or general-purpose credit cards. Our Corporate Payments solutions are
designed to help businesses streamline the back-office operations associated with making outgoing payments. Companies save time, cut costs, and manage
B2B payment processing more efficiently with our suite of corporate payment solutions, including accounts payable (AP) automation, virtual cards, cross-
border, and purchasing and T&E cards. FLEETCOR provides several other payments solutions that, due to their nature or size, are not considered within
our Corporate Payments and Expense Management solutions.

Revenues, net, by Segment. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, our segments generated the following revenue (in millions):

Year ended December 31,
2021 2020
Revenues, % of Total Revenues, % of Total
net Revenues, net net Revenues, net
North America $ 1,921.1 68% $ 1,581.5 66 %
Brazil 368.1 13 % 344.2 14 %
International 544.6 19 % 463.1 19 %
$ 2,833.7 100% $ 2,388.9 100 %

*Columns may not calculate due to rounding.
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Revenues, net, by Geography and Solution. Revenue by geography and solution category for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (in millions),
was as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
(Unaudited) 2021 2020
Revenues, % of total Revenues, % of total
Revenues by Geography* net revenues, net net revenues, net
United States $ 1,785.2 63% $ 1,467.5 61 %
Brazil 368.1 13 % 344.2 14 %
United Kingdom 321.8 11 % 262.9 11 %
Other 358.6 13 % 314.2 13 %
Consolidated revenues, net $ 2,833.7 100 % $ 2,388.9 100 %
*Columns may not calculate due to rounding.
Year Ended December 31,
(Unaudited) 2021 2020
Revenues, % of total Revenues, % of total
Revenues by Solution Category* net revenues, net net revenues, net
Fuel $ 1,180.1 2% $ 1,057.2 44 %
Corporate Payments 600.0 21 % 434.0 18 %
Tolls 306.0 11 % 292.0 12 %
Lodging 309.6 11 % 207.0 9 %
Gift 179.5 6 % 154.4 6 %
Other 258.5 9 % 244.3 10 %
Consolidated revenues, net $ 2,833.7 100 % $ 2,388.9 100 %

*Columns may not calculate due to rounding.

We generate revenue in our Fuel solutions through a variety of program fees, including transaction fees, card fees, network fees and charges, as well as
from interchange. These fees may be charged as fixed amounts, costs plus a mark-up, based on a percentage of the transaction purchase amounts, or a
combination thereof. Our programs also include other fees and charges associated with late payments and based on customer credit risk.

In our Corporate Payments solutions, the primary measure of volume is spend, the dollar amount of payments processed on behalf of customers through
our various networks. We primarily earn revenue from the difference between the amount charged to the customer and the amount paid to the third party for
a given transaction, as interchange or spread revenue. Our programs may also charge fixed fees for access to the network and ancillary services provided.

In our Tolls solution, the relevant measure of volume is average monthly tags active during the period. We primarily earn revenue from fixed fees for
access to the network and ancillary services provided. We also earn interchange on certain non-toll products.

In our Lodging solutions, we primarily earn revenue from the difference between the amount charged to the customer and the amount paid to the hotel for a
given transaction and commissions paid by hotels. We may also charge fees for access to the network and ancillary services provided.

In our Gift solutions, we primarily earn revenue from the processing of gift card transactions sold by our customers to end users, as well as from the sale of
the plastic cards. We may also charge fixed fees for ancillary services provided.

The remaining revenues represents other products that due to their nature or size, are not considered primary products. These include telematics offerings,
fleet maintenance, food and transportation employee benefits related offerings, payroll cards and long-haul transportation services.
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The following table provides revenue per key performance metric by solution category as reported and organically for the years ended December 31, 2021
and 2020 (in millions except revenues, net per key performance metric).*

As Reported Pro Forma and Macro Adjusted?
Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 Change % Change 2021 2020 Change % Change

FUEL

- Revenues, net 1,180 $ 1,057 $ 123 12 % 1,154 $ 1,059 $ 95 9 %
- Transactions 463 442 20 5 % 463 443 20 4%
- Revenues, net per transaction 2.55 $ 2.39 $ 0.16 7% 2.49 $ 2.39 $ 0.10 4%
CORPORATE PAYMENTS

- Revenues, net 600 $ 434 $ 166 38 % 589 $ 505 $ 84 17 %
- Spend volume 92,368 $ 64,741 $ 27,627 43 % 92,368 $ 74,775 $ 17,592 24 %
- Revenues, net per spend $ 0.65 % 0.67 % (0.02)% 3)% 0.64 % 0.68 % (0.04)% (6)%
TOLLS

- Revenues, net 306 $ 292 $ 14 5% 322 $ 292 $ 30 10 %
- Tags (average monthly) 5.9 5.4 0.5 9 % 5.9 5.4 0.5 9 %
- Revenues, net per tag 12.90 $ 13.43 $ (0.53) @)% 13.59 $ 13.43 $ 0.16 1%
LODGING

- Revenues, net 310 $ 207 $ 103 50 % 310 $ 248 $ 62 25 %
- Room nights 29 22 7 32 % 29 25 4 15 %
- Revenues, net per room night 10.63 $ 9.55 $ 1.08 11 % 10.62 $ 9.81 $ 0.81 8 %
GIFT

- Revenues, net 179 $ 154 $ 25 16 % 179 $ 154 $ 25 16 %
- Transactions 1,187 1,045 142 14 % 1,187 1,045 142 14 %
- Revenues, net per transaction 0.15 $ 0.15 $ — — % 0.15 $ 0.15 $ — —%
OTHER!

- Revenues, net 259 $ 244 $ 14 6 % 254 $ 244 $ 10 4%
- Transactions 37 41 “4) (10)% 37 41 4 (10)%
- Revenues, net per transaction 7.07 $ 6.00 $ 1.07 18 % 6.95 $ 6.00 $ 0.95 16 %
FLEETCOR CONSOLIDATED

REVENUES, NET

- Revenues, net 2,834 $ 2,389 $ 445 19 % 2,808 $ 2,502 $ 306 12 %

! Other includes telematics, maintenance, food, payroll card and transportation related businesses.

2 See heading entitled "Managements' Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures" for a reconciliation of pro forma and macro adjusted revenue by product
and metric non-GAAP measures to the comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with GAAP.

* Columns may not calculate due to rounding.

Organic revenue growth is a supplemental non-GAAP financial measure of operating performance. Organic revenue growth is calculated as revenue
growth in the current period adjusted for the impact of changes in the macroeconomic environment (to include fuel price, fuel price spreads and changes in
foreign exchange rates) over revenue in the comparable prior period adjusted to include or remove the impact of acquisitions and/or divestitures and non-
recurring items that have occurred subsequent to that period. See the heading entitled “Management’s Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for more
information and a reconciliation of the non-GAAP financial measure to the most directly comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with
GAAP. We believe that organic revenue growth on a macro-neutral, one-time item, and consistent acquisition/divestiture/non-recurring item basis is useful

to investors for understanding the performance of FLEETCOR.

Revenue per relevant key performance indicator (KPI), which may include transaction, spend volume, monthly tags, room nights, or other metrics, is
derived from the various revenue types as discussed above and can vary based on geography, the relevant merchant relationship, the payment product
utilized and the types of products or services purchased, the mix of which would be influenced by our acquisitions, organic growth in our business, and the
overall macroeconomic environment, including fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, fuel prices and fuel price spreads. Revenue per KPI per
customer may change as the level of services we provide to a customer increases or decreases, as macroeconomic factors change and as
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adjustments are made to merchant and customer rates. See “Results of Operations” for further discussion of transaction volumes and revenue per
transaction.

Sources of Expenses

We incur expenses in the following categories:

Processing—Our processing expense consists of expenses related to processing transactions, servicing our customers and merchants, credit losses
and cost of goods sold related to our hardware and card sales in certain businesses.

Selling—Our selling expenses consist primarily of wages, benefits, sales commissions (other than merchant commissions) and related expenses
for our sales, marketing and account management personnel and activities.

General and administrative—Our general and administrative expenses include compensation and related expenses (including stock-based
compensation) for our executives, finance and accounting, information technology, human resources, legal and other administrative personnel.
Also included are facilities expenses, third-party professional services fees, travel and entertainment expenses, and other corporate-level expenses.

Depreciation and amortization—Our depreciation expenses include depreciation of property and equipment, consisting of computer hardware and
software (including proprietary software development amortization expense), card-reading equipment, furniture, fixtures, vehicles and buildings
and leasehold improvements related to office space. Our amortization expenses include amortization of intangible assets related to customer and
vendor relationships, trade names and trademarks, software and non-compete agreements. We are amortizing intangible assets related to business
acquisitions and certain private label contracts associated with the purchase of accounts receivable.

Other operating, net—Our other operating, net includes other operating expenses and income items that do not relate to our core operations or that
occur infrequently.

Investment (gain) loss, net—Our investment results primarily relate to impairment charges related to our investments and unrealized gains and
losses related to a noncontrolling interest in a marketable security, which was disposed in 2020.

Other expense (income), net—QOur other expense (income), net includes gains or losses from the sale of assets, foreign currency transactions, and
other miscellaneous operating costs and revenue.

Interest expense, net—Our interest expense, net includes interest expense on our outstanding debt, interest income on our cash balances and
interest on our interest rate swaps.

Provision for income taxes—Our provision for income taxes consists of corporate income taxes related primarily to profits resulting from the sale
of our products and services on a global basis.

Factors and Trends Impacting our Business

We believe that the following factors and trends are important in understanding our financial performance:

Global economic conditions—Our results of operations are materially affected by conditions in the economy generally, in North America, Brazil,
and internationally, including the ultimate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Factors affected by the economy include our transaction volumes,
the credit risk of our customers and changes in tax laws across the globe. These factors affected our businesses in each of our segments.

Foreign currency changes—Our results of operations are significantly impacted by changes in foreign currency exchange rates; namely, by
movements of the Australian dollar, Brazilian real, British pound, Canadian dollar, Czech koruna, euro, Mexican peso, New Zealand dollar and
Russian ruble, relative to the U.S. dollar. Approximately 63%, and 61% of our revenue in 2021 and 2020, respectively, was derived in U.S. dollars
and was not affected by foreign currency exchange rates. See “Results of Operations” for information related to foreign currency impact on our
total revenue, net.

Our cross-border foreign currency trading business aggregates foreign exchange exposures arising from customer contracts and economically
hedges the resulting net currency risks by entering into offsetting contracts with established financial institution counterparties. These contracts are
subject to counterparty credit risk.

Fuel prices—Our fleet customers use our products and services primarily in connection with the purchase of fuel. Accordingly, our revenue is
affected by fuel prices, which are subject to significant volatility. A change in retail fuel prices could cause a decrease or increase in our revenue
from several sources, including fees paid to us based on a percentage of each customer’s total purchase. Changes in the absolute price of fuel may
also impact unpaid account balances and the late fees and charges based on these amounts. We believe approximately 12% and 11% of revenues,
net were directly impacted by changes in fuel price in 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Fuel price spread volatility—A portion of our revenue involves transactions where we derive revenue from fuel price spreads, which is the
difference between the price charged to a fleet customer for a transaction and the price paid to the merchant for the same transaction. In these
transactions, the price paid to the merchant is based on the wholesale cost of fuel. The merchant’s wholesale cost of fuel is dependent on several
factors including, among others, the factors
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described above affecting fuel prices. The fuel price that we charge to our customer is dependent on several factors including, among others, the
fuel price paid to the merchant, posted retail fuel prices and competitive fuel prices. We experience fuel price spread contraction when the
merchant’s wholesale cost of fuel increases at a faster rate than the fuel price we charge to our customers, or the fuel price we charge to our
customers decreases at a faster rate than the merchant’s wholesale cost of fuel. The inverse of these situations produces fuel price spread
expansion. We believe approximately 5% and 8% of revenues, net were directly impacted by fuel price spreads in 2021 and 2020, respectively.

»  Acquisitions—Since 2002, we have completed over 90 acquisitions of companies, in addition to commercial account portfolios. Acquisitions have
been an important part of our growth strategy, and it is our intention to continue to seek opportunities to increase our customer base and diversify
our service offering through further strategic acquisitions. The impact of acquisitions has, and may continue to have, a significant impact on our
results of operations and may make it difficult to compare our results between periods.

» Interest rates—Our results of operations are affected by interest rates. We are exposed to market risk changes in interest rates on our cash
investments and debt. On January 22, 2019, we entered into three swap contracts. The objective of these swap contracts is to reduce the variability
of cash flows in the previously unhedged interest payments associated with $2.0 billion of variable rate debt, the sole source of which is due to
changes in the LIBOR benchmark interest rate. For each of these swap contracts, we pay a fixed monthly rate and receive one month LIBOR. The
$1.0 billion interest rate swap matured in January 2022.

*  Expenses—Over the long term, we expect that our general and administrative expense will decrease as a percentage of revenue as our revenue
increases. To support our expected revenue growth, we plan to continue to incur additional sales and marketing expense by investing in our direct
marketing, third-party agents, internet marketing, telemarketing and field sales force.

»  Taxes—We pay taxes in various taxing jurisdictions, including the U.S., most U.S. states and many non-U.S. jurisdictions. The tax rates in certain
non-U.S. taxing jurisdictions are different than the U.S. tax rate. Consequently, as our earnings fluctuate between taxing jurisdictions, our effective
tax rate fluctuates.

Acquisitions and Investments
2022

* In February 2022, we made two immaterial investments in an electric vehicle charging payments business and an electric vehicle data analytics
business.

» In March 2022, we acquired a software business that streamlines disruption events for airline passengers.

*  On December 15, 2021, we completed the acquisition of a mobile fuel payments solution in Russia for an immaterial amount.

*  On September 1, 2021, we completed the acquisition of ALE Solutions, Inc. (ALE), a U.S. based provider of lodging solutions to the insurance
industry, for $421.8 million.

*  OnJune 1, 2021, we completed the acquisition of Associated Foreign Exchange (AFEX), a U.S. based, cross-border payment solutions provider,
for $459.8 million, including cash.

*  OnJanuary 13, 2021, we completed the acquisition of Roger, which has been rebranded as Corpay One, a global accounts payable (AP) cloud
software platform for small businesses, for $39.0 million.

*  During 2021, we made an investment of $37.8 million in a joint venture in Brazil with CAIXA. We made investments in other businesses of
$6.8 million.

2020

*  On November 30, 2020, we completed the acquisition of a fuel card provider in New Zealand for an immaterial amount.
*  On August 10, 2020, we completed the acquisition of a business in the lodging space in the U.S. for an immaterial amount.

Results from our ALE, AFEX, Roger and lodging acquisitions are reported in our North America segment from the dates of acquisition. Results from our
Russia and New Zealand acquisitions are reported in our International segment from the date of acquisition.
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Results of Operations
Year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended December 31, 2020

The following table sets forth selected consolidated statements of income and selected operational data for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(in millions, except percentages)*.

Year ended Year ended
December 31, % of total December 31, % of total Increase
2021 revenue 2020 revenue (decrease) % Change
Revenues, net:
North America $ 1,921.1 67.8% $ 1,581.5 66.2% $ 339.5 21.5%
Brazil 368.1 13.0 % 344.2 14.4 % 23.8 6.9 %
International 544.6 19.2 % 463.1 19.4 % 81.5 17.6 %
Total revenues, net 2,833.7 100.0 % 2,388.9 100.0 % 444.9 18.6 %
Consolidated operating expenses:
Processing 559.8 19.8 % 596.4 25.0 % (36.5) (6.1)%
Selling 262.1 9.2 % 192.7 8.1% 69.4 36.0 %
General and administrative 485.8 17.1 % 374.7 15.7 % 111.2 29.7 %
Depreciation and amortization 284.2 10.0 % 254.8 10.7 % 29.4 11.5 %
Other operating, net (0.8) — % (2.0) 0.1 % 1.2 (60.5)%
Operating income 1,242.6 43.8 % 972.3 40.7 % 270.3 27.8 %
Investment gain — — % (30.0) (1.3)% 30.0 NM
Other expense (income), net 3.9 0.1 % (10.1) 0.49)% (13.9) NM
Interest expense, net 113.7 4.0 % 129.8 5.4 % (16.1) (12.4)%
Loss on extinguishment of debt 16.2 0.6 % — — % 16.2 NM
Provision for income taxes 269.3 9.5 % 178.3 7.5 % 91.0 51.0 %
Net income $ 839.5 296 % $ 704.2 295% $ 135.3 19.2 %
Operating income for segments:
North America $ 762.6 $ 547.9 $ 214.7 39.2 %
Brazil 154.3 148.1 6.2 4.2 %
International 325.7 276.3 49.4 17.9 %
Operating income $ 1,242.6 $ 972.3 $ 270.3 27.8 %
Operating margin for segments:
North America 39.7 % 34.6 % 5.1 %
Brazil 41.9 % 43.0 % (1.1)%
International 59.8 % 59.7 % 0.1%
Total 43.8 % 40.7 % 31%

*The sum of the columns and rows may not calculate due to rounding.

NM - not meaningful

Revenues, net

Our consolidated revenues were $2,833.7 million in 2021, an increase of $444.9 million, or 18.6%, from $2,388.9 million in 2020. Organically,
consolidated revenues increased by approximately 12%. Consolidated revenues and organic growth increased primarily due to increases in transaction
volume as the business recovered from the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and the impact of incremental new sales. The increase was also due to the
impact of acquisitions completed in 2020 and 2021 of approximately $114 million and the positive impact of the macroeconomic environment.

Although we cannot precisely measure the impact of the macroeconomic environment, in total we believe it had a positive impact on our consolidated
revenue for 2021 over 2020 of approximately $26 million, driven primarily by the favorable impact of fuel prices of $53 million and favorable changes in
foreign exchange rates of approximately $18 million. These increases were partially offset by unfavorable fuel price spreads of approximately $46 million.
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North America segment revenues, net

North America segment revenues were $1,921.1 million in 2021, an increase of $339.5 million, or 21.5%, from $1,581.5 million in 2020. Organically,
North America segment revenues increased by approximately 13%. North America revenues and organic growth increased primarily due to increases in
transaction volume as the business recovered from the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and the impact of incremental new sales. The increase in North
America revenues was also due to the impact of acquisitions completed in 2020 and 2021 of approximately $112 million and the positive impact of the
macroeconomic environment.

Although we cannot precisely measure the impact of the macroeconomic environment, in total we believe it had a positive impact on our North America
segment revenues for 2021 over 2020 of approximately $12 million, driven primarily by the favorable impact of fuel prices of approximately $47 million
and favorable changes in foreign exchange rates of approximately $11 million in our cross-border payments business. These increases were partially offset
by unfavorable fuel price spreads of approximately $46 million.

Brazil segment revenues, net

Brazil segment revenues were $368.1 million in 2021, an increase of $23.8 million or 6.9%, from $344.2 million in 2020. Organically, Brazil segment
revenues increased by approximately 13%. Brazil revenues and organic growth increased primarily due to increases in toll tags sold as the business
recovered from the effects of COVID-19 pandemic and the impact of incremental new sales. Organic growth was partially offset by the unfavorable impact
of foreign exchange rates of approximately $19 million for 2021 over 2020.

International segment revenues, net

International segment revenues were $544.6 million in 2021, an increase of $81.5 million, or 17.6%, from $463.1 million in 2020. Organically,
International segment revenues increased by approximately 10%. International revenues and organic growth increased primarily due to increases in
transaction volume as the business recovered from the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and the impact of incremental new sales. Although we cannot
precisely measure the impact of the macroeconomic environment, in total we believe it had a positive impact on our International segment revenues for
2021 over 2020 of approximately $33 million, driven primarily by favorable changes in foreign exchange rates of approximately $27 million primarily in
our U.K. business, and the favorable impact of fuel prices of approximately $6 million.

Consolidated operating expenses

Processing. Processing expenses were $559.8 million in 2021, a decrease of $36.5 million, or 6.1%, from $596.4 million in 2020. The decrease in
processing expenses was due to lower bad debt expense of approximately $121 million, which included a write-off of a customer receivable in our cross-
border business of approximately $90 million in the first quarter of 2020.The remaining change in processing expense included incremental expenses of
$48 million related to higher volumes processed and incremental expenses related to acquisitions completed in 2020 and 2021 of approximately $36
million.

Selling. Selling expenses were $262.1 million in 2021, an increase of $69.4 million or 36.0% from $192.7 million in 2020. Increases in selling expenses
were primarily due to higher commissions and other variable costs due to increased sales volumes in 2021, incremental marketing and advertising spend,
and incremental expenses related to acquisitions completed in 2020 and 2021 of approximately $27 million.

General and administrative. General and administrative expenses were $485.8 million in 2021,an increase of $111.2 million or 29.7% from $374.7 million
in 2020. Increases in general and administrative expenses were primarily due to the impact of acquisitions completed in 2020 and 2021 of approximately
$37 million, increased stock based compensation expense of $33 million, increased professional fees of $15 million and increased bonus expense of $9
million as the business emerged from the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization expenses were $284.2 million in 2021, an increase of $29.4 million or 11.5% from $254.8
million in 2020. The increase was primarily due to expenses related to acquisitions completed in 2020 and 2021 of approximately $28 million.

Investment gain. Investment gain of $30 million in 2020 relates to the gain on the sale of our investment in Bill.com during the third quarter of 2020.

Other expense (income), net. Other expense, net was $3.9 million in 2021, as compared to other income, net of $10.1 million in 2020. Other income in
2020 includes a $7 million favorable purchase price settlement from our Cambridge acquisition.

Interest expense, net. Interest expense was $113.7 million in 2021, a decrease of $16.1 million or 12.4% from $129.8 million in 2020. The decrease in
interest expense is primarily due to decreases in LIBOR and higher interest income due to higher rates
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earned on customer deposits and cash balances in certain foreign jurisdictions. The average interest rates paid on borrowings under our Credit Facility,
excluding the related unused credit facility fees and swaps was as follows in 2021 and 2020.

(Unaudited) 2021 2020

Term loan A 1.60 % 2.09 %
Term loan B 1.85 % 2.37 %
Revolver line of credit A, B & C USD Borrowings 1.60 % 2.12 %
Revolver line of credit B GBP Borrowings 1.52 % 1.77 %
Foreign swing line 1.54 % 1.65 %

The average unused facility fee for the Credit Facility excluding the revolving D facility was 0.30% and 0.29% in 2021 and 2020, respectively.

On January 22, 2019, we entered into three interest rate swap contracts. The objective of these interest rate swap contracts is to reduce the variability of
cash flows in the previously unhedged interest payments associated with $2 billion of variable rate debt, tied to the one month LIBOR benchmark interest
rate. During 2021, as a result of these swaps, we incurred additional interest expense of approximately $50 million or 2.46% over the average LIBOR rates
on $2 billion of borrowings. In January 2022, $1.0 billion of our interest rate swaps matured.

Provision for income taxes. The provision for income taxes and effective tax rate were $269.3 million and 24.3% in 2021, an increase of $91.0 million,
from $178.3 million and 20.2%, respectively, in 2020. The increase in the provision for income taxes was driven primarily by an increase in pre-tax
earnings. The increase in the effective tax rate was primarily due to less excess tax benefit on stock option exercises in 2021 over the comparable period in
2020.

Net income. For the reasons discussed above, our net income was $839.5 million in 2021, an increase of $135.3 million or 19.2% from $704.2 million in
2020.

Operating income and operating margin

Consolidated operating income. Operating income was $1,242.6 million in 2021, an increase of $270.3 million or 27.8% from $972.3 million in 2020. Our
consolidated operating margin was 43.8% in 2021 and 40.7% in 2020. These increases were primarily driven by the write-off of a customer receivable in
our cross-border payments business of approximately $90 million in the first quarter of 2020, increases in volume as the business recovered from the
effects of the COVID-19 pandemic driving both organic growth and incremental sales, the impact of favorable fuel prices of approximately $53 million and
favorable movements in foreign exchange rates of approximately $13 million. These increases were partially offset by the unfavorable impact of fuel
spread margins of $46 million.

For the purpose of segment operating results, we calculate segment operating income by subtracting segment operating expenses from segment revenue.
Segment operating margin is calculated by dividing segment operating income by segment revenue.

North America segment operating income. North America operating income was $762.6 million in 2021, an increase of $214.7 million or 39.2% from
$547.9 million in 2020. North America operating margin was 39.7% in 2021 and 34.6% in 2020. These increases were primarily due to lower bad debt
expense due mostly to the write-off of a customer receivable in our cross-border payments business of approximately $90 million in 2020; increases in
volume as the business recovered from the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic driving both organic growth and incremental sales; and the impact of
favorable fuel prices of approximately $47 million and favorable movements in the foreign exchange rates of $4 million. These increases were partially
offset by the unfavorable impact of fuel spread margins of $46 million.

Brazil segment operating income. Brazil operating income was $154.3 million in 2021, an increase of $6.2 million or 4.2% from $148.1 million in 2020.
Brazil operating margin was 41.9% in 2021 and 43.0% in 2020. Brazil operating income benefited from the favorable impact of organic growth and
incremental sales. These increases were partially offset by the unfavorable impact of foreign exchange rates of $8 million. The lower operating margin was
driven by incremental spending on sales in 2021 over 2020.

International segment operating income. International operating income was $325.7 million in 2021, an increase of $49.4 million, or 17.9% from $276.3
million in 2020. International operating margin was 59.8% in 2021 and 59.7% in 2020. The increases were primarily due to an increase in transaction
volume as the business recovered from the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic, driving both organic growth and incremental sales, and the favorable impacts
of foreign exchange rates of $17 million, primarily in our U.K. business, and fuel prices of $6 million.

Liquidity and capital resources

Our principal liquidity requirements are to service and repay our indebtedness, make acquisitions of businesses and commercial account portfolios,
repurchase shares of our common stock and meet working capital, tax and capital expenditure needs.
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Sources of liquidity. We believe that our current level of cash and borrowing capacity under our Credit Facility and Securitization Facility (each defined
below), together with expected future cash flows from operations, will be sufficient to meet the needs of our existing operations and planned requirements
for the foreseeable future, based on our current assumptions. At December 31, 2021, we had approximately $2.6 billion in total liquidity, consisting of
approximately $1.1 billion available under our Credit Facility (defined below) and unrestricted cash of $1.5 billion. Restricted cash primarily represents
customer deposits in our Comdata business in the U.S., as well as collateral received from customers for cross-currency transactions in our cross-border
payments business, which are restricted from use other than to repay customer deposits, as well as secure and settle cross-currency transactions.

We also utilize an accounts receivable Securitization Facility to finance a majority of our domestic receivables, to lower our cost of borrowing and more
efficiently use capital. We generate and record accounts receivable when a customer makes a purchase from a merchant using one of our card products and
generally pay merchants before collecting the receivable. As a result, we utilize the Securitization Facility as a source of liquidity to provide the cash flow
required to fund merchant payments while we collect customer balances. These balances are primarily composed of charge balances, which are typically
billed to the customer on a weekly, semimonthly or monthly basis, and are generally required to be paid within 14 days of billing. We also consider the
undrawn amounts under our Securitization Facility and Credit Facility as funds available for working capital purposes and acquisitions. At December 31,
2021, we had no additional liquidity under our Securitization Facility.

The Company has determined that outside basis differences associated with our investment in foreign subsidiaries would not result in a material deferred
tax liability, and consistent with our assertion that these amounts continue to be indefinitely reinvested, have not recorded incremental income taxes for the
additional outside basis differences.

We cannot assure you that our assumptions used to estimate our liquidity requirements will remain accurate due to the unprecedented nature and
unpredictability of the ongoing COVID-19 global pandemic. As a consequence, our estimates of the duration of the pandemic and the severity of the
impact on our future earnings and cash flows could change and have a material impact on our results of operations and financial condition.

Cash flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Year ended December 31,

(in millions) 2021 2020

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 1,197.1 $ 1,472.6
Net cash used in investing activities (715.9) (106.2)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 343.9 (1,416.8)

Operating activities. Net cash provided by operating activities was $1,197.1 million in 2021, a decrease from $1,472.6 million in 2020. The decrease in
operating cash flows was primarily due to unfavorable working capital movements due to the timing of cash receipts and payments in 2021 over 2020.

Investing activities. Net cash used in investing activities was $715.9 million in 2021, an increase from $106.2 million in 2020. The increased use of cash
was primarily due to incremental cash paid for acquisitions in 2021 over 2020.

Financing activities. Net cash provided by financing activities was $343.9 million in 2021, compared to net cash used in financing activities of $1,416.8
million in 2020. The increase in net cash provided by financing activities was primarily due to increased net borrowings on our Credit Facility of $1,702
million and increased net borrowings on our Securitization Facility of $689 million, which were partially offset by an increase in cash used to repurchase
common stock of $506 million in 2021 over 2020.

Capital spending summary

Our capital expenditures were $111.5 million in 2021, an increase of $33.1 million or 42.2%, from $78.4 million in 2020. The increased size of the business
due to acquisitions, as well as continued investments in technology, resulted in an increase in capital spending.

Credit Facility

FLEETCOR Technologies Operating Company, LLC, and certain of our domestic and foreign owned subsidiaries, as designated co-borrowers (the
“Borrowers”), are parties to a $6.41 billion Credit Agreement (the “Credit Agreement”), with Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent, swing line
lender and local currency issuer, and a syndicate of financial institutions (the “Lenders”), which has been amended multiple times. The Credit Agreement
provides for senior secured credit facilities (collectively, the “Credit Facility”) consisting of a revolving credit facility in the amount of $1.285 billion, a
term loan A facility in the amount of $3.225 billion and a term loan B facility in the amount of $1.9 billion as of December 31, 2021. The revolving credit
facility consists of (a) a revolving A credit facility in the amount of $800 million, with sublimits for letters of credit and swing line loans, (b) a revolving B
facility in the amount of $450 million for borrowings in U.S. Dollars, Euros,
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British Pounds, Japanese Yen or other currency as agreed in advance, and a sublimit for swing line loans, and (c) a revolving C facility in the amount of
$35 million with borrowings in U.S. Dollars, Australian Dollars or New Zealand Dollars. The Credit Agreement also includes an accordion feature for
borrowing an additional $750 million in term loan A, term loan B, revolver A or revolver B debt and an unlimited amount when the leverage ratio on a pro-
forma basis is less than 3.00 to 1.00. Proceeds from the credit facilities may be used for working capital purposes, acquisitions, and other general corporate

purposes. The maturity date for the term loan A and revolving credit facilities A, B and C is December 19, 2023. On April 30, 2021, the Company entered
into the ninth amendment to the Credit Agreement. The amendment provided for a new seven-year $1.15 billion term loan B. The existing term loan B was
paid off with proceeds from the new term loan B. On November 16, 2021, the Company entered into the tenth amendment to the Credit Agreement to
provide for LIBOR replacement rates for Euros, British Pounds and Japanese Yen borrowings. On December 22, 2021, the Company entered into the
eleventh amendment to the Credit Agreement. The amendment increased the amount of the term loan B facility by $750 million. The new term loan B has a
maturity date of April 30, 2028, and interest rates remain unchanged.

Interest on amounts outstanding under the Credit Agreement (other than the term loan B) accrues as follows: For loans denominated in U.S. Dollars,
Australian Dollars or New Zealand Dollars, based on the British Bankers Association LIBOR Rate (the “Eurocurrency Rate”), in British Pounds, based on
the Sterling Overnight Index Average Reference Rate (“SONIA”) plus a SONIA adjustment of 0.0326%, in Euros, based on the Euro Interbank Offered
Rate (“EURIBOR”), or in Japanese Yen, at the Tokyo Interbank Offer Rate (“TTBOR”) plus a margin based on a leverage ratio, or our option (for U.S.
Dollar borrowings only), the Base Rate (defined as the rate equal to the highest of (a) the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.50%, (b) the prime rate announced by
Bank of America, N.A., or (c) the Eurocurrency Rate plus 1.00%) plus a margin based on a leverage ratio. Interest on the term loan B facility accrues based
on the Eurocurrency Rate plus 1.75% for Eurocurrency Loans and at the Base Rate plus 0.75% for Base Rate Loans. In addition, the Company pays a
quarterly commitment fee at a rate per annum ranging from 0.25% to 0.35% of the daily unused portion of the credit facility.

At December 31, 2021, the interest rate on the term loan A was 1.60%, the interest rate on the term loan B was 1.85% and the interest rate on the revolving
A facility was 1.61%. There were no amounts outstanding under the revolving B facility at December 31, 2021. The unused credit facility fee was 0.30%
for all revolving facilities at December 31, 2021.

The term loans are payable in quarterly installments due on the last business day of each March, June, September, and December with the final principal
payment due on the respective maturity date. Borrowings on the revolving line of credit are repayable at the option of one, three or six months after
borrowing, depending on the term of the borrowing on the facility. Borrowings on the foreign swing line of credit are due no later than twenty business
days after such loan is made.

The obligations of the Borrowers under the Credit Agreement are secured by substantially all of the assets of FLEETCOR and its domestic subsidiaries,
pursuant to a security agreement and includes a pledge of (i) 100% of the issued and outstanding equity interests owned by us of each Domestic Subsidiary
and (2) 66% of the voting shares of the first-tier foreign subsidiaries, but excluding real property, personal property located outside of the U.S., accounts
receivables and related assets subject to the Securitization Facility and certain investments required under money transmitter laws to be held free and clear
of liens.

At December 31, 2021, we had $2.8 billion in borrowings outstanding on term loan A, net of discounts, and $1.9 billion in borrowings outstanding on term
loan B, net of discounts, as of December 31, 2021. We have unamortized debt issuance costs of $3.3 million related to the revolving facilities as of
December 31, 2021 recorded within other assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. We have unamortized debt discounts and debt issuance costs related to
the term loans of $16.7 million and $8.5 million at December 31, 2021, respectively. The effective interest rate incurred on term loans was 1.79% during
2021 related to the discount on debt.

During 2021, we made principal payments of $508 million on the term loans, $2.0 billion on the revolving facilities, and $65.6 million on the swing line
revolving facility.

As of December 31, 2021, we were in compliance with each of the covenants under the Credit Agreement.
Cash Flow Hedges

On January 22, 2019, we entered into three swap contracts. The objective of these swap contracts is to reduce the variability of cash flows in the previously
unhedged interest payments associated with $2.0 billion of variable rate debt, the sole source of which is due to changes in the LIBOR benchmark interest
rate. These swap contracts qualify as hedging instruments and have been designated as cash flow hedges. For each of these swap contracts, we pay a fixed
monthly rate and receive one month LIBOR. We reclassified approximately $50 million of losses from accumulated other comprehensive loss into interest
expense during the year ended December 31, 2021 as a result of these hedging instruments. The maturity dates of the swap contracts are January 31, 2022
for $1 billion, January 31, 2023 for $500 million and December 19, 2023 for $500 million. In January 2022, $1.0 billion of our interest rate swaps matured.

Securitization Facility
We are a party to a $1.3 billion receivables purchase agreement among FleetCor Funding LLC, as seller, PNC Bank, National Association as administrator,

and various purchaser agents, conduit purchasers and related committed purchasers parties thereto. We refer to this arrangement as the Securitization
Facility. There have been multiple amendments to the Securitization
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Facility. On September 15, 2021, the Company entered into the ninth amendment to the Securitization Facility. The amendment increased the Securitization
Facility commitment from $1.0 billion to $1.3 billion. On March 29, 2021, the Company entered into the eighth amendment to the Securitization Facility.
The amendment included a new three year maturity date, reduced the LIBOR floor to 0 bps, improved margins, and increased the swing line from $100
million to $250 million. The maturity date for the Company's Securitization Facility is March 29, 2024.

We were in compliance with all financial and non-financial covenant requirements related to our Securitization Facility as of December 31, 2021.
Stock Repurchase Program

Given the Company’s returns on its capital investments and significant cash provided by operations, management believes it is prudent to reinvest in the
business to drive profitable growth and use excess cash flow to return cash to shareholders over time through stock repurchases. The Company's Board of
Directors (the "Board") has approved a stock repurchase program (as updated from time to time, the "Program") authorizing the Company to repurchase its
common stock from time to time until February 1, 2023. On July 27, 2021, the Board increased the aggregate size of the Program by $1.0 billion, to

$5.1 billion. Since the beginning of the Program through December 31, 2021, 20,068,498 shares have been repurchased for an aggregate purchase price of
$4.4 billion, leaving the Company up to $0.7 billion available under the Program for future repurchases in shares of its common stock. There were
5,451,556 common shares totaling $1.4 billion in 2021; 3,497,285 common shares totaling $940.8 million in 2020 and 2,211,866 common shares totaling
$636.8 million in 2019; repurchased under the Program.

On January 25, 2022, the Board increased the aggregate size of the Program by $1.0 billion, to $6.1 billion. In January and February 2022, 1,510,027
shares were repurchased for an aggregate purchase price of $360.8 million, of which 1,066,015 shares with an aggregate purchase price of $256.5 million
were repurchased pursuant to a 10b5-1 plan. As of March 1, 2022, the Company has up to $1.3 billion available under the Program for future repurchases
of its common stock.

Any stock repurchases may be made at times and in such amounts as deemed appropriate. The timing and amount of stock repurchases, if any, will depend
on a variety of factors including the stock price, market conditions, corporate and regulatory requirements, and any additional constraints related to material
inside information the Company may possess. Any repurchases have been and are expected to be funded by a combination of available cash flow from the
business, working capital and debt.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates, Adoption of New Accounting Standards, and Pending Adoption of Recently Issued Accounting
Standards

In applying the accounting policies that we use to prepare our consolidated financial statements, we necessarily make accounting estimates that affect our
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Some of these estimates require us to make assumptions about matters that are highly
uncertain at the time we make the accounting estimates. We base these assumptions and the resulting estimates on historical information and other factors
that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, and we evaluate these assumptions and estimates on an ongoing basis. In many instances,
however, we reasonably could have used different accounting estimates and, in other instances, changes in our accounting estimates could occur from
period to period, with the result in each case being a material change in the financial statement presentation of our financial condition or results of
operations. We refer to estimates of this type as critical accounting estimates. Our significant accounting policies are summarized in the consolidated
financial statements contained elsewhere in this report. The critical accounting estimates that we discuss below are those that we believe are most important
to an understanding of our consolidated financial statements.

See the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies footnote on page 59 of this Form 10-K for additional information.

Revenue recognition and presentation. We provide payment solutions to our business, merchant, consumer and payment network customers. Our payment
solutions are primarily focused on specific commercial spend categories, including Corporate Payments, Fuel, Lodging, Tolls, as well as Gift solutions
(stored value cards and e-cards). We provide solutions that help businesses of all sizes control, simplify and secure payment of various domestic and cross-
border payables using specialized payment products. We also provide other payment solutions for fleet maintenance, employee benefits and long haul
transportation-related services.

Payment Services

Our primary performance obligation for the majority of our payment solutions (Corporate Payments, Fuel, Lodging, and Gift, among others) is to stand-
ready to provide authorization and processing services (payment services) for an unknown or unspecified quantity of transactions and the consideration
received is contingent upon the customer’s use (e.g., number of transactions submitted and processed) of the related payment services. Accordingly, the
total transaction price is variable. Payment services involve a series of distinct daily services that are substantially the same, with the same pattern of
transfer to the customer. As a result, we allocate and recognize variable consideration in the period we have the contractual right to invoice the customer.
For the tolls payment solution, our primary performance obligation is to stand-ready each month to provide access to the toll network and process toll
transactions. Each period of access is determined to be distinct and substantially the same as the customer benefits over the period of access. In our cross-
border payments business, the majority of revenue is from exchanges of currency at spot rates, which enables customers to make cross-currency payments.
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Gift Card Products and Services

Our Gift solutions deliver both stored value cards and e-cards (cards), and card-based services primarily in the form of gift cards to retailers. These
activities each represent performance obligations that are separate and distinct. Revenue for stored valued cards is recognized (gross of the underlying cost
of the related card, recorded in processing expenses within the Consolidated Statements of Income) at the point in time when control passes to our
customer, which is generally upon shipment.

Other

We account for revenue from late fees and finance charges, in jurisdictions where permitted under local regulations, primarily in the U.S. and Canada in
accordance with ASC 310, "Receivables". Such fees are recognized net of a provision for estimated uncollectible amounts, at the time the fees and finance
charges are assessed and services are provided. We cease billing and accruing for late fees and finance charges approximately 30 - 40 days after the
customer’s balance becomes delinquent.

In addition, in our cross-border payments business, we write foreign currency forward and option contracts for our customers to facilitate future payments
in foreign currencies. The duration of these derivative contracts at inception is generally less than one year. We aggregate our foreign exchange exposures
arising from customer contracts, including forwards, options and spot exchanges of currency, as necessary, and economically hedge the net currency risks
by entering into offsetting derivatives with established financial institution counterparties. The changes in fair value related to these instruments are
recorded in revenues, net in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Refer to the Revenue footnote on page 66 of this Form 10-K for additional information.

Financial Instruments-Credit Losses. Our current expected credit loss methodology for measurement of credit losses on financial assets measured at
amortized cost basis, replaces the previous incurred loss impairment methodology. Our financial assets subject to credit losses are primarily trade
receivables. We utilize a combination of aging and loss-rate methods to develop an estimate of current expected credit losses, depending on the nature and
risk profile of the underlying asset pool, based on product, size of customer and historical losses. Expected credit losses are estimated based upon an
assessment of risk characteristics, historical payment experience, and the age of outstanding receivables, adjusted for forward-looking economic conditions.
The allowances for remaining financial assets measured at amortized cost basis are evaluated based on underlying financial condition, credit history, and
current and forward-looking economic conditions. The estimation process for expected credit losses includes consideration of qualitative and quantitative
risk factors associated with the age of asset balances, expected timing of payment, contract terms and conditions, changes in specific customer risk profiles
or mix of customers, geographic risk, economic trends and relevant environmental factors. Refer to the Financial Instruments-Credit Losses section in the
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies footnote on page 60 of this Form 10-K for additional information.

Impairment of goodwill and indefinite-lived assets. We complete an impairment test of goodwill at least annually or more frequently if facts or
circumstances indicate that goodwill might be impaired. Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level. We first perform a qualitative
assessment of certain of our reporting units. Factors considered in the qualitative assessment include general macroeconomic conditions, industry and
market conditions, cost factors, overall financial performance of our reporting units, events or changes affecting the composition or carrying amount of the
net assets of our reporting units, sustained decrease in our share price, and other relevant entity-specific events. If we elect to bypass the qualitative
assessment or if we determine, on the basis of qualitative factors, that the fair value of the reporting unit is more likely than not less than the carrying
amount, a quantitative test would be required. We then perform the goodwill impairment test for each reporting unit by comparing the reporting unit’s
carrying amount, including goodwill, to its fair value which is measured based upon, among other factors, a discounted cash flow analysis, as well as
market multiples for comparable companies. Estimates critical to our evaluation of goodwill for impairment include forecasts for revenues, net, and
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) growth, and long-term growth rates, as well as the discount rates. If the carrying
amount of the reporting unit is greater than its fair value, goodwill is considered impaired.

We also evaluate indefinite-lived intangible assets (primarily trademarks and trade names) for impairment annually. We test for impairment if events and
circumstances indicate that it is more likely than not that the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset is below its carrying amount. Estimates critical
to our evaluation of indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment include the discount rate, royalty rates used in our evaluation of trade names, projected
revenue growth and projected long-term growth rates in the determination of terminal values. An impairment loss is recorded if the carrying amount of an
indefinite-lived intangible asset exceeds the estimated fair value on the measurement date.

Refer to the Impairment of long-lived assets, intangibles and investments section in the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies footnote on page 60 of
this Form 10-K and the Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets footnote on page 76 of this Form 10-K for additional information.

Income taxes. We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the period that
includes the
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enactment date. We have elected to treat the Global Intangible Low Taxed Income (GILTT) inclusion as a current period expense.

The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which the associated
temporary differences become deductible. We evaluate on a quarterly basis whether it is more likely than not that our deferred tax assets will be realized in
the future and conclude whether a valuation allowance must be established.

We account for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an entity’s financial statements and prescribe thresholds and measurement attributes for financial
statement disclosure of tax positions taken or expected to be taken on a tax return. The impact of an uncertain income tax position on the income tax return
must be recognized at the largest amount that is more likely than not to be sustained upon audit by the relevant taxing authority. An uncertain income tax
position will not be recognized if it has less than a 50 percent likelihood of being sustained. We include any estimated interest and penalties on tax related
matters in income tax expense. Refer to the Income Taxes footnote on page 81 of this Form 10-K for additional information.

Business combinations. Business combinations completed by us have been accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting, which requires that
the acquired assets and liabilities, including contingencies, be recorded at fair value determined as of the acquisition date. The excess of the purchase price
over the fair values of the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed represents goodwill. The results of the acquired businesses are
included in our results of operations beginning from the completion date of the transaction.

The estimates we use to determine the fair value of long-lived assets, such as intangible assets, can be complex and require significant judgments. We use
information available to us to make fair value determinations and engage independent valuation specialists, when necessary, to assist in the fair value
determination of significant acquired long-lived assets. The estimated fair values of customer-related and contract-based intangible assets are generally
determined using the income approach, which is based on projected cash flows discounted to their present value using discount rates that consider the
timing and risk of the forecasted cash flows. The discount rates used represented a risk adjusted market participant weighted-average cost of capital,
derived using customary market metrics. These measures of fair value also require considerable judgments about future events, including forecasted
revenue growth rates, forecasted customer attrition rates, contract renewal estimates and technology changes. Acquired technologies are generally valued
using the replacement cost method, which requires us to estimate the costs to construct an asset of equivalent utility at prices available at the time of the
valuation analysis, with adjustments in value for physical deterioration and functional and economic obsolescence. Trademarks and trade names are
generally valued using the "relief-from-royalty" approach. This method assumes that trademarks and trade names have value to the extent that their owner
is relieved of the obligation to pay royalties for the benefits received from them. This method requires us to estimate the future revenues for the related
brands, the appropriate royalty rate and the weighted-average cost of capital. This measure of fair value requires considerable judgment about the value a
market participant would be willing to pay in order to achieve the benefits associated with the trade name.

While we use our best estimates and assumptions to determine the fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed, our estimates are inherently
uncertain and subject to refinement. As a result, during the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, we record
adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period, any subsequent adjustments are recorded in our
Consolidated Statements of Income. We also estimate the useful lives of intangible assets to determine the period over which to recognize the amount of
acquisition-related intangible assets as an expense. Certain assets may be considered to have indefinite useful lives. We periodically review the estimated
useful lives assigned to our intangible assets to determine whether such estimated useful lives continue to be appropriate. Refer to the Acquisitions footnote
on pages 73 of this Form 10-K for additional information and the Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets footnote 76 of this Form 10-K for additional
information.

Stock based compensation. We routinely grant employee stock options and restricted stock awards/units as part of employee compensation plans. Stock
options are granted with an exercise price equal to the fair market value on the date of grant. Options granted have vesting provisions ranging from one to
five years and vesting is generally based on the passage of time, performance or market conditions, or a combination of these. We use the Black-Scholes
option pricing model for estimating the grant date fair value of stock option awards. Awards of restricted stock and restricted stock units generally have
vesting provisions of one to four years and vesting is generally based on the passage of time, performance or market conditions, or a combination of these.
The fair value of restricted stock where the shares vest based on the passage of time or performance is based on the grant date fair value of our stock. The
fair value of restricted stock units granted with market based vesting conditions is estimated using the Monte Carlo simulation valuation model. Stock-
based compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on the value of the award and is recognized as expense over the requisite service period based
on the number of years over which the requisite service is expected to be rendered. For performance-based and restricted stock awards/units and
performance-based stock option awards, we must also make assumptions regarding the likelihood of achieving performance goals. If actual results differ
significantly from these estimates, stock based compensation expense and our results of operations could be materially affected. Refer to the Stock Based
Compensation section in the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies footnote on page 63 of this Form 10-K and Stock Based Compensation footnote
on page 70 of this Form 10-K for additional information.

44



Material Cash Requirements and Uses of Cash

Material cash requirements primarily consist of debt obligations and related interest payments, along with lease obligations. Refer to the Debt footnote on
page 78 and Leases footnote on page 83 of this Form 10-K for more information. The Company estimates interest payments for our interest rate swap cash
flow contracts (the "swap contracts"), using the fixed interest rate on each swap less the one month LIBOR rate in effect on our term loans at December 31,
2021, are expected to be $26.5 million and $12.7 million in 2022 and 2023, respectively.

Deferred income tax liabilities as of December 31, 2021 were approximately $564.4 million. Refer to Income Taxes footnote on page 81 of this Form 10-K
for more information. Deferred income tax liabilities are calculated based on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
respective book bases, which will result in taxable amounts in future years when the liabilities are settled at their reported financial statement amounts. The
results of these calculations do not have a direct connection with the amount of cash taxes to be paid in any future periods. As a result, scheduling deferred
income tax liabilities as payments due by period could be misleading, as this scheduling would not relate to liquidity needs. At December 31, 2021, we had
approximately $47.0 million of unrecognized income tax benefits related to uncertain tax positions. We cannot reasonably estimate when all of these
unrecognized income tax benefits may be settled. We do not expect reductions to unrecognized income tax benefits within the next 12 months as a result of
projected resolutions of income tax uncertainties.

Management’s Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We have included in the discussion above certain financial measures that were not prepared in accordance with GAAP. Any analysis of non-GAAP
financial measures should be used only in conjunction with results presented in accordance with GAAP. Below, we define the non-GAAP financial
measures, provide a reconciliation of each non-GAAP financial measure to the most directly comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with
GAAP, and discuss the reasons that we believe this information is useful to management and may be useful to investors.

We have defined the non-GAAP measure adjusted net income as net income as reflected in our statement of income, adjusted to eliminate a) non-cash stock
based compensation expense related to share based compensation awards, (b) amortization of deferred financing costs, discounts and intangible assets,
amortization of the premium recognized on the purchase of receivables, and our proportionate share of amortization of intangible assets at our equity
method investment, (c) integration and deal related costs, and (d) other non-recurring items, including unusual credit losses occurring largely due to
COVID-19, the impact of discrete tax items, impairment charges, asset write-offs, restructuring costs, gains due to disposition of assets/businesses, loss on
extinguishment of debt, and legal settlements.

We have defined the non-GAAP measure adjusted net income per diluted share as the calculation previously noted divided by the weighted average diluted
shares outstanding as reflected in our statement of income.

We use adjusted net income to eliminate the effect of items that we do not consider indicative of our core operating performance. We believe it is useful to
exclude non-cash share based compensation expense from adjusted net income because non-cash equity grants made at a certain price and point in time do
not necessarily reflect how our business is performing at any particular time and share based compensation expense is not a key measure of our core
operating performance. We also believe that amortization expense can vary substantially from company to company and from period to period depending
upon their financing and accounting methods, the fair value and average expected life of their acquired intangible assets, their capital structures and the
method by which their assets were acquired; therefore, we have excluded amortization expense from our adjusted net income. We also believe that
integration and deal related costs and one-time non-recurring expenses, gains, losses, and impairment charges do not necessarily reflect how our
investments and business are performing. We adjust net income for the tax effect of each of these non-tax items. Adjusted net income and adjusted net
income per diluted share are supplemental measures of operating performance that do not represent and should not be considered as an alternative to net
income, net income per diluted share or cash flow from operations, as determined by U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or U.S. GAAP.
Adjusted net income and adjusted net income per diluted share are not intended to be a substitute for GAAP financial measures, and our calculation thereof
may not be comparable to that reported by other companies.

Organic revenue growth is calculated as revenue growth in the current period adjusted for the impact of changes in the macroeconomic environment (to
include fuel price, fuel price spreads and changes in foreign exchange rates) over revenue in the comparable prior period adjusted to include or remove the
impact of acquisitions and/or divestitures and non-recurring items that have occurred subsequent to that period. We believe that organic revenue growth on
a macro-neutral, one-time item, and consistent acquisition/divestiture/non-recurring item basis is useful to investors for understanding the performance of
FLEETCOR.

Management uses adjusted net income, adjusted net income per diluted share and organic revenue growth:
»  as measurements of operating performance because they assist us in comparing our operating performance on a consistent basis;
»  for planning purposes, including the preparation of our internal annual operating budget;
» to allocate resources to enhance the financial performance of our business; and
»  to evaluate the performance and effectiveness of our operational strategies.
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Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Revenue and Key Performance Metric by Solution to GAAP. Set forth below is a reconciliation of organic growth by
component, calculated using pro forma and macro adjusted revenue and transactions to the most directly comparable GAAP measure, revenue, net and

transactions (in millions):

(Unaudited)

FUEL - TRANSACTIONS

Pro forma and macro adjusted
Impact of acquisitions/dispositions
Impact of fuel prices/spread
Impact of foreign exchange rates

As reported

CORPORATE PAYMENTS - SPEND
Pro forma and macro adjusted

Impact of acquisitions/dispositions
Impact of fuel prices/spread

Impact of foreign exchange rates

As reported

TOLLS - TAGS

Pro forma and macro adjusted
Impact of acquisitions/dispositions
Impact of fuel prices/spread
Impact of foreign exchange rates

As reported

LODGING - ROOM NIGHTS
Pro forma and macro adjusted
Impact of acquisitions/dispositions
Impact of fuel prices/spread
Impact of foreign exchange rates

As reported

GIFT - TRANSACTIONS

Pro forma and macro adjusted
Impact of acquisitions/dispositions
Impact of fuel prices/spread
Impact of foreign exchange rates

As reported

OTHER' - TRANSACTIONS
Pro forma and macro adjusted
Impact of acquisitions/dispositions
Impact of fuel prices/spread
Impact of foreign exchange rates

As reported
FLEETCOR CONSOLIDATED REVENUES

Revenue

Key Performance Indicators

Year Ended December 31,*

Year Ended December 31,*

Pro forma and macro adjusted
Impact of acquisitions/dispositions

Impact of fuel prices/spread?
Impact of foreign exchange rates?
As reported

* Columns may not calculate due to rounding.

! Other includes telematics, maintenance, food, payroll card and transportation related businesses.

2021 2020 2021 2020
1,154 1,059 463 443
— (2) — 1)
7 _ _ _
20 — — —
1,180 1,057 463 442
589 505 92,368 74,775
_ (71) — (10,034)
1 _ _ _
10 — —
600 434 92,368 64,741
322 292 6 5
(16) — — —
306 292 6 5
310 248 29 25
— (41) — 4)
310 207 29 22
179 154 1,187 1,045
179 154 1,187 1,045
254 244 37 41
4 _ _ _
259 244 37 41
2,808 2,502
— (114)
8 — Intentionally Left Blank
18 —
2,834 2,389

2 Revenues reflect an estimated $53 million positive impact from fuel prices, partially offset by an approximately $46 million negative impact from fuel
price spreads. Revenues were also positively impacted by favorable movements in foreign exchange rates of approximately $18 million.
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Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Organic Growth by Segment to GAAP. Set forth below is a reconciliation of organic growth by segment, calculated using
pro forma and macro adjusted revenue to the most directly comparable GAAP measure, revenue, net and transactions (in millions):

Revenue
Year Ended December 31,*

(Unaudited) 2021 2020
NORTH AMERICA
Pro forma and macro adjusted $ 1,909 $ 1,694
Impact of acquisitions/dispositions — (112)
Impact of fuel prices/spread 1 —
Impact of foreign exchange rates 11 —
As reported $ 1,921 $ 1,582
BRAZIL
Pro forma and macro adjusted $ 387 $ 344
Impact of acquisitions/dispositions — —
Impact of fuel prices/spread — —
Impact of foreign exchange rates (19) —
As reported $ 368 $ 344
INTERNATIONAL
Pro forma and macro adjusted $ 511 $ 465
Impact of acquisitions/dispositions — 2)
Impact of fuel prices/spread 6 —
Impact of foreign exchange rates 27 —
As reported $ 545 §$ 463
FLEETCOR CONSOLIDATED REVENUES
Pro forma and macro adjusted $ 2,808 $ 2,502
Impact of acquisitions/dispositions — (114)
Impact of fuel prices/spread 8 —

18 —
As reported $ 2,834 $ 2,389

* Columns may not calculate due to rounding.
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Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Measures. Set forth below is a reconciliation of adjusted net income and adjusted net income per diluted share to the most
directly comparable GAAP measure, net income and net income per diluted share (in thousands, except per share amounts)*:

Year Ended December 31,

(Unaudited) 2021 2020

Net income $ 839,497 $ 704,216
Net income per diluted share $ 9.99 $ 8.12
Stock based compensation 80,071 43,384
Amortization® 215,456 196,106
Net loss on disposition of assets/business — 294
Investment gain €)) (30,008)
Loss on extinguishment of debt 16,194 —
Integration and deal related costs 30,632 12,020
Restructuring and related (subsidies) costs (2,103) 4,215
Legal settlements/litigation 5,772 (144)
Write-off of customer receivable? — 90,058
Total pre-tax adjustments 346,013 315,926
Income taxes® (75,703) (57,914)
Adjusted net income $ 1,109,807 $ 962,228
Adjusted net income per diluted share $ 13.21 $ 11.09
Diluted shares 84,061 86,719

!ncludes amortization related to intangible assets, premium on receivables, deferred financing costs and debt discounts.

2Represents a bad debt loss in the first quarter of 2020 from a large client in our cross-border payments business entering voluntary
bankruptcy due to the extraordinary impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.

3 Represents provision for income taxes of pre-tax adjustments. 2021 year includes remeasurement of deferreds due to the increase in UK

corporate tax rate from 19% to 25% of $6.5 million. 2020 year includes a tax reserve adjustment related to prior year tax positions of $9.8
million.

* Columns may not calculate due to rounding.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Foreign currency risk
Foreign Earnings

Our international businesses expose us to foreign currency exchange rate changes that can impact translations of foreign-denominated assets and liabilities
into U.S. dollars and future earnings and cash flows from transactions denominated in different currencies. Revenues from our international businesses
were 37.0%, 38.6% and 39.8% of total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively. We measure foreign currency
exchange risk based on changes in foreign currency exchange rates using a sensitivity analysis. The sensitivity analysis measures the potential change in
earnings based on a hypothetical 10% change in currency exchange rates. Exchange rates and currency positions as of December 31, 2021 were used to
perform the sensitivity analysis. Such analysis indicated that a hypothetical 10% change in foreign currency exchange rates would have increased or
decreased consolidated operating income during the year ended December 31, 2021 by approximately $48.0 million had the U.S. dollar exchange rate
increased or decreased relative to the currencies to which we had exposure. When exchange rates and currency positions as of December 31, 2020 and 2019
were used to perform this sensitivity analysis, the analysis indicated that a hypothetical 10% change in currency exchange rates would have increased or
decreased consolidated operating income for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 by approximately $42.4 million and $47.7 million, respectively.
We have utilized International and Brazil segment operating income as a proxy for foreign earnings.

Unhedged Cross-Currency Risk

With our cross-border payment solutions, we have additional foreign exchange risk and associated foreign exchange risk management requirements due to
the nature of our cross-border payments provider business. The majority of cross-border payments revenue is from exchanges of currency at spot rates,
which enable customers to make cross-currency payments. In our cross-border payment solutions, we also write foreign currency forward and option
contracts for customers to facilitate future payments. The duration of these derivative contracts at inception is generally less than one year. We aggregate
foreign exchange exposures arising from customer contracts, including the derivative contracts described above, and hedge (economic hedge) the resulting
net currency risks by entering into offsetting contracts with established financial institution counterparties.

Interest rate risk

We are exposed to the risk of changing interest rates on our cash investments and on the unhedged portion of our variable rate debt. As of December 31,
2021, we had $4.9 billion of variable rate debt outstanding under our Credit Agreement. See Note 11 of the accompanying consolidated financial
statements for information about the Credit Agreement. We use derivative financial instruments to reduce our exposure related to changes in interest rates.
In January 2019, we entered into three interest rate swap cash flow contracts with U.S. dollar notional amounts of $1 billion with a fixed rate of 2.56%,
$500 million with a fixed rate of 2.56%, and $500 million with a fixed rate of 2.55% maturing on January 31, 2022, January 31, 2023 and December 19,
2023, respectively. For each of these swap contracts, we will receive one month LIBOR. While these agreements are intended to lessen the impact of rising
interest rates on us, they also expose us to the risk that the other parties to the agreements will not perform, we could incur significant costs associated with
the settlement of the agreements, the agreements will be unenforceable and the underlying transactions will fail to qualify as highly-effective cash flow
hedges under U.S. GAAP. See Note 17 of the accompanying consolidated financial statements for information about the swap contracts.

If market interest rates had increased or decreased an average of 100 basis points and assuming we had an outstanding balance on our credit facility and
term loans of $2.9 billion not fixed by interest rate swap contracts at December 31, 2021, our interest expense would have changed by approximately $29.0
million. Based on the amounts and mix of our fixed and floating rate debt (exclusive of our Securitization Facility) at December 31, 2020 and 2019, if
market interest rates had increased or decreased an average of 100 basis points, our interest expense would have changed by approximately $16.0 million
and $20.2 million, respectively. We determined these amounts by considering the impact of the hypothetical interest rates on our borrowing costs. These
analyses do not consider the effects of changes in the level of overall economic activity that could exist in such an environment.

Fuel price risk

Our fleet customers use our products and services primarily in connection with the purchase of fuel. Accordingly, our revenue is affected by fuel prices,
which are subject to significant volatility. A decline in retail fuel prices could cause a change in our revenue from several sources, including fees paid to us
based on a percentage of each customer’s total purchase. Changes in the absolute price of fuel may also impact unpaid account balances and the late fees
and charges based on these amounts. The impact of changes in fuel price is somewhat mitigated by our agreements with certain merchants, where the price
paid to the merchant is equal to the lesser of the merchant’s cost plus a markup or a percentage of the transaction purchase price. We do not enter into any
fuel price derivative instruments.

Fuel price spread risk
From our merchant and network relationships, we derive revenue from the difference between the price charged to a fleet customer for a transaction and the

price paid to the merchant or network for the same transaction. For certain of our payment products, the price paid to a merchant or network is calculated as
the merchant’s wholesale cost of fuel plus a markup. The
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merchant’s wholesale cost of fuel is dependent on several factors including, among others, the factors described above affecting fuel prices. The fuel price
that we charge to our customer is dependent on several factors including, among others, the fuel price paid to the fuel merchant, posted retail fuel prices
and competitive fuel prices. We experience fuel price spread contraction when the merchant’s wholesale cost of fuel increases at a faster rate than the fuel
price we charge to our customers, or the fuel price we charge to our customers decreases at a faster rate than the merchant’s wholesale cost of fuel.
Accordingly, if fuel price spreads contract, we may generate less revenue, which could adversely affect our operating results. The impact of volatility in
fuel spreads is somewhat mitigated by our agreements with certain merchants, where the price paid to the merchant is equal to cost plus a markup or a
percentage of the transaction purchase price.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31,
2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements™). In our opinion, the consolidated
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated March 1, 2022 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing
procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to
those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits
also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2)
involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matters does not alter in any way our
opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing separate
opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Valuation of Goodwill

Description of the

Matter At December 31, 2021, the Company’s goodwill was $5.1 billion. As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Company completes an impairment test of goodwill at least annually or more frequently if facts and circumstances indicate that
goodwill might be impaired. Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level and involves estimating the fair value of
each identified reporting unit which is measured based upon, among other factors, a discounted cash flow analysis, as well as
market multiples for comparable companies.

Auditing the Company's estimate of reporting unit fair value involved a high degree of subjectivity as estimates underlying the
determination of reporting unit fair value using the discounted cash flow model were based on significant assumptions that are
sensitive to change and are affected by expected future market and economic conditions. These assumptions included forecasts for
Revenue, net, Earnings before Interest Taxes Depreciation and Amortization (EBITDA), and long-term growth rates as well as the
discount rates, which reflected risk-based factors based on the reporting units’ geographical location and business risk.
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How We
Addressed the
Matter in Our
Audit

Description of the
Matter

How We
Addressed the
Matter in Our
Audit

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of controls over the Company’s goodwill
impairment review process, including controls over management’s review of the significant assumptions described above. For
example, we tested controls over management’s review of the reporting units’ long-term growth rates and discount rates used in the
determination of the reporting units’ estimated fair values.

To test the estimated fair value of the Company’s reporting units, our audit procedures included, among others, assessing the
methodologies used by the Company and testing the significant assumptions discussed above, inclusive of the underlying data used
by the Company in its development of these assumptions. We involved our valuation specialists to assist us with these procedures.
Our valuation specialists evaluated management’s estimation of the discount rates used in the reporting units’ fair value
calculations, performed a comparison of market multiples to observable transactions, and independently recalculated the discount
rates for the respective reporting units. We also compared earnings forecasts to historical results and, for certain reporting units, to
current industry and economic trends, and performed sensitivity analyses of the significant assumptions to evaluate the changes in
the fair value of the reporting units that would result from changes in the significant assumptions.

Accounting for Business Combinations

As discussed in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements, on June 1, 2021 and September 1, 2021, the Company completed
the acquisitions of Associated Foreign Exchange Holdings, Inc. (AFEX) and ALE Solutions, Inc. (ALE) for total estimated
purchase consideration of $418.7 million and $421.8 million, respectively. The acquisitions were accounted for as business
combinations. The Company recorded intangible assets from these acquisitions, including customer relationship intangible assets of
$220.7 million in the AFEX acquisition and $117.7 million in the ALE acquisition. The Company used the excess earnings method
to estimate the preliminary fair value of customer relationships, which is based on management’s estimates and assumptions.

Auditing the preliminary fair values of the AFEX and ALE customer relationship intangible assets was complex and subjective due
to the estimation uncertainty in determining customer attrition rates which had a significant impact on the estimated fair values.
The customer attrition rates are forward-looking and could be affected by future economic and market conditions.

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of controls over the accounting for the
acquisitions, including valuation of customer relationship intangible assets. Our tests included controls over the estimation
processes and models to estimate the fair values of the above identified intangible assets, as well as controls over management’s
review of the valuation methodologies and significant assumptions discussed above.

To test the estimated fair values of the customer relationship intangible assets, our audit procedures included, among others,
evaluating the Company’s selection of the valuation methodologies, testing the significant assumptions, and testing the
completeness and accuracy of underlying data. For example, we compared the fair value allocated to customer relationship
intangible assets relative to the purchase price to publicly available comparable transactions. With the assistance of our valuation
specialists, we evaluated the valuation methodologies, and the customer attrition rates used within the models. This included
understanding and validating the source information underlying the determination of the attrition rates and testing the mathematical
accuracy of the calculations. We also performed sensitivity analyses to evaluate the changes in the fair value of the intangible assets
that would result from changes in customer attrition rates.

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2002.

Atlanta, Georgia
March 1, 2022
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FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In Thousands, Except Share and Par Value Amounts)

December 31,
2021 2020
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,520,027 934,900
Restricted cash 730,668 541,719
Accounts and other receivables (less allowance for credit losses of $98,719 at December 31,
2021 and $86,886 at December 31, 2020) 1,793,274 1,366,775
Securitized accounts receivable—restricted for securitization investors 1,118,000 700,000
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 326,079 412,924
Total current assets 5,488,048 3,956,318
Property and equipment, net 236,294 202,509
Goodwill 5,078,978 4,719,181
Other intangibles, net 2,335,385 2,115,882
Investments 52,016 7,480
Other assets 213,932 193,209
Total assets $ 13,404,653 11,194,579
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 1,406,350 1,054,478
Accrued expenses 369,054 282,681
Customer deposits 1,788,705 1,175,322
Securitization facility 1,118,000 700,000
Current portion of notes payable and lines of credit 399,628 505,697
Other current liabilities 208,614 250,133
Total current liabilities 5,290,351 3,968,311
Notes payable and other obligations, less current portion* 4,460,039 3,097,580
Deferred income taxes 566,291 498,154
Other noncurrent liabilities’ 221,392 275,123
Total noncurrent liabilities 5,247,722 3,870,857
Commitments and contingencies (Note 15)
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 475,000,000 shares authorized; 127,113,023 shares issued
and 78,879,551 shares outstanding at December 31, 2021; and 126,448,078 shares issued and
83,666,163 shares outstanding at December 31, 2020 127 126
Additional paid-in capital 2,878,751 2,749,900
Retained earnings 6,256,442 5,416,945
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,464,616) (1,363,158)
Less treasury stock (48,233,471 shares and 42,781,915 shares at December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively) (4,804,124) (3,448,402)
Total stockholders’ equity 2,866,580 3,355,411
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 13,404,653 $ 11,194,579

Recast 2020 to reflect long term deferred revenue in other noncurrent liabilities, to conform to current year presentation.

See accompanying notes.
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Revenues, net
Expenses:
Processing
Selling
General and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Other operating (income) expense, net
Operating income
Investment (gain) loss, net
Other expense (income), net
Interest expense, net
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Total other expense
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic shares
Diluted shares

See accompanying notes.

FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
$ 2,833,736 $ 2,388,855 2,648,848
559,819 596,363 530,669
262,118 192,732 204,806
485,830 374,678 407,210
284,197 254,802 274,210
(784) (1,985) 523
1,242,556 972,265 1,231,430
9) (30,008) 3,470
3,858 (10,055) 93
113,705 129,803 150,048
16,194 — —
133,748 89,740 153,611
1,108,808 882,525 1,077,819
269,311 178,309 182,746
$ 839,497 $ 704,216 895,073
$ 1023 $ 8.38 10.36
$ 999 $ 8.12 9.94
82,060 84,005 86,401
84,061 86,719 90,070
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Net income
Other comprehensive loss:
Foreign currency translation losses, net of tax
Net change in derivative contracts, net of tax
Total other comprehensive loss
Total comprehensive income

See accompanying notes.

FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(In Thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
$ 839,497 $ 704,216 $ 895,073
(144,543) (367,249) (15,855)
43,085 (23,444) (42,752)
(101,458) (390,693) (58,607)
$ 738,039 $ 313,523 $ 836,466
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FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(In Thousands)

Accumulated
Additional Other
Common Paid-In Retained Comprehensive Treasury
Stock Capital Earnings Loss Stock Total

Balance at December 31, 2018 $ 123  $ 2,306,843 $ 3,817,656 $ (913,858) $ (1,870,584) $ 3,340,180

Net income — — 895,073 — — 895,073

Other comprehensive loss from

currency exchange, net of tax of

$0 — — — (58,607) — (58,607)

Acquisition of common stock — (42,000) — — (652,909) (694,909)

Share-based compensation

expense — 60,953 — — — 60,953

Issuance of common stock 1 168,925 — — — 168,926
Balance at December 31, 2019 124 2,494,721 4,712,729 (972,465) (2,523,493) 3,711,616

Net income — — 704,216 — — 704,216

Other comprehensive loss from

currency exchange, net of tax — — — (390,693) — (390,693)

Acquisition of common stock — 75,000 — — (924,909) (849,909)

Share-based compensation

expense — 43,384 — — — 43,384

Issuance of common stock 2 136,795 — — — 136,797
Balance at December 31, 2020 126 2,749,900 5,416,945 (1,363,158) (3,448,402) 3,355,411

Net income — — 839,497 — — 839,497

Other comprehensive loss, net of

tax — — — (101,458) — (101,458)

Acquisition of common stock — — — — (1,355,722) (1,355,722)

Share-based compensation

expense — 80,071 — — — 80,071

Issuance of common stock 1 48,780 — — — 48,781
Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 127  $ 2,878,751 §$ 6,256,442 §$ (1,464,616) $ (4,804,124) $ 2,866,580

See accompanying notes.
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Operating activities
Net income

FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In Thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation
Stock based compensation

Provision for losses on accounts and other receivables
Amortization of deferred financing costs and discounts
Amortization of intangible assets and premium on receivables

Deferred income taxes

Loss on extinguishment of debt
Investment (gain) loss

Other non-cash operating income

Changes in operating assets and liabilities (net of acquisitions/disposition):

Accounts receivable and other receivables
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and customer deposits

Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing activities

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired

Purchases of property and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of investment

Other

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Repurchase of common stock

Borrowings (payments) on securitization facility, net
Deferred financing costs paid and debt discount
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable

Principal payments on notes payable

Borrowings from revolver

Payments on revolver

(Payments) borrowings on swing line of credit, net
Other

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of foreign currency exchange rates on cash

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of year

Supplemental cash flow information
Cash paid for interest

Cash paid for income taxes

See accompanying notes.

2021 2020 2019
$ 839,497 $ 704,216 $ 895,073
75,571 65,181 62,784
80,071 43,384 60,953
37,919 158,549 74,309
6,831 6,486 5,106
208,625 189,620 211,426
11,026 15,668 37,883
16,194 — —
9) (30,008) 3,470
(784) (1,985) 522
(731,137) 264,140 (196,028)
186,268 (14,521) (185,391)
36,832 12,656 (6,792)
430,159 59,203 198,756
1,197,063 1,472,589 1,162,071
(602,120) (80,787) (448,277)
(111,530) (78,425) (75,170)
— 52,963 —
(2,281) — (255)
(715,931) (106,249) (523,702)
48,781 136,797 168,925
(1,355,722) (849,910) (694,909)
418,000 (270,973) 84,973
(38,920) (2,637) (2,868)
1,900,000 — 700,000
(507,500) (175,285) (138,500)
1,910,000 1,243,500 1,811,509
(1,978,851) (1,496,907) (2,292,349)
(51,049) (1,042) 52,996
(811) (344) 52
343,928 (1,416,801) (310,171)
(50,984) (148,157) (17,854)
774,076 (198,618) 310,344
1,476,619 1,675,237 1,364,893
$ 2,250,695 $ 1,476,619 $ 1,675,237
$ 132,504 $ 126,460 $ 178,417
$ 229,721  $ 165,315 $ 200,525
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FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2021
1. Description of Business

FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. (the "Company", "we", "us" and "our") is a leading global provider of digital payment solutions that enables businesses to
control purchases and make payments more effectively and efficiently. Since its incorporation in 2000, FLEETCOR has continued to deliver on its mission:
to provide businesses with “a better way to pay”. FLEETCOR has been a member of the S&P 500 since 2018 and trades on the New York Stock Exchange
under the ticker FLT.

FLEETCOR’s vision is that every payment is digital, every purchase is controlled, and every related decision is informed. Digital payments are faster and
more secure than paper-based methods such as checks, and provide timely and detailed data which can be utilized to effectively reduce unauthorized
purchases and fraud, automate data entry and reporting, and eliminate reimbursement processes. Combining this payment data with analytical tools delivers
insights, which managers can use to better run their businesses. The Company's wide range of digitized solutions generally provides control, reporting, and
automation benefits over the payment methods businesses often used, such as cash, paper checks, general purpose credit cards, as well as employee pay and
reclaim processes.

To help facilitate an understanding of our expansive range of solutions around the world, we describe them in two categories: Expense Management
solutions and Corporate Payments solutions. Our Expense Management solutions can help control and monitor employee spending and includes Fuel, Tolls,
and Lodging. These solutions are purpose-built to provide customers with greater control and visibility of employee spending when compared with less
specialized payment methods, such as cash or general-purpose credit cards. Our Corporate Payments solutions, which simplify and automate payments, are
designed to help businesses streamline the back-office operations associated with making outgoing payments. Companies can save time, cut costs, and
manage B2B payment processing more efficiently with our suite of Corporate Payment solutions, including accounts payable (AP) automation, virtual
cards, cross-border payments, purchasing and T&E cards. The Company also provides several other payments solutions, including Gift and other B2B
payment solutions.

Our proprietary processing and card management solutions provide customers with capabilities including: customizable user-level controls, detailed
transaction reporting, programmable alerts, configurable networks, contract price validation and audit, and tax management and reporting. Our customers
can use these data, controls and tools to combat fraud and employee misuse, streamline expense administration and potentially lower their operating costs.

We utilize both proprietary and third-party payment acceptance networks to deliver our solutions. In our proprietary networks, which tend to be
geographically distinct, transactions are processed on applications and operating systems owned and operated by us, and only at select participating
merchants with whom we have contracted directly for acceptance. Third-party networks are operated by independent parties, and tend to be more broadly
accepted, which is the primary benefit compared with our proprietary networks. Mastercard and VISA are our primary third-party network partners in
North America and Europe, respectively.

We actively market and sell our solutions to current and prospective customers leveraging a multi-channel approach. This go-to-market strategy includes
comprehensive digital channels, direct sales forces and strategic partner relationships. Our capabilities are also offered through indirect sales channels (e.g.,
major oil companies and fuel marketers for Fuel, and retail establishments for Tolls) and on a branded or “white label” basis, indirectly through a broad
range of resellers and partners across Fuel, Lodging, and Corporate Payments. In doing so, we leverage their sales networks to expand our reach into new
customer segments, new industry verticals, and new geographies faster and at a significantly lower cost.

The Company has three reportable segments, North America, International, and Brazil. The Company reports these three segments as they reflect how we
organize and manage our global employee base, manage operating performance, contemplate the differing regulatory environments across geographies, and
help us isolate the impact of foreign exchange fluctuations on our financial results.

2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. and all of its wholly owned subsidiaries. All
significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.
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The Company’s fiscal year ends on December 31. In certain of the Company’s U.K. businesses, the Company records the operating results using a 4-4-5
week accounting cycle with the fiscal year ending on the Friday on or immediately preceding December 31. Fiscal years 2021, 2020, and 2019 include 52
weeks for the businesses reporting using a 4-4-5 accounting cycle.

Financial Instruments-Credit Losses

The Company accounts for financial assets' expected credit losses in accordance with ASC 326. The Company’s financial assets subject to credit losses are
primarily trade receivables. The Company utilizes a combination of aging and loss-rate methods to develop an estimate of current expected credit losses,
depending on the nature and risk profile of the underlying asset pool, based on product, size of customer and historical losses. Expected credit losses are
estimated based upon an assessment of risk characteristics, historical payment experience, and the age of outstanding receivables, adjusted for forward-
looking economic conditions. The allowances for remaining financial assets measured at amortized cost basis are evaluated based on underlying financial
condition, credit history, and current and forward-looking economic conditions. The estimation process for expected credit losses includes consideration of
qualitative and quantitative risk factors associated with the age of asset balances, expected timing of payment, contract terms and conditions, changes in
specific customer risk profiles or mix of customers, geographic risk, economic trends and relevant environmental factors. At December 31, 2021 and 2020,
approximately 96% and 97%, respectively, of outstanding accounts receivable were current. Accounts receivable deemed uncollectible are removed from
accounts receivable and the allowance for credit losses when internal collection efforts have been exhausted and accounts have been turned over to a third-
party collection agency. Recoveries from the third-party collection agency are not significant.

Business Combinations

Business combinations completed by us have been accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting, which requires that the acquired assets and
liabilities, including contingencies, be recorded at fair value determined as of the acquisition date. The excess of the purchase price over the fair values of
the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed represents goodwill. The results of the acquired businesses are included in our results of
operations beginning from the completion date of the transaction.

The estimates the Company uses to determine the fair value of long-lived assets, such as intangible assets, can be complex and require significant
judgments. The Company uses information available to us to make fair value determinations and engages independent valuation specialists, when
necessary, to assist in the fair value determination of significant acquired long-lived assets. The estimated fair values of customer-related and contract-
based intangible assets are generally determined using the income approach, which is based on projected cash flows discounted to their present value using
discount rates that consider the timing and risk of the forecasted cash flows. The discount rates used represented a risk adjusted market participant
weighted-average cost of capital, derived using customary market metrics. These measures of fair value also require considerable judgments about future
events, including forecasted revenue growth rates, forecasted customer attrition rates, contract renewal estimates and technology changes. Acquired
technologies are generally valued using the replacement cost method, which requires us to estimate the costs to construct an asset of equivalent utility at
prices available at the time of the valuation analysis, with adjustments in value for physical deterioration and functional and economic obsolescence.
Trademarks and trade names are generally valued using the "relief-from-royalty" approach. This method assumes that trademarks and trade names have
value to the extent that their owner is relieved of the obligation to pay royalties for the benefits received from them. This method requires the Company to
estimate the future revenues for the related brands, the appropriate royalty rate and the weighted-average cost of capital. This measure of fair value requires
considerable judgment about the value a market participant would be willing to pay in order to achieve the benefits associated with the trade name.

While the Company uses our best estimates and assumptions to determine the fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed, our estimates
are inherently uncertain and subject to refinement. As a result, during the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, the
Company records adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period, any subsequent adjustments
are recorded in our Consolidated Statements of Income. The Company also estimates the useful lives of intangible assets to determine the period over
which to recognize the amount of acquisition-related intangible assets as an expense. Certain assets may be considered to have indefinite useful lives. The
Company periodically reviews the estimated useful lives assigned to our intangible assets to determine whether such estimated useful lives continue to be
appropriate.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets, Goodwill, Intangibles and Investments

The Company regularly evaluates whether events and circumstances have occurred that indicate the carrying amount of property and equipment and finite-
life intangible assets may not be recoverable. When factors indicate that these long-lived assets should be evaluated for possible impairment, the Company
assesses the potential impairment by determining whether the carrying amount of such long-lived assets will be recovered through the future undiscounted
cash flows expected from use of the asset and its eventual disposition. If the carrying amount of the asset is determined not to be recoverable, a write-down
to fair value is recorded. Fair values are determined based on quoted market prices or discounted cash flow analysis as applicable. The Company regularly
evaluates whether events and circumstances have occurred that indicate the useful lives of property and equipment and finite-life intangible assets may
warrant revision.

The Company completes an impairment test of goodwill at least annually or more frequently if facts or circumstances indicate that goodwill might be
impaired. Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level. The Company first performs a
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qualitative assessment of certain of its reporting units. Factors considered in the qualitative assessment include general macroeconomic conditions, industry
and market conditions, cost factors, overall financial performance of our reporting units, events or changes affecting the composition or carrying amount of
the net assets of our reporting units, sustained decrease in our share price, and other relevant entity-specific events. If the Company elects to bypass the
qualitative assessment or if it determines, on the basis of qualitative factors, that the fair value of the reporting unit is more likely than not less than the
carrying amount, a quantitative test would be required. The Company then performs the goodwill impairment test for each reporting unit by comparing the
reporting unit’s carrying amount, including goodwill, to its fair value which is measured based upon, among other factors, a discounted cash flow analysis,
as well as market multiples for comparable companies. Estimates critical to the Company’s evaluation of goodwill for impairment include the discount
rates, forecasts for revenues, net and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) growth, and long-term growth rates. If the
carrying amount of the reporting unit is greater than its fair value, goodwill is considered impaired.

Based on the goodwill asset impairment analysis performed quantitatively as of October 1, 2021, the Company determined that the fair value of each of its
reporting units was in excess of the carrying value. No events or changes in circumstances have occurred since the date of this most recent annual
impairment test that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount.

The Company evaluates indefinite-lived intangible assets (primarily trademarks and trade names) for impairment annually. The Company tests for
impairment if events and circumstances indicate that it is more likely than not that the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset is below its carrying
amount. Estimates critical to the Company’s evaluation of indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment include the discount rate, royalty rates used in
its evaluation of trade names, projected revenue growth and projected long-term growth rates in the determination of terminal values. An impairment loss is
recorded if the carrying amount of an indefinite-lived intangible asset exceeds the estimated fair value on the measurement date.

The Company regularly evaluates the carrying value of its investments, which are not carried at fair value, for impairment. The company has elected to
measure certain investments in equity instruments that do not have readily determinable fair values at cost minus impairment, if any, plus or minus changes
resulting from observable price changes for similar investments of the issuer. Investments classified as trading securities are carried at fair value with any
unrealized gain or loss recorded within investment (gain) loss in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Property, Plant and Equipment and Definite-Lived Intangible Assets

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost and depreciated on the straight-line basis. Definite-lived intangible assets, consisting primarily of customer
relationships, are stated at fair value upon acquisition and are amortized over their estimated useful lives. Customer and merchant relationship useful lives
are estimated using historical attrition rates.

The Company develops software that is used in providing processing and information management services to customers. A significant portion of the
Company’s capital expenditures are devoted to the development of such internal-use computer software. Software development costs are capitalized once
technological feasibility of the software has been established. Costs incurred prior to establishing technological feasibility are expensed as incurred.
Technological feasibility is established when the Company has completed all planning, designing, coding and testing activities that are necessary to
determine that the software can be produced to meet its design specifications, including functions, features and technical performance requirements.
Capitalization of costs ceases when the software is ready for its intended use. Software development costs are amortized using the straight-line method over
the estimated useful life of the software. The Company capitalized software costs of $76.7 million, $51.6 million and $49.8 million in 2021, 2020 and
2019, respectively. Amortization expense for software totaled $46.7 million, $40.2 million and $37.2 million in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the period that
includes the enactment date. The Company has elected to treat the Global Intangible Low Taxed Income (GILTT) inclusion as a current period expense.

The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which the associated
temporary differences become deductible. The Company evaluates on a quarterly basis whether it is more likely than not that its deferred tax assets will be
realized in the future and concludes whether a valuation allowance must be established.

The Company accounts for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an entity’s financial statements and prescribes threshold and measurement attributes
for financial statement disclosure of tax positions taken or expected to be taken on a tax return. The impact of an uncertain income tax position on the
income tax return must be recognized at the largest amount that is more likely than not to be sustained upon audit by the relevant taxing authority. An
uncertain income tax position will not be recognized if it has less than a 50 percent likelihood of being sustained. The Company includes any estimated
interest and penalties on tax related matters in income tax expense. See Note 13 for further information regarding income taxes.
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Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash

Cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. Restricted cash represents customer
deposits repayable on demand, as well as collateral received from customers for cross-currency transactions in our cross-border payments business, which
are restricted from use other than to repay customer deposits, as well as secure and settle cross-currency transactions.

Foreign Currency

Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at the rates of exchange in effect at period-end. The related translation
adjustments are recorded to accumulated other comprehensive income. Income and expenses are translated at the average monthly rates of exchange in
effect during the year. Gains and losses from foreign currency transactions of these subsidiaries are included in net income. The Company recognized
foreign exchange (losses) gains, which are recorded within other (income) expense, net in the Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended
December 31 as follows (in millions):

2021 2020 2019
Foreign exchange (losses) gains $ 3.7) $ 29 % 0.7

The Company recorded foreign currency losses on long-term intra-entity transactions included as a component of foreign currency translation (losses)
gains, net of tax, in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31 as follows (in millions):

2021 2020 2019
Foreign currency losses on long-term intra-entity transactions $ 444 % 2198 $ 88.1

Derivatives

The Company uses derivatives to minimize its exposures related to changes in interest rates. The Company also uses derivatives to facilitate cross-currency
corporate payments by writing derivatives to customers and enters into cross currency derivative contracts with banking partners to mitigate foreign
exchange risk associated with customer derivative contracts.

The Company is exposed to the risk of changing interest rates because its borrowings are subject to variable interest rates. In order to mitigate this risk, the
Company utilizes derivative instruments. Interest rate swap contracts designated as cash flow hedges involve the receipt of variable amounts from a
counterparty in exchange for the Company making fixed-rate payments over the life of the agreements without exchange of the underlying notional
amount. The Company hedges a portion of its variable rate debt utilizing derivatives designated as cash flow hedges.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recorded to the derivative assets/liabilities and offset against
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax. Derivative fair value changes that are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) are reclassified to earnings in the same period or periods that the hedged item affects earnings, to the extent the derivative is effective in offsetting the
change in cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. The portions of the change in fair value that are either considered ineffective or are excluded from the
measure of effectiveness are recognized immediately within earnings.

In the Company's cross-border payments business, it writes foreign currency forward and option contracts for its customers to facilitate future payments.
The Company recognizes current cross-border payments derivatives in prepaid expenses and other current assets and other current liabilities and
derivatives greater than one year in other assets and other noncurrent liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at their fair value. All
cash flows associated with derivatives are included in cash flows from operating activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Refer to Note 17.
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Spot Trade Offsetting

The Company uses spot trades to facilitate cross-currency corporate payments in its cross-border payments business. The Company applies offsetting to
spot trade assets and liabilities associated with contracts that include master netting agreements, as a right of setoff exists, which the Company believes to
be enforceable. As such, the Company has netted spot trade liabilities against spot trade receivables at the counter-party level. The Company recognizes all
spot trade assets, net in accounts receivable and all spot trade liabilities, net in accounts payable, each net at the customer level, in its Consolidated Balance
Sheets at their fair value.

The following table presents the Company’s spot trade assets and liabilities at their fair value for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (in
millions):

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Offset on the Offset on the
Gross Balance Sheet Net Gross Balance Sheet Net
Assets
Accounts Receivable $ 1,1859 $ (1,057.7) $ 1282  $ 5215  $ (478.2) % 43.3
Liabilities
Accounts Payable $ 1,199.5 $ (1,057.7) $ 1418 $ 5275 $ (478.2) $ 49.3

Stock Based Compensation

The Company routinely grants employee stock options and restricted stock awards/units as part of employee compensation plans. Stock options are granted
with an exercise price equal to the fair market value on the date of grant. Options granted have vesting provisions ranging from one to five years and
vesting of the options is generally based on the passage of time, performance or market conditions, or a combination of these. Stock option grants are
subject to forfeiture if employment terminates prior to vesting. The Company has selected the Black-Scholes option pricing model for estimating the grant
date fair value of stock option awards. The Company has considered the retirement and forfeiture provisions of the options and utilized its historical
experience to estimate the expected life of the options. Option forfeitures are accounted for upon occurrence. The Company bases the risk-free interest rate
on the yield of a zero coupon U.S. Treasury security with a maturity equal to the expected life of the option from the date of the grant.

Awards of restricted stock and restricted stock units are independent of stock option grants and are subject to forfeiture if employment terminates prior to
vesting. The vesting of shares granted is generally based on the passage of time, performance or market conditions, or a combination of these. Shares
generally have vesting provisions of one to four years. The fair value of restricted stock where the shares vest based on the passage of time or performance
is based on the grant date fair value of the Company’s stock.

The fair value of stock options and restricted stock units granted with market based vesting conditions is estimated using the Monte Carlo simulation
valuation model. The risk-free interest rate and volatility assumptions used within the Monte Carlo simulation valuation model are calculated consistently
with those applied in the Black-Scholes options pricing model utilized in determining the fair value of the market based stock option awards.

For performance-based restricted stock awards/units and performance-based stock option awards, the Company must also make assumptions regarding the
likelihood of achieving performance goals. If actual results differ significantly from these estimates, stock based compensation expense and the Company’s
results of operations could be materially affected.

Stock based compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on the value of the award and is recognized as expense over the requisite service period
based on the number of years over which the requisite service is expected to be rendered.

Deferred Financing Costs/Debt Discounts

Costs incurred to obtain financing are amortized over the term of the related debt, using the effective interest method and are included within interest
expense. The Company capitalized additional debt issuance costs of $2.3 million associated with refinancing its Credit Facility and Securitization Facility
in 2021 and $2.6 million in 2020. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had net deferred financing costs of $5.8 million and $6.4 million,
respectively, related to the revolver under the Credit Facility and the Securitization Facility, each recorded within prepaid expenses and other current assets,
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had deferred financing costs of $16.7 million and $7.1 million,
respectively, related to the term notes under the Credit Facility, recorded as a discount to the term debt outstanding within the current portion of notes
payable and lines of credit and notes payable and other obligations, less current portion, respectively, in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the total of net income and all other changes in equity that result from transactions and other economic events of
a reporting period other than transactions with owners.

Accounts Receivable

The Company maintains a $1.3 billion revolving trade accounts receivable Securitization Facility. Accounts receivable collateralized within our
Securitization Facility relate to trade receivables resulting primarily from charge card activity in the U.S. Pursuant to the terms of the Securitization
Facility, the Company transfers certain of its domestic receivables, on a revolving basis, to FLEETCOR Funding LLC (Funding), a wholly-owned
bankruptcy remote subsidiary. In turn, Funding transfers, without recourse, on a revolving basis, an undivided ownership interest in this pool of accounts
receivable to multi-seller banks and asset-backed commercial paper conduits (Conduit). Funding maintains a subordinated interest, in the form of over-
collateralization, in a portion of the receivables sold. Purchases by the Conduit are financed with the sale of highly-rated commercial paper.

The Company utilizes proceeds from the transferred assets as an alternative to other forms of financing to reduce its overall borrowing costs. The Company
has agreed to continue servicing the sold receivables for the financial institution at market rates, which approximates the Company’s cost of servicing. The
Company retains a residual interest in the transferred asset as a form of credit enhancement. The residual interest’s fair value approximates carrying value
due to its short-term nature. Funding determines the level of funding achieved by the sale of trade accounts receivable, subject to a maximum amount.

The Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets and Statements of Income reflect the activity related to securitized accounts receivable and the corresponding
securitized debt, including interest income, fees generated from late payments, provision for losses on accounts receivable and interest expense. The cash
flows from borrowings and repayments associated with the securitized debt are presented as cash flows from financing activities. The maturity date for the
Company's Securitization Facility is March 29, 2024.

The Company’s accounts receivable and securitized accounts receivable include the following at December 31 (in thousands):

2021 2020
Gross domestic unsecuritized accounts receivables $ 994,063 $ 719,675
Gross domestic securitized accounts receivable 1,118,000 700,000
Gross foreign receivables 897,930 733,986
Total gross receivables 3,009,993 2,153,661
Less allowance for credit losses (98,719) (86,886)
Net accounts and securitized accounts receivable $ 2,911,274  $ 2,066,775

The Company recorded a $90.1 million provision for credit losses and write-off related to a customer receivable in our cross-border payment business
during the year ended December 31, 2020. The Company's estimated expected credit losses as of December 31, 2020, included estimated adjustments for
economic conditions related to COVID-19. A rollforward of the Company’s allowance for credit losses related to accounts receivable for the years ended
December 31 is as follows (in thousands):

2021 2020 2019
Allowance for credit losses beginning of year $ 86,886 $ 70,890 $ 59,963
Provision for credit losses 37,919 158,549 74,309
Write-offs (35,868) (146,063) (67,732)
Recoveries 13,459 9,603 4,798
Impact of foreign currency (3,677) (6,093) (448)
Allowance for credit losses end of year $ 98,719 $ 86,886 $ 70,890

Advertising

The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred. Advertising expense was $54.8 million, $28.5 million and $33.7 million for the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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Earnings Per Share

The Company reports basic and diluted earnings per share. Basic earnings per share is calculated using the weighted average of common stock and non-
vested, non-forfeitable restricted shares outstanding, unadjusted for dilution, and net income attributable to common shareholders.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated using the weighted average shares outstanding and contingently issuable shares less weighted average shares
recognized during the period. The net outstanding shares have been adjusted for the dilutive effect of common stock equivalents, which consist of
outstanding stock options and unvested forfeitable restricted stock units.

Reclassifications and Adjustments

During 2021, the Company identified and corrected an immaterial error in the presentation of Deferred income taxes and changes in Accounts payable,
accrued expenses and customer deposits, both presented within Net cash provided by operating activities, in our prior year Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows. The impact of this correction for the year ended December 31, 2020 was an increase to the adjustment to reconcile net income to net cash provided
by operating activities related to deferred income taxes of $30.8 million, with a corresponding decrease to changes in accounts payable, accrued expenses
and customer deposits in operating activities of $30.8 million. The impact to net cash provided by operating activities in the Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows was $0.

Additionally, certain disclosures for prior periods have been reclassified to conform with current year presentation.

Adoption of New Accounting Standards
Income Taxes

On December 18, 2019, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740), Simplifying the Accounting
for Income Taxes (“ASU 2019-12”), which removes certain exceptions to the general principles of ASC 740 and simplifies other areas. For public business
entities, the amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, including interim periods within those fiscal years, with early
adoption permitted. The Company adopted this guidance on January 1, 2021, which did not have a material impact on the Company's results of operations,
financial condition, or cash flows.

Reference Rate Reform

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04, “Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on
Financial Reporting" (“ASU 2020-04”). The pronouncement provides temporary optional expedients and exceptions to the current guidance on contract
modifications and hedge accounting to ease the financial reporting burdens related to the expected market transition from the London Interbank Offered
Rate ("LIBOR") and other interbank offered rates to alternative reference rates. The guidance was effective upon issuance and may be applied
prospectively to contract modifications made and hedging relationships entered into or evaluated on or before December 31, 2022. The adoption of ASU
2020-04 did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements. The Company will transition from LIBOR to the Sterling
Overnight Index Average Reference Rate (“SONIA”) plus a SONIA adjustment of 0.0326% for sterling borrowings, the Euro Interbank Offered Rate for
euro borrowings, and the Tokyo Interbank Offer Rate for yen borrowings. The Company has availed itself to the practical expedients related to any changes
in the reference rate related to our debt and interest rate swaps. Cross currency derivatives are not impacted by this ASU.

Pending Adoption of Recently Issued Accounting Standards
Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08, Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers (Topic 805)
("ASU 2021-08"), which requires an acquirer to account for revenue contracts acquired in a business combination in accordance with Topic 606 as if it had
originated the contracts. The acquirer may assess how the acquiree applied Topic 606 to determine what to record for the acquired contracts. This update
also provides certain practical expedients for acquirers when recognizing and measuring acquired contract assets and contract liabilities from revenue
contracts in a

business combination. The amendments in this update are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within
those fiscal years and should be applied prospectively to business combinations occurring on or after the effective date of the amendments. Early adoption
is permitted, including adoption in an interim period. Adoption during an interim period requires retrospective application to all business combinations for
which the acquisition date occurs on or after the beginning of the fiscal year that includes the interim period of early application. The Company will adopt
this ASU on January 1, 2022, and the adoption is not expected to have a material impact on the Company's results of operations, financial condition, or
cash flows.
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3. Revenue

The Company provides payment solutions to our business, merchant, consumer and payment network customers. Our payment solutions are primarily
focused on specific commercial spend categories, including Corporate Payments, Fuel, Lodging, Tolls, as well as Gift solutions (stored value cards and e-
cards). The Company provides solutions that help businesses of all sizes control, simplify and secure payment of various domestic and cross-border
payables using specialized payment products. The Company also provides other payment solutions for fleet maintenance, employee benefits and long haul
transportation-related services.

Payment Services

The Company’s primary performance obligation for the majority of its payment solutions (Corporate Payments, Fuel, Lodging, and Gift, among others) is
to stand-ready to provide authorization and processing services (payment services) for an unknown or unspecified quantity of transactions and the
consideration received is contingent upon the customer’s use (e.g., number of transactions submitted and processed) of the related payment services.
Accordingly, the total transaction price is variable. Payment services involve a series of distinct daily services that are substantially the same, with the same
pattern of transfer to the customer. As a result, the Company allocates and recognizes variable consideration in the period it has the contractual right to
invoice the customer. For the tolls payment solution, the Company's primary performance obligation is to stand-ready each month to provide access to the
toll network and process toll transactions. Each period of access is determined to be distinct and substantially the same as the customer benefits over the
period of access.

The Company records revenue for its payment services net of (i) the cost of the underlying products and services; (ii) assessments and other fees charged
by the credit and debit payment networks (along with any rebates provided by them); (iii) customer rebates and other discounts; and (iv) taxes assessed
(e.g. VAT and VAT-like taxes) by a government, imposed concurrent with, a revenue producing transaction.

The majority of the transaction price the Company receives for fulfilling the Payment Services performance obligation are comprised of one or a
combination of the following: 1) interchange fees earned from the payment networks; 2) discount fees earned from merchants; 3) fees calculated based on a
number of transactions processed; 4) fees calculated based upon a percentage of the transaction value for the underlying goods or services (i.e. fuel, food,
toll, lodging, and transportation cards and vouchers); and 5) monthly access fees.

The Company recognizes revenue when the underlying transactions are complete and its performance obligations are satisfied. Transactions are considered
complete depending upon the related payment solution but generally when the Company has authorized the transaction, validated that the transaction has
no errors and accepted and posted the data to the Company’s records.

In the Company's cross-border payments business, the majority of revenue is from exchanges of currency at spot rates, which enables customers to make
cross-currency payments. The Company's performance obligation for its foreign exchange payment services is providing a foreign currency payment to a
customer’s designated recipient and therefore, the Company recognizes revenue on foreign exchange payment services when the underlying payment is
made. Revenues from foreign exchange payment services are primarily comprised of the difference between the exchange rate set by the Company to the
customer and the rate available in the wholesale foreign exchange market.

Gift Card Products and Services

The Company’s Gift solutions deliver both stored value cards and e-cards (cards), and card-based services primarily in the form of gift cards to retailers.
These activities each represent performance obligations that are separate and distinct. Revenue for stored valued cards is recognized (gross of the
underlying cost of the related card, recorded in processing expenses within the Consolidated Statements of Income) at the point in time when control passes
to the Company's customer, which is generally upon shipment.

Card-based services consist of transaction processing and reporting of gift card transactions where the Company recognizes revenue based on an output
measure of elapsed time for an unknown or unspecified quantity of transactions. As a result, the Company allocates and recognizes variable consideration
over the estimated period of time over which the performance obligation is satisfied.

Other

The Company accounts for revenue from late fees and finance charges, in jurisdictions where permitted under local regulations, primarily in the U.S. and
Canada in accordance with ASC 310, "Receivables". Such fees are recognized net of a provision for estimated uncollectible amounts, at the time the fees
and finance charges are assessed and services are provided. The Company ceases billing and accruing for late fees and finance charges approximately 30 -
40 days after the customer’s balance becomes delinquent.

In addition, in its cross-border payments business, the Company writes foreign currency forward and option contracts for its customers to facilitate future

payments in foreign currencies. The duration of these derivative contracts at inception is generally less than one year. The Company aggregates its foreign
exchange exposures arising from customer contracts, including
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forwards, options and spot exchanges of currency, as necessary, and economically hedges the net currency risks by entering into offsetting derivatives with
established financial institution counterparties. The changes in fair value related to these instruments are recorded in revenues, net in the Consolidated
Statements of Income.

Revenue is also derived from the sale of equipment in certain of the Company’s businesses, which is recognized at the time the device is sold and control
has passed to the customer. This revenue is recognized gross of the cost of sales related to the equipment in revenues, net within the Consolidated
Statements of Income. The related cost of sales for the equipment is recorded in processing expenses within the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Revenues from contracts with customers, within the scope of Topic 606, represents approximately 75% of total consolidated revenues, net, for the year
ended December 31, 2021.

Disaggregation of Revenues

The Company provides its services to customers across different payment solutions and geographies. Revenue, net by solution (in millions) as of and for
the years ended December 31 (in millions):

Revenues by Solution Category*! 2021 2020 2019
Fuel $ 1,180.1 $ 1,057.2 $ 1,173.0
Corporate payments 600.0 434.0 450.0
Tolls 306.0 292.0 357.2
Lodging 309.6 207.0 212.6
Gift 179.5 154.4 180.2
Other 258.5 244.3 275.9

Consolidated revenues, net $ 2,833.7 $ 2,3889 $ 2,648.8

*Columns may not calculate due to rounding.

IReflects certain reclassifications of revenue between solution categories as the Company realigned its Corporate Payments solution, resulting in
reclassification of Payroll Card revenue from Corporate Payments to Other.

The table below presents the Company's revenues, net by geography as of and for the years ended December 31 (in million).

Revenues by Geography 2021 2020 2019
United States (country of domicile) $ 1,785.2 $ 1,467.5 $ 1,595.3
Brazil 368.1 344.2 427.9
United Kingdom 321.8 262.9 275.2
Other 358.6 314.2 350.4
Consolidated revenues, net $ 2,833.7 $ 2,3889 $ 2,648.8

Contract Liabilities

Deferred revenue contract liabilities for customers subject to ASC 606 were $73.7 million and $73.0 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively. We expect to recognize approximately $43.3 million of these amounts in revenues within 12 months and the remaining $30.4 million over the
next five years as of December 31, 2021. The amount and timing of revenue recognition is affected by several factors, including contract modifications and
terminations, which could impact the estimate of amounts allocated to remaining performance obligations and when such revenues could be recognized.
Revenue recognized for the year ended December 31, 2021, that was included in the deferred revenue contract liability as of January 1, 2021, was
approximately $41.0 million.

Costs to Obtain or Fulfill a Contract

With the adoption of ASC 606, the Company began capitalizing the incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer if the Company expects to
recover those costs. The incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those that the Company incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been obtained (for example, a sales commission).

Costs incurred to fulfill a contract are capitalized if those costs meet all of the following criteria:
a. The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated contract that the Company can specifically identify.

b. The costs generate or enhance resources of the Company that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance obligations in the
future.

c. The costs are expected to be recovered.
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In order to determine the appropriate amortization period for contract costs, the Company considered a combination of factors, including customer attrition
rates, estimated terms of customer relationships, the useful lives of technology used by the Company to provide products and services to its customers,
whether further contract renewals are expected and if there is any incremental commission to be paid on a contract renewal. Contract acquisition and
fulfillment costs are amortized using the straight-line method over the expected period of benefit (ranging from five to ten years). Costs to obtain a contract
with an expected period of benefit of one year or less are recognized as an expense when incurred. The amortization of contract acquisition costs associated
with sales commissions that qualify for capitalization will be recorded as selling expense in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income. The
amortization of contract acquisition costs associated with cash payments for client incentives is included as a reduction of revenues in the Company’s
Consolidated Statements of Income. Amortization of capitalized contract costs recorded in selling expense was $16.0 million, $15.3 million and $14.3
million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Costs to obtain or fulfill a contract are classified as contract cost assets within prepaid expenses and other current assets and other assets in the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company had capitalized costs to obtain a contract of $16.1 million and $15.1 million within prepaid expenses and other
current assets and $38.9 million and $37.2 million within other assets in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets, for the year ended December 31,
2021 and 2020, respectively.

The Company has recorded $76.6 million, $65.5 million and $76.4 million of expenses related to sales of equipment in processing expenses within the
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Practical Expedients

ASC 606 requires disclosure of the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to unsatisfied performance obligations; however, as allowed by
ASC 606, the Company elected to exclude this disclosure for any contracts with an original duration of one year or less and any variable consideration that
meets specified criteria. As described above, the Company's most significant performance obligations consist of variable consideration under a stand-ready
series of distinct days of service. Such variable consideration meets the specified criteria for the disclosure exclusion; therefore, the majority of the
aggregate amount of transaction price that is allocated to performance obligations that have not yet been satisfied is variable consideration that is not
required for this disclosure. The aggregate fixed consideration portion of customer contracts with an initial contract duration greater than one year is not
material.

The Company elected to exclude all sales taxes and other similar taxes from the transaction price. Accordingly, the Company presents all collections from
customers for these taxes on a net basis, rather than having to assess whether the Company is acting as an agent or a principal in each taxing jurisdiction.

In certain arrangements with customers, the Company has determined that certain promised services and products are immaterial in the context of the
contract, both quantitatively and qualitatively.

As a practical expedient, the Company is not required to adjust the promised amount of consideration for the effects of a significant financing component if
the Company expects, at contract inception, that the period between when the Company transfers a promised service or product to a customer and when the
customer pays for the service or product will be one year or less. As of December 31, 2021, the Company’s contracts with customers did not contain a
significant financing component.

4. Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is a market-based measurement that reflects assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. GAAP discusses
valuation techniques, such as the market approach (comparable market prices), the income approach (present value of future income or cash flow), and the
cost approach (cost to replace the service capacity of an asset or replacement cost). These valuation techniques are based upon observable and unobservable
inputs. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect the Company’s market assumptions.

As the basis for evaluating such inputs, a three-tier value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows:
» Level 1: Observable inputs such as quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

» Level 2: Observable inputs other than quoted prices that are directly or indirectly observable for the asset or liability, including quoted prices for
similar assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for similar or identical assets or liabilities in markets that are not active; and model-
derived valuations whose inputs are observable or whose significant value drivers are observable.

»  Level 3: Unobservable inputs for which there is little or no market data, which require the reporting entity to develop its own assumptions. The
fair value hierarchy also requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring
fair value.
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The following table presents the Company’s financial assets and liabilities which are measured at fair values on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2021
and 2020, (in thousands):

Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
December 31, 2021
Assets:
Repurchase agreements $ 477,069 $ — $ 477,069 $ —
Money market 43,023 — 43,023 —
Certificates of deposit 958 — 958 —
Foreign exchange contracts 120,859 — 120,859 —
Total assets $ 641,909 $ — $ 641,908 $ —
Cash collateral for foreign exchange contracts $ 25,881 $ — $ — $ —
Liabilities:
Interest rate swaps $ (30,733) $ — 3 (30,733) $ —
Foreign exchange contracts 89,925 — 89,925 —
Total liabilities $ 59,192 $ — $ 59,192 $ —
Cash collateral obligation for foreign exchange contracts $ 24,803 $ — $ — § —
December 31, 2020
Assets:
Repurchase agreements $ 446,116 $ — $ 446,116 $ —
Money market 48,227 — 48,227 —
Certificates of deposit 188 — 188 —
Foreign exchange contracts 155,846 — 155,846 —
Total assets $ 650,377 $ — $ 650377 $ —
Cash collateral for foreign exchange contracts $ 18,229 $ — $ — $ —
Liabilities:
Interest rate swaps $ 87,873 — 87,873 —
Foreign exchange contracts 140,272 — 140,272 —
Total liabilities $ 228,145 $ — $ 228,145 $ —
Cash collateral obligation for foreign exchange contracts $ 38,569 $ — 3 — 3 _

The Company utilizes Level 1 fair value for financial assets designated as trading securities for which there are quoted market prices. During the year
ended December 31, 2020, the Company recognized a $30.0 million gain on trading securities sold. Cash flow from trading securities sold was recognized
within the Investing section of the Statement of Cash Flows based on the nature of the investment.

The Company has highly-liquid investments classified as cash equivalents, with original maturities of 90 days or less, included in our Consolidated Balance
Sheets. The Company utilizes Level 2 fair value determinations derived from directly or indirectly observable (market based) information to determine the
fair value of these highly liquid investments. The Company has certain cash and cash equivalents that are invested on an overnight basis in repurchase
agreements, money markets and certificates of deposit. The value of overnight repurchase agreements is determined based upon the quoted market prices
for the treasury securities associated with the repurchase agreements. The value of money market instruments is determined based upon the financial
institutions' month-end statement, as these instruments are not tradable and must be settled directly by us with the respective financial institution.
Certificates of deposit are valued at cost, plus interest accrued. Given the short-term nature of these instruments, the carrying value approximates fair value.
Foreign exchange derivative contracts are carried at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income. The fair
value of the Company's derivatives is derived with reference to a valuation from a derivatives dealer operating in an active market, which approximates the
fair value of these instruments.

The fair value represents the net settlement if the contracts were terminated as of the reporting date. Cash collateral received for foreign exchange
derivatives is recorded within customer deposits in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Cash collateral deposited for foreign exchange derivatives is recorded
within restricted cash in our Consolidated Balance Sheet.

The level within the fair value hierarchy and the measurement technique are reviewed quarterly. Transfers between levels are deemed to have occurred at
the end of the quarter. There were no transfers between fair value levels during the periods presented for 2021 and 2020.
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The Company’s assets that are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis and are evaluated with periodic testing for impairment include property, plant
and equipment, investments, goodwill and other intangible assets. Estimates of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business
combinations are generally developed using key inputs such as management’s projections of cash flows on a held-and-used basis (if applicable), discounted
as appropriate, management’s projections of cash flows upon disposition and discount rates. Accordingly, these fair value measurements are in Level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy.

The Company determines the fair values of its derivatives based on quoted market prices or pricing models using current market rates. The amounts
exchanged are calculated by reference to the notional amounts and by other terms of the derivatives, such as interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates,
commodity rates or other financial indices. The Company's derivatives are over-the-counter instruments with liquid markets.

The Company regularly evaluates the carrying value of its investments and during the first quarter of 2019, determined that the fair value of its telematics
investment was below cost and recorded an impairment of the investment of $15.7 million based on observable price changes. Since initial date of the
telematics investments, the Company has recorded cumulative impairment losses of $136.3 million. The Company sold its remaining investment in the
second quarter of 2019. Refer to Note 16. The carrying amount of investments without readily determinable fair values is $52.0 million at December 31,
2021.

The fair value of the Company’s cash, accounts receivable, securitized accounts receivable and related facility, prepaid expenses and other current assets,
accounts payable, accrued expenses, customer deposits and short-term borrowings approximate their respective carrying values due to the short-term
maturities of the instruments. The carrying value of the Company’s debt obligations approximates fair value as the interest rates on the debt are variable
market based interest rates that reset on a quarterly basis. These are each Level 2 fair value measurements, except for cash, which is a Level 1 fair value
measurement.

5. Stockholders' Equity

The Company's Board of Directors (the "Board") has approved a stock repurchase program (as updated from time to time, the "Program") authorizing the
Company to repurchase its common stock from time to time until February 1, 2023. On July 27, 2021, the Board increased the aggregate size of the
Program by $1.0 billion, to $5.1 billion. Since the beginning of the Program through December 31, 2021, 20,068,498 shares have been repurchased for an
aggregate purchase price of $4.4 billion, leaving the Company up to $0.7 billion available under the Program for future repurchases in shares of its
common stock. There were 5,451,556 common shares totaling $1.4 billion in 2021; 3,497,285 common shares totaling $940.8 million in 2020 and
2,211,866 common shares totaling $636.8 million in 2019; repurchased under the Program.

On January 25, 2022, the Board increased the aggregate size of the Program by $1.0 billion, to $6.1 billion. In January and February 2022, 1,510,027
shares were repurchased for an aggregate purchase price of $360.8 million, of which 1,066,015 shares with an aggregate purchase price of $256.5 million
were repurchased pursuant to a 10b5-1 plan. As of March 1, 2022, the Company has up to $1.3 billion available under the Program for future repurchases
of its common stock.

Any stock repurchases may be made at times and in such amounts as deemed appropriate. The timing and amount of stock repurchases, if any, will depend
on a variety of factors including the stock price, market conditions, corporate and regulatory requirements, and any additional constraints related to material
inside information the Company may possess. Any repurchases have been and are expected to be funded by a combination of available cash flow from the
business, working capital and debt.

6. Stock Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock based compensation pursuant to relevant authoritative guidance, which requires measurement of compensation cost for all
stock awards at fair value on the date of grant and recognition of compensation, net of estimated forfeitures, over the requisite service period for awards
expected to vest. The Company has a Stock Incentive Plan (the "Plan"), pursuant to which the Company's board of directors is permitted to grant equity to
employees and directors. Under the Plan, a maximum of 16.75 million shares of our common stock is approved to be issued for grants of restricted stock
and stock options. At December 31, 2021, there were 1.4 million shares available to be granted under the Plan.

The table below summarizes the expense recognized within general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Income related to share-
based payments recognized for the years ended December 31 (in thousands):

2021 2020 2019
Stock options $ 30,057 $ 23,407 $ 32,736
Restricted stock 50,014 19,977 28,217
Stock-based compensation $ 80,071 $ 43384 $ 60,953

The tax benefits recorded on stock based compensation expense and upon the exercises of options were $32.8 million, $70.6 million and $61.6 million for
the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock based compensation as of December 31, 2021 (cost

in thousands):

‘Weighted Average
Unrecognized Period of Expense
Compensation Recognition
Cost (in Years)
Stock options $ 80,305 1.60
Restricted stock 28,349 0.76
Total $ 108,654

Stock Options

The following summarizes the changes in the number of shares of common stock under option for the following periods (shares and aggregate intrinsic

value in thousands):

Weighted Weighted
Average Average Fair
Weighted Options Exercise Value of
Average Exercisable Price of Options Aggregate
Exercise at End of Exercisable Granted During Intrinsic
Shares Price Year Options the Year Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2018 7,616 $ 117.58 5174 $ 98.39 $ 518,954
Granted 431 244.35 $ 57.99
Exercised (1,482) 115.53 255,242
Forfeited (302) 167.35
Outstanding at December 31, 2019 6,263 124.38 5,137 109.03 1,022,860
Granted 503 215.36 $ 53.18
Exercised (1,681) 80.84 322,823
Forfeited (121) 194.61
Outstanding at December 31, 2020 4,964 146.69 3,994 130.37 626,107
Granted 1,097 261.85 $ 72.84
Exercised (592) 82.50 83,686
Forfeited (22) 230.14
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 5447 $ 176.52 3,798 $ 145.18 $ 257,707
Expected to vest at December 31, 2021 1,648 $ 248.75
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The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2021 (shares in thousands):

Weighted Average
Options Remaining Vesting Options

Exercise Price Outstanding Life in Years Exercisable
$35.04 — $196.18 3,618 0.13 3,444
$199.75 — $202.83 123 0.19 102
$205.28 — $216.18 90 1.52 42
$224.99 - $231.70 261 1.85 91
$248.28 — $252.50 233 1.24 109
$256.55 — $261.27 1,039 2.20 1
$263.21 — $319.55 83 3.00 9

5,447 3,798

The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options exercisable at December 31, 2021 was $302.9 million. The weighted average remaining contractual term of
options exercisable at December 31, 2021 was 4.3 years.

The fair value of stock option awards granted was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average
assumptions for grants or modifications during the years ended December 31 as follows:

2021 2020 2019
Risk-free interest rate 0.45 % 0.37 % 2.40 %
Dividend yield — — _
Expected volatility 34.44 % 31.00 % 26.40 %
Expected life (in years) 4.0 3.9 3.7

The weighted-average remaining contractual life for options outstanding was 4.7 years at December 31, 2021.

The fair value of performance options granted with market based vesting conditions was estimated using the Monte Carlo simulation valuation model with
the following assumptions during the year ended December 31 as follows. There were no performance options granted with market based vesting
conditions in 2020 or 2019.

2021
Risk-free interest rate 0.59 %
Dividend yield —
Expected volatility 36.10 %
Expected life (in years) 3.3

Restricted Stock

The fair value of restricted stock units granted with market based vesting conditions was estimated using the Monte Carlo simulation valuation model with
the following assumptions during 2019. There were no restricted stock shares granted with market based vesting conditions in 2021 or 2020.

2019
Risk-free interest rate 1.48 %
Dividend yield —
Expected volatility 25.40 %
Expected life (in years) 2.36
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The following table summarizes the changes in the number of shares of restricted stock and restricted stock units for the following periods (shares in
thousands):

‘Weighted

Average

Grant Date

Shares Fair Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2018 174 % 190.73
Granted 232 212.79
Cancelled (49) 225.96
Issued (114) 206.05
Outstanding at December 31, 2019 243 246.34
Granted 171 252.36
Cancelled (100) 249.17
Issued (140) 227.20
Outstanding at December 31, 2020 174 265.29
Granted 215 272.59
Cancelled (38) 265.76
Issued (73) 258.13
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 278 $ 278.57

7. Acquisitions
Subsequent to 2021

In February 2022, the Company made two investments in an electric vehicle charging payments business and an electric vehicle data analytics business. In
March 2022, the Company acquired a software business that streamlines disruption events for airline passengers. These acquisitions are not expected to be
material to the financial results of the Company. The Company financed these acquisitions using a combination of available cash and borrowings under its
existing Credit Facility.

2021 Acquisitions
ALE

On September 1, 2021, the Company completed the acquisition of ALE Solutions, Inc. (ALE), a U.S. based provider of lodging solutions to the insurance
industry, for a net purchase price of $421.8 million. The purpose of this acquisition is to expand the Company's lodging business into the insurance vertical.
The Company financed the acquisition using a combination of available cash and borrowings under its existing credit facility. The results from the
acquisition are reported in the North America segment.

In connection with this acquisition, the Company signed noncompete agreements with certain parties affiliated with the business with an estimated fair
value of $18.3 million. These noncompete agreements were accounted for separately from the business acquisition. Accounting for the preliminary fair
values of the ALE customer relationship intangible asset was subjective due to the uncertainty in estimating customer attrition rates, which had a significant
impact on the estimated fair values. The customer attrition rates are forward-looking and could be affected by future economic and market conditions.
Specific assumptions that are still being evaluated include customer attrition rates, expected useful lives of definite lived intangible assets, and the
measurement of uncertain tax positions.

The following table summarizes the preliminary acquisition accounting for ALE (in thousands):

Current assets $ 180,951
Long term assets 10,121
Goodwill 131,771
Intangibles 180,500
Current liabilities (73,031)
Noncurrent liabilities (8,479)
Aggregate purchase price $ 421,833
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The estimated preliminary fair value of intangible assets acquired and the related estimated useful lives consisted of the following (in thousands):

Useful Lives (in Years) Value
Trade Names and Trademarks Indefinite $ 18,800
Proprietary Technology 4 14,400
Lodging Network 20 700
Customer Relationships 15 146,600
$ 180,500

AFEX

On June 1, 2021, the Company completed the acquisition of Associated Foreign Exchange (AFEX), a U.S. based, cross-border payment solutions provider,
for $459.8 million. This includes $210.3 million of cash and cash equivalents and $178.7 million of restricted cash, resulting in a net purchase price of
$70.7 million. The purpose of this acquisition is to further expand the Company's cross-border payment solutions. The Company financed the acquisition
using a combination of available cash and borrowings under its existing credit facility. The results from the acquisition are reported in the North America
segment.

In connection with this acquisition, the Company signed noncompete agreements with certain parties affiliated with the business with an estimated fair
value of $4.1 million. These noncompete agreements were accounted for separately from the business acquisition. Accounting for the preliminary fair
values of the AFEX customer relationship intangible asset was subjective due to the uncertainty in estimating customer attrition rates, which had a
significant impact on the estimated fair values. The customer attrition rates are forward-looking and could be affected by future economic and market
conditions. Specific assumptions that are still being evaluated include customer attrition rates, expected useful lives of definite lived intangible assets, and
the measurement of uncertain tax positions.

The following table summarizes the preliminary acquisition accounting for AFEX (in thousands):

Trade and other receivables $ 8,159
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 108,402
Property, plant and equipment 1,723
Other long term assets 51,074
Goodwill 254,399
Intangibles 242,300
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (39,234)
Other current liabilities (81,430)
Customer deposits (375,049)
Other noncurrent liabilities (99,614)
Aggregate purchase price $ 70,730

The estimated preliminary fair value of intangible assets acquired and the related estimated useful lives consisted of the following (in thousands):

Useful Lives (in Years) Value
Trade Names and Trademarks 2 $ 5,400
Proprietary Technology 4 11,800
Banking Relationships 20 1,800
Licenses 20 2,600
Customer Relationships 10 220,700
$ 242,300
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Roger

On January 13, 2021, the Company completed the acquisition of Roger, rebranded Corpay One, a global accounts payable (AP) cloud software platform for
small businesses, for $39.0 million, net of cash acquired. The Company financed the acquisition using a combination of available cash and borrowings
under its existing credit facility. The results from the acquisition are reported in the North America segment.

The following table summarizes the final acquisition accounting for Roger (in thousands):

Accounts and other receivables $ 110
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 37
Other assets 28
Goodwill 34,359
Other intangibles 5,400
Current liabilities (925)
Deferred income taxes (6)
Aggregate purchase price $ 39,003

The estimated fair value of intangible assets acquired and the related estimated useful lives consisted of the following (in thousands):

Useful Lives (in Years) Value
Proprietary Technology 10 $ 4,800
Customer Relationships 9 600
$ 5,400

Other

On December 15, 2021, the Company acquired a mobile fuel payments solution in Russia for a net purchase price of $5.0 million. The results from the
acquisition are reported in the International segment. During 2021, the Company made an investment of $37.8 million in a joint venture in Brazil with

CAIXA. The Company made investments in other businesses of $6.8 million. The Company financed the investments using a combination of available
cash and borrowings under its existing credit facility.

2020 Acquisitions

On August 10, 2020, the Company completed the acquisition of a business in the lodging space in the U.S. The results from the acquisition are reported in
the North America segment. On November 30, 2020, the Company completed the acquisition of a fuel card provider in New Zealand. The results from the
acquisition are reported in the International segment. The aggregate purchase price of these acquisitions was approximately $77.6 million, net of cash
acquired. The Company financed these acquisitions using a combination of available cash and borrowings under its existing credit facility. The Company
signed noncompete agreements with certain parties affiliated with the lodging business with an estimated fair value of $3.8 million. These noncompete
agreements were accounted for separately from the business acquisitions.

75



The following table summarizes the final acquisition accounting for these combined acquisitions (in thousands):

Trade and other receivables $ 4,975
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 145
Property, plant and equipment 3,178
Other long term assets 1,049
Goodwill 28,038
Intangibles 42,144
Liabilities (1,147)
Other noncurrent liabilities (782)
Aggregate purchase price $ 77,600

The estimated fair value of intangible assets acquired and the related estimated useful lives consisted of the following (in thousands):

Useful Lives (in Years) Value
Trade Name and Trademarks 5 - Indefinite $ 2,161
Licensed Software and Technology 10 4,400
Proprietary Technology 5 8,400
Supplier Network 10 783
Customer Relationships 9-16 26,400
$ 42,144

8. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

A summary of changes in the Company’s goodwill by reportable segment is as follows (in thousands):

Acquisition
Accounting Foreign
December 31, 2020 Acquisitions Adjustments Currency December 31, 2021
Segment
North America $ 3,400,772 $ 420,529 $ 398 $ (7,441) $ 3,814,258
Brazil 585,861 — — (39,713) 546,148
International 732,548 3,286 (1,294) (15,968) 718,572
$ 4,719,181 $ 423815 $ (896) $ (63,122) $ 5,078,978
Acquisition
Accounting Foreign
December 31, 2019 Acquisitions Adjustments Currency December 31, 2020
Segment
North America $ 3,369,173  $ 24,984 $ (1,908) $ 8,523 $ 3,400,772
Brazil 756,975 — — (171,114) 585,861
International 706,899 3,950 — 21,699 732,548
$ 4,833,047 $ 28,934 $ (1,908) $ (140,892) $ 4,719,181

At December 31, 2021 and 2020, approximately $923.3 million and $793.8 million of the Company’s goodwill is deductible for tax purposes, respectively.
Acquisition accounting adjustments recorded in 2021 and 2020 are a result of the Company completing its acquisition accounting and working capital
adjustments for certain prior year acquisitions.
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Other intangible assets consisted of the following at December 31 (in thousands):

2021 2020
‘Weighted-
Avg Useful Gross Net Gross Net
Life Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying‘ Accumulated Carrying
(Years) Amounts Amortization Amount Amounts Amortization' Amount
Customer and vendor
agreements 163 $ 2,925,719 $ (1,167,218) $ 1,758,501 $ 2,594,909 (1,011,815) $ 1,583,094
Trade names and
trademarks—indefinite
lived N/A 466,327 — 466,327 455,632 — 455,632
Trade names and
trademarks—other 7.2 12,093 (5,235) 6,858 6,720 (3,031) 3,689
Software 5.9 272,461 (198,628) 73,833 239,292 (182,448) 56,844
Non-compete agreements 4.3 78,145 (48,279) 29,866 56,493 (39,870) 16,623
Total other intangibles $ 3,754,745 $ (1,419,360) $ 2,335,385 $ 3,353,046 (1,237,164) $ 2,115,882

Recast 2020 to reflect changes between gross carrying amounts and accumulated amortization; net carrying amounts remain unchanged.

Changes in foreign exchange rates resulted in $32.7 million and $83.7 million decreases to the carrying values of other intangible assets in the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Amortization expense related to intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 was
$205.5 million, $184.2 million and $206.9 million, respectively.

The future estimated amortization of intangibles at December 31, 2021 is as follows (in thousands):

9. Property, Plant and Equipment

2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter

Property, plant and equipment, net consisted of the following at December 31 (in thousands):

Computer hardware and
Card-reading equipment

software

Furniture, fixtures, and vehicles
Buildings and improvements
Property, plant and equipment, gross
Less: accumulated depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, net

$ 213,678
204,053
196,009
175,261
152,363
927,694
Estimated
Useful Lives
(in Years) 2021 2020
3t05 $ 472,145 393,217
4106 36,829 25,427
2to 10 22,650 19,575
5to 50 33,517 30,467
565,141 468,686
(328,847) (266,177)
$ 236,294 $ 202,509

Depreciation expense related to property and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 was $75.6 million, $65.2 million and
$62.8 million, respectively. Amortization expense includes $46.7 million, $40.2 million and $37.2 million for capitalized computer software costs for the
years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had unamortized computer software costs of
$155.3 million and $129.9 million, respectively.
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The Company recorded write-offs of property, plant and equipment of $0.2 million, $0.3 million and $1.8 million in other operating (income) expense, net
within its Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively.

10. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consisted of the following at December 31 (in thousands):

2021 2020
Accrued bonuses $ 26,950 $ 15,903
Accrued payroll and severance 38,328 23,189
Accrued taxes 93,627 78,771
Accrued commissions/rebates 92,063 81,450
Other! 118,086 83,368
$ 369,054 $ 282,681

1Other accrued expenses include several types of amounts due to our merchants, vendors, and other third parties.

11. Debt

The Company’s debt instruments at December 31 consist primarily of term notes, revolving lines of credit and a Securitization Facility as follows (in
thousands):

2021 2020
Term Loan A note payable (a), net of discounts $ 2,763,162 $ 2,922,042
Term Loan B note payable (a), net of discounts 1,871,505 337,347
Revolving line of credit A Facility(a) 225,000 280,000
Revolving line of credit B Facility(a) — 13,650
Revolving line of credit B Facility —foreign swing line(a) — 50,028
Other obligations(c) — 211
Total notes payable, credit agreements, and other obligations 4,859,667 3,603,277
Securitization Facility(b) 1,118,000 700,000
Total debt $ 5,977,667 $ 4,303,277
Current portion $ 1,517,628 $ 1,205,697
Long-term portion 4,460,039 3,097,580
Total debt $ 5,977,667 $ 4,303,277
(a) The Company has a Credit Agreement, which has been amended multiple times and provides for senior secured credit facilities (collectively, the

"Credit Facility") consisting of a revolving credit facility in the amount of $1.285 billion, a term loan A facility in the amount of $3.225 billion and
a term loan B facility in the amount of $1.9 billion as of December 31, 2021. The revolving credit facility consists of (a) a revolving A credit
facility in the amount of $800 million with sublimits for letters of credit and swing line loans, (b) a revolving B facility in the amount of $450
million with borrowings in U.S. Dollars, Euros, British Pounds, Japanese Yen or other currency as agreed in advance and a sublimit for foreign
swing line loans, and (c) a revolving C facility in the amount of $35 million with borrowings in U.S. Dollars, Australian Dollars or New Zealand
Dollars. The Credit Agreement also includes an accordion feature for borrowing an additional $750 million in term loan A, term loan B, revolver A
or revolver B debt and an unlimited amount when the leverage ratio on a pro-forma basis is less than 3.00 to 1.00. Proceeds from the credit
facilities may be used for working capital purposes, acquisitions, and other general corporate purposes. The maturity date for the term loan A and
revolving credit facilities A, B and C is December 19, 2023. On April 30, 2021, the Company entered into the ninth amendment to the Credit
Agreement. The amendment provided for a new seven-year $1.15 billion term loan B. The existing term loan B was paid off with proceeds from the
new term loan B. On November 16, 2021, the Company entered into the tenth amendment to the Credit Agreement to provide for LIBOR
replacement rates for Euros, British Pounds and Japanese Yen borrowings. On December 22, 2021, the Company entered into the eleventh
amendment to the Credit Agreement. The amendment increased the amount of the term loan B facility by $750 million. The new term loan B has a
maturity date of April 30, 2028, and interest rates remain unchanged.

78



(b)

©

Interest on amounts outstanding under the Credit Agreement (other than the term loan B) accrues as follows: For loans denominated in U.S.
Dollars, Australian Dollars or New Zealand Dollars, based on the British Bankers Association LIBOR Rate (the “Eurocurrency Rate”), in British
Pounds, based on the Sterling Overnight Index Average Reference Rate (“SONIA™) plus a SONIA adjustment of 0.0326%, in Euros, based on the
Euro Interbank Offered Rate (“EURIBOR”), or in Japanese Yen, at the Tokyo Interbank Offer Rate (“TIBOR”) plus a margin based on a leverage
ratio, or our option (for U.S. Dollar borrowings only), the Base Rate (defined as the rate equal to the highest of (a) the Federal Funds Rate plus
0.50%, (b) the prime rate announced by Bank of America, N.A., or (c) the Eurocurrency Rate plus 1.00%) plus a margin based on a leverage ratio.
Interest on the term loan B facility accrues based on the Eurocurrency Rate plus 1.75% for Eurocurrency Loans and at the Base Rate plus 0.75% for
Base Rate Loans. In addition, the Company pays a quarterly commitment fee at a rate per annum ranging from 0.25% to 0.35% of the daily unused
portion of the credit facility.

The interest rates at December 31, 2021 are as follows:

Term loan A 1.60 %
Revolving A facility 1.61 %
Term loan B 1.85 %
Unused credit facility fee 0.30 %

The term loans are payable in quarterly installments due on the last business day of each March, June, September, and December with the final
principal payment due on the respective maturity date. Borrowings on the revolving line of credit are repayable at the option of one, three or six
months after borrowing, depending on the term of the borrowing on the facility. Borrowings on the foreign swing line of credit are due no later than
twenty business days after such loan is made.

The Company has unamortized debt issuance costs of $3.3 million related to the revolving credit facility at December 31, 2021.

The Company has unamortized debt costs at December 31, 2021 as follows (in thousands):

Unamortized Debt

Discounts Deferred Financing Costs
Term loan A $ 4,339 $ —
Term loan B $ 12,391 $ 8,479

The effective interest rate incurred on term loans was 1.79% during 2021 related to the discount on debt. Principal payments of $507.5 million were
made on the term loans during 2021.

The Company is party to a $1.3 billion receivables purchase agreement (Securitization Facility). On September 15, 2021, the Company entered into
the ninth amendment to the Securitization Facility. The amendment increased the Securitization Facility commitment from $1.0 billion to

$1.3 billion. There is a program fee equal to one month LIBOR plus 1.00% or the Commercial Paper Rate plus 0.90% as of December 31, 2021 and
one month LIBOR plus 0.90% or the Commercial Paper Rate plus 0.80% as December 31, 2020. The program fee was 0.12% plus 0.98% as of
December 31, 2021 and 0.34% plus 1.23% as of December 31, 2020. The unused facility fee is payable at a rate of 0.40% as of December 31, 2021
and 2020. The Company has unamortized debt issuance costs of $2.5 million and $1.4 million related to the Securitization Facility as of

December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively, recorded in other assets within the Consolidated Balance Sheets. On March 29, 2021, the
Company entered into the eighth amendment to the Securitization Facility. The amendment included a new three year maturity date, reduced the
LIBOR floor to 0 bps, improved margins, and increased the swing line from $100 million to $250 million. The maturity date for the Company's
Securitization Facility is March 29, 2024.

The Securitization Facility provides for certain termination events, which includes nonpayment, upon the occurrence of which the administrator
may declare the facility termination date to have occurred, may exercise certain enforcement rights with respect to the receivables, and may appoint
a successor servicer, among other things.

Other debt includes the long-term portion of deferred payments associated with business acquisitions. Prior year amounts were recast to reflect long
term deferred revenue in other noncurrent liabilities, to conform to current year presentation.
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The Company was in compliance with all financial and non-financial covenants at December 31, 2021. The Company has entered into interest rate swap
cash flow contracts with U.S. dollar notional amounts in order to reduce the variability of cash flows in the previously unhedged interest payments
associated with $2.0 billion of variable rate debt. The $1.0 billion interest rate swap matured in January 2022. Refer to Note 17 for further details.

The contractual maturities of the Company’s total debt at December 31, 2021 are as follows (in thousands):

2022 $ 1,517,628
2023 2,619,795
2024 15,682
2025 15,716
2026 15,750
Thereafter 1,793,095

12. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss (AOCI)

The changes in the components of AOCI for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 are as follows (in thousands):

Unrealized (Losses) Total Accumulated Other
Cumulative Foreign Gains on Derivative Comprehensive (Loss)
Currency Translation Instruments Income

Balance at December 31, 2018 $ (913,858) $ — (913,858)
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications (15,855) (68,928) (84,783)
Amounts reclassified from AOCI — 5,828 5,828

Tax effect — 20,348 20,348
Other comprehensive loss (15,855) (42,752) (58,607)
Balance at December 31, 2019 (929,713) (42,752) (972,465)
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications (367,249) (70,719) (437,968)
Amounts reclassified from AOCI — 39,264 39,264

Tax effect — 8,011 8,011
Other comprehensive loss (367,249) (23,444) (390,693)
Balance at December 31, 2020 (1,296,962) (66,196) (1,363,158)
Other comprehensive (loss) income before reclassifications (144,543) 7,394 (137,149)
Amounts reclassified from AOCI — 49,747 49,747

Tax effect — (14,056) (14,056)
Other comprehensive (loss) gain (144,543) 43,085 (101,458)
Balance at December 31, 2021 $ (1,441,505)  $ (23,111) $ (1,464,616)
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13. Income Taxes

Income before the provision for income taxes is attributable to the following jurisdictions for years ended December 31 (in thousands):

2021 2020 2019
United States $ 515,041 $ 457,090 $ 505,818
Foreign 593,767 425,435 572,001
Total $ 1,108,808 $ 882,525 $ 1,077,819

The provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31 consists of the following (in thousands):

2021 2020 2019
Current:
Federal $ 118,861 $ 71,123  $ 50,145
State 31,674 19,597 10,285
Foreign 107,751 71,921 84,433
Total current 258,286 162,641 144,863
Deferred:
Federal (12,165) 143 (10,479)
State (4,540) (4,323) 3,745
Foreign 27,730 19,848 44,617
Total deferred 11,025 15,668 37,883
Total provision $ 269,311 $ 178,309 $ 182,746

The provision for income taxes differs from amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal tax rate of 21% for 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively, to
income before income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 due to the following (in thousands):

2021 2020 2019
Computed “expected” tax expense $ 232,850 21.0% $ 185,330 21.0% $ 226,342 21.0 %
Changes resulting from:
Change in valuation allowance 1,378 0.1 25,932 2.9 (28,614) 2.7)
Foreign income tax differential (10,326) 0.9) (20,852) 2.3) (15,816) 1.4)
State taxes net of federal benefits 18,352 1.7 7,489 0.8 12,482 1.2
Increase in tax expense due to uncertain
tax positions 8,185 0.7 14,848 1.7 — —
Foreign withholding tax 9,143 0.8 15,630 1.8 20,360 1.9
Excess tax benefits related to stock-based
compensation (16,304) (1.5) (58,942) (6.7) (38,156) (3.5)
Revaluation of capital loss deferred tax
asset — — — — (24,279) 2.3)
Sub-part F Income/GILTI 72,449 6.5 34,990 4.0 49,859 4.6
Foreign tax credits (63,926) (5.8) (30,497) (3.5) (38,657) (3.6)
Other 17,510 1.6 4,381 0.5 19,225 1.8
Provision for income taxes $ 269,311 243% $ 178,309 202% $ 182,746 17.0 %
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31 are as follows (in
thousands):

2021 2020
Deferred tax assets:
Accounts receivable, principally due to the allowance for doubtful accounts $ 13,987 $ 10,515
Accrued expenses not currently deductible for tax 6,252 3,442
Lease deferral 20,349 23,506
Interest rate swap 7,621 21,792
Stock based compensation 39,658 36,015
Income tax credits 51,264 51,264
Net operating loss carry forwards 76,988 83,372
Accrued escheat 3,170 3,567
Other 10,078 11,711
Deferred tax assets before valuation allowance 229,367 245,184
Valuation allowance (94,601) (90,340)
Deferred tax assets, net 134,766 154,844
Deferred tax liabilities:
Intangibles—including goodwill (520,349) (481,388)
Basis difference in investment in subsidiaries (42,938) (42,313)
Lease deferral (17,739) (19,977)
Accrued Expense Liability (795) (513)
Prepaid expenses (1,788) (2,126)
Withholding taxes (38,704) (30,488)
Property and equipment and other (76,810) (71,342)
Deferred tax liabilities (699,123) (648,147)
Net deferred tax liabilities (564,357) (493,303)
The Company’s deferred tax balances are classified in its balance sheets as of December 31 as follows (in thousands):
2021 2020
Long term deferred tax assets and liabilities:
Long term deferred tax assets $ 1934 $ 4,851
Long term deferred tax liabilities (566,291) (498,154)
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (564,357) $ (493,303)

The valuation allowances relate to capital loss carryforwards, income tax credits, foreign net operating loss carryforwards and state net operating loss
carryforwards. The net change in the total valuation allowance for the year ended December 31, 2021, was an increase of $4.3 million. The valuation
increase was primarily due to net operating losses generated in certain states where the Company and its subsidiaries file on a separate company basis as
well as an increase in foreign net operating losses where significant negative evidence on future utilization was considered.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had a net operating loss carryforward for U.S. federal income tax purposes of approximately $4.0 million gross of
tax that is available to offset U.S. federal taxable income indefinitely. The Company had a net operating loss carryforward for state income tax purposes of
approximately $837.2 million gross of tax that is available to offset future state taxable income indefinitely, and in some cases subject to expiration in 15 or
20 years. Additionally, the Company had $93.9 million net operating loss carryforwards gross of tax that are available to offset future foreign taxable
income. Most foreign net operating loss carryforwards will not expire in future years. The Company has provided a valuation allowance against $42.0
million of its deferred tax asset related to the net operating losses as it does not anticipate utilizing the losses in the foreseeable future.
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In addition, the Company has foreign tax credits for foreign income purposes in the amount of $51.2 million. The Company has provided a valuation
allowance against $51.2 million of the tax credits as it does not anticipate utilizing the credits in the foreseeable future.

During 2021 and 2020, the Company had recorded accrued interest and penalties related to the unrecognized tax benefits of $5.6 million and $5.7 million,
respectively. Accumulated interest and penalties were $18.1 million and $12.5 million on the Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively. In accordance with the Company's accounting policy, interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits are included as a component
of income tax expense.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the total amounts of gross unrecognized tax benefits excluding interest and penalties for the years
ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 is as follows (in thousands):

Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2018 $ 34,152
Additions based on tax provisions related to the current year 4,284
Additions based on tax provisions related to the prior year 11,679
Deductions based on settlement/expiration of prior year tax positions (7,342)
Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2019 42,773
Additions based on tax provisions related to the current year 6,412
Additions based on tax provisions related to the prior year 13,532
Deduction of cumulative interest and penalties (12,508)
Deductions based on expiration of prior year tax positions (14,460)
Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2020 35,749
Additions based on tax provisions related to the current year 8,543
Additions based on tax provisions related to the prior year 5,909
Deductions based on settlement of prior year tax positions (2,122)
Deductions based on expiration of prior year tax positions (1,058)
Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2021 $ 47,021

In prior years, the Company included interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in its tabular reconciliation above. A cumulative adjustment
was made in 2020 to remove interest and penalties from the above tabular disclosure.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had total unrecognized tax benefits of $47.0 million all of which, if recognized, would affect its effective tax rate.
It is not anticipated that there are any unrecognized tax benefits that will significantly increase or decrease within the next twelve months.

The Company files numerous consolidated and separate income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state and foreign jurisdictions. The
statute of limitations for the Company’s U.S. federal income tax returns has expired for years prior to 2014. The statute of limitations for most state income
tax returns has expired for years prior to 2018. The statute of limitations has expired for years prior to 2018 for the Company’s Russian income tax returns,
2016 for the Company’s Mexican income tax returns, and 2016 for the Company’s Luxembourg income tax returns.

14. Leases

The Company primarily leases office space, data centers, vehicles, and equipment. Some of our leases contain variable lease payments, typically payments
based on an index. The Company’s leases have remaining lease terms of one year to thirty years, some of which include options to extend from one to five
years or more. The exercise of lease renewal options is typically at the Company's sole discretion; therefore, the majority of renewals to extend the lease
terms are not reasonably certain to exercise and are not included in Right of Use (ROU) assets and lease liabilities. Variable lease payments based on an
index or rate are initially measured using the index or rate in effect at lease commencement, for the purposes of transition, the rate in effect at January 1,
2019. Additional payments based on the change in an index or rate are recorded as a period expense when incurred. Lease modifications result in
remeasurement of the lease liability as of the modification date.
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Other assets include ROU assets, other current liabilities include short-term operating lease liabilities, and other non-current liabilities include long-term
lease liabilities at December 31, 2021 and 2020 is as follows (in thousands):

2021 2020
ROU assets $ 84,777 $ 76,797
Short term lease liabilities $ 20,296 $ 17,047
Long term lease liabilities $ 79,905 $ 75,350

The Company does not recognize ROU assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that have a term of twelve months or less. The effect of short-term
leases would not be material to the ROU assets and lease liabilities.

Under ASC 842, a Company discounts future lease obligations by the rate implicit in the contract, unless the rate cannot be readily determined. As most of
our leases do not provide an implicit rate, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at the lease commencement
date in determining the present value of the lease payments. In determining the borrowing rate, the Company considered the applicable lease terms, the
Company's cost of borrowing, and for leases denominated in a foreign currency, the collateralized borrowing rate that the Company would obtain to borrow
in the same currency in which the lease is denominated.

Total lease costs for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 were $22.6 million and $20.7 million, respectively.

The supplementary cash and non-cash disclosures for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows (in thousands):

2021 2020
Cash paid for operating lease liabilities $ 23,803 $ 20,068
ROU assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease
obligations $ 29,428 $ 7,134
Weighted-average remaining lease term (years) 5.99 7.07
Weighted-average discount rate 3.80% 4.18%
Maturities of lease liabilities as of December 31, 2021 were as follows (in thousands):
2022 $ 1,535
2023 22,924
2024 20,725
2025 19,101
2026 16,734
Thereafter 31,989
Total lease payments 113,008
Less imputed interest 12,807
Present value of lease liabilities $ 100,201

15. Commitments and Contingencies

In the ordinary course of business, the Company is involved in various pending or threatened legal actions, arbitration proceedings, claims, subpoenas, and
matters relating to compliance with laws and regulations (collectively, "legal proceedings"). Based on our current knowledge, management presently does
not believe that the liabilities arising from these legal proceedings will have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows. However, it is possible that the ultimate resolution of these legal proceedings could have a material adverse effect on our results
of operations and financial condition for any particular period.

Derivative Lawsuits
On July 10, 2017, a shareholder derivative complaint was filed against the Company and certain of the Company’s directors and officers in the United

States District Court for the Northern District of Georgia (“Federal Derivative Action”) seeking recovery on behalf of the Company. The Federal Derivative
Action alleges that the defendants issued a false and misleading
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proxy statement in violation of the federal securities laws; that defendants breached their fiduciary duties by causing or permitting the Company to make
allegedly false and misleading public statements concerning the Company’s fee charges and financial and business prospects; and that certain defendants
breached their fiduciary duties through allegedly improper sales of stock. The complaint seeks unspecified monetary damages on behalf of the Company,
corporate governance reforms, disgorgement of profits, benefits and compensation by the defendants, restitution, costs, and attorneys’ and experts’ fees. On
September 20, 2018, the court entered an order deferring the Federal Derivative Action pending a ruling on motions for summary judgment in the then-
pending shareholder class action, notice a settlement has been reached in the shareholder class action, or until otherwise agreed to by the parties. After
preliminary approval of the proposed settlement of the shareholder class action was granted, the stay on the Federal Derivative Action was lifted. Plaintiffs
amended their complaint on February 22, 2020. FLEETCOR filed a motion to dismiss the amended complaint in the Federal Derivative Action on April
17, 2020, which the court granted without leave to amend on October 21, 2020. Plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for
the Eleventh Circuit on November 18, 2020. The appeal is pending, and the court heard oral argument in the case on February 10, 2022.

On January 9, 2019, a similar shareholder derivative complaint was filed in the Superior Court of Gwinnett County, Georgia (“State Derivative Action”),
which was stayed pending a ruling on motions for summary judgment in the shareholder class action, notice a settlement has been reached in the
shareholder class action, or until otherwise agreed by the parties. On the parties’ joint motion, the court has continued the stay of the State Derivative
Action “pending further developments in the first-filed Federal Derivative Action.” The defendants dispute the allegations in the derivative complaints and
intend to vigorously defend against the claims.

FTC Investigation

In October 2017, the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) issued a Notice of Civil Investigative Demand to the Company for the production of
documentation and a request for responses to written interrogatories. After discussions with the Company, the FTC proposed in October 2019 to resolve
potential claims relating to the Company’s advertising and marketing practices, principally in its U.S. direct fuel card business within its North American
Fuel Card business. The parties reached impasse primarily related to what the Company believes are unreasonable demands for redress made by the FTC.

On December 20, 2019, the FTC filed a lawsuit in the Northern District of Georgia against the Company and Ron Clarke. See FTC v. FLEETCOR and
Ronald F. Clarke, No. 19-cv-05727 (N.D. Ga.). The complaint alleges the Company and Clarke violated the FTC Act’s prohibitions on unfair and deceptive
acts and practices. The complaint seeks among other things injunctive relief, consumer redress, and costs of suit. The Company continues to believe that
the FTC’s claims are without merit. On April 17, 2021, the FTC filed a motion for summary judgment. On April 22, 2021, the United States Supreme
Court held unanimously in AMG Capital Management v. FTC that the FTC does not have authority under current law to seek monetary redress by means of
Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, which is the means by which the FTC has sought such redress in this case. FLEETCOR cross-moved for summary judgment
regarding the FTC’s ability to seek monetary or injunctive relief on May 17, 2021; the briefing on both parties’ summary judgment motions was completed
on July 12, 2021. On August 13, 2021, the FTC filed a motion to stay or to voluntarily dismiss without prejudice the case pending in the Northern District
of Georgia in favor of a parallel administrative action under Section 5 of the FTC Act that it filed on August 11, 2021 in the FTC’s administrative process.
Apart from the jurisdiction and statutory change, the FTC’s administrative complaint makes the same factual allegations as the FTC’s original complaint
filed in December 2019. The Company opposed the FTC’s motion for a stay or to voluntarily dismiss, and the court denied the FTC’s motion on February
7, 2022. The court also set a tentative trial date of June 7, 2022. In the meantime, the FTC’s administrative action is stayed. The Company has incurred and
continues to incur legal and other fees related to this complaint. Any settlement of this matter, or defense against the lawsuit, could involve costs to the
Company, including legal fees, redress, penalties, and remediation expenses. At this time, in view of the complexity and ongoing nature of the matter, we
are unable to estimate a reasonably possible loss or range of loss that we may incur to settle this matter or defend against the lawsuit brought by the FTC.

16. Dispositions
Telematics Businesses

As part of the Company's plans to exit the telematics business, the Company sold its investment in Masternaut to Michelin Group during the second quarter
of 2019. The Company impaired its investments in Masternaut by an additional $15.7 million during 2019, resulting in no gain or loss when the investment
was sold. The Company has recorded cumulative impairment losses associated with its former investment in Masternaut of $136.3 million.

17. Derivative Financial Instruments
The Company uses derivatives to facilitate cross-currency corporate payments by writing derivatives to customers within its cross-border solution. The

Company writes derivatives, primarily foreign currency forward contracts, option contracts, and swaps, mostly with small and medium size enterprises that
are customers and derives a currency spread from this activity.
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Derivative transactions associated with the Company's cross-border solution include:
*  Forward contracts, which are commitments to buy or sell at a future date a currency at a contract price and will be settled in cash.

«  Option contracts, which gives the purchaser, the right, but not the obligation to buy or sell within a specified time a currency at a contracted price
that may be settled in cash.

*  Swap contracts, which are commitments to settlement in cash at a future date or dates, usually on an overnight basis.

The credit risk inherent in derivative agreements represents the possibility that a loss may occur from the nonperformance of a counterparty to the
agreements. Concentrations of credit and performance risk may exist with counterparties, which includes customers and banking partners, as we are
engaged in similar activities with similar economic characteristics related to fluctuations in foreign currency rates. The Company performs a review of the
credit risk of these counterparties at the inception of the contract and on an ongoing basis. The Company also monitors the concentration of its contracts
with any individual counterparty against limits at the individual counterparty level. The Company anticipates that the counterparties will be able to fully
satisfy their obligations under the agreements, but takes action when doubt arises about the counterparties' ability to perform. These actions may include
requiring customers to post or increase collateral, and for all counterparties, if the counterparty does not perform under the term of the contract, the contract
may be terminated. The Company does not designate any of its foreign exchange derivatives as hedging instruments in accordance with ASC 815.

For derivatives accounted for as hedging instruments, the Company formally designates and documents, at inception, the financial instrument as a hedge of
a specific underlying exposure, the risk management objective and the strategy for undertaking the hedge transaction. The Company formally assesses,
both at the inception and at least quarterly thereafter, whether the financial instruments used in hedging transactions are effective at offsetting changes in
cash flows of the related underlying exposures. Any ineffective portion of a financial instrument's change in fair value is immediately recognized in
earnings.

The aggregate equivalent U.S. dollar notional amount of foreign exchange derivative customer contracts held by the Company as of December 31, 2021
and 2020 (in millions) is presented in the table below.

Notional
2021 2020

Foreign exchange contracts:

Swaps $ 2,6704 $ 684.5

Futures, forwards and spot 7,818.3 5,467.8

Written options 11,221.9 5,578.1

Purchased options 10,614.0 5,195.0
Total $ 32,3245 $ 16,925.4

The majority of customer foreign exchange contracts are written in currencies such as the U.S. dollar, Canadian dollar, British pound, euro and Australian
dollar.

The following table summarizes the fair value of derivatives reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 (in millions):

December 31, 2021 Fair Value, Gross Fair Value, Net

Derivative Assets Derivative Assets
Derivatives - undesignated:
Foreign exchange contracts $ 3388 $ 307.8 $ 1209 $ 89.9
Less: Cash collateral 25.9 24.8 25.9 24.8
Total net derivative assets and liabilities $ 3129 $ 283.0 $ 95.0 $ 65.1
December 31, 2020 Fair Value, Gross Fair Value, Net

Derivative Assets Derivative Assets
Derivatives - undesignated:
Foreign exchange contracts $ 326.1 310.5 155.8 140.3
Less: Cash collateral 18.2 38.6 18.2 38.6
Total net derivative assets and liabilities $ 3079 $ 2719 $ 1376 $ 101.7
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The fair values of derivative assets and liabilities associated with contracts, which include netting terms that the Company believes to be enforceable, have
been recorded net within the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company receives cash from customers as collateral for trade exposures, which is recorded
within cash and cash equivalents and customer deposits in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The customer has the right to recall their collateral in the event
exposures move in their favor, they perform on all outstanding contracts and have no outstanding amounts due to the Company, or they cease to do business
with the Company. The Company has trading lines with several banks, most of which require collateral to be posted if certain MTM thresholds are
exceeded. Cash collateral posted with banks is recorded within restricted cash and can be recalled in the event that exposures move in the company’s favor
or move below the collateral posting thresholds. The Company does not offset fair value amounts recognized for the right to reclaim cash collateral or the
obligation to return cash collateral. The table below presents the fair value of the Company’s derivative assets and liabilities, as well as their classification
on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets, as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 (in millions).

2021 2020
Balance Sheet Classification Fair Value
Derivative Asset Other current assets $ 94.0 $ 139.3
Derivative Asset Other noncurrent assets $ 269 $ 16.6
Derivative Liability Other current liabilities $ 66.9 $ 127.7
Derivative Liability Other noncurrent liabilities $ 23.0 $ 12.5
Cash Flow Hedges

On January 22, 2019, the Company entered into three interest rate swap cash flow contracts (the "swap contracts"). The objective of these swap contracts is
to reduce the variability of cash flows in the previously unhedged interest payments associated with $2.0 billion of variable rate debt, the sole source of
which is due to changes in the LIBOR benchmark interest rate. As of December 31, 2021, the Company had the following outstanding interest rate
derivatives that qualify as hedging instruments and are designated as cash flow hedges of interest rate risk (in millions):

Notional Amount as of

December 31, 2021 Fixed Rates Maturity Date
Interest Rate Derivative:
Interest Rate Swap $ 1,000 2.56% 1/31/2022
Interest Rate Swap $ 500 2.56% 1/31/2023
Interest Rate Swap $ 500 2.55% 12/19/2023

For each of these swap contracts, the Company pays a fixed monthly rate and receives one month LIBOR.
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The table below presents the fair value of the Company’s interest rate swap contracts, as well as their classification on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, as
of December 31, 2021 and 2020 (in millions). See Note 4 for additional information on the fair value of the Company’s swap contracts.

Balance Sheet Location 2021 2020
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:
Swap contracts Other current liabilities $ 234) $ (49.3)
Swap contracts Other noncurrent liabilities $ 7.3) $ (38.6)

The table below displays the effect of the Company’s derivative financial instruments in the Consolidated Statements of Income and other comprehensive
loss for the twelve months ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (in millions):

2021 2020
Interest Rate Swaps:
Amount of loss recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) on derivatives, net of tax of
$(14.1) million and $8.0 million for 2021 and 2020,
respectively $ 6.7 $ 62.7
Amount of loss reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss into interest expense $ 49.7 $ 39.3

The $1.0 billion interest rate swap matured in January 2022. The estimated net amount of the existing losses expected to be reclassified into earnings within
the next 12 months is approximately $23.4 million at December 31, 2021.

18. Earnings Per Share

The Company reports basic and diluted earnings per share. Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income attributable to shareholders of the
Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the reported period. Diluted earnings per share reflect the potential
dilution related to equity-based incentives using the treasury stock method.

The calculation and reconciliation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31 (in thousands, except per share data) follows:

2021 2020 2019
Net income $ 839,497 $ 704,216 $ 895,073
Denominator for basic earnings per share 82,060 84,005 86,401
Dilutive securities 2,001 2,714 3,669
Denominator for diluted earnings per share 84,061 86,719 90,070
Basic earnings per share $ 1023 $ 838 §$ 10.36
Diluted earnings per share $ 9.99 $ 812 $ 9.94

Diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 excludes the effect of 1.4 million and 0.1 million shares, respectively, of
common stock that may be issued upon the exercise of employee stock options because such effect would be antidilutive. For 2019, the antidilutive effect
was immaterial. Diluted earnings per share also excludes the effect of 0.1 million shares of performance based restricted stock for which the performance
criteria have not yet been achieved for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. For 2021, the impact was immaterial.

19. Segments

As previously described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company historically managed and reported our
operating results through two reportable segments, defined by geographic regions: North America and International. In the first quarter of 2020, we
evaluated the identification of our operating and reportable segments based upon changes in business models, management reporting, and how the Chief
Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") is currently allocating resources, assessing performance and reviewing financial information. We determined that
these changes caused the composition of our reportable segments to change and that Brazil represented a third operating and reportable segment, which was
previously reported in the International segment. We now manage and report our operating results through three operating
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and reportable segments defined by geographic regions: North America, Brazil and International, which aligns with how the CODM allocates resources,
assesses performance and reviews financial information. This change in reporting segments did not impact our determination of reporting units.

The Company’s segment results are as follows as of and for the years ended December 31 (in thousands):

Revenues, net:
North America
Brazil
International

Operating income:
North America
Brazil
International

Depreciation and amortization:
North America
Brazil
International

Capital expenditures:
North America
Brazil
International

Long-lived assets (excluding goodwill and

investments):
North America
Brazil
International

2021 2020 2019
$1,921,077 $1,581,547 $1,708,546
368,080 344,248 427,921
544,579 463,060 512,381
$2,833,736 $2,388,855 $2,648,848
$762,620 $547,912 $754,528
154,265 148,055 175,642
325,671 276,298 301,260
$1,242,556 $972,265 $1,231,430
$184,876 $156,417 $160,246
50,020 51,364 64,936
49,301 47,021 49,028
$284,197 $254,802 $274,210
$67,533 $48,426 $44,238
24,431 17,116 18,330
19,566 12,883 12,602
$111,530 $78,425 $75,170
$2,117,244 $1,790,661 $1,860,708
291,203 341,242 487,464
348,265 379,697 418,311
$2,756,712 $2,511,600 $2,766,483

The following table presents the Company's long-lived assets (excluding goodwill and investments) at December 31 (in thousands).

Long-lived assets (excluding goodwill):
United States (country of domicile)

Brazil
United Kingdom

1,848,923 $
291,203
245,654

1,547,423
341,242
269,556

More than 10% of our revenues in 2021, 2020 and 2019 were derived through our relationship with our open-loop network partner in our North America

segment.
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20. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Fiscal Quarters Year Ended December 31, 2021 First Second Third Fourth
Revenues, net $ 608,623 $ 667,381 $ 755,477 $ 802,255
Operating income 265,965 297,612 338,687 340,292
Net income 184,239 196,247 234,007 225,004
Earnings per share:

Basic earnings per share $ 221 $ 236 $ 286 $ 2.80

Diluted earnings per share 2.15 2.30 2.80 2.74
Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic shares 83,475 83,141 81,836 80,228

Diluted shares 85,764 85,295 83,716 81,981
Fiscal Quarters Year Ended December 31, 2020 First Second Third Fourth
Revenues, net $ 661,093 $ 525,146 $ 585,283 $ 617,333
Operating income 200,983 212,811 264,532 293,939
Net income 147,060 158,488 188,817 209,851
Earnings per share:

Basic earnings per share $ 1.73 $ 1.89 $ 226 $ 2.51

Diluted earnings per share 1.67 1.83 2.19 2.44
Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic shares 84,902 83,895 83,719 83,514

Diluted shares 88,205 86,570 86,273 85,846

The sum of the quarterly earnings per common share amounts for 2021 and 2020 may not equal the earnings per common share due to rounding.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of December 31, 2021, management carried out, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-
15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934). Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of
December 31, 2021, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective in ensuring that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we
file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in
applicable rules and forms and are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in those reports is accumulated and communicated to
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management team is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2021. In making this assessment, our management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO) in 2013, Internal Control-Integrated Framework. As of December 31, 2021, management believes that the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria. Our independent registered public accounting firm has issued an audit report on our
internal control over financial reporting, which is included in this annual report.

In connection with management's evaluation, our management team excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2021, the internal controls related to four subsidiaries that we acquired during the year ended December 31, 2021, and for
which financial results are included in our consolidated financial statements.

On December 15, 2021, we acquired a mobile fuel payments solution in Russia. On September 1, 2021, we acquired ALE Solutions, Inc., a lodging
provider in the insurance vertical in the U.S. On June 1, 2021, we acquired AFEX, a U.S. based, cross-border payment solutions provider. On January 13,
2021, we acquired Roger, a global accounts payable (AP) cloud software platform for small businesses in the U.S. Collectively we refer to these
transactions as the 2021 Acquisitions. These 2021 Acquisitions constituted 9.8% of total assets, at December 31, 2021, and 3.7% of revenues, net for the
year then ended. This exclusion was in accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission guidance that an assessment of a recently acquired business
may be omitted in management's report on internal control over financial reporting the year of acquisition.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect all misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Internal control over financial reporting cannot provide absolute assurance of achieving
financial reporting objectives because of its inherent limitations. Internal control over financial reporting is a process that involves human diligence and
compliance and is subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting from human failures. Internal control over financial reporting also can be
circumvented by collusion or improper management override. Due to such limitations, there is a risk that material misstatements may not be prevented or
detected on a timely basis by internal control over financial reporting. However, these inherent limitations are known features of the financial reporting
process. Therefore, it is possible to design into the process safeguards to reduce, though not eliminate, such risk.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2021, that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013
framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) maintained, in all material respects,
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on the COSO criteria.

As indicated in the accompanying Management Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management’s assessment of and conclusion on the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not include the internal controls of its 2021 Acquisitions (as defined by management) which
are included in the 2021 consolidated financial statements of the Company and constituted 9.8% of total assets as of December 31, 2021 and 3.7% of
revenues, net for the year then ended. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of the Company also did not include an evaluation of the
internal control over financial reporting of the acquired businesses.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated
balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders'
equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes and our report dated March 1, 2022
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
March 1, 2022
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.
ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTION

None.
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PART II1
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A list of our executive officers and biographical information appears in Part I, Item X of this Form 10-K. Information about our directors may be found
under the caption “Director Nominees” and “Continuing Directors” in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held June 9, 2022
(the “Proxy Statement”). Information about our Audit Committee may be found under the caption “Board Meetings and Committees” in the Proxy
Statement. The foregoing information is incorporated herein by reference.

The information in the Proxy Statement set forth under the caption “Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports” is incorporated herein by reference.

We have adopted the FLEETCOR Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “code of ethics”), which applies to our Chief Executive Officer, Chief
Financial Officer, Chief Accounting Officer and Corporate Controller, and other finance organization employees. The code of ethics is publicly available
on our website at www.fleetcor.com under Investor Relations. If we make any substantive amendments to the code of ethics or grant any waiver, including
any implicit waiver, from a provision of the code to our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, or Chief Accounting Officer, we will disclose the
nature of the amendment or waiver on that website or in a report on Form 8-K.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

B

The information in the Proxy Statement set forth under the captions “Director Compensation,” “2021 Named Executive Officer Compensation,”
“Compensation Committee Report,” and “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information in the Proxy Statement set forth under the captions “Information Regarding Beneficial Ownership of Principal Shareholders, Directors,
and Management” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information” is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information set forth in the Proxy Statement under the captions “Director Independence” and “Certain Relationships and Related-Party Transactions”
is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information concerning principal accountant fees and services appears in the Proxy Statement under the headings “Fees Billed by Ernst & Young LLP” and
“Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of Independent Auditor” and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Financial Statements and Schedules

The financial statements are set forth under Item 8 of this Form 10-K, as indexed below. Financial statement schedules have been omitted since they either
are not required, not applicable, or the information is otherwise included.

Index to Financial Statements
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Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 52
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2021 and 2020 54
Consolidated Statements of Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 55
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 56
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 57
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 58
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 59
(b) Exhibit Listing
Exhibit no.
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the

registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, File No. 001-35004, filed with SEC on March 25, 2011)

Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on June 8, 2018)

Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on June 14, 2019)

Amended and Restated Bylaws of FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, File No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on October 28, 2020)

Form of Stock Certificate for Common Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No. 3 to the registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-166092, filed with the SEC on June 29, 2010)

Description of FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. Common Stock Registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the registrant’s Form 10-K, File No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2020)

Form of Indemnity Agreement entered into between FLEETCOR and its directors and executive officers (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to Amendment No. 3 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-166092, filed with the SEC on
June 29, 2010)

FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Amendment No.
1 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-166092, filed with the SEC on May 20, 2010)

First Amendment to FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3
to Amendment No. 1 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-166092, filed with the SEC on May 20, 2010)

Second Amendment to FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.4 to Amendment No. 1 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-166092, filed with the SEC on May 20,
2010)
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Third Amendment to FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.5 to Amendment No. 1 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-166092, filed with the SEC on May 20,
2010)

Fourth Amendment to FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.6 to Amendment No. 1 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-166092, filed with the SEC on May 20,
2010)

Form of Incentive Stock Option Award Agreement pursuant to the FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. Amended and Restated Stock Incentive
Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to Amendment No. 1 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-
166092, filed with the SEC on May 20, 2010)

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreement pursuant to the FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. Amended and Restated Stock
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to Amendment No. 1 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File
No. 333-166092, filed with the SEC on May 20, 2010)

Form of Performance Share Restricted Stock Agreement pursuant to the FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. Amended and Restated Stock
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to Amendment No. 1 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File
No. 333-166092, filed with the SEC on May 20, 2010)

FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. Annual Executive Bonus Program (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to Amendment No. 2 to the
registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-166092, filed with the SEC on June 8, 2010)

Employee Noncompetition, Nondisclosure and Developments Agreement, dated September 25, 2000, between Fleetman, Inc. and Ronald F.
Clarke (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to Amendment No. 2 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No.
333-166092, filed with the SEC on June 8, 2010)

Sixth Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated April 1, 2009, between FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. and each of the
stockholders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to Amendment No. 2 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1, File No. 333-166092, filed with the SEC on June 8, 2010)

First Amendment to Sixth Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. 10.17 to the
registrant’s form 10-K, File No. 001-35004. with the SEC on March 25, 2011)

Form of Indemnity Agreement to be entered into between FLEETCOR and representatives of its major stockholders (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.37 to Amendment No. 3 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-166092, filed with the
SEC on June 29, 2010)

Form of Director Restricted Stock Grant Agreement pursuant to the FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. 2010 Equity Compensation Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 to Amendment No. 6 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-
166092, filed with the SEC on November 30, 2010)

Form of Employee Performance Share Restricted Stock Agreement pursuant to the FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. 2010 Equity
Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 to Amendment No. 6 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,
File No. 333-166092, filed with the SEC on November 30, 2010)

Form of Employee Incentive Stock Option Award Agreement pursuant to the FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. 2010 Equity Compensation
Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 to Amendment No. 6 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-
166092, filed with the SEC on November 30, 2010)

Form of Employee Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreement pursuant to the FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. 2010 Equity
Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.41 to Amendment No. 6 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,
File No. 333-166092, filed with the SEC on November 30, 2010)

Form of Director Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreement pursuant to the FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. 2010 Equity Compensation
Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 to Amendment No. 6 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-
166092, filed with the SEC on November 30, 2010)

Amended and Restated Employee Noncompetition, Nondisclosure and Developments Agreement, dated November 29, 2010, between
FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. and Ronald F. Clarke (incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. 10.43 to Amendment No. 6 to the
registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-166092, filed with the SEC on November 30, 2010)

Arrangement Agreement Among FLEETCOR Luxembourg Holdings2 S.A.R.L, FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. and CTF Technologies,
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Form 10-Q, File No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on May 10, 2012)
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FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. 2010 Equity Compensation Plan, as amended and restated effective February 7, 2018 (incorporated by
reference from Appendix A to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant's Form 8-K, File No. 001-35004, File No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on
February 12, 2018)

FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. Section 162(M) Performance—Based Program (incorporated by reference to Annex A to the registrant’s
Proxy Statement, File No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on April 18, 2014)

FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. Amended and Restated 2010 Equity Compensation Plan, Key Employee Performance-Based Stock Option
Certification to Ronald F. Clarke, dated September 30, 2021(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant's Form 10-Q, File
No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on November 9, 2021)

Credit Agreement, dated October 24, 2014, among FLEETCOR Technologies Operating Company, LLC, as Borrower, FLEETCOR
Technologies, Inc., as Parent, FLEETCOR Technologies Operating Company, LLC, as a borrower and guarantor, certain of the our foreign
subsidiaries as borrowers, Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent, swing line lender and L/C issuer and a syndicate of financial
institutions (incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. 10.4 to the registrant’s Form 10-Q, File No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on
November 10, 2014)

Fifth Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated November 14, 2014, by and among FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc.
and PNC Bank, National Association, as administrator for a group of purchasers and purchaser agents, and certain other parties
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. 10.1 to the registrant’s Form 8-K, File No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on November 17, 2014)

Amended and Restated Performance Guaranty dated as of November 14, 2014 made by FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. and FLEETCOR
Technologies Operating Company, LLC, in favor of PNC Bank, National Association, as administrator under the Fifth Amended and
Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the registrant’s Form 10-K, File No. 001-35004,
filed with the SEC on March 2, 2015)

Amended and Restated Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of November 14, 2014, among various entities listed on Schedule I thereto, as
originators, and FLEETCOR Funding LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to the registrant’s Form 10-K, File No. 001-35004,
filed with the SEC on March 2, 2015)

Receivables Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of November 14, 2014, among Comdata TN, Inc. and Comdata Network, Inc. of
California, as the sellers, and Comdata Inc., as the buyer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 to the registrant’s Form 10-K, File No.
001-35004, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2015)

Investor Rights Agreement, dated November 14, 2014, between FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. and Ceridian LLC (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.35 to the registrant’s Form 10-K, File No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2015)

Offer Letter, dated July 29, 2014, between FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. and Armando Lins Netto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the registrant’s Form 10-Q, File No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on May 11, 2015)

First Amendment to the Fifth Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 5, 2015, by and among
FLEETCOR Funding LLC, FLEETCOR Technologies Operating Company, LLC and PNC Bank, National Association, as administrator for
a group of purchasers and purchaser agents, and certain other parties (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Form 10-
Q, File No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on November 9, 2015)

Employee agreement on confidentiality, work product, non-competition, and non-solicitation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 to
the registrant's Form 10-K, File No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on February 29, 2016)

Second Amendment to the Fifth Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2015, by and among
FLEETCOR Funding LLC, FLEETCOR Technologies Operating Company, LL.C and PNC Bank, National Association, as administrator for
a group of purchasers and purchaser agents, and certain other parties (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 to the registrant's Form 10-
K, File No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on February 29, 2016)

First Amendment to Credit Agreement and Lender Joinder Agreement, dated as of August 22, 2016, by and among FLEETCOR Funding
LLC, FLEETCOR Technologies Operating Company, LLC and PNC Bank, National Association, as administrator for a group of purchasers
and purchaser agents, and certain other parties (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Form 10-Q, File No. 001-35004,
filed with the SEC on November 9, 2016)
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Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of January 2017, among FLEETCOR Technologies Operating Company, LLC, as the
Company, FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc., as the Parent, the designated borrowers party hereto, the other guarantors party hereto, Bank of
America, N.A., as administrative agent, swing line lender and l/c issuer, and the other lenders party hereto and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner
& Smith Incorporated, as sole lead arranger and sole bookrunner (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.41 to the registrant's Form 10-K,
File No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on March 1, 2017)

Third Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 2, 2017, among FLEETCOR Technologies Operating Company, LLC, as the
Company, FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc., as the Parent, the designated borrowers party hereto, the other guarantors party hereto, Bank of
America, N.A., as administrative agent, swing line lender and l/c issuer, and the other lenders party hereto, and Merrill Lynch, Pierce,
Fenner & Smith Incorporated, as sole lead arranger and sole bookrunner (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Form
10-Q, File No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on August 8, 2017)

Third Amendment to Fifth Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 14, 2017, by and among
FLEETCOR Funding LLC, FLEETCOR Technologies Operating Company, LLC, PNC Bank, National Association, as administrator for a
group of purchasers and purchase agents, and certain other parties (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.43 to the registrant's Form 10-K,
File No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on March 1, 2018)

Offer letter, dated September 10, 2015, between FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. and Alexey Gavrilenya (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant's Form 10-Q, File No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on May 10, 2018)

Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated August 30, 2018, among FleetCor Technologies Operating Company, LL.C, FleetCor
Technologies Operating Company, LLC, FleetCor Technologies, Inc., the designated borrowers party thereto, Cambridge Mercantile Corp.
(U.S.A.), the other guarantors party thereto, Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent, swing line lender and 1/c issuer, and the other
lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant's Form 10-Q, File No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on
November 8, 2018)

Fourth Amendment to Fifth Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated August 30, 2018, by and among FleetCor
Funding LLC, FleetCor Technologies Operating Company, LL.C, PNC Bank, National Association as administrator for a group of
purchasers and purchaser agents, and certain other parties thereto (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.3 to the registrant's Form 10-Q,
File No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on November 8, 2018)

Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of December 19, 2018, among FLEETCOR Technologies Operating Company, LLC, as the
Company, FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc., as the Parent, the designated borrowers party hereto, Bank of America, N.A., as administrative
agent, swing line lender and L/C issuer, and the other lenders party hereto Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, as sole lead
arranger and sole bookrunner (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.47 to the registrant's Form 10-K, File No. 001-35004, filed with the
SEC on March 1, 2019)

Fifth Amendment to the Fifth Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated February 8, 2019 by and among FleetCor
Funding LLC, FleetCor Technologies Operating Company, LLC, PNC Bank, National Association as administrator for a group of
purchasers and purchaser agents, and certain other parties thereto (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.3 to the registrant's Form 10-Q,
File No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on May 10, 2019)

Sixth Amendment to the Fifth Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated April 22, 2019 by and among FleetCor
Funding LLC, FleetCor Technologies Operating Company, LLC, PNC Bank, National Association as administrator for a group of
purchasers and purchaser agents, and certain other parties thereto (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.4 to the registrant's Form 10-Q,
File No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on May 10, 2019)

Sixth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 2, 2019, among FLEETCOR Technologies Operating Company, LLC, as the
Company, FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc., as the Parent, the designated borrowers party hereto, Bank of America, N.A., as administrative
agent, swing line lender and L/C issuer, and the other lenders party hereto Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, as sole lead
arranger and sole bookrunner (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the registrant's Form 10-Q, File No. 001-35004, filed with the
SEC on August 9, 2019)

Seventh Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of November 14, 2019, among FLEETCOR Technologies

Operating Company, LLC, as the Company, FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc., as the Parent, the designated borrowers party hereto, Bank of
America, N.A., as administrative agent, swing line lender and L/C issuer, and the other lenders party hereto Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner &
Smith Incorporated, as sole lead arranger and sole bookrunner (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.53 to the registrant's Form 10-k, File
No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2020)
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Eighth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of April 24, 2020, among FLEETCOR Technologies Operating Company, LL.C, as the
Company, FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc., as the Parent, the designated borrowers party hereto, Bank of America, N.A., as administrative
agent, swing line lender and L/C issuer, and the other borrowers hereto Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, as sole lead
arranger and sole bookrunner (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant's Form 10-Q, File No. 001-35004, filed with the
SEC on May 11, 2020)

Offer letter, dated September 1, 2020, between FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc. and Charles Freund (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
99.1 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K/A, File No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on September 4, 2020) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant's Form 10-Q, File No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on November 9, 2020)

Seventh Amendment to the Fifth Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated November 13, 2020 by and among
FleetCor Funding LLC, FleetCor Technologies Operating Company, LLC, PNC Bank, National Association as administrator for a group of
purchasers and purchaser agents, and certain other parties thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.53 to the registrant's Form 10-k,
File No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2020)

Eighth Amendment to the Fifth Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated March 29, 2021 by and among FleetCor
Funding LLC, FleetCor Technologies Operating Company, LLC, PNC Bank, National Association as administrator for a group of
purchasers and purchaser agents, and certain other parties thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant's Form 10-Q,
File No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on May 10, 2021)

Ninth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of April 30, 2021 among FLEETCOR Technologies Operating Company, LLC, as the
Company, FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc., as the Parent, the designated borrowers party hereto, Bank of America, N.A., as administrative
agent, swing line lender and L/C issuer, and the other borrowers hereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant's Form
10-Q, File No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on May 10, 2021)

Ninth Amendment to the Fifth Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated September 15, 2021 by and among FleetCor
Funding LLC, FleetCor Technologies Operating Company, LLC, PNC Bank, National Association as administrator for a group of
purchasers and purchaser agents, and certain other parties thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant's Form 10-Q,
File No. 001-35004, filed with the SEC on November 9, 2021)

Tenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of November 16, 2021 among FLEETCOR Technologies Operating Company, LLC, as the
Company, FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc., as the Parent, the designated borrowers party hereto, Bank of America, N.A., as administrative
agent, swing line lender and L/C issuer, and the other borrowers hereto

Eleventh Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of December 22, 2021 among FLEETCOR Technologies Operating Company, LLC, as
the Company, FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc., as the Parent, the designated borrowers party hereto, Bank of America, N.A., as
administrative agent, swing line lender and L/C issuer, and the other borrowers hereto

List of subsidiaries of FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906

The following financial information for the registrant formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the Consolidated
Balance Sheets, (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Income, (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income; (iv) the
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity; (v) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements

Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document and contained in Exhibit 101)

Identifies management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned; thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Atlanta, State of Georgia, on March 1, 2022.

FLEETCOR Technologies, Inc.

By: /s/  RONALD F. CLARKE

Ronald F. Clarke
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of registrant and
in the capacities indicated on March 1, 2022.

Signature Title

President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors
/s/  RONALD F. CLARKE (Principal Executive Officer)

Ronald F. Clarke

Chief Financial Officer
/s/  CHARLES R. FREUND (Principal Financial Officer)

Charles R. Freund

Chief Accounting Officer

/s/  ALISSA B. VICKERY (Principal Accounting Officer)
Alissa B. Vickery
/s/  MICHAEL BUCKMAN Director
Michael Buckman
/s/  JOSEPH W. FARRELLY Director
Joseph W. Farrelly
/s/ THOMAS M. HAGERTY Director
Thomas M. Hagerty
/s/  MARK A.JOHNSON Director
Mark A. Johnson
/s/  ARCHIE L. JONES, JR. Director
Archie L. Jones, Jr.
/s/  RICHARD MACCHIA Director
Richard Macchia
/s HALA G. MODDELMOG Director
Hala G. Moddelmog
/s/  JEFFREY S. SLOAN Director
Jeffrey S. Sloan
/s/  STEVEN T. STULL Director

Steven T. Stull
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Exhibit 10.54
TENTH AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS TENTH AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “Amendment”) dated as of November 16, 2021 (the “Tenth
Amendment Effective Date”) is entered into among FleetCor Technologies Operating Company, LL.C, a Louisiana limited liability company
(the “Company”), and Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent (in such capacity, the “Administrative Agent”). Capitalized terms
used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given to such terms in the Existing Credit Agreement (as defined below) or the
Amended Credit Agreement (as defined below), as applicable.

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Company, the Parent, the Designated Borrowers from time to time party thereto, the Additional Borrower, the
Lenders from time to time party thereto, and Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, L/C Issuer and Swing Line Lender, are parties
that that certain Credit Agreement dated as of October 24, 2014 (as amended, modified, supplemented, increased or extended from time to
time prior to the Tenth Amendment Effective Date, the “Existing Credit Agreement”);

WHEREAS, Section 3.07 of the Existing Credit Agreement provides that the Administrative Agent and the Company may, under the
circumstances described therein, amend the Existing Credit Agreement to replace LIBOR applicable to any relevant currency with an
alternate benchmark rate and make certain related conforming changes, and any such amendment shall become effective at 5:00 p.m. on the
fifth Business Day after the Administrative Agent shall have posted such proposed amendment to all Lenders and the Company unless, prior
to such time, Lenders comprising the Required Lenders have delivered to the Administrative Agent written notice that such Required Lenders
do not accept such amendment;

WHEREAS, the Company has requested that the Existing Credit Agreement be amended as set forth below in accordance with
Section 3.07 of the Existing Credit Agreement, subject to the terms and conditions specified in this Amendment; and

WHEREAS, each party hereto is willing to amend the Existing Credit Agreement as set forth below, subject to the terms and
conditions specified in this Amendment.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants contained herein, and for other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Amendments to Existing Credit Agreement. The Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended in its entirety to read in the form
attached hereto as Annex A (the Existing Credit Agreement, as so amended, the “Amended Credit Agreement”). All schedules and exhibits
to the Existing Credit Agreement (as amended prior to the Tenth Amendment Effective Date) shall not be modified or otherwise affected
hereby.

2. Conditions Precedent. This Amendment shall be effective upon satisfaction of the following conditions precedent:

(a) Receipt by the Administrative Agent of counterparts of this Amendment duly executed by (i) a Responsible Officer of
the Company and (ii) the Administrative Agent.

(b)  Unless waived by the Administrative Agent, payment by the Company of all fees, charges and disbursements of
counsel to the Administrative Agent (directly to such counsel, if so requested by the Administrative Agent) to the extent invoiced
prior to or on the Tenth Amendment Effective Date, plus such additional amounts of such fees, charges and disbursements as shall
constitute its reasonable estimate of such fees, charges and disbursements incurred or to be incurred by it through the closing
proceedings (provided, that, such estimate



shall not thereafter preclude a final settling of accounts between the Company and the Administrative Agent).

3. Miscellaneous.

(@) The Loan Documents, and the obligations of the Loan Parties thereunder, are hereby ratified and confirmed and shall

remain in full force and effect according to their terms, as amended hereby.

(b) The Company (i) acknowledges and consents to all of the terms and conditions of this Amendment and the transactions

contemplated hereby, (ii) affirms all of its obligations under the Loan Documents to which it is a party, and (iii) agrees that this
Amendment and all documents executed in connection herewith do not operate to reduce or discharge its obligations under the Loan
Documents to which it is a party. The Company hereby acknowledges that, as of the Tenth Amendment Effective Date, the security
interests and Liens granted to the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the holders of the Obligations under the Collateral
Documents to secure the Obligations are in full force and effect, are properly perfected, and are enforceable in accordance with the
terms of the Security Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

CHAR1\1829960v3

(c) The Company hereby represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders as follows:

(i) The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Amendment have been duly authorized by all
necessary corporate or other organizational action, and do not (A) contravene the terms of any of the Company’s
Organization Documents; (B) conflict with or result in any breach or contravention of, or the creation of any Lien under, or
require any payment to be made under (1) any material Contractual Obligation to which the Company is a party or affecting
the Company or the properties of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or (2) any order, injunction, writ or decree of any
Governmental Authority or any arbitral award to which the Company or its property is subject; or (C) violate any Law.

(ii) This Amendment has been duly executed and delivered by the Company and constitutes the Company’s legal,
valid and binding obligation, enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to laws generally affecting creditors’ rights, to
statutes of limitations and to principles of equity.

(iii) No approval, consent, exemption, authorization, or other action by, or notice to, or filing with, any
Governmental Authority or any other Person is necessary or required in connection with the execution, delivery or
performance by, or enforcement against, the Company of this Amendment or the Amended Credit Agreement.

(iv)  After giving effect to this Amendment: (A) the representations and warranties of the Company set forth in
Article VI of the Amended Credit Agreement and in each other Loan Document are true and correct in all material respects
(and in all respects if any such representation or warranty is already qualified by materiality) on and as of the Tenth
Amendment Effective Date with the same effect as if made on and as of the Tenth Amendment Effective Date, except to the
extent such representations and warranties specifically refer to an earlier date, in which case they shall be true and correct in
all material respects (and in all respects if any such representation or warranty is already qualified by materiality) as of such
subsections (a) and (b) of Section 6.05 of the Amended Credit Agreement shall be deemed to refer to the most recent
financial statements furnished pursuant to subsections (a) and (b), respectively, of Section 7.01 of the Amended Credit
Agreement; and (B) no Default has occurred and is continuing or would result from the transactions contemplated by this
Amendment.



(d)  This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the various parties hereto in separate
counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be an original, but all of which shall constitute one and the same
instrument. Delivery of an executed counterpart of this Amendment by telecopy or in any other electronic format (such as .pdf
format) shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed original counterpart of this Amendment. Subject to Section 11.16 of the
Amended Credit Agreement, execution of this Amendment shall be deemed to include electronic signatures, the electronic matching
of assignment terms and contract formations on electronic platforms approved by the Administrative Agent, or the keeping of records
in electronic form, each of which shall be of the same legal effect, validity or enforceability as a manually executed signature,
physical delivery thereof or the use of a paper based recordkeeping system, as the case may be.

(e) This Amendment is a Loan Document. The execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Amendment shall not, except
as expressly provided herein, operate as a waiver of any right, power or remedy of any Lender or the Administrative Agent under any
of the Loan Documents, nor, except as expressly provided herein, constitute a waiver or amendment of any provision of any of the
Loan Documents. Upon the effectiveness hereof, all references to the “Credit Agreement” set forth in any other agreement or
instrument shall, unless otherwise specifically provided, be references to the Amended Credit Agreement.

(f) THIS AMENDMENT AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES HEREUNDER SHALL
BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE
OF NEW YORK. THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE FURTHER SUBJECT TO THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF
SECTIONS 11.14 AND 11.15 OF THE AMENDED CREDIT AGREEMENT, THE TERMS OF WHICH ARE
INCORPORATED HEREIN BY REFERENCE AS IF FULLY SET FORTH HEREIN.

[remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto has caused a counterpart of this Amendment to be duly executed and delivered
by a duly authorized officer as of the date first above written.

COMPANY: FLEETCOR TECHNOLOGIES OPERATING COMPANY, LLC,
a Louisiana limited liability company

By:__/s/ Steve Pisciotta
Name: Steve Pisciotta
Title: Treasurer
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ADMINISTRATIVE
AGENT: BANK OF AMERICA, N.A,,
as Administrative Agent

By:__/s/ Felicia Brinson

Name: Felicia Brinson
Title: Assistant Vice President
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ANNEX A

Annex A

Amended Credit Agreement

[see attached]

Published CUSIP Numbers:
Deal: 33903RAL3
Revolver A: 33903RAM1
Revolver B: 33903RAU3
Revolver C: 33903RAN9
Revolver D: 33903RAX7
Term A Loan: 33903RAP4
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Term B-3 Loan: 33903RAV1

Term B-4 Loan

CREDIT AGREEMENT

Dated as of October 24, 2014

among

FLEETCOR TECHNOLOGIES OPERATING COMPANY, LLC,
as a Borrower and as a Guarantor,

FLEETCOR TECHNOLOGIES, INC,,
as the Parent and as a Guarantor,

CERTAIN FOREIGN SUBSIDIARIES OF THE PARENT,
as Designated Borrowers,

THE ADDITIONAL BORROWER, TO THE EXTENT THE ADDITIONAL
BORROWER BECOMES A BORROWER HEREUNDER,

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A,,
as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer,

PNC CAPITAL MARKETS, LLC,
MUFG BANK, LTD.,
WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
and
TD BANK, N.A.,,
as Co-Syndication Agents,

MIZUHO BANK, LTD,,
REGIONS BANK,
THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA,
FIFTH THIRD BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
and
BMO HARRIS BANK, N.A,,
as Co-Documentation Agents,

BARCLAYS BANK PLC,
CAPITAL ONE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
and
ROYAL BANK OF CANADA,
as Co-Managing Agents

and
THE OTHER LENDERS PARTY HERETO

BOFA SECURITIES, INC,,
PNC CAPITAL MARKETS, LLC
and
MUFG BANK, LTD.,
as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Bookrunners
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CREDIT AGREEMENT

This CREDIT AGREEMENT is entered into as of October 24, 2014 among FLEETCOR TECHNOLOGIES
OPERATING COMPANY, LLC, a Louisiana limited liability company (the “Company”), FLEETCOR TECHNOLOGIES, INC.,
a Delaware corporation (the “Parent”), certain Foreign Subsidiaries of the Parent party hereto pursuant to Section 2.16 (each a
“Designated Borrower”), the Additional Borrower, to the extent the Additional Borrower becomes a Borrower hereunder
pursuant to Section 7.12(b) (the Additional Borrower, together with the Designated Borrowers and the Company, the
“Borrowers” and, each a “Borrower”), the Lenders (defined herein) and BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Administrative Agent,
Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer.

The Company has requested that the Lenders provide credit facilities for the purposes set forth herein, and the Lenders are
willing to do so on the terms and conditions set forth herein.

In consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, the parties hereto covenant and agree as
follows:

Article I.
DEFINITIONS AND ACCOUNTING TERMS

1.01  Defined Terms.

As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below:

“Acquisition”, by any Person, means the acquisition by such Person, in a single transaction or in a series of related
transactions, of all or any substantial portion of the property of another Person or other acquisition of or investment in assets
constituting a business unit, a line of business or division of such Person, or a majority of the Voting Stock of another Person, in
each case whether or not involving a merger or consolidation with such other Person and whether for cash, property, services,

assumption of Indebtedness, securities or otherwise.

“Additional Borrower” has the meaning specified in Section 7.12(b).

“Administrative Agent” means Bank of America in its capacity as administrative agent under any of the Loan Documents,
or any successor administrative agent.

“Administrative Agent’s Office” means, with respect to any currency, the Administrative Agent’s address and, as
appropriate, account as set forth on Schedule 11.02 with respect to such currency, or such other address or account with respect to
such currency as the Administrative Agent may from time to time notify the Company and the Lenders.

“Administrative Questionnaire” means an Administrative Questionnaire in a form supplied by the Administrative Agent.
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“AFEX Acquisition” means the acquisition by the Company, directly or indirectly, of all of the issued and outstanding
shares of common stock of Associated Foreign Exchange Holdings, Inc., a California corporation (“AFEX”), pursuant to and in
accordance with that certain Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 14, 2020, among Fred Kunik as Trustee of the
Fred Kunik Family Trust dated May 5, 1999 and Irving Barr as Trustee of the Irving Barr Living Trust dated December 2, 1994,
as sellers, the Company, as buyer, AFEX and Fred Kunik, as sellers’ representative.

“Affected Financial Institution” means (a) any EEA Financial Institution, or (b) any UK Financial Institution.
“Affected Tranche” has the meaning specified in Section 11.01.

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, another Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, Controls or is Controlled by or is under common Control with the Person specified.

“Aggregate Revolving_ A Commitments” means the Revolving A Commitments of all the Lenders. The aggregate
principal amount of the Aggregate Revolving A Commitments in effect on the Fifth Amendment Effective Date is EIGHT
HUNDRED MILLION DOLLARS ($800,000,000).

“Aggregate Revolving_B Commitments” means the Revolving B Commitments of all the Lenders. The aggregate
principal amount of the Aggregate Revolving B Commitments in effect on the Fifth Amendment Effective Date is FOUR
HUNDRED FIFTY MILLION DOLLARS ($450,000,000).

“Aggregate Revolving_C Commitments” means the Revolving C Commitments of all the Lenders. The aggregate
principal amount of the Aggregate Revolving C Commitments in effect on the Fifth Amendment Effective Date is THIRTY-FIVE
MILLION DOLLARS ($35,000,000).

“Aggregate Revolving D Commitments” means the Revolving D Commitments of all the Lenders. The aggregate
principal amount of the Aggregate Revolving D Commitments in effect on the Eighth Amendment Effective Date is TWO
HUNDRED FIFTY MILLION DOLLARS ($250,000,000).

“Aggregate Revolving_Commitments” means the Aggregate Revolving A Commitments, the Aggregate Revolving B
Commitments, the Aggregate Revolving C Commitments and/or the Aggregate Revolving D Commitments, as applicable.

“Agreement” means this Credit Agreement.

“All-In-Yield” means, with respect to any term loan facility (including the Term B-3 Loan, the Term B-4 Loan, and any
other Incremental Term B Loan), the weighted average yield to maturity with respect to such term loan facility which shall take
into account interest rate margins and any interest rate floors or similar devices, and shall be deemed to include any original issue
discount and any fees (other than facility arrangement, structuring, underwriting or other closing fees and expenses not paid for
the account of, or distributed to, all Lenders providing such term loan facility) paid or payable in connection with such term loan
facility, in each case, as reasonably determined by the Administrative Agent in a manner consistent with customary financial
practice based on an assumed four-year life to maturity or, if less, the actual remaining life to maturity of such term loan facility,
commencing from the borrowing date of such term loan facility and assuming that the interest rate (including the Applicable
Rate) for such term loan facility in effect on such borrowing date (after giving effect to the Indebtedness
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incurred in connection with such term loan facility) shall be the interest rate for the entire Weighted Average Life to Maturity of
such term loan facility.

“AllStar” means AllStar Business Solutions Limited, a private limited company registered in England and Wales.

“Alternative Currency” means each of Euro, Sterling, Yen and each other currency (other than Dollars) that is approved in
accordance with Section 1.06; provided, however, that if the interest rate with respect to any Alternative Currency becomes
unavailable for any reason, such Alternative Currency shall not be considered an Alternative Currency hereunder until such time
as an interest rate with respect to such Alternative Currency is agreed upon by the Company and the applicable Lenders in
accordance with the terms hereof.

“Alternative Currency Daily Rate” means, for any day, with respect to any Credit Extension:

(@) denominated in Sterling, the rate per annum equal to SONIA determined pursuant to the definition thereof plus the
SONIA Adjustment; and

(b) denominated in any other Alternative Currency (to the extent such Loans denominated in such currency will bear
interest at a daily rate), the daily rate per annum as designated with respect to such Alternative Currency at the time such
Alternative Currency is approved by the Administrative Agent and the relevant Lenders pursuant to Section 1.06 plus the
adjustment (if any) determined by the Administrative Agent and the relevant Lenders pursuant to Section 1.06;

provided, that, if any Alternative Currency Daily Rate shall be less than zero, such rate shall be deemed zero for purposes
of this Agreement. Any change in an Alternative Currency Daily Rate shall be effective from and including the date of such
change without further notice.

“Alternative Currency Daily Rate I.oan” means a Loan that bears interest at a rate based on the definition of “Alternative
Currency Daily Rate.” All Alternative Currency Daily Rate Loans must be denominated in an Alternative Currency.

“Alternative Currency Equivalent” means, at any time, with respect to any amount denominated in Dollars, the equivalent
amount thereof in the applicable Alternative Currency, Australian Dollars or New Zealand Dollars, as determined by the
Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender or L/C Issuer, as the case may be, at such time on the basis of the Spot Rate
(determined in respect of the most recent Revaluation Date) for the purchase of such currency with Dollars.

“Alternative Currency L.oan” means an Alternative Currency Daily Rate Loan or an Alternative Currency Term Rate
Loan, as applicable.

“Alternative Currency Term Rate” means, for any Interest Period, with respect to any Credit Extension:

(@) denominated in Euros, the rate per annum equal to the Euro Interbank Offered Rate (“EURIBOR”), as
published on the applicable Reuters screen page (or such other commercially available source providing such quotations
as may be designated by the Administrative Agent from time to time) on the day that is two TARGET Days preceding the
first day of such Interest Period with a term equivalent to such Interest Period,;
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(b) denominated in Yen, the rate per annum equal to the Tokyo Interbank Offer Rate (“TIBOR™), as published on
the applicable Reuters screen page (or such other commercially available source providing such quotations as may be
designated by the Administrative Agent from time to time) on the Rate Determination Date with a term equivalent to such
Interest Period; and

(c) denominated in any other Alternative Currency (to the extent such Loans denominated in such currency will
bear interest at a term rate), the term rate per annum as designated with respect to such Alternative Currency at the time
such Alternative Currency is approved by the Administrative Agent and the relevant Lenders pursuant to Section 1.06
plus the adjustment (if any) determined by the Administrative Agent and the relevant Lenders pursuant to Section 1.06;

provided, that, if any Alternative Currency Term Rate shall be less than zero, such rate shall be deemed zero for purposes
of this Agreement.

“Alternative Currency Term Rate [.oan” means a Loan that bears interest at a rate based on the definition of “Alternative
Currency Term Rate.” All Alternative Currency Term Rate Loans must be denominated in an Alternative Currency.

“Applicable Percentage” means, with respect to any Lender at any time, (a) with respect to such Lender’s Revolving A
Commitment at any time, the percentage of the Aggregate Revolving A Commitments represented by such Lender’s Revolving A
Commitment at such time, subject to adjustment as provided in Section 2.15; provided that if the commitment of each Lender to
make Revolving A Loans and the obligation of the L/C Issuer to make L/C Credit Extensions have been terminated pursuant to
Section 9.02 or if the Aggregate Revolving A Commitments have expired, then the Applicable Percentage of each Lender with
respect to its Revolving A Commitment shall be determined based on the Applicable Percentage of such Lender most recently in
effect, giving effect to any subsequent assignments, (b) with respect to such Lender’s Revolving B Commitment at any time, the
percentage of the Aggregate Revolving B Commitments represented by such Lender’s Revolving B Commitment at such time,
subject to adjustment as provided in Section 2.15; provided that if the commitment of each Lender to make Revolving B Loans
has been terminated pursuant to Section 9.02 or if the Aggregate Revolving B Commitments have expired, then the Applicable
Percentage of each Lender with respect to its Revolving B Commitment shall be determined based on the Applicable Percentage
of such Lender most recently in effect, giving effect to any subsequent assignments, (c) with respect to such Lender’s Revolving
C Commitment at any time, the percentage of the Aggregate Revolving C Commitments represented by such Lender’s Revolving
C Commitment at such time, subject to adjustment as provided in Section 2.15; provided that if the commitment of each Lender
to make Revolving C Loans has been terminated pursuant to Section 9.02 or if the Aggregate Revolving C Commitments have
expired, then the Applicable Percentage of each Lender with respect to its Revolving C Commitment shall be determined based
on the Applicable Percentage of such Lender most recently in effect, giving effect to any subsequent assignments, (d) with
respect to such Lender’s Revolving D Commitment at any time, the percentage of the Aggregate Revolving D Commitments
represented by such Lender’s Revolving D Commitment at such time, subject to adjustment as provided in Section 2.15; provided
that if the commitment of each Lender to make Revolving D Loans has been terminated pursuant to Section 9.02 or if the
Aggregate Revolving D Commitments have expired, then the Applicable Percentage of each Lender with respect to its Revolving
D Commitment shall be determined based on the Applicable Percentage of such Lender most recently in effect, giving effect to
any subsequent assignments, (e) with respect to such Lender’s portion of the outstanding Term A Loan at any time, the
percentage of the outstanding principal amount of the Term A Loan held by such Lender at such time, (f) with respect to such
Lender’s portion of the outstanding Term B-3 Loan at any time, the percentage of the outstanding principal amount of the Term
B-3 Loan held by such Lender at such time, (g)
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with respect to such Lender’s portion of the outstanding Term B-4 Loan at any time, the percentage of the outstanding principal
amount of the Term B-4 Loan held by such Lender at such time, (h) with respect to such Lender’s portion of any outstanding
Incremental Term A Loan at any time, the percentage of the outstanding principal amount of such Incremental Term A Loan held
by such Lender at such time, and (i) with respect to such Lender’s portion of any outstanding Incremental Term B Loan at any
time, the percentage of the outstanding principal amount of such Incremental Term B Loan held by such Lender at such time. The
initial Applicable Percentage of each Lender is set forth opposite the name of such Lender on Schedule 2.01, on the Register, or
in the Assignment and Assumption or other document pursuant to which such Lender becomes a party hereto, as applicable.

“Applicable Rate” means (a) with respect to any Incremental Term Loan, the percentage(s) per annum set forth in the
Lender Joinder Agreement applicable thereto, (b) with respect to the Term B-3 Loan, 1.75% per annum in the case of
Eurocurrency Rate Loans and 0.75% per annum in the case of Base Rate Loans, (c) with respect to the Term B-4 Loan, 1.75% per
annum in the case of Eurocurrency Rate Loans and 0.75% per annum in the case of Base Rate Loans, (d) with respect to
Revolving D Loans, (i) from the Eighth Amendment Effective Date through and including July 23, 2020, (A) 2.25% per annum,
in the case of Eurocurrency Rate Loans, and (B) 1.25% per annum, in the case of Base Rate Loans, (ii) from July 24, 2020
through and including October 21, 2020, (A) 2.75% per annum, in the case of Eurocurrency Rate Loans, and (B) 1.75% per
annum, in the case of Base Rate Loans, (iii) from October 22, 2020 through and including January 19, 2021, (A) 3.25% per
annum, in the case of Eurocurrency Rate Loans, and (B) 2.25% per annum, in the case of Base Rate Loans, and (iv) thereafter,
(A) 3.75% per annum, in the case of Eurocurrency Rate Loans, and (B) 2.75% per annum, in the case of Base Rate Loans, and (e)
with respect to Revolving Loans (other than Revolving D Loans), the Term A Loan, Swing Line Loans, Letters of Credit and the
Commitment Fee, the following percentages per annum, based upon the Consolidated Leverage Ratio as set forth in the most
recent Compliance Certificate received by the Administrative Agent pursuant to Section 7.02(a):

Eurocurrency
Rate Loans/
Alternative
Currency
Pricing Consolidated Commitment | Letter of Credit [Loans/Swing Line| Base Rate
Tier Leverage Ratio Fee Fee Loans Loans
1 >3.75:1.0 0.35% 1.75% 1.75% 0.75%
>2.00:1.0

2 but < 3.75-1.0 0.30% 1.50% 1.50% 0.50%
3 <2.00:1.0 0.25% 1.25% 1.25% 0.25%

Any increase or decrease in the Applicable Rate resulting from a change in the Consolidated Leverage Ratio shall become
effective as of the first Business Day immediately following the date a Compliance Certificate is delivered pursuant to Section
7.02(a); provided, however, that if a Compliance Certificate is not delivered when due in accordance with such Section, then,
upon the request of the Required Lenders, Pricing Tier 1 shall apply as of the first Business Day after the date on which such
Compliance Certificate was required to have been delivered and shall continue to apply until the first Business Day immediately
following the date a Compliance Certificate is delivered in accordance with Section 7.02(a), whereupon the Applicable Rate shall
be adjusted based upon the calculation of the Consolidated Leverage Ratio contained in such
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Compliance Certificate. With respect to Revolving Loans (other than Revolving D Loans), the Term A Loan, Swing Line Loans,
Letters of Credit and the Commitment Fee, the Applicable Rate in effect from the Fifth Amendment Effective Date to the first
Business Day immediately following the date a Compliance Certificate is delivered pursuant to Section 7.02(a) for the fiscal
quarter of the Parent ending March 31, 2019 shall be determined based upon Pricing Tier 2. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary contained in this definition, the determination of the Applicable Rate for any period shall be subject to the provisions of
Section 2.10(b).

“Applicable Time” means, with respect to any borrowings and payments in any Alternative Currency, Australian Dollars
or New Zealand Dollars, the local time in the place of settlement for such currency as may be determined by the Administrative
Agent, the Swing Line Lender or the L/C Issuer, as the case may be, to be necessary for timely settlement on the relevant date in
accordance with normal banking procedures in the place of payment.

“Applicant Borrower” has the meaning specified in Section 2.16(a).

“Approved Fund” means any Fund that is administered or managed by (a) a Lender, (b) an Affiliate of a Lender or (c) an
entity or an Affiliate of an entity that administers or manages a Lender.

“Arrangers” means (a) except with respect to the Term B-4 Loan and the Ninth Amendment, (i) BofA Securities, Inc., in
its capacity as joint lead arranger and joint bookrunner, (ii) PNC Capital Markets, LLC, in its capacity as joint lead arranger and
joint bookrunner, and (iii) MUFG Bank, Ltd. (f/k/a The Bank of Tokyo Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd.), in its capacity as joint lead
arranger and joint bookrunner, and (b) with respect to the Term B-4 Loan and the Ninth Amendment, Bank of America, MUFG
Bank, Ltd., PNC Capital Markets, LLC, TD Securities (USA) LLC, Wells Fargo Securities, LL.C, BMO Capital Markets Corp.,
Capital One, National Association, Fifth Third Bank, National Association, Mizuho Bank, Ltd., Regions Capital Markets, and
The Bank of Nova Scotia, in each case, in its capacity as joint lead arranger and joint bookrunner.

“Assignee Group” means two or more Eligible Assignees that are Affiliates of one another or two or more Approved
Funds managed by the same investment advisor.

“Assignment and Assumption” means an assignment and assumption entered into by a Lender and an Eligible Assignee
(with the consent of any party whose consent is required by Section 11.06(b)), and accepted by the Administrative Agent, in
substantially the form of Exhibit H or any other form (including electronic documentation generated by use of an electronic
platform) approved by the Administrative Agent.

“Attributable Indebtedness” means, on any date, (a) in respect of any Capital Lease of any Person, the capitalized amount
thereof that would appear on a balance sheet of such Person prepared as of such date in accordance with GAAP, (b) in respect of
any Synthetic Lease of any Person, the capitalized amount of the remaining lease payments under the relevant lease that would
appear on a balance sheet of such Person prepared as of such date in accordance with GAAP if such lease were accounted for as a
Capital Lease and (c) in respect of any Receivables Facility of any Person, the amount of obligations outstanding on any date of
determination that would be characterized as principal if such Receivables Facility had been structured as a secured loan rather
than a sale. With respect to a Receivables Facility in which accounts and other assets are sold or contributed to a special purpose
entity (including FleetCor Funding LI.C), “Attributable Indebtedness” shall refer to the obligations of such special purpose entity.

“Audited Financial Statements” means the audited consolidated balance sheet of the Parent and its Subsidiaries for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, and the related
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consolidated statements of income or operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for such fiscal year of the Parent and its
Subsidiaries, including the notes thereto, audited by independent public accountants of recognized national standing and prepared
in conformity with GAAP.

“Australian Corporations Act” means Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).
“Australian Dollar” means the lawful currency of Australia.

“Availability Period” means, (a) with respect to the Revolving A Commitments, the period from and including the Third
Amendment Effective Date to the earliest of (i) the Maturity Date for the Revolving A Loans, (ii) the date of termination of the
Aggregate Revolving A Commitments pursuant to Section 2.06, and (iii) the date of termination of the commitment of each
Lender to make Revolving A Loans and of the obligation of the L/C Issuer to make L/C Credit Extensions pursuant to
Section 9.02; (b) with respect to the Revolving B Commitments, the period from and including the Third Amendment Effective
Date to the earliest of (i) the Maturity Date for the Revolving B Loans, (ii) the date of termination of the Aggregate Revolving B
Commitments pursuant to Section 2.06, and (iii) the date of termination of the commitment of each Lender to make Revolving B
Loans pursuant to Section 9.02; (c) with respect to the Revolving C Commitments, the period from and including the Third
Amendment Effective Date to the earliest of (i) the Maturity Date for the Revolving C Loans, (ii) the date of termination of the
Aggregate Revolving C Commitments pursuant to Section 2.06, and (iii) the date of termination of the commitment of each
Lender to make Revolving C Loans pursuant to Section 9.02; and (d) with respect to the Revolving D Commitments, the period
from and including the Eighth Amendment Effective Date to the earliest of (i) the Maturity Date for the Revolving D Loans, (ii)
the date of termination of the Aggregate Revolving D Commitments pursuant to Section 2.06, and (iii) the date of termination of
the commitment of each Lender to make Revolving D Loans pursuant to Section 9.02

“Bail-In Action” means the exercise of any Write-Down and Conversion Powers by the applicable Resolution Authority in
respect of any liability of an Affected Financial Institution.

“Bail-In Legislation” means, (a) with respect to any EEA Member Country implementing Article 55 of Directive 2014/59/EU of
the European Parliament and of the Council of the European Union, the implementing law, rule, regulation or requirement for
such EEA Member Country from time to time which is described in the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule, and (b) with respect to
the United Kingdom, Part I of the United Kingdom Banking Act 2009 (as amended from time to time) and any other law,
regulation or rule applicable in the United Kingdom relating to the resolution of unsound or failing banks, investment firms or
other financial institutions or their affiliates (other than through liquidation, administration or other insolvency proceedings).

“Bank of America” means Bank of America, N.A. and its successors.

“Base Rate” means for any day a fluctuating rate per annum equal to the highest of (a) the Federal Funds Rate plus
0.50%, (b) the rate of interest in effect for such day as publicly announced from time to time by Bank of America as its “prime
rate” and (c) the Eurocurrency Rate plus 1.00%; provided, that, notwithstanding the foregoing, for any determination of the Base
Rate with respect to Revolving D Loans, if the Base Rate for any such purpose shall be less than 2.00%, such rate shall be
deemed 2.00% for such purposes under this Agreement. The “prime rate” is a rate set by Bank of America based upon various
factors including Bank of America’s costs and desired return, general economic conditions and other factors, and is used as a
reference point for pricing some loans, which may be priced at, above, or below such announced rate. Any change in the “prime
rate” announced by Bank of America shall take effect at the opening of business on the day specified in the public announcement
of such change.
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“Base Rate I.oan” means a Loan that bears interest based on the Base Rate. Base Rate Loans shall be made only to the
Company or the Additional Borrower and shall be denominated in Dollars.

“Beneficial Ownership Certification” means a certification regarding beneficial ownership required by the Beneficial
Ownership Regulation.

“Beneficial Ownership Regulation” means 31 C.F.R. § 1010.230.

“Benefit Plan” means any of (a) an “employee benefit plan” (as defined in ERISA) that is subject to Title I of ERISA, (b)
a “plan” as defined in and subject to Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code or (c) any Person whose assets include (for
purposes of ERISA Section 3(42) or otherwise for purposes of Title I of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code)
the assets of any such “employee benefit plan” or “plan”.

“BHC Act Affiliate” of a party means an “affiliate” (as such term is defined under, and interpreted in accordance with, 12
U.S.C. 1841(k)) of such party.

“BofA Securities” means BofA Securities, Inc.
“Borrower” and “Borrowers” each has the meaning specified in the introductory paragraph hereto.
“Borrower Materials” has the meaning specified in Section 7.02.

“Borrowing” means each of the following: (a) a borrowing of Swing Line Loans pursuant to Section 2.04 and (b) a
borrowing consisting of simultaneous Loans of the same Type, in the same currency and, in the case of Eurocurrency Rate Loans
and Alternative Currency Term Rate Loans, having the same Interest Period made by the Lenders pursuant to Section 2.01.

“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks are authorized to
close under the Laws of, or are in fact closed in, New York, New York or the state where the Administrative Agent’s Office is
located and: (a) if such day relates to any interest rate settings as to a Eurocurrency Rate Loan denominated in Dollars or a
Domestic Swing Line Loan, any fundings, disbursements, settlements and payments in Dollars in respect of any such
Eurocurrency Rate Loan or such Domestic Swing Line Loan, or any other dealings in Dollars to be carried out pursuant to this
Agreement in respect of any such Eurocurrency Rate Loan or such Domestic Swing Line Loan, means any such day that is also a
London Banking Day; (b) if such day relates to any interest rate settings as to an Alternative Currency Loan denominated in
Euro, any fundings, disbursements, settlements and payments in Euro in respect of any such Eurocurrency Rate Loan, or any
other dealings in Euro to be carried out pursuant to this Agreement in respect of any such Alternative Currency Loan, means a
Business Day that is also a TARGET Day; (c) if such day relates to any interest rate settings as to an Alternative Currency Loan
denominated in (i) Sterling, means a day other than a day banks are closed for general business in L.ondon because such day is a
Saturday, Sunday or a legal holiday under the laws of the United Kingdom and (ii) Yen, means a day other than when banks are
closed for general business in Japan; and (d) if such day relates to any fundings, disbursements, settlements and payments in a
currency other than Euro in respect of an Alternative Currency Loan denominated in a currency other than Euro, or any other
dealings in any currency other than Euro to be carried out pursuant to this Agreement in respect of any such Alternative Currency
Loan (other than any interest rate settings), means any such day on which banks are open for foreign exchange business in the
principal financial center of the country of such currency.
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“Businesses” means, at any time, a collective reference to the businesses operated by the Company and its Subsidiaries at
such time.

“Cambridge Acquisition” means the acquisition by the Company, directly or indirectly, of all of the outstanding share
capital of the Additional Borrower, pursuant to and in accordance with that certain Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of
April 28, 2017 by and among Permicom Permits Services, Inc., the Company, the Parent, Cambridge Mercantile Corp. and the
other parties thereto.

“Cambridge Disposition” means the Disposition by Comdata Inc., a Delaware corporation, of the Cambridge Equity
Interests to FleetCor Luxembourg Holding1, a société a responsabilité limitée, incorporated under the laws of the Grand-Duchy
of Luxembourg, having its registered office at 5, rue Guillaume Kroll, L-1882 Luxembourg and registered with the Registre de
Commerce et des Sociétés, Luxembourg under number B121520.

“Cambridge Equity Interests” means twenty percent (20%) of the Equity Interests of the Additional Borrower owned by
Comdata Inc., a Delaware corporation.

“Capital I.ease” means, as applied to any Person, any lease of any property by that Person as lessee which, in accordance
with GAAP, is required to be accounted for as a capital lease on the balance sheet of that Person.

“Cash Collateralize” means to pledge and deposit with or deliver to the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the
Administrative Agent, L/C Issuer or Swing Line Lender (as applicable) and the Lenders, as collateral for L/C Obligations,
Obligations in respect of Swing Line Loans or obligations of Lenders to fund participations in respect of either thereof (as the
context may require), cash or deposit account balances or, if the L/C Issuer or Swing Line Lender benefitting from such collateral
shall agree in its sole discretion, other credit support, in each case pursuant to documentation in form and substance satisfactory
to (a) the Administrative Agent and (b) the L/C Issuer or the Swing Line Lender (as applicable). “Cash Collateral” shall have a
meaning correlative to the foregoing and shall include the proceeds of such cash collateral and other credit support.

“Cash Equivalents” means, as at any date, (a) securities issued or directly and fully guaranteed or insured by the United
States or any agency or instrumentality thereof (provided that the full faith and credit of the United States is pledged in support
thereof) having maturities of not more than twelve months from the date of acquisition, (b) Dollar denominated time deposits and
certificates of deposit of (i) any Lender, (ii) any domestic commercial bank of recognized standing having capital and surplus in
excess of $500,000,000 or (iii) any bank whose short-term commercial paper rating from S&P is at least A-1 or the equivalent
thereof or from Moody’s is at least P-1 or the equivalent thereof (any such bank being an “Approved Bank”), in each case with
maturities of not more than 270 days from the date of acquisition, (c) commercial paper and variable or fixed rate notes issued by
any Approved Bank (or by the parent company thereof) or any variable rate notes issued by, or guaranteed by, any domestic
corporation rated A-1 (or the equivalent thereof) or better by S&P or P-1 (or the equivalent thereof) or better by Moody’s and
maturing within six months of the date of acquisition, (d) repurchase agreements entered into by any Person with a bank or trust
company (including any of the Lenders) or recognized securities dealer having capital and surplus in excess of $500,000,000 for
direct obligations issued by or fully guaranteed by the United States in which such Person shall have a perfected first priority
security interest (subject to no other Liens) and having, on the date of purchase thereof, a fair market value of at least 100% of the
amount of the repurchase obligations and (e) Investments, classified in accordance with GAAP as current assets, in money
market investment programs registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 which are administered by reputable
financial institutions having capital of at least $500,000,000 and the
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portfolios of which are limited to Investments of the character described in the foregoing subdivisions (a) through (d).

“Change in Law” means the occurrence, after the date of this Agreement, of any of the following: (a) the adoption or
taking effect of any law, rule, regulation or treaty, (b) any change in any law, rule, regulation or treaty or in the administration,
interpretation, implementation or application thereof by any Governmental Authority or (c) the making or issuance of any
request, rule, guideline or directive (whether or not having the force of law) by any Governmental Authority; provided, that,
notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, (x) the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and all
requests, rules, guidelines or directives thereunder or issued in connection therewith and (y) all requests, rules, guidelines or
directives promulgated by the Bank for International settlements, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (or any successor
or similar authority) or the United States or foreign regulatory authorities, in each case pursuant to Basel III, shall in each case be
deemed to be a “Change in Law”, regardless of the date enacted, adopted or issued.

“Change of Control” means the occurrence of any of the following events:

(a) any “person” or “group” (as such terms are used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
but excluding any employee benefit plan of such person or its subsidiaries, and any person or entity acting in its capacity as trustee,
agent or other fiduciary or administrator of any such plan), other than Permitted Holders, becomes the “beneficial owner” (as defined
in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, except that a person or group shall be deemed to have
“beneficial ownership” of all Equity Interests that such person or group has the right to acquire, whether such right is exercisable
immediately or only after the passage of time (such right, an “option right”)), directly or indirectly, of thirty-five percent (35%) or
more of the Parent’s then outstanding Equity Interests entitled to vote for members of the board of directors or equivalent governing
body of the Parent on a fully diluted basis (and taking into account all such securities that such person or group has the right to
acquire pursuant to any option right); or

(b) the Parent shall cease to own and control, of record and beneficially, directly or indirectly, 100% of the Equity
Interests of the Company.

“Chevron Disposition” means the Disposition by the Company of the Purchased Assets (as such term is defined in the
Chevron Asset Purchase Agreement) to the Chevron Purchaser pursuant to the Chevron Asset Purchase Agreement.

“Chevron Asset Purchase Agreement” means that certain Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 26, 2018, by
and between the WEX Bank, a Utah-chartered bank, the Company, as the seller, and, with respect to the Canadian Accounts (as
defined in the Chevron Asset Purchase Agreement), WEX Canada, Ltd. and FleetCor Commercial Card Management (Canada)
Ltd.

“Chevron Purchaser” means, collectively, WEX Bank, a Utah-chartered bank, and, solely with respect to the Canadian
Accounts, (as defined in the Chevron Asset Purchase Agreement), WEX Canada, Ltd.

“Closing_Certificate” means that certain Officer’s Closing Certificate dated as of April 28, 2014 executed by the
Company in favor of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders.

“Collateral” means a collective reference to all property with respect to which Liens in favor of the Administrative Agent,
for the benefit of the holders of the Obligations, are purported to be granted pursuant to and in accordance with the terms of the
Collateral Documents.
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“Collateral Documents” means a collective reference to the Security Agreement and other security documents as may be
executed and delivered by the Loan Parties pursuant to the terms of Section 7.13 or 7.14.

“Comdata Acquisition” means the acquisition by the Parent, directly or indirectly, of all of the outstanding share capital of
the Target, pursuant to and in accordance with the Merger Agreement.

“Comdata Acquisition Costs” means (a) the purchase price for the Comdata Acquisition, (b) the refinancing or repayment
of the Indebtedness under the Existing Credit Agreement and certain third party indebtedness for borrowed money of the Target
and its Subsidiaries and (c) fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection with the Comdata Acquisition and the financing
therefor.

“Comdata Facilities” means the Term Loans and the portion of the Revolving L.oans necessary to finance the Comdata
Acquisition Costs on the Initial Borrowing Date.

“Commitment” means, as to each Lender, the Revolving A Commitment of such Lender, the Revolving B Commitment of
such Lender, the Revolving C Commitment of such Lender, the Revolving D Commitment of such Lender, the Term A Loan
Commitment of such Lender, the Term B-3 Loan Commitment of such Lender, the Term B-4 Loan Commitment of such Lender,
and/or the Incremental Term Loan Commitment of such Lender.

“Commitment Fee” has the meaning specified in Section 2.09(a).

“Commodity Exchange Act” means the Commodity Exchange Act (7 U.S.C. § 1 et seq.).

“Communication” has the meaning specified in Section 11.16.
“Company” has the meaning specified in the introductory paragraph hereto.
“Compliance Certificate” means a certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit F.

“Consolidated Capital Expenditures” means, for any period, for the Parent and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, all
capital expenditures, as determined in accordance with GAAP; provided, however, that Consolidated Capital Expenditures shall
not include (a) expenditures made with proceeds of any Involuntary Disposition to the extent such expenditures are used to
purchase property that is the same as or similar to the property subject to such Involuntary Disposition or (b) Permitted
Acquisitions.

“Consolidated Cash Taxes” means, for any period, for the Parent and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, the
aggregate of all taxes, as determined in accordance with GAAP, to the extent the same are paid in cash during such period.

“Consolidated EBITDA” means, for any period, for the Parent and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, an amount
equal to Consolidated Net Income for such period plus the following to the extent deducted in calculating such Consolidated Net
Income: (a) Consolidated Interest Charges for such period, (b) the provision for federal, state, local and foreign income taxes
payable by the Parent and its Subsidiaries for such period, (c) depreciation and amortization expense for such period, (d) non-
recurring fees, costs and expenses payable by the Parent and its Subsidiaries during such period (but not later than 12 months
after the Initial Borrowing Date) related to the closing of this Agreement and the consummation of the Comdata Acquisition, (e)
non-recurring fees, costs and expenses payable by the Parent and its Subsidiaries during such period (but not later than 12 months
after the consummation of the SVS Disposition)

CHAR1\1829960v3



related to the consummation of the SVS Disposition, (f) expected cost savings and synergies (net of actual amounts realized) for
such period that are reasonably identifiable and factually supportable related to the Comdata Acquisition and that either (i) were
actually implemented by the Parent or its Subsidiaries within such period or (ii) relate to the business that is the subject of the
Comdata Acquisition and are reasonably determined by the Parent to be probable based on specifically identifiable actions which
have been taken or will be taken within 12 months after the end of such period, (g) non-recurring fees, costs and expenses
payable by the Parent and its Subsidiaries during such period (but not later than 12 months after the consummation of the related
Permitted Acquisition) related to the consummation of Permitted Acquisitions during such period, and (h) non-cash stock-based
compensation expense, all as determined in accordance with GAAP.

“Consolidated Funded Indebtedness” means Funded Indebtedness of the Parent and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated
basis determined in accordance with GAAP.

“Consolidated Interest Charges” means, for any period, for the Parent and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, an
amount equal to the sum of (i) all interest, premium payments, debt discount, fees, charges and related expenses in connection
with borrowed money (including capitalized interest) or in connection with the deferred purchase price of assets, in each case to
the extent treated as interest in accordance with GAAP, plus (ii) the portion of rent expense with respect to such period under
Capital Leases that is treated as interest in accordance with GAAP plus (iii) the implied interest component of Synthetic Leases
with respect to such period.

“Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio” means, as of any date of determination, the ratio of (a) Consolidated EBITDA for
the period of the four fiscal quarters most recently ended to (b) Consolidated Interest Charges for such period.

“Consolidated I.everage Ratio” means, as of any date of determination, the ratio of (a) the total of (i) Consolidated
Funded Indebtedness (excluding Attributable Indebtedness and other Indebtedness (if any), in each case with respect to all
Receivables Facilities, in an aggregate amount not to exceed the greater of (A) $1,200,000,000 and (B) 125% of Consolidated
EBITDA for the most recent period of four fiscal quarters of the Parent for which financial statements have been delivered to the
Administrative Agent under Section 7.01(a) or (b)) as of such date minus (ii) Unrestricted Cash as of such date to (b)
Consolidated EBITDA for the period of the four fiscal quarters most recently ended.

“Consolidated Net Income” means, for any period, for the Parent and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, the net
income of the Parent and its Subsidiaries (excluding extraordinary gains) for that period, as determined in accordance with
GAAP. For the avoidance of doubt, Consolidated Net Income shall exclude any income (or loss) for such period of the
Unrestricted Subsidiary and its subsidiaries; provided that Consolidated Net Income shall include (without duplication) the
Parent’s equity in the net income of the Unrestricted Subsidiary and its subsidiaries for such period up to the amount of cash
actually distributed by the Unrestricted Subsidiary to the Parent or any Subsidiary during such period as a dividend or other
distribution.

“Consolidated Scheduled Funded Debt Payments” means for any period for the Parent and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated
basis, the sum of all scheduled payments of principal on Consolidated Funded Indebtedness, as determined in accordance with
GAAP. For purposes of this definition, “scheduled payments of principal” (a) shall be determined without giving effect to any
reduction of such scheduled payments resulting from the application of any voluntary or mandatory prepayments made during the
applicable period, (b) shall be deemed to include the Attributable Indebtedness in respect of Capital Leases, Synthetic Leases and
Receivables Facilities and (c) shall not include any voluntary prepayments or mandatory prepayments required pursuant to
Section 2.05.
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“Consolidated Tangible Assets” means, as of any date of determination, the book value of total assets of the Parent and its
Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, as determined in accordance with GAAP, excluding (a) assets that are considered to be
intangible assets under GAAP (including customer lists, goodwill, computer software, copyrights, trade names, trademarks,
patents, franchises and licenses) and (b) receivables and related assets that are sold in connection with, and pursuant to the terms
of, a Receivables Facility.

“Consolidated Working Capital” means, as of any date of determination, with respect to the Parent and its Subsidiaries on
a consolidated basis, without duplication, (a) all assets (other than cash and Cash Equivalents) which, in accordance with GAAP,
would be included as current assets on the Parent’s consolidated balance sheet at such date as current assets, minus (b) all
amounts, which, in accordance with GAAP, would be included as current liabilities (other than the current portion of long-term
debt and Capital Leases) on the Parent’s consolidated balance sheet at such date.

“Contractual Obligation” means, as to any Person, any provision of any security issued by such Person or of any
agreement, instrument or other undertaking to which such Person is a party or by which it or any of its property is bound.

“Control” means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or
policies of a Person, whether through the ability to exercise voting power, by contract or otherwise. “Controlling” and
“Controlled” have meanings correlative thereto. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, a Person shall be deemed to be
Controlled by another Person if such other Person possesses, directly or indirectly, power to vote 10% or more of the securities
having ordinary voting power for the election of directors, managing general partners or the equivalent.

“Covered Entity” means any of the following: (a) a “covered entity” as that term is defined in, and interpreted in
accordance with, 12 C.F.R. § 252.82(b); (b) a “covered bank” as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12
C.F.R. § 47.3(b); or (c) a “covered FSI” as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. § 382.2(b).

“Covered Party” has the meaning specified in Section 11.21.
“Credit Extension” means each of the following: (a) a Borrowing and (b) an L/C Credit Extension.

“Cumulative Credit” means, at any date, an amount, not less than zero in the aggregate, equal to 50% of the cumulative Excess Cash
Flow for the period (taken as one accounting period) commencing from the first day of the first full fiscal quarter following the Initial
Borrowing Date to the end of the fiscal quarter most recently ended in respect of which a Compliance Certificate has been delivered as
required hereunder, as such amount shall be reduced dollar for dollar from time to time prior to such date by the amount of the Cumulative
Credit applied to make Restricted Payments as permitted hereunder.

“Daily Floating_Eurocurrency Rate” means, with respect to any Domestic Swing Line Loan for any date, the rate per
annum equal to the London Interbank Offered Rate, or a comparable or successor rate which rate is approved by the
Administrative Agent, as published on the applicable Bloomberg screen page (or such other commercially available source
providing such quotations as may be designated by the Administrative Agent from time to time) at or about 11:00 a.m. (London
time) two (2) Business Days prior to such date for Dollar deposits being delivered in the London interbank market with a term
equivalent to one (1) month commencing that date; provided that (a) to the extent a comparable or successor rate is approved by
the Administrative Agent in connection herewith, the approved rate shall be applied in a manner consistent with market practice;
provided, further, that to the extent such market practice is not
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administratively feasible for the Administrative Agent, such approved rate shall be applied in a manner as otherwise reasonably
determined by the Administrative Agent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for all purposes under this Agreement, if the Daily
Floating Eurocurrency Rate shall be less than zero, such rate shall be deemed zero for purposes of this Agreement.

“Debt Issuance” means the issuance by any Loan Party or any Subsidiary of any Indebtedness other than Indebtedness
permitted under Section 8.03.

“Debtor Relief T.aws” means the Bankruptcy Code of the United States, and all other liquidation, conservatorship,
bankruptcy, assignment for the benefit of creditors, moratorium, rearrangement, receivership, insolvency, reorganization,
administration, or similar debtor relief Laws of the United States or other applicable jurisdictions from time to time in effect and
affecting the rights of creditors generally.

“Default” means any event or condition that constitutes an Event of Default or that, with the giving of any notice, the
passage of time, or both, would be an Event of Default.

“Default Rate” means (a) when used with respect to Obligations other than Letter of Credit Fees, an interest rate equal to
(i) the Base Rate plus (ii) the Applicable Rate, if any, applicable to Base Rate Loans plus (iii) 2% per annum; provided, however,
that with respect to a Eurocurrency Rate Loan, the Default Rate shall be an interest rate equal to the interest rate (including any
Applicable Rate and any Mandatory Cost) otherwise applicable to such Loan plus 2% per annum, in each case to the fullest
extent permitted by applicable Laws and (b) when used with respect to Letter of Credit Fees, a rate equal to the Applicable Rate
plus 2% per annum.

“Default Right” has the meaning assigned to that term in, and shall be interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. §§
252.81, 47.2 or 382.1, as applicable.

“Defaulting L.ender” means, subject to Section 2.15(b), any Lender that (a) has failed to (i) fund all or any portion of its
Loans within two (2) Business Days of the date such Loans were required to be funded hereunder unless such Lender notifies the
Administrative Agent and the Company in writing that such failure is the result of such Lender’s determination that one or more
conditions precedent to funding (each of which conditions precedent, together with any applicable default, shall be specifically
identified in such writing) has not been satisfied, or (ii) pay to the Administrative Agent, the L/C Issuer, the Swing Line Lender
or any other Lender any other amount required to be paid by it hereunder (including in respect of its participation in Letters of
Credit or Swing Line Loans) within two (2) Business Days of the date when due, (b) has notified the Company, the
Administrative Agent, the L/C Issuer or the Swing Line Lender in writing that it does not intend to comply with its funding
obligations hereunder or under other agreements in which it commits to extend credit generally, or has made a public statement to
that effect (unless such writing or public statement relates to such Lender’s obligation to fund a Loan hereunder and states that
such position is based on such Lender’s determination that a condition precedent to funding (which condition precedent, together
with any applicable default, shall be specifically identified in such writing or public statement) cannot be satisfied), (c) has failed,
within three (3) Business Days after written request by the Administrative Agent, to confirm in writing to the Administrative
Agent that it will comply with its prospective funding obligations hereunder (provided that such Lender shall cease to be a
Defaulting Lender pursuant to this clause (¢) upon receipt of such written confirmation by the Administrative Agent), or (d) has,
or has a direct or indirect parent company that has, (i) become the subject of a proceeding under any Debtor Relief Law, (ii) had
appointed for it a receiver, custodian, conservator, trustee, administrator, assignee for the benefit of creditors or similar Person
charged with reorganization or liquidation of its business or assets, including the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or any
other state or federal regulatory authority acting in such a capacity, or (iii) become the subject of a Bail-In Action; provided that a
Lender shall not be a
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Defaulting Lender solely by virtue of the ownership or acquisition of any Equity Interest in that Lender or any direct or indirect
parent company thereof by a Governmental Authority so long as such ownership interest does not result in or provide such
Lender with immunity from the jurisdiction of courts within the United States or from the enforcement of judgments or writs of
attachment on its assets or permit such Lender (or such Governmental Authority) to reject, repudiate, disavow or disaffirm any
contracts or agreements made with such Lender. Any determination by the Administrative Agent that a Lender is a Defaulting
Lender under any one or more of clauses (a)_through (d) above, and of the effective date of such status, shall be conclusive and
binding absent manifest error, and such Lender shall be deemed to be a Defaulting Lender (subject to Section 2.15(b)) as of the
date established therefor by the Administrative Agent in a written notice of such determination, which shall be delivered by the
Administrative Agent to the Company, the L/C Issuer, the Swing Line Lender and each other Lender promptly following such
determination.

“Designated Borrower” has the meaning specified in the introductory paragraph hereto. As of the Third Amendment
Effective Date, AllStar, FleetCor UK, Lux 2, FleetCor Australia and Fleetcor New Zealand are the only Designated Borrowers.

“Designated Borrower Notice” has the meaning specified in Section 2.16(a).

“Designated Borrower Obligations” means all advances to, and debts, liabilities, obligations, covenants and duties of, the
Designated Borrowers arising under any Loan Document or otherwise with respect to any Loan or Letter of Credit, whether
direct or indirect (including those acquired by assumption), absolute or contingent, due or to become due, now existing or
hereafter arising and including interest and fees that accrue after the commencement by or against any Designated Borrower or
any Affiliate thereof of any proceeding under any Debtor Relief Laws naming such Person as the debtor in such proceeding,
regardless of whether such interest and fees are allowed claims in such proceeding.

“Designated Borrower Request and Assumption Agreement” has the meaning specified in Section 2.16(a).

“Designated Jurisdiction” means any country or territory to the extent that such country or territory itself is the subject or
target of any Sanction.

“Disposition” or “Dispose” means the sale, transfer, license, lease or other disposition (including any Sale and Leaseback
Transaction) of any property by any Loan Party or any Subsidiary (including the Equity Interests of any Subsidiary), including
any sale, assignment, transfer or other disposal, with or without recourse, of any notes or accounts receivable or any rights and
claims associated therewith, but excluding (a) the sale, lease, license, transfer or other disposition of inventory in the ordinary
course of business; (b) the sale, lease, license, transfer or other disposition in the ordinary course of business of surplus, obsolete
or worn out property no longer used or useful in the conduct of business of any Loan Party and its Subsidiaries; (c) any sale,
lease, license, transfer or other disposition of property to any Loan Party or any Subsidiary; provided, that if the transferor of such
property is a Loan Party (i) the transferee thereof must be a Loan Party or (ii) to the extent such transaction constitutes an
Investment, such transaction is permitted under Section 8.02, (d) any Involuntary Disposition, and (e) any sales of accounts,
payments, payment intangibles, receivables, rights to future lease payments or residuals or similar rights to payment and related
assets in connection with, and pursuant to the terms of, a Receivables Facility permitted under Section 8.03(f).

“Dollar” and “$” mean lawful money of the United States.
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“Dollar Equivalent” means, at any time, (a) with respect to any amount denominated in Dollars, such amount, and
(b) with respect to any amount denominated in any Alternative Currency, Australian Dollars or New Zealand Dollars, the
equivalent amount thereof in Dollars as determined by the Administrative Agent, the Swing Line Lender or the L/C Issuer, as the
case may be, at such time on the basis of the Spot Rate (determined in respect of the most recent Revaluation Date) for the
purchase of Dollars with such currency.

“Domestic Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary that is organized under the laws of any state of the United States or the
District of Columbia.

“Domestic Swing Line I.oan” has the meaning specified in Section 2.04(a)(i).

“Domestic Swing Line L.oan Sublimit” means an amount equal to the lesser of (a) $110,000,000 (as such amount may be
increased in accordance with Section 2.02(f)(i)) and (b) the Aggregate Revolving A Commitments. The Domestic Swing Line
Loan Sublimit is part of and not in addition to the Aggregate Revolving A Commitments.

“Earn_Out Obligations” means, with respect to an Acquisition, all obligations of the Parent, the Company or any
Subsidiary to make earn out or other contingency payments (including purchase price adjustments, hold back and escrowed
amounts, non-competition and consulting agreements, or other indemnity obligations) pursuant to the documentation relating to
such Acquisition. The amount of any Earn Out Obligations at the time of determination shall be the aggregate amount, if any, of
such Earn Out Obligations that are required at such time under GAAP to be recognized as liabilities on the consolidated balance
sheet of the Parent and are reasonably likely to become payable.

“EEA Financial Institution” means (a) any credit institution or investment firm established in any EEA Member Country which is
subject to the supervision of an EEA Resolution Authority, (b) any entity established in an EEA Member Country which is a
parent of an institution described in clause (a) of this definition, or (c) any financial institution established in an EEA Member
Country which is a subsidiary of an institution described in clauses (a) or (b) of this definition and is subject to consolidated
supervision with its parent.

“EEA Member Country” means any of the member states of the European Union, Iceland, Liechtenstein, and Norway.

“EEA Resolution Authority” means any public administrative authority or any person entrusted with public administrative
authority of any EEA Member Country (including any delegee) having responsibility for the resolution of any EEA Financial
Institution.

“Effective Date” means October 24, 2014.

“Eighth Amendment Effective Date” means April 24, 2020.

“Eligible Assets” means property that is used or useful in the same or a similar line of business as the Parent and its
Subsidiaries were engaged in on the Third Amendment Effective Date (or any reasonable extension or expansions thereof).

“Environmental Laws” means any and all federal, state, local, foreign and other applicable statutes, laws, regulations,
ordinances, rules, judgments, orders, decrees, permits,
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licenses, agreements or governmental restrictions relating to pollution and the protection of the environment or the release of any
hazardous or toxic materials into the environment.

“Environmental Liability” means any liability, contingent or otherwise (including any liability for damages, costs of
environmental remediation, fines, penalties or indemnities), of the Company, any other Loan Party or any of their respective
Subsidiaries directly or indirectly resulting from or based upon (a) violation of any Environmental Law, (b) the generation, use,
handling, transportation, storage, treatment or disposal of any Hazardous Materials, (c) exposure to any Hazardous Materials, (d)
the release or threatened release of any Hazardous Materials into the environment or (e) any contract, agreement or other
consensual arrangement pursuant to which liability is assumed or imposed with respect to any of the foregoing.

“Equity _Interests” means, with respect to any Person, all of the shares of capital stock of (or other ownership or profit
interests in) such Person, all of the warrants, options or other rights for the purchase or acquisition from such Person of shares of
capital stock of (or other ownership or profit interests in) such Person, all of the securities convertible into or exchangeable for
shares of capital stock of (or other ownership or profit interests in) such Person or warrants, rights or options for the purchase or
acquisition from such Person of such shares (or such other interests), and all of the other ownership or profit interests in such
Person (including partnership, member or trust interests therein), whether voting or nonvoting, and whether or not such shares,
warrants, options, rights or other interests are outstanding on any date of determination.

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.

“ERISA Affiliate” means any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) under common control with the Parent
within the meaning of Section 414(b) or (c) of the Internal Revenue Code (and Sections 414(m) and (o) of the Internal Revenue
Code for purposes of provisions relating to Section 412 of the Internal Revenue Code).

“ERISA Event” means (a) a Reportable Event with respect to a Pension Plan; (b) the withdrawal of the Company or any
ERISA Affiliate from a Pension Plan subject to Section 4063 of ERISA during a plan year in which such entity was a “substantial
employer” as defined in Section 4001(a)(2) of ERISA or a cessation of operations that is treated as such a withdrawal under
Section 4062(e) of ERISA; (c) a complete or partial withdrawal by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate from a Multiemployer
Plan or receipt of notification by a Loan Party that a Multiemployer Plan is in reorganization; (d) the filing of a notice of intent to
terminate, the treatment of a Pension Plan amendment as a termination under Sections 4041 or 4041A of ERISA; (e) the
institution by the PBGC of proceedings to terminate a Pension Plan; (f) any event or condition which constitutes grounds under
Section 4042 of ERISA for the termination of, or the appointment of a trustee to administer, any Pension Plan; (g) the
determination that any Pension Plan is considered an at-risk plan or, to the knowledge of any Loan Party, a plan in endangered or
critical status within the meaning of Sections 430, 431 and 432 of the Internal Revenue Code or Sections 303, 304 and 305 of
ERISA; or (h) the imposition of any liability under Title IV of ERISA, other than for PBGC premiums due but not delinquent
under Section 4007 of ERISA, upon the Company or any ERISA Affiliate.

“EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule” means the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule published by the Loan Market Association (or any
successor person), as in effect from time to time.

“Euro” and “EUR” mean the single currency of the Participating Member States.
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“Eurocurrency Base Rate” means:
(a) for any Interest Period with respect to a Eurocurrency Rate Loan:

@) with respect to a Eurocurrency Rate Loan denominated in Dollars, the rate per annum equal to the London
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”), or a comparable or successor rate which rate is approved by the Administrative Agent,
as published on the applicable Bloomberg screen page (or such other commercially available source providing such
quotations as may be designated by the Administrative Agent from time to time) (in such case, the “LIBOR Rate”) at or
about 11:00 a.m. (London time) on the Rate Determination Date, for deposits in Dollars, with a term equivalent to such
Interest Period;

(ii) with respect to a Eurocurrency Rate Loan denominated in Australian Dollars, the rate per annum equal to the
Bank Bill Swap Reference Bid Rate (“BBSY”), or a comparable or successor rate which rate is approved by the
Administrative Agent, as published on the applicable Bloomberg screen page (or such other commercially available source
providing such quotations as may be designated by the Administrative Agent from time to time) at or about 10:30 a.m.
(Melbourne, Australia time) (or if different, the time specified by the Administrative Agent as the time at which BBSY or the
comparable or successor rate is normally published) on the Rate Determination Date with a term equivalent to such Interest
Period; and

(iii)  with respect to a Eurocurrency Rate Loan denominated in New Zealand Dollars, the rate per annum equal to
the Bank Bill Reference Bid Rate (“BKBM”), or a comparable or successor rate which rate is approved by the
Administrative Agent, as published on the applicable Bloomberg screen page (or such other commercially available source
providing such quotations as may be designated by the Administrative Agent from time to time) at or about 10:45 a.m.
(Auckland, New Zealand time) on the Rate Determination Date with a term equivalent to such Interest Period; and

(b) for any interest rate calculation with respect to a Base Rate Loan on any date, the rate per annum equal to the LIBOR
Rate, at approximately 11:00 a.m. London time determined two Business Days prior to such date for Dollar deposits being delivered
in the London interbank market for deposits in Dollars with a term of one month commencing that day;

provided that to the extent a comparable or successor rate is approved by the Administrative Agent in connection
herewith, the approved rate shall be applied in a manner consistent with market practice; provided, further that to the
extent such market practice is not administratively feasible for the Administrative Agent, such approved rate shall be
applied in a manner as otherwise reasonably determined by the Administrative Agent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for
all purposes under this Agreement, (x) with respect to any Loans (other than Revolving D Loans), if the Eurocurrency
Base Rate shall be less than zero, such rate shall be deemed zero for such purposes under this Agreement, and (y) with
respect to Revolving D Loans, if the Eurocurrency Base Rate shall be less than 1.00%, such rate shall be deemed 1.00%
for such purposes under this Agreement.

“Eurocurrency Rate” means (a) for any Interest Period with respect to any Eurocurrency Rate Loan, a rate per annum
determined by the Administrative Agent to be equal to the Eurocurrency Base Rate for such Eurocurrency Rate Loan for such
Interest Period and (b) for any day with respect to any Base Rate Loan bearing interest at a rate based on the Eurocurrency Rate,
a rate per annum determined by the Administrative Agent to be equal to the Eurocurrency Base Rate for such Base Rate Loan for
such day.

“Eurocurrency Rate T.oan” means a Loan that bears interest at a rate based on clause (a) of the definition of
“Eurocurrency Rate”. Eurocurrency Rate Loans may be denominated in
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Dollars, in Australian Dollars or in New Zealand Dollars. All Loans denominated in Australian Dollars or in New Zealand
Dollars must be Eurocurrency Rate Loans.

“Event of Default” has the meaning specified in Section 9.01.

“Excess Cash Flow” means, for any fiscal year of the Parent, an amount equal to the sum, without duplication, of (a)
Consolidated EBITDA for such fiscal year minus (b) Consolidated Capital Expenditures (other than those financed with non-
revolving Indebtedness) paid in cash for such fiscal year minus (c) Consolidated Interest Charges actually paid in cash by the
Parent and its Subsidiaries for such fiscal year minus (d) Consolidated Cash Taxes for such fiscal year minus (e) Consolidated
Scheduled Funded Debt Payments for such fiscal year minus (f) fees, costs and expenses added back to Consolidated EBITDA
pursuant to clauses (d), (e) and (g) of the definition of Consolidated EBITDA for such fiscal year minus (g) any cash
consideration paid in such period in connection with a Permitted Acquisition (net of any non-revolving Indebtedness (including
seller payments) used to finance such Permitted Acquisition) minus (h) the net increase in Consolidated Working Capital for such
fiscal year and plus (i) the net decrease in Consolidated Working Capital for such fiscal year, in each case on a consolidated basis
determined in accordance with GAAP.

“Excluded Property” means, with respect to any Loan Party, including any Person that becomes a Loan Party after the
Effective Date as contemplated by Section 7.12, (a) any owned or leased real property, (b) any owned or leased personal property
which is located outside of the United States, (c) any personal property (including, without limitation, motor vehicles) in respect
of which perfection of a Lien is not either (i) governed by the Uniform Commercial Code or (ii) effected by appropriate evidence
of the Lien being filed in either the United States Copyright Office or the United States Patent and Trademark Office, unless
requested by the Administrative Agent or the Required Lenders, (d) the Equity Interests of any direct Foreign Subsidiary of a
Loan Party to the extent not required to be pledged to secure the Obligations pursuant to Section 7.13(a), (e) any property which,
subject to the terms of Section 8.09, is subject to a Lien of the type described in Section 8.01(i) pursuant to documents which
prohibit such Loan Party from granting any other Liens in such property, (f) any accounts, payments, payment intangibles,
receivables, rights to future lease payments or residuals or similar rights to payment and related assets sold, contributed or
otherwise conveyed to FleetCor Funding LL.C, to any other Subsidiary of the Parent formed as a special purpose entity, or to any
other Person, or encumbered, in each case pursuant to a Receivables Facility permitted under Section 8.03(f), and (g) any deposit
accounts, securities accounts, securities, cash, Cash Equivalents and other similar investments permitted under money transmitter
laws of a Loan Party that holds a “money transmitter” (or similar) license under state Law, in the aggregate amount required by
applicable Law to be owned by a holder of such license free of Liens and other similar restrictions.

“Excluded Swap Obligation” means, with respect to any Guarantor, any Swap Obligation if, and to the extent that, all or a
portion of the Guaranty of such Guarantor of, or the grant under a Loan Document by such Guarantor of a security interest to
secure, such Swap Obligation (or any Guarantee thereof) is or becomes illegal under the Commodity Exchange Act (or the
application or official interpretation thereof) by virtue of such Guarantor’s failure for any reason to constitute an “eligible
contract participant” as defined in the Commodity Exchange Act (determined after giving effect to Section 7(b) of the Guaranty
and any and all guarantees of such Guarantor’s Swap Obligations by other Loan Parties) at the time the Guaranty of such
Guarantor, or grant by such Guarantor of a security interest, becomes effective with respect to such Swap Obligation. If a Swap
Obligation arises under a Master Agreement governing more than one Swap Contract, such exclusion shall apply only to the
portion of such Swap Obligation that is attributable to Swap Contracts for which such Guaranty or security interest becomes
illegal.
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“Excluded Taxes” means, with respect to the Administrative Agent, any Lender, the L/C Issuer or any other recipient of
any payment to be made by or on account of any obligation of any Borrower hereunder, (a) taxes imposed on or measured by its
overall net income (however denominated), and franchise taxes imposed on it (in lieu of net income taxes), by the jurisdiction (or
any political subdivision thereof) under the Laws of which such recipient is organized or in which its principal office is located
or, in the case of any Lender, in which its applicable Lending Office is located, (b) any branch profits taxes imposed by the
United States or any similar tax imposed by any other jurisdiction in which such Borrower is located, (c) any backup withholding
tax that is required by the Internal Revenue Code to be withheld from amounts payable to a Lender that has failed to comply with
Company under Section 11.13), any United States withholding tax that (i) is required to be imposed on amounts payable to such
Foreign Lender pursuant to the Laws in force at the time such Foreign Lender becomes a party hereto (or designates a new
Lending Office) or (ii) is attributable to such Foreign Lender’s failure or inability (other than as a result of a Change in Law) to
comply with Section 3.01(e)(ii), except to the extent that such Foreign Lender (or its assignor, if any) was entitled, at the time of
designation of a new Lending Office (or assignment), to receive additional amounts from the applicable Borrower with respect to
such withholding tax pursuant to Section 3.01(a)(ii), (a)(iii) or (c) and (e) any U.S. federal withholding Taxes imposed pursuant
to FATCA.

“Existing Credit Agreement” means that certain Credit Agreement dated as of June 22, 2011 among the Company and the
other Borrowers party thereto, the Parent and the other Guarantors party thereto, the Lenders party thereto and Bank of America,
N.A., as administrative agent, swing line lender and L/C issuer.

“Extended Revolving_ Commitment” means any Revolving Commitments (other than Revolving D Commitments) the
maturity of which shall have been extended pursuant to Section 2.18.

“Extended Revolving L.oans” means any Loans made pursuant to the Extended Revolving Commitments.

“Extended Term Loans” means any Term Loans and/or any Incremental Term Loans the maturity of which shall have
been extended pursuant to Section 2.18.

“Extension” has the meaning specified in Section 2.18.

“Extension Amendment” means an amendment to this Agreement providing for any Extended Term Loans and/or
Extended Revolving Commitments pursuant to Section 2.18, which shall be consistent with the applicable provisions of this
Agreement and otherwise satisfactory to the parties thereto and executed by the Company, the Administrative Agent and each
Lender providing a portion of any Extension evidenced thereby.

“Extension Offer” has the meaning specified in Section 2.18.

“Facilities” means, at any time, a collective reference to the facilities and real properties owned, leased or operated by any
Loan Party or any Subsidiary.

“FASB ASC” means the Accounting Standards Codification of the Financial Accounting Standards Board.

“FATCA” means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Internal Revenue Code, as of the Third Amendment Effective Date
(or any amended or successor version that is substantively
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comparable and not materially more onerous to comply with), any current or future regulations or official interpretations thereof,
any agreements entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code and any applicable intergovernmental
agreements with respect thereto.

“Federal Funds Rate” means, for any day, the rate per annum equal to the weighted average of the rates on overnight
federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System arranged by federal funds brokers on such day, as
published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York on the Business Day next succeeding such day; provided that (a) if such day
is not a Business Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be such rate on such transactions on the next preceding Business
Day as so published on the next succeeding Business Day, and (b) if no such rate is so published on such next succeeding
Business Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be the average rate (rounded upward, if necessary, to a whole multiple of
1/100 of 1%) charged to Bank of America on such day on such transactions as determined by the Administrative Agent.

“Fee Letter” means the letter agreement dated as of July 13, 2017 among the Company, Bank of America and BofA
Securities (as successor to Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated).

“Fifth Amendment Effective Date” means December 19, 2018.

“FleetCor Australia” means Business Fuel Cards Pty Ltd (formerly FleetCor Technologies Australia Pty Ltd), ACN 161
721 106, a proprietary limited company registered under the Corporations Act 2001 and taken to be registered in Victoria,
Australia.

“FleetCor New Zealand” means FleetCor Technologies New Zealand Limited, a company registered in New Zealand
under company number 4253058.

“FleetCor UK” means FleetCor UK Acquisition Limited, a private limited company registered in England and Wales.

“Foreign Lender” means any Lender that is organized under the Laws of a jurisdiction other than that in which the
applicable Borrower is resident for tax purposes (including such a Lender when acting in the capacity of the L/C Issuer). For
purposes of this definition, the United States, each State thereof and the District of Columbia shall be deemed to constitute a
single jurisdiction.

“Foreign Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary that is not a Domestic Subsidiary.

“Foreign Swing Line L.oan” has the meaning specified in Section 2.04(a)(ii).

“Foreign Swing Line L.oan Sublimit” means an amount equal to the lesser of (a) $110,000,000 (as such amount may be

Loan Sublimit is part of and not in addition to the Aggregate Revolving B Commitments.
“FRB” means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the United States.
“Fronting Exposure” means, at any time there is a Defaulting Lender, (a) with respect to the L/C Issuer, such Defaulting

Lender’s Applicable Percentage of the outstanding L./C Obligations other than L/C Obligations as to which such Defaulting
Lender’s participation obligation has been reallocated to other Lenders or Cash Collateralized in accordance with the
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terms hereof and (b) with respect to the Swing Line Lender, such Defaulting Lender’s Applicable Percentage of Swing Line
Loans other than Swing Line Loans as to which such Defaulting Lender’s participation obligation has been reallocated to other
Lenders or Cash Collateralized in accordance with the terms hereof.

“Fund” means any Person (other than a natural person) that is (or will be) engaged in making, purchasing, holding or
otherwise investing in commercial loans and similar extensions of credit in the ordinary course of its activities.

“Funded Indebtedness” means, as to any Person at a particular time, without duplication, all of the following, whether or
not included as indebtedness or liabilities in accordance with GAAP:

(o) all obligations for borrowed money, whether current or long-term (including Obligations with respect to any Loan or
Letter of Credit) and all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes, loan agreements or other similar
instruments;

(d) the principal portion of all obligations under conditional sale or other title retention agreements relating to property

purchased by the Parent or any Subsidiary (other than customary reservations or retentions of title under agreements with suppliers
entered into in the ordinary course of business);

(e) all obligations arising under letters of credit (including standby and commercial), bankers’ acceptances, bank
guaranties, surety bonds and similar instruments that support Funded Indebtedness of the types specified in clauses (a), (b) and (d)
through (i);

® all purchase money Indebtedness and other obligations in respect of the deferred purchase price of property or

services (other than (i) accrued expenses, settlement accounts or trade accounts payable incurred or arising in the ordinary course of
business and (ii) any Earn Out Obligations unless and until such Earn Out Obligations become a liability on the balance sheet of the
Company and its Subsidiaries in accordance with GAAP);

(8) the Attributable Indebtedness of Capital Leases, Receivables Facilities and Synthetic Leases;

(h) all obligations of such Person to purchase, redeem, retire, defease or otherwise make any payment in respect of any
Equity Interests in such Person or any other Person prior to the Maturity Date or the Incremental Term Loan Maturity Date, valued,
in the case of a redeemable preferred interest, at the greater of its voluntary or involuntary liquidation preference plus accrued and
unpaid dividends;

@) all Funded Indebtedness of others secured by (or for which the holder of such Funded Indebtedness has an existing
right, contingent or otherwise, to be secured by) any Lien on, or payable out of the proceeds of production from, property owned or
acquired by such Person, whether or not the obligations secured thereby have been assumed;

G all Guarantees with respect to Funded Indebtedness of the types specified in clauses (a) through (g) above of another
Person; and

k) all Funded Indebtedness of the types referred to in clauses (a) through (h) above of any partnership or any other form
of legal entity in which such Person is a general partner or joint venturer but only to the extent such Funded Indebtedness is recourse
to such Person.

For purposes hereof, the amount of any direct obligation arising under letters of credit (including standby and commercial),

bankers’ acceptances, bank guaranties, surety bonds and similar instruments shall be the maximum amount available to be drawn
thereunder.
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“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States set forth in the opinions and
pronouncements of the Accounting Principles Board and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and statements
and pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board, consistently applied and as in effect from time to time,
subject to Section 1.03.

“Governmental Authority” means the government of the United States or any other nation, or of any political subdivision
thereof, whether state or local, and any agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity
exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to government
(including (a) any supra national bodies such as the European Union or the European Central Bank and (b) any self-regulatory
organization established under statute or any stock exchange).

“Guarantee” means, as to any Person, (a) any obligation, contingent or otherwise, of such Person guaranteeing or having
the economic effect of guaranteeing any Indebtedness payable by another Person (the “primary obligor”) in any manner, whether
directly or indirectly, and including any obligation of such Person, direct or indirect, (i) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply
funds for the purchase or payment of) such Indebtedness, (ii) to purchase or lease property, securities or services for the purpose
of assuring the obligee in respect of such Indebtedness of the payment of such Indebtedness, (iii) to maintain working capital,
equity capital or any other financial statement condition or liquidity or level of income or cash flow of the primary obligor so as
to enable the primary obligor to pay such Indebtedness, or (iv) entered into for the purpose of assuring in any other manner the
obligee in respect of such Indebtedness of the payment or performance thereof or to protect such obligee against loss in respect
thereof (in whole or in part), or (b) any Lien on any assets of such Person securing any Indebtedness of any other Person, whether
or not such Indebtedness is assumed by such Person (or any right, contingent or otherwise, of any holder of such Indebtedness to
obtain any such Lien). The amount of any Guarantee shall be deemed to be an amount equal to the stated or determinable amount
of the related primary obligation, or portion thereof, in respect of which such Guarantee is made or, if not stated or determinable,
the maximum reasonably anticipated liability in respect thereof as determined by the guaranteeing Person in good faith. The term
“Guarantee” as a verb has a corresponding meaning.

“Guarantors” means (a) the Parent, (b) the Company, in its capacity as a guarantor of (i) the Designated Borrower
Obligations and the Obligations of the Additional Borrower, (ii) Obligations under any Swap Contract between any Loan Party
(other than any Designated Borrower) and any Swap Bank that is permitted to be incurred pursuant to Section 8.03(d), (iii)
Obligations under any Treasury Management Agreement between any Loan Party (other than any Designated Borrower) and any
Treasury Management Bank, and (iv) any Swap Obligation of a Specified Guarantor (determined before giving effect to
Sections 2 and 7(b) of the Guaranty) under the Guaranty, (c) each Domestic Subsidiary of the Parent and each other Person that
joins as a Guarantor pursuant to Section 7.12(a), (d) the Additional Borrower, in its capacity as a guarantor of (i) the Designated
Borrower Obligations and the Obligations of the Company, (ii) Obligations under any Swap Contract between any Loan Party
(other than any Designated Borrower) and any Swap Bank that is permitted to be incurred pursuant to Section 8.03(d), (iii)
Obligations under any Treasury Management Agreement between any Loan Party (other than any Designated Borrower) and any
Treasury Management Bank, and (iv) any Swap Obligation of a Specified Guarantor (determined before giving effect to
Sections 2 and 7(b) of the Guaranty) under the Guaranty, and (e) the successors and permitted assigns of the foregoing.

“Guaranty” means the Guaranty Agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit N executed in favor of the Administrative
Agent, for the benefit of the holders of the Obligations, by each of the Guarantors.
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“Hazardous Materials” means all explosive or radioactive substances or wastes and all hazardous or toxic substances,
wastes or other pollutants, including petroleum or petroleum distillates, asbestos or asbestos-containing materials,
polychlorinated biphenyls, radon gas, infectious or medical wastes and all other substances or wastes of any nature regulated
pursuant to any Environmental Law.

“Honor Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.03(c).

“Immaterial Subsidiary” means, at any time, a Subsidiary that (a) as of the last day of the fiscal quarter of the Parent most
recently ended for which financial statements are available, did not have, together with its respective Subsidiaries, assets in
excess of 3% of the aggregate consolidated total assets of the Parent and its Subsidiaries at the end of such fiscal quarter and (b)
for the period of four consecutive fiscal quarters of the Parent most recently ended for which financial statements are available,
did not have, together with its respective Subsidiaries, revenues in excess of 3% of the consolidated revenues of the Parent and its
Subsidiaries for such period.

“Incremental Facility Amendment” has the meaning specified in Section 2.02(f).

“Incremental Term A [.oan” means an Incremental Term Loan that (a) satisfies each of the Incremental Term A Loan
Conditions and (b) does not satisfy each of the Incremental Term B Loan Conditions.

“Incremental Term A I.oan Conditions” has the meaning specified in Section 2.02(f).

“Incremental Term B Loan” means an Incremental Term Loan that satisfies each of the Incremental Term B Loan
Conditions (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Term B-4 Loan).

“Incremental Term B Loan Conditions” has the meaning specified in Section 2.02(f).

“Incremental Term Loan Lender” means each of the Persons identified as an “Incremental Term Loan Lender” in the
Lender Joinder Agreement with respect to any Incremental Term Loan (including, for the avoidance of doubt, each Term B-4
Lender), together with their respective successors and assigns.

“Incremental Term Loan” has the meaning provided in Section 2.02(f) (and for the avoidance of doubt, includes the Term
B-4 Loan).

“Incremental Term Loan Commitment” means, as to each Incremental Term Loan Lender, the commitment of such
Incremental Term Loan Lender to make the applicable Incremental Term Loan hereunder pursuant to the applicable Lender
Joinder Agreement; provided that, at any time after the funding of any Incremental Term Loan, determination of “Required
Lenders” shall include the Outstanding Amount of such Incremental Term Loan.

“Incremental Term Loan Maturity Date” (a) as to any Incremental Term Loan shall be the date set forth in the Lender
Joinder Agreement applicable thereto and (b) as to the Term B-4 Loan shall be April 30, 2028; provided, however, that if such
date is not a Business Day, the Incremental Term Loan Maturity Date for the Term B-4 Loan shall be the immediately preceding
Business Day.

“Incremental Term Note” has the meaning specified in Section 2.11(a).
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“Indebtedness” means, as to any Person at a particular time, without duplication, all of the following, whether or not
included as indebtedness or liabilities in accordance with GAAP:

()] all Funded Indebtedness;
(m) the Swap Termination Value of any Swap Contract;

(n) all Guarantees with respect to outstanding Indebtedness of the types specified in clauses (a) and (b) above of any
other Person; and

(o) all Indebtedness of the types referred to in clauses (a) through (c) above of any partnership or any other form of legal
entity in which such Person is a general partner or joint venturer but only to the extent such Indebtedness is recourse to such Person.

“Indemnified Taxes” means Taxes other than Excluded Taxes and Other Taxes.

“Indemnitee” has the meaning specified in Section 11.04(b).

“Information” has the meaning specified in Section 11.07.

“Information Memorandum” shall mean the Confidential Information Memorandum dated September, 2014 relating to
the Parent and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, as it may be supplemented or

amended.

“Initial Borrowing Date” means November 14, 2014.

“Interest Payment Date” means (a) as to any Eurocurrency Rate Loan, the last day of each Interest Period applicable to
such Loan and the applicable Maturity Date or the Incremental Term Loan Maturity Date, as applicable; provided, however, that
if any Interest Period for a Eurocurrency Rate Loan exceeds three months, the respective dates that fall every three months after
the beginning of such Interest Period shall also be Interest Payment Dates; (b) as to any Base Rate Loan, the last Business Day of
each March, June, September and December and the applicable Maturity Date or the Incremental Term Loan Maturity Date, as
applicable; (c) as to any Alternative Currency Daily Rate Loan, the last Business Day of each calendar month and the Maturity
Date; (d) as to any Alternative Currency Term Rate Loan, the last day of each Interest Period applicable to such Loan; provided,
however, that if any Interest Period for an Alternative Currency Term Rate Loan exceeds three months, the respective dates that
fall every three months after the beginning of such Interest Period shall be Interest Payment Dates; (e) as to any Domestic Swing
Line Loan, the last Business Day of each March, June, September and December and the Maturity Date with respect to interest
on Domestic Swing Line Loans accruing since the last such date; and (f) as to any Foreign Swing Line Loan, the last Business
Day of each calendar month and the Maturity Date with respect to interest on Foreign Swing Line Loans accruing since the last
such date.

“Interest Period” means, as to each Eurocurrency Rate Loan and Alternative Currency Term Rate Loan, the period
commencing on the date such Loan is disbursed or converted to or continued as a Eurocurrency Rate Loan or Alternative
Currency Term Rate Loan, as applicable, and ending on the date one, three or six months thereafter (in each case, subject to
availability for the interest rate applicable to the relevant currency), as selected by the applicable Borrower in its Loan Notice,
provided that:

() any Interest Period that would otherwise end on a day that is not a Business Day shall be extended to the next
succeeding Business Day unless such Business Day falls in another calendar month, in which case such Interest Period shall end on
the next preceding Business Day;
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(q) any Interest Period that begins on the last Business Day of a calendar month (or on a day for which there is no
numerically corresponding day in the calendar month at the end of such Interest Period) shall end on the last Business Day of the
calendar month at the end of such Interest Period;

(3} no Interest Period with respect to any Revolving Loan shall extend beyond the Maturity Date for such Revolving
Loan;

(s) no Interest Period with respect to any Term Loan shall extend beyond the Maturity Date for such Term Loan; and

® no Interest Period with respect to any Incremental Term Loan shall extend beyond the Incremental Term Loan

Maturity Date for such Incremental Term Loan.

“Interim Financial Statements” means the unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Parent and its Subsidiaries
for the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2017, including balance sheets and statements of income or operations, shareholders’
equity and cash flows.

“Internal Revenue Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Investment” means, as to any Person, any direct or indirect acquisition or investment by such Person, whether by means
of (a) the purchase or other acquisition of Equity Interests of another Person, (b) a loan, advance or capital contribution to,
Guarantee of Indebtedness or assumption of debt of, or purchase or other acquisition of any other debt or equity participation or
interest in, another Person, including any partnership or joint venture interest in such other Person and any arrangement pursuant
to which the investor Guarantees Indebtedness of such other Person, or (c) an Acquisition; provided that notwithstanding
anything in this Agreement to the contrary, no purchase by any Loan Party of fuel-related accounts receivable, whether pursuant
to a factoring or similar arrangement, pursuant to the establishment, acquisition or operation of a private label credit card
program or otherwise, and whether for a premium (so long as validated by a third party appraisal delivered by the Company to
the Administrative Agent), at face value or at a discount, shall constitute an Investment for purposes of this Agreement. For
purposes of covenant compliance, the amount of any Investment shall be the amount actually invested, without adjustment for
subsequent increases or decreases in the value of such Investment.

“Involuntary Disposition” means any loss of, damage to or destruction of, or any condemnation or other taking for public
use of, any property of any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries.

“IP Rights” has the meaning specified in Section 6.17.
“IRS” means the United States Internal Revenue Service.

“ISP” means, with respect to any Letter of Credit, the “International Standby Practices 1998 published by the Institute of
International Banking Law & Practice, Inc. (or such later version thereof as may be in effect at the time of issuance).

“Issuer Documents” means with respect to any Letter of Credit, the Letter of Credit Application, and any other document,

agreement and instrument entered into by the L/C Issuer and the Company (or any Subsidiary) or in favor of the L/C Issuer and
relating to any such Letter of Credit.

CHAR1\1829960v3



“Joinder Agreement” means a joinder agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit G executed and delivered by a
Domestic Subsidiary in accordance with the provisions of Section 7.12(a).

“Laws” means, collectively, all international, foreign, federal, state and local statutes, treaties, rules, guidelines,
regulations, ordinances, codes and administrative or judicial precedents or authorities, including the interpretation or
administration thereof by any Governmental Authority charged with the enforcement, interpretation or administration thereof,
and all applicable administrative orders, directed duties, requests, licenses, authorizations and permits of, and agreements with,
any Governmental Authority, in each case whether or not having the force of law.

“L/C Advance” means, with respect to each Lender, such Lender’s funding of its participation in any L/C Borrowing in
accordance with its Applicable Percentage. All L/C Advances shall be denominated in Dollars.

“L/C Borrowing” means an extension of credit resulting from a drawing under any Letter of Credit which has not been
reimbursed on the date when made or refinanced as a Borrowing of Revolving A Loans. All L/C Borrowings shall be
denominated in Dollars.

“L/C Credit Extension” means, with respect to any Letter of Credit, the issuance thereof or extension of the expiry date
thereof, or the increase of the amount thereof.

“L/C Issuer” means Bank of America in its capacity as issuer of Letters of Credit hereunder, or any successor issuer of
Letters of Credit hereunder.

“L/C _Obligations” means, as at any date of determination, the aggregate amount available to be drawn under all
outstanding Letters of Credit plus the aggregate of all Unreimbursed Amounts, including all L/C Borrowings. For purposes of
computing the amount available to be drawn under any Letter of Credit, the amount of such Letter of Credit shall be determined
in accordance with Section 1.09. For all purposes of this Agreement, if on any date of determination a Letter of Credit has
expired by its terms but any amount may still be drawn thereunder by reason of the operation of Rule 3.14 of the ISP, such Letter
of Credit shall be deemed to be “outstanding” in the amount so remaining available to be drawn.

“Lender Joinder Agreement” means a joinder agreement, substantially in the form of Exhibit I, executed and delivered in
accordance with the provisions of Section 2.02(f).

“Lenders” means each of the Persons identified as a “Lender” on the signature pages hereto, each Incremental Term Loan
Lender, each other Person that becomes a “Lender” in accordance with this Agreement (including, for the avoidance of doubt,
each Revolving D Lender) and, in each case, their successors and assigns and, as the context requires, includes the Swing Line
Lender.

“Lending_Office” means, as to any Lender, the office or offices of such Lender described as such in such Lender’s
Administrative Questionnaire, or such other office or offices as a Lender may from time to time notify the Company and the
Administrative Agent which office may include any Affiliate of such Lender or any domestic or foreign branch of such Lender or
such Affiliate. Unless the context otherwise requires each reference to a Lender shall include its applicable Lending Office.

“Letter of Credit” means any standby letter of credit issued hereunder providing for the payment of cash upon the
honoring of a presentation thereunder. Letters of Credit may be
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denominated in Dollars or in an Alternative Currency, Australian Dollars or New Zealand Dollars.

“Letter of Credit Application” means an application and agreement for the issuance or amendment of a letter of credit in
the form from time to time in use by the L/C Issuer.

“Letter of Credit Expiration Date” means the day that is seven Business Days prior to the Maturity Date then in effect for
the Revolving A Loans (or, if such day is not a Business Day, the next preceding Business Day).

“Letter of Credit Fee” has the meaning specified in Section 2.03(h).
“Letter of Credit Sublimit” means an amount equal to the lesser of (a) $20,000,000 (as such amount may be increased in

and not in addition to, the Aggregate Revolving A Commitments.

“Leverage Increase Period” has the meaning specified in Section 8.11(a).

“LIBOR Screen Rate” means the LIBOR quote on the applicable screen page the Administrative Agent designates to
determine LIBOR (or such other commercially available source providing such quotations as may be designated by the
Administrative Agent from time to time).

“LIBOR Successor Rate” has the meaning specified in Section 3.07.

“LIBOR Successor Rate Conforming_ Changes” means, with respect to any proposed LIBOR Successor Rate, any
conforming changes to the definition of Base Rate, Interest Period, timing and frequency of determining rates and making
payments of interest and other administrative matters as may be appropriate, in the discretion of the Administrative Agent, to
reflect the adoption of such LIBOR Successor Rate and to permit the administration thereof by the Administrative Agent in a
manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the Administrative Agent determines that adoption of any portion of
such market practice is not administratively feasible or that no market practice for the administration of such LIBOR Successor
Rate exists, in such other manner of administration as the Administrative Agent determines in consultation with the Company).

“Lien” means any mortgage, pledge, hypothecation, assignment, deposit arrangement, encumbrance, lien (statutory or
other), charge, or preference, priority or other security interest or preferential arrangement in the nature of a security interest of
any kind or nature whatsoever (including any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, any easement, right of way or
other encumbrance on title to real property, and any financing lease having substantially the same economic effect as any of the
foregoing).

“Limited Conditionality Acquisition” means any Permitted Acquisition (a) whose consummation is not conditioned on the
obtaining of third-party financing, and (b) for which the outside date for the consummation thereof occurs no more than 120 days
after the definitive acquisition agreement governing such Permitted Acquisition is executed.

“Loan” means an extension of credit by a Lender to a Borrower under Article II in the form of a Revolving Loan, Swing
Line Loan, Term Loan or any Incremental Term Loan.

“Loan Documents” means this Agreement, the Guaranty, each Designated Borrower Request and Assumption Agreement,
each Designated Borrower Notice, each Note, each Issuer
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Document, each Joinder Agreement, each Lender Joinder Agreement, each joinder document or other agreement executed and
delivered by the Additional Borrower pursuant to Section 7.12(b), each Refinancing Amendment, any intercreditor agreement
entered into by the Administrative Agent in connection with any Permitted First Priority Refinancing Indebtedness and/or any
Permitted Junior Priority Refinancing Indebtedness, any Extension Amendment, any agreement creating or perfecting rights in
Cash Collateral pursuant to the provisions of Section 2.14 of this Agreement, the Collateral Documents and the Fee Letter.

“Loan Notice” means a notice of (a) a Borrowing of Loans, (b) a conversion of Loans from one Type to the other, or (c) a
continuation of Eurocurrency Rate Loans or Alternative Currency Term Rate Loans, in each case pursuant to Section 2.02(a),
which shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit A or such other form as may be approved by the Administrative Agent
(including any form on an electronic platform or electronic transmission system as shall be approved by the Administrative
Agent) appropriately completed and signed by a Responsible Officer of the Company or other applicable Borrower.

“Loan Party” means the Company, each Designated Borrower, the Additional Borrower (if the Additional Borrower
becomes a Borrower hereunder pursuant to Section 7.12(b)) and each Guarantor, and “Loan Parties” means all such Persons,
collectively.

“London Banking Day” means any day on which dealings in Dollar deposits are conducted by and between banks in the
London interbank eurodollar market.

“Luxembourg_Partnership” means FleetCor Technologies Operating Company — CFN Holding Co., a company
incorporated as a société en nom collectif (general corporate partnership) under the laws of Luxembourg, having its registered
office at 5, Rue Guillaume Kroll, L-1882 Luxembourg, having a partnership capital of EUR 137,501 and registered with the
Luxembourg Register of Commerce and Companies under number B-121.519.

“Lux 2” means FleetCor Luxembourg Holding2, a société a responsabilité limitée incorporated under the laws of the
Grand-Duchy of Luxembourg, having its registered office at 5, rue Guillaume Kroll, L.-1882 Luxembourg and registered with the
Registre de Commerce et des Sociétés, Luxembourg under number B 121.980.

“Mandatory_Cost” means, with respect to any period, the percentage rate per annum determined in accordance with
Schedule 1.01.

“Master Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the definition of “Swap Contract.”

“Material Acquisition” means a Permitted Acquisition for which total aggregate cash consideration therefor exceeds
$150,000,000.

“Material Acquisition Pro Forma Calculation” means, to the extent made in connection with determining the
permissibility of (a) any Permitted Acquisition that is a Material Acquisition, the calculations required by clause (v) in the
proviso of the definition of “Permitted Acquisition”, (b) an increase in the Aggregate Revolving A Commitments in connection

“Material Adverse Effect” means (a) a material adverse change in, or a material adverse effect on, the operations,
business, assets, properties, liabilities (actual or contingent) or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Parent and its
Subsidiaries, taken as a whole; (b) a
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material impairment of the rights and remedies of the Administrative Agent or any Lender under any Loan Document, or of the
ability of any Borrower or any Guarantor to perform its obligations under any Loan Documents to which it is a party; or (c) a
material adverse effect upon the legality, validity, binding effect or enforceability against any Borrower or any Guarantor of any
Loan Document to which it is a party.

“Material Foreign Subsidiary” means any first-tier Foreign Subsidiary of the Company or any Guarantor the assets or
revenues of which, together with the assets or revenues of its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, account for at least 3% of the
total assets or revenues, as applicable, of the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis; provided that at no time shall
the aggregate amount of assets or revenues of all first-tier Foreign Subsidiaries, together with the assets or revenues of their
Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, with respect to which a pledge of Equity Interests of such first-tier Foreign Subsidiaries is
not provided exceed 10% of the total assets or revenues, as applicable, of the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated
basis.

“Maturity Date” means (a) with respect to the Revolving Loans (other than the Revolving D Loans), Swing Line Loans,
Letters of Credit (and the related L/C Obligations) and the Term A Loan, December 19, 2023, (b) with respect to the Term B-3
Loan, August 2, 2024, (c) with respect to each Incremental Term Loan, the Incremental Term Loan Maturity Date applicable to
such Incremental Term Loan, and (d) with respect to the Revolving D Loans, April 23, 2021; provided, however, that, in each
case, if such date is not a Business Day, the applicable Maturity Date shall be the next preceding Business Day.

“Merger Agreement” means that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of August 12, 2014 by and among the
Parent, FCHC Project, Inc., Ceridian LLC and the Target.

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and any successor thereto.

“Multiemployer Plan” means any employee benefit plan of the type described in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA, to which
the Company or any ERISA Affiliate makes or is obligated to make contributions, or during the preceding five plan years, has
made or been obligated to make contributions.

“Multiple Employer Plan” means a Plan which has two or more contributing sponsors (including the Company or any
ERISA Affiliate) at least two of whom are not under common control, as such a plan is described in Section 4064 of ERISA.

“Net Cash Proceeds” means the aggregate cash or Cash Equivalents proceeds received by any Loan Party or any
Subsidiary in respect of any Disposition, Involuntary Disposition or Debt Issuance, net of (a) direct costs incurred in connection
therewith (including, without limitation, legal, accounting and investment banking fees, and sales commissions), (b) taxes paid or
payable as a result thereof and (c) in the case of any Disposition or Involuntary Disposition, the amount necessary to retire any
Indebtedness secured by a Permitted Lien (ranking senior to any Lien of the Administrative Agent) on the related property; it
being understood that “Net Cash Proceeds” shall include, without limitation, any cash or Cash Equivalents received upon the sale
or other disposition of any non-cash consideration received by any Loan Party or any Subsidiary in any Disposition or Debt
Issuance.

“New Zealand Dollar” means the lawful currency of New Zealand.
“NexTraq _Disposition” means the sale, transfer or other disposition by the Company of all of the Equity Interests of Fleet

Management Holding Corporation, a Delaware corporation (which owns all of the Equity Interests of Discrete Wireless, Inc., a
Georgia corporation).
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“Ninth Amendment” means the Ninth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of the Ninth Amendment Effective
Date, among the Company, the Designated Borrowers party thereto, the Additional Borrower, the other Guarantors party thereto,
the Term B-4 Lenders party thereto, and the Administrative Agent.

“Ninth Amendment Effective Date” means April 30, 2021.

“Non-Consenting I.ender” means any Lender that does not consent to a proposed change, waiver, discharge or termination
with respect to any Loan Document that (a) requires unanimous consent of all Lenders or all Lenders directly affected thereby (as
applicable) in accordance with the terms of Section 11.01 and has been approved by the Required Lenders or (b) requires the
consent of only Lenders of an Affected Tranche in accordance with the terms of Section 11.01 and has been approved by Lenders
holding more than 50% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of all Loans (and unutilized Commitments, if any) of the
Affected Tranche.

“Note” or “Notes” means the Revolving Notes, the Swing Line Note, the Term Notes and/or the Incremental Term Notes,
individually or collectively, as appropriate.

“Notice of L.oan Prepayment” means a notice of prepayment with respect to a Loan, which shall be substantially in the
form of Exhibit O or such other form as may be approved by the Administrative Agent (including any form on an electronic
platform or electronic transmission system as shall be approved by the Administrative Agent), appropriately completed and
signed by a Responsible Officer of the Company or other applicable Borrower.

“Obligations” means all advances to, and debts, liabilities, obligations, covenants and duties of, any Loan Party arising
under any Loan Document or otherwise with respect to any Loan or Letter of Credit, whether direct or indirect (including those
acquired by assumption), absolute or contingent, due or to become due, now existing or hereafter arising and including interest
and fees that accrue after the commencement by or against any Loan Party or any Affiliate thereof of any proceeding under any
Debtor Relief Laws naming such Person as the debtor in such proceeding, regardless of whether such interest and fees are
allowed claims in such proceeding. The foregoing shall also include (a) all obligations under any Swap Contract between any
Subsidiary (other than any Designated Borrower) and any Swap Bank that is permitted to be incurred pursuant to Section 8.03(d)
and (b) all obligations under any Treasury Management Agreement between any Subsidiary (other than any Designated
Borrower) and any Treasury Management Bank. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Obligations of a Guarantor shall exclude any
Excluded Swap Obligations with respect to such Guarantor.

“OFAC” means the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the United States Department of the Treasury.

“Organization Documents” means, (a) with respect to any corporation, the certificate or articles of incorporation and the
bylaws (or equivalent or comparable constitutive documents with respect to any non-U.S. jurisdiction); (b) with respect to any
limited liability company, the certificate or articles of formation or organization and operating agreement or limited liability
company agreement (or equivalent or comparable documents with respect to any non-U.S. jurisdiction); (c) with respect to any
partnership, joint venture, trust or other form of business entity, the partnership, joint venture or other applicable agreement of
formation or organization (or equivalent or comparable documents with respect to any non-U.S. jurisdiction); and (d) with respect
to all entities, any agreement, instrument, filing or notice with respect thereto filed in connection with its formation or
organization with the applicable Governmental Authority in the jurisdiction of its formation or organization (or equivalent or
comparable documents with respect to any non-U.S. jurisdiction).
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“Other Taxes” means all present or future stamp or documentary taxes or any other excise or property taxes, charges or
similar levies arising from any payment made hereunder or under any other Loan Document or from the execution, delivery or
enforcement of, or otherwise with respect to, this Agreement or any other Loan Document.

“QOutstanding Amount” means (a) with respect to any Loans on any date, the Dollar Equivalent amount of the aggregate
outstanding principal amount thereof after giving effect to any borrowings and prepayments or repayments of any Loans
occurring on such date; and (b) with respect to any L/C Obligations on any date, the Dollar Equivalent amount of the aggregate
outstanding amount of such L/C Obligations on such date after giving effect to any L/C Credit Extension occurring on such date
and any other changes in the aggregate amount of the L/C Obligations as of such date, including as a result of any
reimbursements by the Company of Unreimbursed Amounts.

“Overnight Rate” means, for any day, (a) with respect to any amount denominated in Dollars, the greater of (i) the Federal
Funds Rate and (ii) an overnight rate determined by the Administrative Agent, the L/C Issuer or the Swing Line Lender, as the
case may be, in accordance with banking industry rules on interbank compensation; (b) with respect to any amount denominated
in an Alternative Currency, the greater of (i) an overnight rate determined by the Administrative Agent, the L/C Issuer or the
Swing Line Lender, as the case may be, in accordance with banking industry rules on interbank compensation or (ii) the rate of
interest per annum at which overnight deposits in the applicable Alternative Currency, in an amount approximately equal to the
amount with respect to which such rate is being determined, would be offered for such day by a branch or Affiliate of the
Administrative Agent, the L/C Issuer or the Swing Line Lender, as the case may be, in the applicable offshore interbank market
for such currency to major banks in such interbank market; and (c) with respect to any amount denominated in Australian Dollars
or New Zealand Dollars, the greater of (i) an overnight rate determined by the Administrative Agent in accordance with banking
industry rules on interbank compensation or (ii) the rate of interest per annum at which overnight deposits in Australian Dollars
or New Zealand Dollars, as applicable, in an amount approximately equal to the amount with respect to which such rate is being
determined, would be offered for such day by a branch or Affiliate of the Administrative Agent in the applicable offshore
interbank market for such currency to major banks in such interbank market.

“Parent” has the meaning specified in the introductory paragraph hereto.

“Participant” has the meaning specified in Section 11.06(d).

“Participant Register” has the meaning specified in Section 11.06(d).

“Participating Member State” means any member state of the European Union that has the Euro as its lawful currency in
accordance with legislation of the European Union relating to Economic and Monetary Union.

“PBGC” means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation or any successor thereto.

“Pension Funding_Rules” means the rules of the Internal Revenue Code and ERISA regarding minimum required
contributions (including any installment payment thereof) to Pension Plans and set forth in Section 412, 430, 431, 432 and 436 of
the Internal Revenue Code and Sections 302, 303, 304 and 305 of ERISA.

“Pension Plan” means any employee pension benefit plan (including a Multiple Employer Plan or a Multiemployer Plan)
that is maintained or is contributed to by the Company and any
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ERISA Affiliate and is either covered by Title IV of ERISA or is subject to minimum funding standards under Section 412 of the
Internal Revenue Code.

“Permitted Acquisitions” means Investments consisting of an Acquisition by the Parent or any Subsidiary, in each case,
other than Private Label Credit Card Expenditures, provided that (i) no Default shall have occurred and be continuing or would
result from such Acquisition, (ii) the property acquired (or the property of the Person acquired) in such Acquisition is used or
useful in the same or a similar, related or complementary line of business as the Parent and its Subsidiaries were engaged in on
the Third Amendment Effective Date (or any reasonable extensions or expansions thereof), (iii) the Administrative Agent shall
have received all items in respect of the Person and/or property acquired in such Acquisition required to be delivered by the terms
of Section 7.12(a) and/or Section 7.13, (iv) in the case of an Acquisition of the Equity Interests of another Person, the board of
directors (or other comparable governing body) of such other Person shall have duly approved such Acquisition, (v) the Parent
shall have delivered to the Administrative Agent a Pro Forma Compliance Certificate demonstrating that, upon giving effect to
such Acquisition on a Pro Forma Basis, the Loan Parties would be in compliance with the financial covenants set forth in
Section 8.11 as of the most recent fiscal quarter for which the Parent was required to deliver financial statements pursuant to
Section 7.01(a) or (b), (vi) if the total aggregate consideration paid for such Acquisition equals or exceeds $250,000,000, the
Parent shall have delivered to the Administrative Agent pro forma financial statements for the Parent and its Subsidiaries after
giving effect to such Acquisition for the twelve month period ending as of the most recent fiscal quarter in a form satisfactory to
the Administrative Agent, and (vii) the representations and warranties made by the Loan Parties in each Loan Document shall be
true and correct in all material respects at and as if made as of the date of such Acquisition (after giving effect thereto) except to
the extent such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date.

“Permitted First Priority Refinancing Indebtedness” means any secured Indebtedness incurred by the Company in the form of one
or more series of senior secured notes that are secured by a Lien ranking pari passu to the Lien securing the Obligations;
provided that such Indebtedness constitutes Refinancing Indebtedness.

“Permitted Holders” means any of Summit Partners, Bain Capital LL.C, and their respective Affiliates.

“Permitted Junior Priority Refinancing Indebtedness” secured Indebtedness incurred by the Company in the form of one
or more series of second lien (or other junior lien) secured notes that are secured by a Lien ranking junior to the Lien securing the
Obligations; provided that such Indebtedness constitutes Refinancing Indebtedness.

“Permitted Liens” means, at any time, Liens in respect of property of any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries not
prohibited at such time pursuant to the terms of Section 8.01.

“Permitted Unsecured Refinancing Indebtedness” means unsecured Indebtedness incurred by the Company in the form of
one or more series of senior unsecured notes; provided that such Indebtedness constitutes Refinancing Indebtedness.

“Person” means any natural person, corporation, limited liability company, trust, joint venture, association, company,
partnership, Governmental Authority or other entity.

“Platform” has the meaning specified in Section 7.02.
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“Private Label Credit Card Expenditures” means any expenditures by a Loan Party or its Subsidiaries in connection with
the acquisition or establishment of any private label credit card program.

“Pro Forma Basis” means, for purposes of calculating the financial covenants set forth in Section 8.11 (including for
purposes of determining the Applicable Rate), that any Disposition, Involuntary Disposition, Acquisition or Restricted Payment
shall be deemed to have occurred as of the first day of the most recent four fiscal quarter period preceding the date of such
transaction for which the Parent was required to deliver financial statements pursuant to Section 7.01(a) or (b). In connection
with the foregoing, (i)(a) with respect to any Disposition or Involuntary Disposition, income statement and cash flow statement
items (whether positive or negative) attributable to the Person or property disposed of shall be excluded to the extent relating to
any period occurring prior to the date of such transaction and (b) with respect to any Acquisition, income statement
items (whether positive or negative) attributable to the Person or property acquired shall be included to the extent relating to any
period applicable in such calculations to the extent (A) such items are not otherwise included in such income statement items for
the Parent and its Subsidiaries in accordance with GAAP or in accordance with any defined terms set forth in Section 1.01 and
(B) such items are supported by financial statements or other information satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and (ii) any
Indebtedness incurred or assumed by the Parent or any Subsidiary (including the Person or property acquired) in connection with
such transaction (A) shall be deemed to have been incurred as of the first day of the applicable period and (B) if such
Indebtedness has a floating or formula rate, shall have an implied rate of interest for the applicable period for purposes of this
definition determined by utilizing the rate which is or would be in effect with respect to such Indebtedness as at the relevant date
of determination.

“Pro Forma Compliance Certificate” means a certificate of a Responsible Officer of the Parent containing reasonably
detailed calculations of the financial covenants set forth in Section 8.11 as of the most recent fiscal quarter end for which the
Parent was required to deliver financial statements pursuant to Section 7.01(a) or (b) after giving effect to the applicable
transaction on a Pro Forma Basis.

“PTE” means a prohibited transaction class exemption issued by the U.S. Department of Labor, as any such exemption
may be amended from time to time.

“Public L.ender” has the meaning specified in Section 7.02.

“QFEC” has the meaning assigned to the term “qualified financial contract” in, and shall be interpreted in accordance with,
12 U.S.C. 5390(c)(8)(D).

“QFEC Credit Support” has the meaning specified in Section 11.21.

“Qualified ECP Guarantor” means, at any time, the Company and each Guarantor with total assets exceeding $10,000,000
or that qualifies at such time as an “eligible contract participant” under the Commodity Exchange Act and can cause another
Person to qualify as an “eligible contract participant” at such time under Section 1a(18)(A)(v)(II) of the Commodity Exchange
Act.

“Rate Determination Date” means two (2) Business Days prior to the commencement of such Interest Period (or such
other day as is generally treated as the rate fixing day by market practice in such interbank market, as determined by the
Administrative Agent; provided that to the extent such market practice is not administratively feasible for the Administrative
Agent, such other day as otherwise reasonably determined by the Administrative Agent).
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“Ratings” means, collectively, ratings (i) for each of the credit facilities under this Agreement from each of Moody’s and
S&P and (ii) a public corporate credit rating and public corporate family rating from Moody’s and S&P in respect of the Parent
after giving effect to the Comdata Acquisition, the Borrowings hereunder and the other transactions contemplated by this
Agreement and the Merger Agreement.

“Receivables Facility” means, collectively, with respect to any Person, (a) any financing transaction or series of financing
transactions pursuant to which such Person or any Subsidiary of such Person may sell, convey or otherwise transfer, or grant a
security interest in, accounts, payments, payment intangibles, receivables, rights to future lease payments or residuals or similar
rights to payment and related assets (i) to a special purpose subsidiary or affiliate of such Person; (ii) as security for a credit
agreement or other borrowing arrangement of one or more Foreign Subsidiaries, if such assets so sold, conveyed, transferred or
encumbered are assets of one or more Foreign Subsidiaries; or (iii) that is a factoring arrangement, and (b) each trade receivables
commercial paper, purchase or financing facility or other receivables facility pursuant to which the Parent or any of its
Subsidiaries sells or contributes accounts, payments, payment intangibles, receivables, rights to future lease payments or
residuals or similar rights to payment and related assets to FleetCor Funding LLC or to any other Subsidiary of the Parent formed
as a special purpose entity in connection with any such transaction.

“Refinanced Debt” has the meaning specified in the definition of “Refinancing Indebtedness”.

“Refinancing Amendment” means an amendment to this Agreement entered into in connection with the incurrence of any
Refinancing Indebtedness pursuant to Section 2.17 and executed by each of (a) the Company, (b) the Administrative Agent, and
(c) each lender providing such Refinancing Indebtedness.

“Refinancing Indebtedness” means any (a) Indebtedness of the Company structured as one or more tranches of term loans
under this Agreement, (b) Permitted First Priority Refinancing Indebtedness, (c¢) Permitted Junior Priority Refinancing
Indebtedness, or (d) Permitted Unsecured Refinancing Indebtedness, in each case, issued, incurred or otherwise obtained in
exchange for, or to extend, renew, replace, repurchase, retire or refinance, in whole or part, any existing Term Loans and/or any
existing Incremental Term Loans (such existing Indebtedness, the “Refinanced Debt”); provided that (i) with respect to any
Permitted First Priority Refinancing Indebtedness or any Permitted Junior Priority Refinancing Indebtedness, such Permitted
First Priority Refinancing Indebtedness or such Permitted Junior Priority Refinancing Indebtedness shall be subject to an
intercreditor agreement on terms and conditions reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, (ii) the final maturity date of
any such Refinancing Indebtedness shall be no earlier than the Maturity Date of the Refinanced Debt, (iii) the Weighted Average
Life to Maturity of any such Refinancing Indebtedness shall be no shorter than the remaining Weighted Average Life to Maturity
of the Refinanced Debt, (iv) any such Refinancing Indebtedness shall not have mandatory redemption, repurchase, prepayment or
sinking fund obligations (except for customary asset sale, insurance, condemnation proceedings events or change of control
provisions that provide for the prior repayment in full of such Refinancing Indebtedness) that would result in any redemption,
repurchase, prepayment or sinking fund obligations with respect to such Refinancing Indebtedness prior to the Maturity Date
with respect to the Refinanced Debt, (v) the aggregate principal amount of any such Refinancing Indebtedness shall not be
greater than the aggregate principal amount of the Refinanced Debt plus any fees, premiums, original issue discount, and accrued
interest associated therewith and costs and expenses related thereto, (vi) simultaneously upon the borrowing of any such
Refinancing Indebtedness, the outstanding principal amount of the Refinanced Debt shall be automatically and permanently
reduced in an aggregate amount equal to the principal amount of such Refinancing Indebtedness (net of (A) the portion of such
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Refinancing Indebtedness incurred to finance fees, original issue discount, costs and expenses related to such Refinancing
Indebtedness and (B) the portion of such Refinancing Indebtedness incurred to pay interest, fees and expenses accrued in respect
of such Refinanced Debt), (vii) the Refinancing Indebtedness, to the extent secured, shall not be secured by any Lien on any asset
that does not constitute Collateral, (viii) there shall be no guarantors with respect to such Refinancing Indebtedness that are not
Guarantors, (ix) all other terms and conditions applicable to any such Refinancing Indebtedness are (taken as a whole) no more
favorable to the lenders providing such Refinancing Indebtedness than those applicable to the Refinanced Debt (taken as a whole)
(except for (A) covenants or other provisions (1) applicable only to periods after the latest Maturity Date existing at the time of
such Refinancing Indebtedness is incurred, or (2) that are added for the benefit of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders
under this Agreement, or (B) customary “MFN” protection and call protection, in each case, which may be applicable solely with
respect to any Refinancing Indebtedness to the extent required by the lenders providing such Refinancing Indebtedness), (x) no
Default shall have occurred and be continuing or would result from the incurrence of such Refinancing Indebtedness, (xi) at least
five (5) Business Days prior to the incurrence of any such Refinancing Indebtedness (or such shorter period of time as is agreed
by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion), the Company shall deliver to the Administrative Agent a certificate of a
Responsible Officer, together with a reasonably detailed description of the material terms and conditions of such Refinancing
Indebtedness or drafts of the documentation relating thereto, certifying that the terms and conditions specified in the foregoing
clauses (i) through (x) above in this definition applicable to such Refinancing Indebtedness have been satisfied, and (xii) no
existing Lender shall be under any obligation to provide all or any portion of such Refinancing Indebtedness and any such
decision whether to provide all or any portion of such Refinancing Indebtedness shall be in such Lender’s sole and absolute
discretion.

“Register” has the meaning specified in Section 11.06(c).

“Related Parties” means, with respect to any Person, such Person’s Affiliates and the partners, directors, officers,
employees, agents, trustees, administrators, managers, advisors and representatives of such Person and of such Person’s
Affiliates.

“Relevant Rate” means with respect to any Credit Extension denominated in (a) Dollars, LIBOR, (b) Sterling, SONIA, (c)
Euros, EURIBOR and (d) Yen, TIBOR, as applicable.

“Reportable Event” means any of the events set forth in Section 4043(c) of ERISA, other than events for which the thirty-
day notice period has been waived.

“Repricing_ Transaction” means (a) any prepayment or repayment of the Term B-3 Loan, in whole or in part, with the
proceeds of any new or replacement tranche of loans (including by way of conversion by a Lender of its portion of the Term B-3
Loan into new term loans or pursuant to an amendment to this Agreement) incurred by the Parent or any of its Subsidiaries for
which the interest rate payable thereon is lower than Eurocurrency Rate on the date of such prepayment or repayment plus the
Applicable Rate then in effect for the Term B-3 Loan or (b) any amendment to this Agreement that reduces the interest rate
applicable to the Term B-3 Loan. A prepayment or repayment in connection with a transaction that would be a Change of Control
shall not be a Repricing Transaction.

“Request for Credit Extension” means (a) with respect to a Borrowing, conversion or continuation of Loans, a Loan
Notice, (b) with respect to an L/C Credit Extension, a Letter of Credit Application and (c) with respect to a Swing Line Loan, a
Swing Line Loan Notice.

“Required Lenders” means, at any time, Lenders holding in the aggregate more than 50% of (a) the unfunded
Commitments, the outstanding Loans and participation interests in
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outstanding Swing Line Loans and L/C Obligations or (b) if the Commitments have been terminated, the outstanding Loans and
participation interests in outstanding Swing Line Loans and L./C Obligations. The unfunded Commitments of, and the outstanding
Loans, L/C Obligations and participations therein held or deemed held by, any Defaulting Lender shall be disregarded for
purposes of making a determination of Required Lenders; provided that the amount of any participation in any Swing Line Loan
and Unreimbursed Amounts that such Defaulting Lender has failed to fund that have not been reallocated to and funded by
another Lender shall be deemed to be held by the Lender that is the Swing Line Lender or L/C Issuer, as the case may be, in
making such determination.

“Required Pro Rata Facilities L.enders” means, at any time, Lenders holding in the aggregate more than 50% of the sum of
(a) the Aggregate Revolving Commitments at such time (or, if the Aggregate Revolving Commitments have been terminated, the
aggregate outstanding Revolving Loans and participation interests in outstanding Swing Line Loans and L/C Obligations at such
time), plus (b) the aggregate unfunded Term A Loan Commitments and the aggregate outstanding Term A Loans at such time
plus (c) the aggregate outstanding Incremental Term A Loans at such time. The Revolving Commitments, Revolving Loans,
participation interests in Swing Line Loans and L/C Obligations, Term A Loan Commitments, Term A Loan and Incremental
Term A Loans held or deemed held by any Defaulting Lender shall be disregarded in determining Required Pro Rata Facilities
Lenders at any time; provided that the amount of any participation interest in any Swing Line Loan and Unreimbursed Amounts
that such Defaulting Lender has failed to fund that have not been reallocated to and funded by another Lender shall be deemed to
be held by the Lender that is the Swing Line Lender or L/C Issuer, as the case may be, in making such determination.

“Resolution Authority” means an EEA Resolution Authority or, with respect to any UK Financial Institution, a UK
Resolution Authority.

“Responsible Officer” means the chief executive officer, president, vice president, chief financial officer, treasurer,
assistant treasurer or controller of a Loan Party or, in the case of a Designated Borrower only, one or two directors (as required by
such applicable jurisdiction), a manager, or a director and company secretary and, solely for purposes of notices given pursuant to
Article II, any other officer or employee of the applicable Loan Party so designated by any of the foregoing officers in a notice to
the Administrative Agent or any other officer or employee of the applicable Loan Party designated in or pursuant to an agreement
between the applicable Loan Party and the Administrative Agent and, solely for purposes of the delivery of secretary’s
certificates or incumbency certificates, the secretary or any assistant secretary of a Loan Party or, in the case of a Designated
Borrower only, a director or a company secretary. Any document delivered hereunder that is signed by a Responsible Officer of a
Loan Party shall be conclusively presumed to have been authorized by all necessary corporate, partnership and/or other action on
the part of such Loan Party and such Responsible Officer shall be conclusively presumed to have acted on behalf of such Loan
Party.

“Restricted Payment” means any dividend or other distribution (whether in cash, securities or other property) with respect
to any Equity Interests of any Loan Party or any Subsidiary, or any payment (whether in cash, securities or other property),
including any sinking fund or similar deposit, on account of the purchase, redemption, retirement, acquisition, cancellation or
termination of any such Equity Interests or on account of any return of capital to the Parent’s stockholders, partners or members
(or the equivalent Person thereof), or any setting apart of funds or property for any of the foregoing.

“Revaluation Date” means (a) with respect to any Loan, each of the following: (i) each date of a Borrowing of an
Alternative Currency Loan, (ii) each date of a Borrowing of a Eurocurrency Rate Loan denominated in Australian Dollars or New
Zealand Dollars, (iii) each
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date of a continuation of an Alternative Currency Term Rate Loan pursuant to Section 2.02, (iv) each date of a continuation of a
Eurocurrency Rate Loan denominated in Australian Dollars or New Zealand Dollars pursuant to Section 2.02, (v) with respect to
an Alternative Currency Daily Rate Loan, each Interest Payment Date, and (vi) such additional dates as the Administrative Agent
shall determine or the Required Pro Rata Facilities Lenders shall require; and (b) with respect to any Letter of Credit, each of the
following: (i) each date of issuance of a Letter of Credit denominated in an Alternative Currency, Australian Dollars or New
Zealand Dollars, (ii) each date of an amendment of any such Letter of Credit having the effect of increasing the amount thereof,
(iii) each date of any payment by the L/C Issuer under any Letter of Credit denominated in an Alternative Currency, Australian
Dollars or New Zealand Dollars and (iv) such additional dates as the Administrative Agent or the L/C Issuer shall determine or
the Required Pro Rata Facilities Lenders shall require.

“Revolving_A/B Borrower” means each of the Company, AllStar, FleetCor UK, Lux 2, any Designated Borrower that
becomes a Revolving A/B Borrower under the terms of Section 2.16, and the Additional Borrower, to the extent the Additional
Borrower becomes a Borrower hereunder pursuant to Section 7.12(b).

“Revolving A Commitment” means, as to each Lender, its obligation to (a) make Revolving A Loans to a Revolving A/B
Borrower pursuant to Section 2.01, (b) purchase participations in L/C Obligations and (c) purchase participations in Domestic
Swing Line Loans, in an aggregate principal amount at any one time outstanding not to exceed the amount set forth opposite such
Lender’s name on Schedule 2.01 or in the Assignment and Assumption or such other document pursuant to which such Lender
becomes a party hereto, as applicable, as such amount may be adjusted from time to time in accordance with this Agreement.

“Revolving A Lender” means a Lender with a Revolving A Commitment.

“Revolving A Loan” has the meaning specified in Section 2.01(a).

“Revolving B Commitment” means, as to each Lender, its obligation to (a) make Revolving B Loans to a Revolving A/B
Borrower pursuant to Section 2.01, and (b) purchase participations in Foreign Swing Line Loans, in an aggregate principal
amount at any one time outstanding not to exceed the Dollar amount set forth opposite such Lender’s name on Schedule 2.01 or
in the Assignment and Assumption or such other document pursuant to which such Lender becomes a party hereto, as applicable,
as such amount may be adjusted from time to time in accordance with this Agreement.

“Revolving B Lender” means a Lender with a Revolving B Commitment.

“Revolving B Loan” has the meaning specified in Section 2.01(b).

“Revolving C Borrower” means each of the Company, FleetCor Australia and FleetCor New Zealand.

“Revolving_C Commitment” means, as to each Lender, its obligation to make Revolving C Loans to a Revolving C
Borrower pursuant to Section 2.01, in an aggregate principal amount at any one time outstanding not to exceed the Dollar amount
set forth opposite such Lender’s name on Schedule 2.01 or in the Assignment and Assumption or such other document pursuant
to which such Lender becomes a party hereto, as applicable, as such amount may be adjusted from time to time in accordance
with this Agreement.

“Revolving C Lender” means a Lender with a Revolving C Commitment.
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“Revolving C Loan” has the meaning specified in Section 2.01(f).

“Revolving Commitment” means a Revolving A Commitment, a Revolving B Commitment, a Revolving C Commitment
and/or a Revolving D Commitment, as applicable.

“Revolving_D Commitment” means, as to each Lender, its obligation to make Revolving D Loans to the Company
pursuant to Section 2.01, in an aggregate principal amount at any one time outstanding not to exceed the Dollar amount set forth
opposite such Lender’s name on Schedule 2.01 or in the Assignment and Assumption or such other document pursuant to which
such Lender becomes a party hereto, as applicable, as such amount may be adjusted from time to time in accordance with this
Agreement.

“Revolving D Commitment Fee” has the meaning specified in Section 2.09(c).

“Revolving D Lender” means a Lender with a Revolving D Commitment.

“Revolving D Loan” has the meaning specified in Section 2.01(g).

“Revolving I.oan” means a Revolving A Loan, a Revolving B Loan, a Revolving C Loan and/or a Revolving D Loan, as
applicable.

“Revolving Note” has the meaning specified in Section 2.11(a).

“S&P” means Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC, a subsidiary of McGraw-Hill Financial, Inc., and any successor
thereto.

“Sale and I.easeback Transaction” means, with respect to any Loan Party or any Subsidiary, any arrangement, directly or
indirectly, with any Person whereby the Loan Party or such Subsidiary shall sell or transfer any property used or useful in its
business, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, and thereafter rent or lease such property or other property that it intends to
use for substantially the same purpose or purposes as the property being sold or transferred.

“Same Day Funds” means (a) with respect to disbursements and payments in Dollars, immediately available funds, and
(b) with respect to disbursements and payments in an Alternative Currency, Australian Dollars or New Zealand Dollars, same day
or other funds as may be determined by the Administrative Agent or the L/C Issuer, as the case may be, to be customary in the
place of disbursement or payment for the settlement of international banking transactions in the relevant currency.

“Sanction(s)” means any sanction or trade embargo imposed, administered or enforced by the United States Government
(including without limitation, OFAC and the U.S. Department of State), the Canadian Government, the United Nations Security
Council, the European Union, Her Majesty’s Treasury, the government of Australia or other relevant sanctions authority.

“Scheduled Unavailability Date” has the meaning specified in Section 3.07.

“SEC” means the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any Governmental Authority succeeding to any of its
principal functions.

“Secured Party Designation Notice” shall mean a notice from any Lender or an Affiliate of a Lender relating to the
existence of Swap Contracts and/or Treasury Management Agreements, in a form provided by the Administrative Agent.
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“Security Agreement” means the security and pledge agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit M executed in favor
of the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the holders of the Obligations, by the Company, the Guarantors and the other
parties thereto from time to time.

“Seventh Amendment Effective Date” means November 14, 2019.

“Sixth Amendment Effective Date” means August 2, 2019.

“Solvent” or “Solvency” means, with respect to any Person as of a particular date, that on such date (a) such Person is
able to pay its debts and other liabilities, contingent obligations and other commitments as they mature in the ordinary course of
business, (b) such Person does not intend to, and does not believe that it will, incur debts or liabilities beyond such Person’s
ability to pay as such debts and liabilities mature in their ordinary course (including for the purposes of section 95A of the
Australian Corporations Act), (c) such Person is not engaged in a business or a transaction, and is not about to engage in a
business or a transaction, for which such Person’s property would constitute unreasonably small capital after giving due
consideration to the prevailing practice in the industry in which such Person is engaged or is to engage, (d) the fair value of the
property of such Person is greater than the total amount of liabilities, including, without limitation, contingent liabilities, of such
Person and (e) the present fair salable value of the assets of such Person is not less than the amount that will be required to pay
the probable liability of such Person on its debts as they become absolute and matured. In computing the amount of contingent
liabilities at any time, it is intended that such liabilities will be computed at the amount which, in light of all the facts and
circumstances existing at such time, represents the amount that can reasonably be expected to become an actual or matured
liability.

“SONIA” means, with respect to any applicable determination date, the Sterling Overnight Index Average Reference Rate
published on the fifth Business Day preceding such date on the applicable Reuters screen page (or such other commercially
available source providing such quotations as may be designated by the Administrative Agent from time to time); provided
however that if such determination date is not a Business Day, SONIA means such rate that applied on the first Business Day
immediately prior thereto.

“SONIA Adjustment” means, with respect to SONIA, 0.03260% (3.26 basis points).

“Special Notice Currency” means at any time an Alternative Currency, other than the currency of a country that is a
member of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development at such time located in North America or Europe.

“Specified Equity Sale” means the sale, transfer or other disposition by the Company of all or any portion of the Equity
Interests of the Unrestricted Subsidiary.

“Specified Guarantor” has the meaning given thereto in the Guaranty:.

“Specified Investments™ shall have the meaning given thereto in the Closing Certificate.

“Specified Merger Agreement Representations” means such of the representations made by the Target with respect to the
Target and its subsidiaries and assets in the Merger Agreement that are material to the interests of the Lenders, but only to the
extent that the Parent (or its Subsidiary or Affiliate) has the right to terminate its (or its Subsidiary’s or Affiliate’s) obligations
under the Merger Agreement, or decline to consummate the Comdata Acquisition, as a result of a breach of such representations
in the Merger Agreement.

“Specified Representations” means the representations and warranties made in Sections 6.01(a) (as to valid existence) and
(b)(ii), the first clause of Section 6.02,
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Section 6.02(a), Section 6.02(c), Section 6.04, Section 6.14, Section 6.18 (after giving effect to the consummation of the Comdata
Acquisition, the Borrowings under the Comdata Facilities and the payment of the Comdata Acquisition Costs), Section 6.19 (but
only with respect to (i) assets with respect to which a lien may be perfected by the filing of a financing statement under the
Uniform Commercial Code, (ii) the pledge and perfection of security interests in Equity Interests of the Parent’s material, wholly-
owned Domestic Subsidiaries and (iii) other assets a security interest in which can be provided and perfected after the Loan
Parties’ use of commercially reasonable efforts to do so), Section 6.22 and Section 6.23.

“Spot Rate” for a currency means the rate determined by the Administrative Agent, the Swing Line Lender or the L/C
Issuer, as applicable, to be the rate quoted by the Person acting in such capacity as the spot rate for the purchase by such Person
of such currency with another currency through its principal foreign exchange trading office at approximately 11:00 a.m. on the
date two Business Days prior to the date as of which the foreign exchange computation is made; provided that the Administrative
Agent, the Swing Line Lender or the L/C Issuer may obtain such spot rate from another financial institution designated by the
Administrative Agent, the Swing Line Lender or the L/C Issuer if the Person acting in such capacity does not have as of the date
of determination a spot buying rate for any such currency; and provided further that the L/C Issuer may use such spot rate quoted
on the date as of which the foreign exchange computation is made in the case of any Letter of Credit denominated in an
Alternative Currency, Australian Dollars or New Zealand Dollars.

“Sterling” and “£” mean the lawful currency of the United Kingdom.

“Subsidiary” of a Person means a corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company or other business
entity of which a majority of the shares of Voting Stock is at the time beneficially owned, or the management of which is
otherwise controlled, directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, or both, by such Person. Unless otherwise
specified, all references herein to a “Subsidiary” or to “Subsidiaries” shall refer to a Subsidiary or Subsidiaries of the Parent;
provided, however that “Subsidiary” shall not refer to or include (i) FleetCor Funding LLC or any other Subsidiary formed as a
special purpose entity in connection with a Receivables Facility or (ii) the Unrestricted Subsidiary or any of the Unrestricted
Subsidiary’s direct or indirect subsidiaries.

“Supported QFC” has the meaning specified in Section 11.21.
“SVS” means Stored Value Solutions International B.V., a company incorporated under the laws of the Netherlands.

“SVS Contribution Agreement” means that certain Contribution Agreement, dated as of March 3, 2017, among First Data
Corporation, a Delaware corporation, the Parent, and the SVS Joint Venture, including all schedules and exhibits thereto, as in
effect on the Third Amendment Effective Date without giving effect to any amendments or modifications thereof or supplements
thereto (except for any such amendments, modifications or supplements that are not materially adverse to the interest of the
Lenders).

“SVS Disposition” means the contribution by the Parent to the SVS Joint Venture of the FleetCor Shares (as defined in
the SVS Contribution Agreement), the FleetCor Contributed Assets (as defined in the SVS Contribution Agreement), the
FleetCor Assumed Liabilities (as defined in the SVS Contribution Agreement) and the FleetCor Contributed Cash (as defined in
the SVS Contribution Agreement), in each case pursuant to the SVS Contribution Agreement.

“SVS Joint Venture” means Gift Solutions LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
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“Swap Bank” means (a) any Person that is a Lender or an Affiliate of a Lender at the time that it becomes a party to a
Swap Contract with any Loan Party or Subsidiary and (b) any Lender or Affiliate of a Lender that is party to a Swap Contract
with any Loan Party or Subsidiary in existence at the time such Person (or its Affiliate) becomes a Lender, in each case in its
capacity as a party to such Swap Contract and to the extent such Swap Contract is permitted by Section 8.03(d), and even if such
Person ceases to be a Lender or such Person’s Affiliate ceases to be a Lender; provided that in the case of a Person who is no
longer a Lender (or Affiliate of a Lender), such Person shall be considered a Swap Bank only through the stated termination date
(without extension or renewal) of such Swap Contract.

“Swap Contract” means (a) any and all rate swap transactions, basis swaps, credit derivative transactions, forward rate
transactions, commodity swaps, commodity options, forward commodity contracts, equity or equity index swaps or options, bond
or bond price or bond index swaps or options or forward bond or forward bond price or forward bond index transactions, interest
rate options, forward foreign exchange transactions, cap transactions, floor transactions, collar transactions, currency swap
transactions, cross-currency rate swap transactions, currency options, spot contracts, or any other similar transactions or any
combination of any of the foregoing (including any options to enter into any of the foregoing), whether or not any such
transaction is governed by or subject to any master agreement, and (b) any and all transactions of any kind, and the related
confirmations, which are subject to the terms and conditions of, or governed by, any form of master agreement published by the
International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., any International Foreign Exchange Master Agreement, or any other
master agreement (any such master agreement, together with any related schedules, a “Master Agreement”), including any such
obligations or liabilities under any Master Agreement.

“Swap Obligations” means with respect to any Guarantor, any obligation to pay or perform under any agreement, contract
or transaction that constitutes a “swap” within the meaning of Section 1a(47) of the Commodity Exchange Act.

“Swap Termination Value” means, in respect of any one or more Swap Contracts, after taking into account the effect of
any legally enforceable netting agreement relating to such Swap Contracts, (a) for any date on or after the date such Swap
Contracts have been closed out and termination value(s) determined in accordance therewith, such termination value(s) and (b)
for any date prior to the date referenced in clause (a), the amount(s) determined as the mark-to-market value(s) for such Swap
Contracts, as determined based upon one or more mid-market or other readily available quotations provided by any recognized
dealer in such Swap Contracts (which may include a Lender or any Affiliate of a Lender).

“Swing Line Lender” means Bank of America in its capacity as provider of Swing Line Loans, or any successor swing
line lender hereunder.

“Swing Line Loan” has the meaning specified in Section 2.04(a)(ii).

“Swing Line L.oan Notice” means a notice of a Borrowing of Swing Line Loans pursuant to Section 2.04(b), which shall
be substantially in the form of Exhibit B or such other form as is approved by the Administrative Agent (including any form on
an electronic platform or electronic transmission system as shall be approved by the Administrative Agent), appropriately
completed and signed by a Responsible Officer of the applicable Borrower.

“Swing Line Note” has the meaning specified in Section 2.11(a).

“Swing Line Sublimit” means an amount equal to the Domestic Swing Line Loan Sublimit plus the Foreign Swing Line
Loan Sublimit.
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“Synthetic Lease” means any synthetic lease, tax retention operating lease, off-balance sheet loan or similar off-balance
sheet financing arrangement whereby the arrangement is considered borrowed money indebtedness for tax purposes but is
classified as an operating lease or does not otherwise appear on a balance sheet under GAAP.

“Target” means Comdata Inc., a Delaware corporation.

“TARGET Day” means any day on which the Trans-European Automated Real-time Gross Settlement Express Transfer
(TARGET) payment system (or, if such payment system ceases to be operative, such other payment system (if any) determined
by the Administrative Agent to be a suitable replacement) is open for the settlement of payments in Euro.

“Taxes” means all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, withholdings (including backup
withholding), assessments, fees or other charges imposed by any Governmental Authority, including any interest, additions to tax
or penalties applicable thereto.

“Term A Lender” means a Lender with a Term A Loan Commitment or a Term A Loan.

“Term A Loan” has the meaning specified in Section 2.01(c).

“Term A Loan Commitment” means, as to each Lender, its obligation to make its portion of the Term A Loan to the
Company pursuant to Section 2.01(c), in the principal amount set forth opposite such Lender’s name on Schedule 2.01. The
aggregate principal amount of the Term A Loan Commitments of all of the Lenders as in effect on the Fifth Amendment
Effective Date is TWO BILLION FIVE HUNDRED TWENTY FIVE MILLION DOLLARS ($2,525,000,000).

“Term B-3 Lender” means a Lender with a Term B-3 Loan Commitment or holding a portion of the Term B-3 Loan.

“Term B-3 Loan” has the meaning specified in Section 2.01(d).

“Term B-3 Loan Commitment” means, as to each Lender, its obligation to make its portion of the Term B-3 Loan to the
Company pursuant to Section 2.01(d), in the principal amount set forth opposite such Lender’s name on the Register. The
aggregate principal amount of the Term B-3 Loan Commitments of all of the Lenders as in effect on the Third Amendment
Effective Date is THREE HUNDRED FIFTY MILLION DOLLARS ($350,000,000).

“Term B-4 Lender” means a Lender with a Term B-4 Loan Commitment or holding a portion of the Term B-4 Loan.

“Term B-4 Loan” means the Incremental Term B Loan established pursuant to the Ninth Amendment.

“Term B-4 Loan Commitment” means, as to each Term B-4 Lender, its obligation to make its portion of the Term B-4
Loan to the Company pursuant to Section 2.01(h), in the principal amount set forth opposite such Term B-4 Lender’s name on the
Register. The aggregate principal am